Dallas v. Allen et al (DEATH PENALTY) Doc. 147

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF ALABAMA
NORTHERN DIVISION

DONALD DALLAS,

Petitioner,

V. CASE NO. 202-CV-777-WKW
JEFFERSONS. DUNN,
Commissioner, Alabama Departmen
of Corrections,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Respondent.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Petitioner Donald Dallas filed this federal habeas corpus action pursuant to 28
U.S.C 82254 challenging his October 1995 Montgomery County conviction for
capital murder and sentence of death. For the reasons set forth beitbend?as
entitled toneitherhabeas corpus reliebra Certificate of Appealability

. BACKGROUND
A. The Offense

There is no genuine dispute as to the facts of Petitioner’s offense. The day of
his arrest for the murder af3-yearold Hazel Liveoak Petitioner gave police a
videotaped statement in which he admitted he and an accomplice (1) kidnapped the
eldety Mrs. Liveoak from a grocery store parking lot in Prattville, Alabaomathe

afternoon of July 12, 1994, (2) drove her in her own vehicle to a location south of
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Montgomery whergdespite her protests that she had a heart condigaonvinced

herto getinto the trunk of her cawith a promise to release her once they reached
her bank, (3) drove K. Liveoak to a parking lot in south Montgomery where
Petitionerand his accomplice convinced her to furnish the access code for her bank
card and withdrew omey from her bank account using her bank access card after
promisng to notify police of her location (4) abandoned k. Liveoak’s vehicle

(with her still inthetrunk) in an isolated area af K-Mart parking lot where it was
discovered the following dagontaining Ms. Liveoak’slifeless body, and (5)
despite Petitioner'sepeatedassurances and promises, made no effort to camtact

notify anyone of Mrs. Liveoak’socation orperilous predicamerit. Petitioner

1 Petitioner’s videotaped statement to poli@s admitted into evidene@thout objection
during his capital murder triak State Exhibit 40 and played in open court for the jury. State Court
Record (henceforth “SCR”), Volume 7, at pp. 64 (.e., 7 SCR 64748). A verbatim
transcription of the audio portion of the same videotape recording was admitted d&ncevas
State Exhibit 41 and appears among the State Court Record at 3 SE&R. 45%titioner’'s
statement was actually a series of questions and answers diirandizedcustodial inteview
in which Petitioner stated that (1) he told Mrs. Liveoak he would check on her apdlczl to
tell them where she was, 3 SCR 488 463, (2) Mrs. Liveoak informed him she had a heart
condition, 3 SCR 458, (3) as he drove Mrs. Liveoak to Greenwilinediately after her abduction,
Petitioner informed her that he had a crack problem and she prayed for him, 3 SCR 463, (4) he
promised his accomplice he would let Mrs. Liveoak out of the trunk, 3 SCR 461, (5) once he and
his accomplice obtained money from Mrs. Liveoak’s bank account, they left the s@nah, 3
SCR 459, (6) after abandoning Mrs. Livepoak in her trunk, he and his accomplice went to a
location in Montgomery where they purchased and used crack cocaine, 3 SCR 461, (Mitihge mor
after ke abandoned Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of her car, Petitioner awoke and assumead was t
late to call police to help her so he began shoplifting to get more money, 3 SCR 461, 463, and (8)
when he learned from a television report that Mrs. Liveoak hadfbeed dead, he cut his hair
and planned to commit suicidiy-police during an armed robbery of a bank, 3 SCR 461. In his
statement, Petitioner specifically denied any intent to harm anyone. 3@GCR
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testified at the guitnnocence phase tfs trial in a manner consistent with his post

arrest statement to poliée.

2 More specifically, Petitioner testified on diretamination at the guilhnocence phase
of his capital murder trial that (1) he pushed Mrs. Liveoak into her vehicle and drovenotihie
WalMart parking lot, (2) she was scared and volunteered to get money franeti¢icard, (3) he
told her he had a crack problem, (4) she prayed for him, (5) he told her he would not hurt her, (6)
he drove them on the Interstate south and exited on a dirt road, (7) he directed her torgkt out a
walk into the woods but she said she was scared so he suggested she get into thehruttkd(8)
her she would get out as soon as he got to the bank and got the money, (9) he drove to the AmSouth
Bank on South Boulevard in Montgomery, (10) his accomplice Carolyn “Polly” Yaw waalynit
unable to get the bank’s teller mawhto work, (11) he got out of Mrs. Liveoak’s car and sat on
the trunk so he could hear her better, (12) Mrs. Liveoak told him the phone number of her son but
he did not write it down and, instead, told her he would call police to rescue her, (13¢ aftel h
Yaw obtained money from Mrs. Liveoak’s bank account, they called a cab and left theg54gne
they went to Chester Foley’s house to get crack cocaine, (15) they nexb\wenbtel where they
smoked crack until the crack of daylight, (16) they leé motel at checkout time and returned to
Chester Foley’s house, (17) they went with Dennis “Tony” Bowen to get moneyoi@r drugs,

(18) he and Dale Blake went to steal more items to trade or sell to get more I®ubs, dssumed

Mrs. Liveoak had giben out of her vehicle and he was going to be arrested for kidnaping and
robbery, (20) he made an attempt the day after he left Mrs. Liveoak in her trumlrtoteethe

bank parking lot but the car in which he was riding broke down, and (21) he never intended to kill
Mrs. Liveoak. 7 SCR 794-803.

Significantly, Petitioner also testified on direct examination that he made an attempt to
return to the place where he left Mrs. Liveoak because he “wanted to makeeswassijone”:

Once | went to the motel, | never left the motel. | tried one time, but the guy that

came over that Chester knew, | had asked Chester if he knew anybody with a car

that could take me somewhere and bring me back. This is when Chester first came

back with the drugdecause at the time | wanted to make sure she was @ute

| didn’t want to call a cab, because | didn’t want to get caught, becauded tad

away from therel knew if | called the Yellow Cab Company or any cab company,

that they would be looking out for me. 8 SCR 801-02 (emphasis added).

On crossexamination, Petitioner testified (1) he had previously been convicted on charges
of possession of a forged instrument, first degree burglary, first degree kighapd second
degree robbery, 8 SCR 803, (2) on the drive from Prattville after he abducted Mrskl ste®a
informed him she had a heart problem, 8 SCR 816, (3) “Like | say. | wasn't thinking too many
things but one thing. | am robbing somebody, and | am going to be in big trouble.oirgmay
spend adt of time in jail if | get caught doing this.Igl., (4) he was not thinking and only wanted
to get dope and get into his own world, 8 SCR 817, (5) he never thought about killing anyone, 8
SCR 818, (6) he passed a number of pay phones on the way to the crack house and the motel on
the evening he abandoned Mrs. Liveoak in her trunk but he made no effort to stop and place a call
to anyone to alert them to Mrs. Liveoak’s location, 8 SCR 822, (7) he did not use themooie|
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B. Indictment

In October 1994, a Montgomery County grand jury returneg\enteen
countindictment charging Petitioner with (1) two counts of capital munder,
intentionallycausing the death of Hazel Liveoak (a) by inducirggart attack by
confining herin an automobile trunk during a kidnaping, to wit, abducting her with
the intent to accomplish or aid the commission of felony roblzerg (b)
intentionally causing the death of Hazel Liveoak by confining her in an automobile
trunk and causing death during a robbegy, the theft of a VISA card by force with
the intent to overcome her physical resistance causing serious physical injury, (2)
threecounts offraudulent us@f a credit card, (3) one count of theft of property by
deceptionand @) elevencounts of unauthorized use of a communications dévice.
C. Guilt-Innocence Phase of Trial

The guiltinnocence phase of Petitioner’s capital mutdat commenced on
Octoberl7, 1995

1. The Prosecution’s Evidence

The prosecution presented Mrs. Liveoak’'s son who testified regarding the

circumstances surrounding her disappearance and his delivery of a spare key to her

to call for help for Mrs. Liveoak, 8 SCR 823, and (8) he was worried about gettightand cut
his hair after he learned of Mrs. Liveoak’s death, 8 SCR 825.

31 SCR 723.



vehicle to a law enforcement officer in Millbro6k.A university maintenance
worker testified tha{1l) he hearda radio broadcast regarding a missing person
driving a maroon Chrysler with an EImore County license p(2)eie observed a
red vehicle with an Elmore tag parked in a very isolated location witKiiVeart
parking lot in South Montgomery, aii8) he called police when he got hom&he
former police chief of Millbrook testified h@) delivered the key to Mrs. Liveoak’s
vehicle to Montgomery police officers at theNfart parking lot anq2) was preset
when other law enforcement officers opeined automobiletrunk and discovered
her lifeless body. A Montgomery police patrol officer testified regarding the
isolated location of Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle within theNfart parking lot and the
conditions nside her passenger compartment when the vehicle was discovered,

including the fact no keys were found inside the vehicle.

46 SCR 5484 (testimony of Larry Liveoak). More specifically, Mr. Liveoak tisti
that (1) he last saw his wadred mother on the afternoon of July 12, 1994, (2) when he went by
her home later that same day, she was not there, (3) he contacted the police diagditheok
to report her missing, (4) after an unsuccessful all-night search for heeawnehice, he went to
a television station to seek assistance in locating her, (5) the following desasheotified her
vehicle had been found, and (6) a Millbrook police officer picked up his mother’s keys fram hi
Id. Mr. Liveoak also identified photographs of his mother and her vehidleat 553.

56 SCR 554-6@testimony of Richard Walker)Mr. Walkeralso identified photographs
of Mrs. Liveoak’s car in the location where it was parkethe K-Mart parking lot. 6 SCR 560.

6 SCR 561-68testimony of Danny Pollard)Mr. Pollard also testified that, upon the
discovery of Mrs. Liveoak’s body, the Violent Crimes Task Force was notfidte crime 6
SCR 567.

76 SCR 56875 (testimony of R.C. Cleghorn) Officer Cleghorn also testifiedL) the
vehicle did not contain a trunk release in the passenger compartment or glove boxv€Bjdiee
was parked a “good distance” from the store and bank and all other vehicles in the lparkig
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A Montgomery police evidence technician testified that (1) he photographed
Mrs. Liveoaks lifeless bodyafter it was discovered inside the trunk of her car, (2)
her vehicle was located 350 feet from thé/rt store, 202 feet from the AmSouth
Bank, and 166 feet from East South Boulevard, (3) after her body was remaved, he
vehicle was taken to a police facility and processed for fingerprints, (4) the entire
crime scene was photographed and videotaped, (5) an earring matching one found
inside the trunk was found outside the lip of the trunk, (6) no fingerpvigrs found
inside the interior of the vehicle, but (7) a palm print was faamthe outside of the
vehicle’s trunk® A latent fingerprint examiner testified that Petitioner’s palm print
matched that lifted from the driver’s side of the trunk lid of Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle.

The state medical examiner testifighct (1)he performed an autopsy on the
73-yearold Mrs. Liveoak on July 14, 1994, (2) Mrs. Liveoak had bruising on the

right side & her head, the backs of both hands and wrists, and her right biceps, (3)

the driver’s and passenger side front windows \paréally down and a strong foul odor emanated
from inside the vehicle, (4) a drop of blood was observed underneath the rear trund [{8) a
spoiled food in a plastic bag was found on the floor inside the passenger compattmeti¢.
also identifiedphotographs of the interior of the passenger compartnhgniat 573-74.

86 SCR 575-600, 7 SCR 6@ (testimony of S.Z. Smith). Detective Smith also testified
(1) a useless fingerprint was lifted on a window, (2) a brownie wrapper was found eartbeat
of the car’s interior, (3) no other vehicles were located around Mrs. Liveoak’'deyefdix no
sounds came from inside the vehicle or its trunk before the arrival of the vehiclé&kéirs(
Liveoak’s left hand showed visible bruising, (6) a cloth purse was found inside hideve
containing an address book and pocket planner but no money or credit cards, and (7) Mrs.
Liveoak’s tennis shoes were found inside the trunk of the car after her body wasdeidove

°6 SCR 6037 (testimony of Damy Smith).
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she also had nelife-threatening minor cuts to ioher palms, (4jhe bruising and
lacerations to her handgere consistent with efforts to bang on a trunkdidet out,
(5) the bruising to her right arm was consistent with someone grabbing her in an
effort to control or manipulate her, (6) her heart displayed extreme arthros;lerosi
l.e., blockage, in the descending coronary artery, (7jdumd evidence she had
suffered a prior heart attack but had recovered from same, (8) he did not find
evidence of a recent heart attack, (9) her general cardialth hewas “very
guestionable,” (10) there was evidence the blood supply to the heart was markedly
diminished, (11) he found severe pulmonary edearagfluid backed up into the
lungs, (12) her heart was failing, (13) her cause of death was cardiag {di)réhe
manner of her death was homicide, (14) while Mrs. Liveaggbarentlywas able to
do her daily chores and take care of her personal affairs, she lacked the cardiac
reserve to be able to handle the extremely stressful confines in which shecgds pla
l.e.,being confined in a hot, dark, space for hours, and (15) her heart could not take
the stress, which is why he concluded her death was the result of “homicide by heart
attack.°

A Montgomery Police Detective testified that (hgre were no signs of life

but there was a strong odor of spoiled milk and a body when he arrived at the K

107 SCR 60924 (testimony of Allan Stillwell). On crossxamination, Dr. Stillwell
admitted he could not testify as to the intent of the actor who placed Mrs. Liveoak inside he
automobile trunk.Id., at 623.



Mart parking lot around 2010 hours on July 13, 1994, (2) no other cars were parked
near Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle, (3) when the trunk lid was operbkdre was
condensation on the inside lid of the trunk, (4) Mrs. Liveoak’s pants were stained
and there were visible bruises and scratches on her hands, (5) paramedics present
when the trunk was opened found no signs of life in Mrs. Liveoak’s body, (6) her
body was taken away for autopsy, (7) no car keys were found Mssdé.iveoak’s
vehicle, (8) her purse was found but not her billfold, (9) after speaking with Tony
Bowen, he and other law enforcement officers developed Petitioner and Carolyn
“Polly” Yaw as suspects, (10) he discovered Petitioner and Yaw had registered at a
motel on July 13, 1994, (1B) search for a white vehicle driven by “Blake” led to

the arrests of Petitioner and Yaw after a brief chase, (12) he gave Petitioner his
Miranda warnings (13) Petitioner indicated that he understood his rights, read his
rights form, and signed same, (14)duwisedPetitioner he was charged with capital
murder and faced the death penalty or life in prisdb), Pktitioner did not appear

to be intoxicated or under the influence of alcohol or narcoti€$,Rétitioner was
cooperative, (1) during his initial interview, Petitioner stated that (a) he found Mrs.
Liveoak’s vehicle with the keys inside it in the \AMA&rt parking lot in Prattville,

(b) he drove the vehicle to theMart in Montgomery, (c) he opened the trunk of

her vehicle, (d) he found her body, and (e) he closed the trunk lid and left the scene,

(18) after further questioning, Petitioner admitted that (a) he grabbed the lady in the



WalMart parking lot, (b) she screamed and hollered as he drove her vehicle to
Greenville, (c) he put the lady in the trunk of her car despite the fact the victim said
she had a bad heart, (@ told her he would send someone to get her out once he
left her, (e) he passexlit after doing cracthe evening of the kidnapirapnd did not
wake until the following morning, and @hen he awokée figured it was too late
to get heb for the lady, (19) a knife was recovered from the rear passenger side
floorboard of the white vehicle in which Petitioner was riding at the time of his
arrest, and (20petitioner gave a voluntaryideotaped statemerhat was not
induced by any promises, threats, or other forms of coettion

Dennis Anthony Bowen testified that (1) he met Petitiongiuly 1994vhen
he went to Chester Foley’'s house to smoke crack cocéihet the time of
Petitioner’s capital murder trial, he had been in an outpatient drug treatment program
for about a year, (3) in July 1994 he drove Petitioner and Carolyn “Polly” Yaw to
WalMart to shoplift cigarettes to get money to buy drugs, (4) Petitioner ran out of
the store carrying a television in a box, (5) Petitioner threw the box into the bed of
Bowen’s truck, wrestled with a store employee, and then jumped into the truck, (6)

Bowen drove away, (7) Bowen and Petitioner were both later arrestechieaton

117 SCR 62464 (testimony of Steve Saint). Detective Saint also testified without
contradiction that the transcription of Petitioner’s videotaped statement admitiedtvabjection
at trial as State Exhibit 41 was an accurate transcription of the viddataparding admitted
without objection at trial as State exhibit 4d.,at 648.
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with the incidentat WalMart (8) through conversations with Chester Foley,
Petitioner, and Yaw, Bowen became aware that Petitiamryaw claimed they
robbed and placed an old lady in a trunk gontimoney with the lady’s bank card,
(9) when Bowen asked Petitionemd Yaw about the& claims Petitioner
sarcastically responded that he wished or hoped the old lady died, and (10) Bowen
saw an article in the next morning’s newspaper about the missing woman, went to
visit his attorney, and met with police to reveal what he kiew.

An elderly man testified that (1) he wentthe WalMartin Prattville on July
9, 1994 to return a microwave oven, (2) as he was returning to his car, a robber with
a knife got into his car and struck his fingers, (3) the robber drove his car to
Millbrook and stopped in a wooded area, (4) after he gave the robber about $170 in
cash, the robber forced him to get out of the car and lie dowre woods(5) the
robber threatened to lock him in the trunk of the car but he pediistthe would

“smother to death in there,” (6) the robber droveimfthe victim’s car, (7) he got

127 SCR 664701 (testimony of Dennis Anthony Bowen). Bowen acknowledged on direct
examination that he was high on crack cocaine at the time of his conversatioRetitioner and
Yaw. Id., at 672. On crosexamination, Bowen admitted (1) crack cocaine has a very intense
high which wears off very fast and leaves you with a craving for moyée(Began using crack
cocaine in 1992, (3) when he met with police, Bowen did not inform them he had heard Petitioner
say he hoped Mrs. Liveoak would die, (4) he was charged with robbery and later pleagied guilt
theft in connection with the incident at WalMart in July 1994, (5) an arrest wavamnthen
outstanding for him due tais failure to comply with the conditions of his probation, and (6) that
day at Petitioner’s trial was the first time he had ever told anyone that Petitimhke $ewped or
wished Mrs. Liveoak diedld.,at 675-08. On redirect, Bowen testified he had not been promised
anything to induce his testimony at Petitioner’s trial., at 699.
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up and walked about a mile down the road where he found his car but not the keys,
(8) he later saw a newscast regarding a missing lady and recogniteaéteds his
robber, and (9) Petitioner pleaded guilty to robbing Him.

2. The Defense’s Evidence

Called by the defensenacquaintance of Petitioner testified tigtPetitioner
wascrying and appeadto be worried after Petitionesaw television coverage of
the discovery of Mrs. Liveoak’s body and (2) Petitioner said that he had tried to get
“that boy” to take him back over thetfe.

A clinical psychologist who had examined Petitioner for competency to stand
trial testified that (1) Petitioner had a long history of substance abuse beginning with
alcohol abuse around age87 regular marijuana use around agelB2 and
intravenous drugs including crystal meth and dilaudidaround age 134, (2)
people with an early history of IV drug abuse have a more difficult time quitting
because it retards social and psychological developr(@those who smoke or

inhale crack cocaine have a harder time stopping its use and staying off it, (4) while

137 SCR 703-12 (testimony of Wesley Orville Portwood). Petitioner’s videotaped
statement to police admitted into evidence as State Exhibit 40 included admissReigibger
that he was the individual who kidnaped and robbed Portwood. 3 SCR 459, 465-68.

147 SCR 727-30 (testimony of Rhonda Sue Chavers). On cross-examination, Ms.
Chavers testified the Petitioner cut his hair after seeing reports of Mesak’s death and never
mentioned Mrs. Liveoak on the night he stayed at Chavers’ residengéyly 13, 1994.1d., at
730-31.
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crack is not physically addictivee.,there is no treatment regimen for addiction, it
results in a very intense psychological addiction causing a cravinigefairagand

a dependence that requires userseiedmore of the drugo get the same effedb)

the psychological craving resulting from crack cocaine abuse causes intense
discomfort and irritability, (6) Petitioner has been diagnosed as dependent upon
cocaine, (7) at the time of his capital offense, Petitioner was binging on iceack,

he wanted more and more of the daugd used large quantities of crack within
shorertime period, (8) Petitioner had been binging on crack for twelve days prior
to his encounter with Mrs. Liveoak and was oblivious to time attime, )
Petitioner was functioning at below the average intelligence &wuék time of his
capital offense, (10) despite his abuse of crack, Petitioner knew the difference
between right and wrong, (11) Petitioner became tearful when he related the
circumstances of Mrs. Liveoak’s death, and (12) Petitioner was remorseful

derying he ever intended for Mrs. Liveoak to dte.

157 SCR 743-61 (testimony of Dr. Guy Renfro). On cross-examination, Dr. Renfro
testified that (1) Petitioner knew it was wrong to aligund rob Mrs. Liveoak and leave her in
the trunk of her car, (2) not every drug addict commits violent crimes, and (B)us@c
increases the propensity for violence because it makes users more confrontitipatV61-

64. On redirect examinationDr. Renfro testified (1) the craving effects of crack affect a user’s
choices and (2) crack is a “drug of concerid’, at 764-66.
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An attorney (and Petitionersourtappointedmitigation specialist) testified
the federal Sentencing Guidelines treated crack cocaine as more dangerous and
addictive than powder cocaif.

Petitioner testified on direct examination that lig) was born and raised in
New York until age @®r 7 when his parents divorced and he moved with his mother
and two of his siblings to Florida, where he began abusing alcohol, (2) he skipped
school reguldy, (3) he played in a band in bars with his stagher beginning
around age 10 and continued drinking alcohol, (4) he began using marijuana around
age nine and often stole from his mother to pay for pot when he was in middle school,
(5) he had no parental supervision growing up and did not attend church, (6) he
began using cocaine intravenously around age 13, (7) crystal meth, used
intravenously, became his drug of choice around the same time, (8) he also abused
Quaaludes, Placidyls, Desoxyns, Mepergan, Deerol, and LSD, (9) he “discovered”
crack cocaine in 1992 which he smoked, (10) he had been doing crack for about two
weeks immediately prior to his encounter with Mrs. Libeoak, (11) he pawned
everything he owned to buy crack, (I8 stole cigarettes amdeat from grocery
stores to pay for drugs, which he bought from Chester Foley, (13) he and Carolyn

Yaw have five children, (14) he and Mike Kelly robbed Mr. Portwood at knife point,

167 SCR 767-77 (testimony of Susan James).
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(15) he never touched Portwood but did threaten him, (16) the night before
encountered Mrs. Liveoak, he traded a stolen bicycle for crack, (17) he pushed Mrs.
Liveoak into her car and drove away from the WalMart in Prattville, (18) Mrs.
Liveoak was scared and offered to get money for him from her credit cardas(19)

he drove Mrs. Liveoak’s car south on the Interstate, he told her he had a crack
problem and she prayed for him, (20) he drove to a road in the woods, stopped the
car, and directed Mrs. Liveoak to get out and walk into the woods, (21) when she
said she was scardik suggested she get into the trunk and promised she would get
out as soon as he got to the bank and got the money, (22) when they reached the
AmSouth Bank on South Boulevard in Montgomenytially Carolyn Yaw could

not get the teller machine to workR3) he had been speaking with Mrs. Liveoak
from inside the car but he got out and sat on the trunk to hear her (&tjexhen

Mrs. Liveoak gave him the phone number for her son, he did not write it d2&yn,

he promised Mrs. Liveoak he would call thaipe to let her out of the trunk, g

after he and Carolyn Yaw got money from Mrs. Liveoak’s bank account, they called
a cab and left for Chester Foley’s hous@&) gey later went to a motel where they
smoked crack until dawn, 2 at checkout time, they went back to Chestamley’s

house, (2) he, Yaw, and Dennis Bowen went to the WalMart in Prattville to steal
things totrade formore crack, 30) he and Dale Blake went to Wetpka and

Millorook and stole items ttrade for crackand(31) when he awoke the morning
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after his encounter with Mrs. Liveoak, he assumed she had gotten out of her trunk

and he was likely waatl for kidnaping and robbety.

177 SCR 77800, 8 SCR 80D3 (testimony of Donald Dallas). Petitioner's direc
examination ended with the following exchanges:

Q: Mr. Dallas, this jury and this Court and this family want to know
why you didn’t make the phone call?
A: Once | went to the motel, | never left the motel. | tried one time, but

the guythat came over that Chester knew, | had asked Chester if he knew anybody
with a car that could take me somewhere and bring me back. This is when Chester
first came back with the drugsecause at the time | wanted to make sure she was
gone But | didn’twant to call a cab, because | didn’t want to get caught, because
| had took a cab away from there. | knew if | called the Yellow Cab Company or
any cab company, that they would be looking out for me. So Chester brung [sic]
the guy that lives across threet from him to the motel. Of course, he knows that
| am a crack addict. | told him | would give him twedfitye dollars to carry me
over to the Southern Bypass to let me look at something, and if everything was
okay, then | would give him some more money to fill his car up with gas and buy
his beer, because he was young. So we started over there, and his car overheated,
so we didn’t make it no further than the first store we stopped to get gas at. So me
being in the public when | am hitting craclgan’t do, so | suggested to go back to
the motel, and | asked Chester to find us another ride. Chester knew, | guess, what
| was trying to do, because he was the only one | had told. | never left again. |
smoked crack to daylight. | never used the phone. And by the next day, | never
heard anything about it, so | started hustling trying to get money to get mcke cra

Q: Mr. Dallas, did you intend to kill Hazel Liveoak?

A: No, I did not. | didn’t intend to kill nobody.

Q: Was your purpose just to get money?

A: (No verbal response.)

8 SCR 801-03 (Emphasis added).

During his crosgxamination, Petitioner testified as follows:

Q: But you were more comfortable just to leave her in the trunk of the
car? Were you more comfortable leaving her in the trunk of the car, putting her in
the trunk of the car?

A: For me to get away?

Q: Period. When you put her in the trunk of that car. Were you more
comfortable putting her inside a seventythreeyearold woman, inside the trunk
of a car?

A: | wasn't eve thinking about nothing like that. | was thinking about

getting the money.

Q: When did you start thinking about the heart condition that she told
you about, Mr. Dallas?

A: When we was going down the interstate, like | said, we was talking.
And she said she had a heart problem. | asked her was she okay. She said, yes, |
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Petitioner’s crosgxamination concludeals follows

Q: There you are driving around, ridinground in that
parking lot, and there was Mrs. Liveoak still in the trunk of that car?

A:  Yes.

Q: And did you park the car back in theMart parking lot?
A:  Yes.

Q: Mr. Dallas, why didn’'t you leave the keys with the car?
A:  |thought | did.

Q: Butyou didn’t, did you?

am okay. | guess in my mind, you know, my daddy died of a heart attack. sHe wa
a real physically active man. He died in his sleep of a heart attack. | j@st nev
really thought about the heart attack. | don’t guess | thought it would evemhappe

Q: Wait a second. You said your daddy died of a heart attack?

A: Yes, he did.

Q: And she tells you she has a heart condition, and you thought it was
okay to put a seventyreeyearold woman with a heart condition on a summer
afternoon in the trunk of a car?

A: Like I say, | wasn’t thinking about too many things but one thing. |
am robbing somebody, and | am going to be in big trouble. | am going to spend a
lot of time in jail if |1 get caught doing this. And wasn’t reallyif | had been
thinking, it would have never happened.

Q: Spent a lot of time in jail if you get caught. Kind of cut down the
chances of getting caught, Mr. Dallas, if the witness who you abductedds dea
isn'tit?

A: No.

Q: You don’t think that would cut down your chances of getting
caught?

A: No. | knew | was going to get caught for robbing her. | didn’t wipe

off no fingerprints or try to do nothing. | wasn’t even thinking. I just wanted to get
the money and get the dope and get in my own world.

Q: You were just talking about getting caught, Mr. Dallas. You just
abducted someone just a few days beforehand, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: You left that person alive, correct? That was the person that could
identify you possibly; isn’t that right?

A: That's why | knew | would get caught. Sooner or later, everybody

knows they are doing a crime they are going to get caught. With the gougs,
don’t comprehend it.
Q: But you also knew, Mr. Dallas, thétMrs. Liveoak was dead, she
could not really identify you very well, could she?
A: That ain’'t so. That ain’t so. Never in my mind have | ever thought
about killing anybody.
8 SCR 815-18.
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A:  If you didn’t find them, then, obviously not.

Q: Mr. Dallas, why didn’t you at least move that car in a
closer posmon where someone might happen upon it?
| wasn’t thinking about that.

You weren't thinking about Mrs. Leoak at all, were you?

| just wanted to get out.

You didn’t care about Mrs. Liveoak, did you?

That’s not so.

Mr. Dallas, this is a woman that was praying for your crack
addiction. | think that’'s what you testified to. Is that right?

A:  Yeah.

Q: And you were paying her by leaving her in the trunk of a
car and parked that car in an area where it was not likely to be found
and she was not likely to be found. Is that how you repaid her, Mr.
Dallas?

A: No.

Q: Let me ask you this, Mr. Dallas. When you went over to
that crack house and got in that cab, it is a long way froMaik
parking lot to Chisholm, isn’t it?

A.  ltis.

Q: Do you have any idea how many pay phones you passed
along the way?

A: |l guess | figured she got found, becatuse

Q: That wasn't my question.

A:  Redo your question, please.

Q: Do you have any idea how many pay phoyas passed
along the way?

A:  Five hundred.

Q: Abunch?

A:  Abunch.

Q:  And you had eight hundred dollars on you, right? That's
what you testiked to?

A:  Right.

Q:  Out of that eight hundred dollars, do you think you may
could have gotten a quarter to use one of those pay phones?

A:.  We never stopped.

Q: Did you ever ask the cab driver to stop?

A: No.

Q: When you went to the Coliseum Motel thaght, you
didn’t have a way there, did you?

QZO2OX>
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Yes.

You did?

Yes, sir.

| take it back. | am sorry. You had to get a ride to go there,
right?
Yes, | did.

From the crack house, Chester Foley’s house or whatever
it was in Chlsholm tahe Coliseum Motel, did you pass a number of
pay phones at that time?

DX OZ0OX2

A:  Yes.
Q:  Still had money on you, too, didn’t you?
A:  Yeah.

Q: Obviously you had money on you, because you had
enough money to get a hotel room?
Correct.
Q Didn’t use a quarter at that time to call for help, did you?
A: I never used the phone.
Q: Never stopped, did you?
A
Q:

) 2

No.
How about the Coliseum Motel itself, there were phones
in that motel, weren’t there?

A: | expect so.
Q: You expect so. Only you didn’t even try, did you?
A: I never used the phone. | never used it.

Q: Ithink you said you didn’t daa cab to go back over to the
K-Mart parking lot to check on her, because you felt it may draw too
much attention to yourself?

A:  (No verbal response.)

Q: Isthatayes?

A:  Yes.

Q: Mr. Dallas, you don't dispute at all that you intended to
abduct and kidnap Hazel Liveoak, correct?

A:  Correct.

Q: And you don’t dispute that you did intend to rob Hazel
Liveoak?

A: No.

Q: You don'’t dispute the fact that you intended to place Mrs.
Liveoak in the trunk of the car there on that dirt road?

A:  No.
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Q: And you don't dispute the fact that you intended to leave
and drive around with Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of that car; is that right?

A:  Yes.

Q: Youdon't dispute the fact that you intended to leave, when
you left the kMart paking lot, to keep Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of
that car when you left?

A: I never thought too much about it. When the money came
out of the machine, | guess that was it. | never thoughitamything
butgetting out of there.

Q: And you were worried about getting caught?

A:  Yes.

Q: As a matter of fact, you were so worried about getting
caught the next day when you found out about Mrs. Liveoak’s death,
you cut your hair to try and changeur appearance?

A: | started to run, yeah.

Q; Mr. Dallas, isn't it true the first time you have shown any
remorse or any worry about what you did on that day is when you found
out that Mrs. Liveoak was dead.

A: It wasn’t supposed to happen.

Q: You didn't show any remorse when you were hitting on a
crack pot that night, were you?

A:.  (No verbal response.)

Q: Were you?

A:  (Witness shakes head negatively.)

Q:  You didn’t show any remorse when you went up to-\Wal
Mart to steal more for crack, did you?

No.

You didn’t give her a thought?

That’s crack addiction.

You didn’t give her a thought, did you?
Excuse me?

You didn’t give her a thought, did you?
| was wanted for robbery no¥f.

Z2OR2O202

188 SCR 820-26 testimony of Donald Dallas).

Because Petitioner’s substantive claims and ineffective assistance clainghréduitsensitive
and overlap substantially, analysis of those claims set forth below will negpe@adnt portions of
the evidence described in detail above, particularly the relevant pafiGtetitioner’s critically
important trial testimony.
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3. TheGuilt-lnnocence Phase JuBhargeand Verdict

The trial judge instructed the jury at the conclusion of the -gqulbcence
phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial that (1) capital murder as defineddy sta
law “is basically intentional murder with something additional,” (2) countoditiee
indictment against Petitioner charged intentional murder during a kidnaping, (3)
count two charged intentional murder during a robbery, (4) in addition to the capital
murder counts, the jury also had before it lesseluded offenses consisting of
felony murder and manslaughter, ¢ jury could convict Petitioner of capital
murder only if the jury concluded beyond a reasonable doubtrbaPetitioner
caused the death of Mrs. Liveoak and intended to kill her, (6) a person acts
intentionally with respect to a result or conduct when it is his or her purpose to cause
that result or to engage in that conducttlié)jury could convict Petitioner of capital
murder only if it concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that the Petgiotacted
or robbedMrs. Liveoakor intended to accomplish or aid in the commission of the
kidnaping or robbery of Mrs. Liveoak or the flight therefror@) évidence of
intoxication is relevant to negate an element of the offense cha®yed,donvict
when the defense of intoxication is raised, the prosecution must also prove beyond

a reasonable doubt that at the time of the alleged offense, the defendant dicanot, a
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result of being intoxicated, lack the capacity to either appreciate the criminality of
his alleged conduct or to conform his alleged conduct to the requirements of law,
(10) a person acts intentionally when his purpose is to cause a specific regult, (1
the jury could infer that a person intends the natural consequences of what he does
if the act is done intdionally, (12) the jury could consider the Petitioner’s conduct
and demeanor immediately after the crime in his statements to aid in characterizing
his intent, and @) the jury’s verdict must be unanimotfs.

The jury retired to deliberate at the guiihocence phase of trial at 1:30 PM
on October 19, 199%. At 1:50 PM the same date, the jury returned its verdict on
all seventeen counts of the indictment, finding Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable
doubt on all count$! The trial judge instructed the jury to return to the jury room
and to designate on the verdict form under which (or both) of the two theories of
capital murder the jury had convicted Petitioner of that offéhJéhe jury returned
to the courtroom shoitlthereafterand the trial court asked the jury foreman in open

court whether the jury’s action in circling both kidnaping and robbery on the verdict

198 SCR 88487, 899908, 91315, 91718, 922. The state trial court’s gdittnocence
phase jury instruction also clearly distinguished between the intentional macggred for a
conviction for capital murder and the reduced culpable mental state ngcessamvict a
defendant of felony murder or manslaughter under applicable statédaat 908-12.

208 SCR 931.
218 SCR 931-34.

28 SCR 934.
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form indicated the jury had concluded Petitioner was guilty of capital murder under
both theories submitted in the jury charge; the jury foreman stated that was €orrect.
D. Punishment Phase of Trial

The punishment or sentencing phase of Petitioner's capital murder trial
commenced at 2:45 PM the same date.

1. Prosecution’s?unishment Phadevidence

The progcution presented only one witness at the punishment phase of
Petitioner’s trial- the victim’sson Larry Liveoak. Mr. Liveoak testified briefly
about (1) the stress and emotional duress he and his family suffered during the search
for his mother after she went missing, (2) the important role his mother played in
their family, (3) the good works his mother performed while alive, and (4) the impact
his mother’s death had on him and his fanfly.

2. Defense’'Punishment Phadévidence

Petitioner’s older sister testified that (1) their family splitamglthere was a
lot of violence involving guns and knives between their parents, (2)dPetitivas
without parental guidang¢eupervision, or directiogrowing up, (3) their parents
beat hem, (4) Petitioner witnessed her being beaten, (5) their father was an

alcoholic, (6) after their parents separated, she, their brother Paul, #rahé&re

28 SCR 935.

248 SCR 94752 (testimony of Larry Liveoak).
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went to live with their mother in a home she could best describe as “hell,” (7) their
mother and tep-father ignored Petitioner, allowing him to do as he pleased, (8)
Petitioner was aware that she was molested, (9) their mother was taken to an insane
asylum on two occasions, (10) she and Petitioreeraised in bars and were lucky

to have food in their home, sometimes going as long as a week without eating, (11)
she ran away from home at age eighteen and got married, (12) Petitioner had two
children with a woman named Pam with whom Petitioner lived for three years, (13)
Pam was a good influence on iBener, (14) Petitioner began going out with
Carolyn “Polly” Yaw about fourteen years before the date of trial, (15) Yaw got
Petitioner into drugs, at which point Petitioner became “a different person,” (16)
Yaw dominated Petitioner, who took the blame Yaw'’s criminal behavior, and

(17) Petitioner's behavior wavis Mrs. Liveoak did not accurately reflect
Petitioner's characte?.

One of Petitioner’s older brothers testified that (1) he has convictions for DUI
and possession of marijuana, (2) their oldest brother went to live with another family
at some point and grew up to become a counselor for children in New York, (3)
Petitioner was gainfully employed at some point as an electrician, (4) Yaw was a

bad influence on Petitioner, (5) Yaw and an accomplice once stabbed a man and

258 SCR 955-66 (testimony of Cindy Knight).
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stole the man’s money and clothes, (6) Petitioner never got into trouble at school and
made it to the sixth grade, (7) Petitioner was doing crack for two weeks prior to his
capital offense, and (8) Petitioner was different whiercrack?®

Petitioner’s former common law wife testified that (1) she and Petitioner had
two teenage daughters, (2) Petitioner was a kind person who worked with her older
brother, (3) Polly Yaw caused their breakup at a time when Petitioner was working
in Tuscaloosa, (4) their breakup happened after she and Petitioner argued and the
next thing she knew, Petitioner was dating Yaw and doing drugs, (5) Yaw once
struck her, (6) it was out of character for Petitioner to kill someone, (7) she had neve
known Petiioner to be violent, and (8) she did not believe Petitioner would be
violent in prison?’

Polly Yaw’s stepsister testified that (1) she had known Petitioner since she
was sixteen, (2) Péibner is not a violent person, (3) Polly Yaw's reputation in the
community was “mean,” (4) Yaw always nagged Petitioner, (5) Yaw got Petitioner

on crack, andg6) Petitioner is sincerely remorseful for Mrs. Liveoak’s deéth.

268 SCR 966£3 (testimony of Paul Dallas).
278 SCR 973¢7 (testimony of Pam Cripple).

288 SCR 977-80 (testimony of Rhonda Chavers).
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3. Punishment Phase Jury Cha&&/erdict

The state trial court instructed the jury (1) it was to consider all of the
evidence, including the evidence offered during both the -gunticence and
punishment phases of trial, when making its sentencing recommendation, (2) it could
consider only those aggravating factors which it determined had bedhsisd
beyond a reasonable doubt, (3) more specifically, it could only consider the
following aggravating factors (but only if the jury determined it had been established
beyond a reasonable doubt): (a) the Petitioner had previously been convicted of
andher felony involving the use or threatened use of violence to another person, (b)
the Petitioner committed capital murder while engaged in the commission or
attempted commission or flight from either robbery in the first degree or kidnaping
in the first degree, and (c) Petitioner's capital murder was especially heinous,
atrocious, or cruel compared to other capital offenses, (4) “heinous” means
“extremely wicked or shockingly evil,” (5) “atrocious” means “outrageously wicked
and violent,” ) “cruel” means‘designed to inflict a high degreé pain with utter
indifference to or even enjoyment of the suffering of others,” (7) for a capfitalsef
to be “especially heinous and atrocious” any brutality involved “must exceed that
which is normally present in any capital offense,” (8) for a capital offense to
“especially cruel,” it must be “a conscienceless or pitiless crime which is

unnecessarily torturous to the victim,” (9) “all capital offenses are heinous,
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atrocious, and cruel to some extent,” (10) the jury instruction was intended to cover
“only those cases in which the degree of heinousness, atrociousness or cruelty
exceeds that [which] will always exist when a capital offense is committed,” (11)
before making a recommendation in favor of a death sentence, the jury must
unanimously agree th#te prosecution had presented evidence establibeyand

a reasonable doutite existence of at least one of the foregoing aggravating factors
(12) the jury must weigh against any aggravating factors all mitigat
circumstances presented, (13) a “mitigating circumstance” means any evidence
which “indicates or tends to indicate the defendant should be sentenced to life
imprisonment without parole instead of death,” and includes, but is not limited to,
such factors as (a) whether the Petitioner had no significant history of prior criminal
activity, (b) whether the Petitioner was under the influence of extreme Inoenta
emotional disturbance when he committed capital murder, (c) whether the victim
was a participanin the petitioner’'s criminal conduct or consented to the act, (d)
whether the Petitioner was an accomplice in the capital offense committed by
another persoand his participation was relatively minde) whether the Petitioner
acted under extreme duress or under substantial domination of another person, (f)
whether the capacity of the Petitioner to appreciate the criminality of his conduct
and to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired,

and (g) any aspect of the Petitiosecharacter or record and any of the

26



circumstances of the offense the Petitioner offered as a basis for a sentence of life
imprisonment without parole instead of death, including the Petitioner’'s prior
kindness and good works toward others which indiagtessibility of redemption

and rehabilitation, the love and caring shown towards Petitioner by his family and
friends, and that Petitioner appears to function well in various kinds of penal
Institutions, indicating a probability that Petitioner can llegrated into longerm

prison life without significant difficulty, (14) since his arrest, Petitioner has shown
no tendency towards violence against others, (15) the burden is on the prosecution
to disprove the existence of a mitigating circumstance affeyahe Petitioner by a
preponderance of the evidence, (16) only an aggravating circumstance must be
proven beyond a reasonable doubt, (th® jury’s deliberations should be based
upon the evidence and must avoid the influence of passion, prejudice, or any other
arbitrary factor, (18) weighing aggravating and mitigating factors is not a
mechanistic process different circumstances may be given different weights or
values in determining the sentence in a case, (19) in order to recommend a
punishment of death, at least ten jurors must vote for deatly number less than

ten cannot recommend death, (20) in order to recommend a sentence of life without
parole, at least seven jurors must vote for that sentence, (21) the jurors should hea

and consider the views of their fellow jurors and carefully weigh, sift, and consider
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the evidence, realizing that a human life is at stake, and bring to bear their best
judgment on the sole issue before the fiiry.

The jury subsequently sent out a note requesting additrestalctions on the
definition of mitigating circumstancé8. From5:30to 5:36p.m.the same date, the
jury returned to the courtrognthe trial judge repeated his earlier instructions
regarding the definition of mitigating circumstances and added, at the request of
Petitioner’'s counsel, additional examples of mitigating circumstances offered by the
defense, includingPetitioner's good work record, poor family -bpinging,
cooperation with police officers, emotional state at the time of the offense, and being
under the influence of alcohol or druijs.At 5:55 p.m. the same date, the jury
returned its sentencing recommendation, recommermirggvote of eleven to one
that the punishment be fixed at de#th.

4. Sentencing Hearing and Trial Court Findings

On November 16, 1995, the trial judge held the sentencing hearing

Petitioner’s trial counsel made objections to thegmetence repaft Petitioner’s

28 SCR 990-1000, 9 SCR 1001-11.
%9 SCR 1015-17.
%19 SCR 1017-23.
329 SCR 1023-24.

39 SCR 1026-28
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courtappointed mitigation expert argued in favor of a sentence of life without
parole, calling the court’s attention to the trial testimony of Petitioner and DrdRenf
andemphasiedthat(1) Petitioner had displayed poor judgment butmatdntended
to kill Mrs. Liveoak, (2) Petitioner was suffering from the pernicious effects of crack
cocaine addiction at the time of his offense, (3) scientific evidence and media
accounts suggested the “euphoric feeling is so intense that crack cosaiee u
quickly develop a habit on the drug that is almost impossible to overcome,” (4)
Petitioner was so dominated by Carolyn “PoMédw that he took the blame for her,
(5) Petitioner was contrite and cooperative with law enforcement after 8§, ébe
Petitioner was remorseful, (7) killing Petitioner will not bring back Mrs. Liveoak,
and (8) a sentence of life without parole is worse than déath.

Petitioner’s trial counsel argudiaiat(1) Petitioner had great remorse for what
he had done and had accepted responsibility for it, (2) some good could come out of
Petitioner’s life if he were permitted to live, (3) Petitioner experienced an etfrem
difficult childhood, (4)something aboutditioner’s childhood “prevented him from
developing the sense of responsibility that we are supposed to have, that sense of
responsibility that tells us to follow the rules, to obey the law, to respect the dignity

of others, and to avoid injuring others by our own selfish desires,” (5) Petitioner’s

%9 SCR 1028-44.
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desire for crack overwhelmed his judgment, R&jitioner’s actions were not those
of a rational human being, and (7) life without parole was the appropriate sefitence.
Petitioner then addressed the court and stated that (1) he was deepfprshisy
offense and had never meant for it to happen, (2) since the time he and Mrs. Liveoak
prayed for his crack habit, he had not done it, (3) he wanted to apologize to her
family, and (4) with the court’s permissiore lwould like the opportunity to tell
others about the harmful effects of crack cocaine, specifically what this “destroying
drug” had done to him and his fami.

The trial court imposed sentences of ten years on counts three through
seventeen of the indiment3’ On the capital murder counts, the trial court imposed
a sentence of death by electrocuti®nn its sentencing order, the trial cototind
that(1) Petitioner “never did a thing to rescue Mrs. Liveoak” despite having multiple
opportunities to dso, (2) Mrs. Liveoak apparently did not die immediately but had
a number of bruises and cuts on her hands consistent with attemptstbyfreer
herself, (3) Petitioner let Mrs. Liveoak die in the trunk of her car while he and Y

went to a crack house purchase crack with money they obtained through the use

%9 SCR 1044-50.
%9 SCR 1050-51.
379 SCR 1052-53
%9 SCR 1053.
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of Mrs. Liveoak’s credit card, (4) the following day, Petitioner sarcastically told
Dennis Bowen that he “hoped the old lady would die,” (5) Petitioner knew from the
earlier abduction of Mr. Portwood that he could cause the death of someone by
leavingherin the trunk of a car, (6) “the inference can clearly be drawn that he left
Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of the car to prevent subsequent identification,” (7)
Petitioner’s intent to kill was also showmrough his testimony at trial, specifically
when, in response to questions about why he placed Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of her
car, Petitioner emphasized he was concerned about getting caugthte (8)y
concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner committed his capital offense
while engaged in the commission or attempted commission, or as an accomplice in
the commission or attempted commission, or while in flight after the commission or
attempted commission, of kidnaping and robb&\theprosecution proved beyond

a reasonable doubt that Petitioner was previously convicted of another felony
involving the use or threatened use of violence against another person, (10) the
prosecution proved beyond a reasonable dtha#ttPetitioner's capitalffense was
especially heinous, atrocious, or criggecifically by proving Mrs. Liveoak suffered
pre-mortem injuries suffering both physically and psychologically after being left in
the trunk of an automobile on a summer afternaen,“entombed in the trunk of

her car,” after Petitioner cruelly gave her false hope she would be rescued, (11)

Petitioner failed to present sufficient evidence to establish either (a) he had no
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significant history of prior criminal activity, (b) he committed his capitat$e

while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbaecenhile
Petitioner presented evidence showing he was craving crack cocaine, he failed to
present evidence showing he was under the influence of crack at the time he
committed hs capital offense), (c) he committed his offense as a mere accomplice,
(d) he acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another
person, (e) his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his
conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impairé€f),his age at

the time of the offensd.¢., thirty) was a mitigating circumstancg,2) Petitioner

did present evidence supporting a number ofstatutory mitigating circumstances

but thetrial court did not give great weight to any of these factors, specifically
evidence showing (a) Petitioner was remorseful for his conduct, (b) Petitipas¥’s
arrestconfession and cooperation with investigating officers, (c) Petticame

from a poor family and did not have adequate adult role models or morals instilled
in him (the court found there was no evidence Petitioner turned to a life of crime
because of his upbringing in light of the absence of a criminal record for his sister
who grew up in the same household), (d) Petitioner'sdgmork record, (e)
Petitioner was a good husband to his first wife, (f) Petitioner’'s pimaness and

good work toward others, (g) the love and caring shown Petitioner by his family and

friends, (h) Petitioner’'s record otirictioning well in penal institutions, and (i)
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Petitioner’s record of nonviolence since his arrastifinally, (13) after considering
the jury’'s recommendation and weighing the aggravating and mitigating
circumstances, Petitioner’s sentence should ezl fat deat®
E. Direct Appeal

Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentepeEsenting nine claims in his
appellant’s brief? The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s
conviction and sentence in an opinion issMkdich 21, 199;/rejecting on the merits
all of Petitioner’s grounds for appellate revieWallas v. State711 So.2d 1101

(Ala. Crim. App. 1997). Petitionernext filed a petition for certiorari with the

392 SCR 357-69.

0 petitioner’s appellant’s briefiled April 11, 1996appears among the state court records
submitted to this Court 10 SCR Tab 2. As grounds for review, Petitioner’s appellate counsel
argued (1) the prosecution violated the equal protection principle annourBadam v. Kentucky
by using twelve of its sixteen peremptory strikes to remove black members afythenire, (2)
the trial court erred in granting the prosecution’s challenge for cause tdg8@nd in denying
the defense’s challenge for cause to juror 64, (3) thédaurt erred in denying the defense’s
requests for gudinnocence phase jury instructions on the legsduded offenses of reckless
murder and criminally negligent homicide, (4) the trial court erredeanying the defense’s
objections to the guHinnocence phase jury charge commenting on (a) the defendant’s credibility,
(b) the impeachment of the defendant, and (c) the defendant’s flight from e stene as
evidence of consciousness of guilt, (5) the trial court erred in allowing the jury tol@oas an
aggravating circumstance whether the crime was especially heinous, wr@eid cruel, (6) the
trial court erred in considering improper victim impact testimony in the form ofgaieny by
the victim’s son concerning the impact of his nesth death upon him and his family and (b) a
letter from the victim’s daughter, (7) Petitioner’s lead trial counsel reddeedfective assistance
as a result of a conflict of interest, (8) the trial court erred in denying Petitidrial counsels’
motions for continuance, which caused said counsel to constructively render inetfssistance,
and (9) there was insufficient evidence to support the jury’s verdict at thenguittence phase
of trial, i.e.,insufficient evidence to show Petitioner pessed the specific intent to kill the victim.
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Alabama Supreme Coutt. The Alabama Supreme Court affirmed Petitir's
conviction and sentence in an opinion issued March 13, 1998, finding no reversible
error. Ex parte Dallas 711 So2d 1114 (Ala. 1998). The United States Supreme
Court denied Petitioner’s petition for writ of certiorari October 5, 1998 Dallas
v. Alabama525 U.S. 860 (1998¥.
F. State Habeas Corpus Proceeding

Petitioner filed a swormpro sestate habeas corpus petitiom,, a petition

pursuant to Rule 32 of the Alabama Rules of Criminal Procédufde state trial

4 Petitioner’s certiorari petition with the Alabama Supreme Court appears at 1TECR
6. Petitioner’s certiorari petition +&rged the same nine grounds for relief Petitioner had urged
before the Alabama @ot of Criminal Appeals.

42 Petitioner’s petition for writ of certiorari filed with the United States SupremeatCou
appears at 11 S€Tab 10.

43 Petitioner’'spro seRule 32 petition (signed September 23, 1999) appears at both 12 SCR
(Revised) Tab 1A & 15 SCR Tab 30. As grounds for relief in his swamo seRule 32 petition,
Petitioner presented (1) a rambling-p&ge series of conclusory ineffective assistance claims
attacking the performance of his state trial counsel, (2) a series of @rgadomplaints about the
performance of the prosecution during his trial, including arguments the prosetaitiused
extraneous information to assist during jury selection, (b) presented unspecéjadigoal
evidence, (c) improperly commented on unidentifiedemant evidence, (d) elicited unidentified
inadmissible hearsay evidence, (e) improperly commented on the credibilititnelsses, (f)
improperly commented on the defense’s failure to call certain witneethe prosecution
violated the rule iBradyv. Marylandby failing to disclose to the defense (a) notes, recordings,
and other documents memorializing conversations between prosecution witnessaBawaw
enforcement officers after July 14, 1994, (b) information regarding Bowen'’s jmolsétusand
prior convictions, and (c) the fact that during his garsest interview, Petitioner initially denied
any involvement in Mrs. Liveoak’s murder, (4) the trial court erred in admittuderce of
Petitioner’'s kidnaping and robbery of Mr. Portwood just days before Petitioner’'s kidnaping,
robbery, and murder of Mrs. Liveoak, (5) the trial court erred in admitting photographs and
videotaped images of Mrs. Liveoak’s body in the trunk of her car, (6) the trial eoed in
granting the prosecution’s challenge for cause to juror 129 and in denying the 'defbalienge
for cause to juror 64, (7) the trial court erred in denying the defense’s requeitedngcence
phase jury instructions on the lesgarluded offenses of reckless murder and criminadigligent
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court summarily dismissed several of Petitioner’s claims in an Order issued October

28, 1999* On June 21, 2001, the state trial court held an evidentiary h¢duiniag

homicide, (8) the trial court erred in the gurihocence phase jury instructions in commenting on
Petitioner’s credibility as a witness, (9) the trial court erred in permitting tii¢guwonsider as an
aggravating circumstance at the punishment phase of trial whether Restiapital offense was
especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, (10) two jurors failed to truthfully angwie dire
guestions, thereby depriving Petitioner of his right to intelligently exersiseperemptory
challengs, (11) the trial court’s denial of Petitioner's motions for continuance congélycti
caused Petitioner’s trial counsel to render ineffective assistance becaused?&titiounsel were
unable to adequately investigate the case against PetitioneresitidnBr’'s background for
potentially mitigating evidence, (12) Petitioner’s state appellate counsgdrezh ineffective
assistance on direct appeal by failing to present all of the foregoing claimaliéf urged by
Petitioner in his Rule 32 petitiaas grounds for relief in Petitioner’'s appellant’s brief, and (13) the
death penalty as administered in Alabama violates the Eighth Amendmaettibifoon against
cruel and unusual punishment. Petitioner executed a separate verification of $esRule32
petition on March 22, 2000 (15 SCR Tab 38).

4 The state trial court’s Order of October 28, 1999, appears at 15 SCR Tab 35. The state
trial court found that (1) Petitioner’'s constructive ineffective assistalaims based upon the
Alabama fee schedelfor defense counsel, the trial court’s denial of Petitioner’s lead trial
counsel’s pretrial motion to withdraw, and the trial court’'s denial of Petitmaotions for
continuance (a) could and should have been raised at trial and on direct appdgl \mack (
unsupported by factual allegations showing how Petitioner was prejudiced therelstjti@yé?
alleged no facts showing how he was prejudiced by the performance of his counpettial
detention hearing, (3) Petitioner's complaints aboutptietrial performance of his trial counsel
were conclusory, (4) Petitioner's admissions during his videotaped confessiorabtastirnony,
together with the trial testimony of Dennis Bowen, collectively fored@sénding of prejudice
in connection wh Petitioner's complaints of ineffective assistance during the-ignittcence
phase of trial, (5) Petitioner's complaint about the admission of his signed confegss
procedurally defaulted because that claim could and should have been raisedt@ppéeal; (6)
Petitioner's complaints of prosecutorial misconduck., Petitioner's complaints about
prosecutorial jury argument, were procedurally defaulted because theydsldoald have been
raised on direct appeal, (7) PetitiondBsady claim relating to the trial testimony of Detective
Saint was procedurally defaulted because this claim could and should have been raissxd on dir
appeal, (8) Petitioner’s claims relating to the admission of evidence of Ratgipnior criminal
behavior and thadmission of photographic and videotape evidence were procedurally defaulted
because they could and should have been raised on direct appeal, (9) Petitiones’setadimg
to trial court rulings on challenges for cause and the trial court’s jury atistng had been raised
and addressed by the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals on direct appeal and could not be re
litigated in Petitioner’'s Rule 32 proceeding, (10) Petitioner’s juror miscomthiot was not based
on any identified newly discovered ewde and was subject to dismissal absent amendment
[Petitioner did not subsequently amend his Rule 32 petition to address this issuedti{bheP's
complaint that his lead trial counsel suffered from an actual conflict akstteéad been fully
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which Petitioner was represented by counseld Petitioner participated
telephonicdly) andlaterreceived deposition testimony framdditionalwitnesses?
The same trial court judge who presided over Petitiomapgal murder trial issued

an Ordeon September 25, 200denying Petitioner's Rule 32 petitidh.

addresed and denied during Petitioner’s direct appeal and could notibigated in his Rule 32
proceeding, (12) Petitioner’'s claim of ineffective assistance by his spgellate counsel was
insufficiently specific to comply with Rule 32.6(b) of the AlakmRules of Criminal Procedure
and was subject to dismissal absent amendment by Petitioner [Petitioner dibsedquently
amend his Rule 32 petition to address this issue], and (13) Petitioner's challenge to t
constitutionality of Alabama’s thecurrentmethod of execution (electrocution) was procedurally
defaulted because it could and should have been raised on direct appeal and lackedaegtiable

450n June 21, 2001, the state trial court heard testimony in connection with Petitioner’s
Rule 32 petibn from (1) attorney Jeffery C. Duffey, Petitioner’s former triakoninsel, (2) Susan
James, Petitioner’s former mitigation specialist and@ansel at the sentencing hearing, (3) John
Mann, a Montgomery Police Sergeant, and (4) Danny Billingsley,naesiigator with the
Alabama Attorney General’'s Office. The foregoing testimony aped® SCR Tab 13 and 12
SCR (Revised) Tab 13. The state habeas trial court also had before fidkiioie testimony of
(1) Petitioner’'s former lead trial counsattorney Algert Agricola (which appears at 13 SCR Tab
14 and 13 SCR (Revised) Tab 14) and (2) Petitioner’s acquaintance Chestéwhath appears
at Doc # 1871).

4 The state trial court’s Order of September 25, 2001, appears at both 13 SCRAT&b 14
16 SCR Tab 65. The trial court found that (1) Petitioner's complaints about the performhance
his former counsel prior to trial (who withdrew or were dismissed from repeggenprior to
trial) and many of Petitioner's complaints about the performamd@socounsel at the guilt
innocence phase of trial were subject to summary dismissal (because they atiaiéyged
pretrial rulings made by the trial court which could and should have been raised ctiaplreal),
(2) Petitioner's complaints abotlie performance of his trial counsel during the pretrial hearing
on Petitioner's motion to suppress were refuted by Petitioner's videotaped scomfel3)
Petitioner's complaints about the failure of his trial counsel to call Chester tedlestify at he
hearing on Petitioner’'s motion to suppress and at trial were refuted by Fagpgsition testimony
(in which Foley denied any personal knowledge of the circumstances surroumditngner’s
offense and was never asked whether he had any personal knowledge of thetameasns
surrounding Petitioner’s arrest), (4) there was more than sufficient eeidescpport the jury’'s
guilty verdict and proof of the specific intent to kill (specifically, viewethe light most favorable
to the jury’s verdict, the evidence showed Petitioner (a) placed Mrs. Livedhak trunk of her
car on a July afternoon in Alabama, (b) removed the keys from her vehicle, (c) parkeddlee vehi
in a remote location of the-Klart parking lot, and (d) made no attempt to summealp for Mrs.
Liveoak despite having made numerous assurances to her that he would do so and in spite of hi
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knowledge of her age and heart problems), (5) Petitioner failed to show there waslanges
available at the time of trial showing Mrs. Liveoalsnalive at the time her vehicle was discovered
by police or that her fatal cardiac episode would have occurred even if she had neftlieahd
inside the trunk of her car in the middle of the summer in the middle of Alabama, éideno
showinglaw enforcement personnel were negligent in the manner they reacted aftsctiveg

of Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle the day after Petitioner abandoned same the dag, l{@jahere was

no evidence presented showing any deal or promises of leniency evied dxédween the
prosecution and witness Dennis Bowen, (8) there is no rule in Alabama which pratiesrt party
from investigating the background of potential jurors for use during jury smied®) the
prosecution’s opening statement describing the evidence it believed would beeutexethie
guilt-innocence phase of trial was neither inflammatory nor unduly prejudicial, (1@ifine fof
Petitioner’s trial counsel to object to the prosecution’s closing jury argumast neither
objectively unreasmable nor prejudicial to Petitioner (because there was no legitimate basis for
objection to the prosecution’s jury arguments), (11) Petitioner testified gilkénnocence phase

of trial in his casen-chief to the same facts he alleged the proseciashintroduced through
hearsay testimony, (12) Petitioner presented no new or additional evidence ljatmehat
presented at trial by Petitioner’s trial counsel through the defense’s realthl expert) showing
Petitioner suffered from a mitigating mental state at the time of his capital offendeefiti®ner’s

trial counsel presented extensive mitigating evidence showing Petitionem@)can a broken
home, (b) began drinking alcohol and using intravenous drugs at any early age, ¢onuplged
sixth grade, (d) had no direction in his life, (e) was nevertheless a good fathimndhuand
provider, (f) became hooked on cocaine after taking up with Polly Yaw, (g) took respon&ibility
Yaw'’s criminal actions, and (h) was dominated by Yaw) @dtitioner failed to present any new
or additional mitigating evidence was available at the time of trial from his oldesehrbtk
mother, or others, (15) Petitioner’s allegations that additional evidencevaitsbte at the time

of trial to show specific instances of abuse, neglect or drug abuse duringnegstchildhood
and adult life would have been, at best, cumulative of the evidence Petitionérotmsel
actually presented during Petitioner’'s capital murder trial, (16) therenmampopriety in the
prosecution’s punishment phase jury arguments (a) appealing to the jury for jugiticpanting

out the jury had already found beyond a reasonable doubt that one aggravating circumstance
existed, i.e., Petitioner committed intentional urder during the course of committing or
attempting to commit robbery and kidnaping, (17) the short duration of the jury’s punishment
phase deliberation did not establish that Petitioner was prejudiced by his duiasets
performance at the punishmertgse of trial, (18) Petitioner failed to present any evidence
showing the outcome of his psentence interview would have been any different had his trial
counsel accompanied Petitioner to the interview or that the failure of his uredeldo attendhie
pre-sentence interview was objectively unreasonable, (19) Petitioner failezstnpany evidence
showing it was objectively unreasonable for his state appellate counsel taihedad raise all

of the claims presented in Petitionepi seRule 2 petition as part of Petitioner’s appellant’s
brief on direct appeal, and (20) there was overwhelming evidence to support the juti¢sater
the guiltinnocence phase of trial and the jury’s sentencing recommendation.
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Petitioner filed amotion to alter o vacate the judgment on October 25,
2001% The state trial court denied Petitioner’s motion. Petitioner appealed on
November 28, 20048 but the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals dismissed his
appealon December 7, 2004s untimely*®

Petitioner filed motions seeking leave to file an-ofitime appeaf and
requesting a finding that the filing of his motion to alter, vacate, and amend judgment
tolled the applicable time for filing a notice of app&al he state trial cougranted
the latter of these motions in an Order issued February 12,20@¢titioner filed a
second Notice of Appeal on February 15, 260mh an Order issued March 1, 2002,
the Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals struck Petitioner's second appeal as

untimely>* Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Alabama

47 Petitioner’s motion to alter, vacate or amend appears at both 13 SCR Tab 15 and 13
SCR (Revised) Tab 15.

413 SCR (Revised) Tab 1&-

4914 SCR Tab 19.

5013 SCR (Revised) Tabs 17 & -
5113 SCR (Revised) Tab 1B-

5213 SCR (Revised) Tab 17-

5313 SCR (Revised) Tab -

%14 SCR Tab 22 & 16 SCR Tab 75.
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Supreme Couj® which that court dismissed without opinion on June 28, 2682
failure to comply with Rule 3@)(1) of the Alabama Rules of Appellate Procedire.
G. Proceedings in Federal Court

Petitioner filed his original federal habeas corpus petition on July 9, 2002,

asserting seventeen categories of claims for réllet. # 1)°>’ Petitioner filed a

%514 SCR Tab 23 (Petition) & Tab 24 (Brief).
%614 SCR Tab 27.

57 As grounds for relief, Petitioner’'s federal habeas counsel argyetiglprosecution
improperly used peremptory challenges in a racially discriminat@yner in violation of the
holding inBatson v. Kentucky(2) the state trial court erred in denying tefense’s requests for
guilt-innocence phase jury instructions on the legsgduded offenses of reckless murder and
criminally negligent homicide, (3) the trial court’s denial of Petitioner’s toahsels’ motions for
continuance violated Petitioner’s constitutional rights to due process and ttteveféssistance
of counsel, (4) Petitioner’s lead trial counsel suffered from an actudiataffinterest which
denied Petitioner the effective assistance of counsel, (5) the state trial cediihgranting the
prosecution’s challenge for cause to juror 129 and in denying the defense’s chialtezagese to
juror 64, (6) the state trial court erred in overruling the defense’s objectiansltinnocence
phase jury instructions (a) stating the jury “may infer that a person intendsatheal
consequences of what he does if the act is done intentionally” and (b) commenting on the
credibility and impeachment of the Petitioner, (7) Petitioner’s trial counseérea ineffective
assistance before, dng, and after trial (due to (a) limitations in the fee schedule for Ataba
defense counsel, (b) the withdrawal or removal of several attorneys prior torieesttrial, (c)
the denial of Petitioner's motions for continuance, and (d) the failurestitibRer’s trial counsel
to (i) adequately investigate the case against Petitioner [including the aetliahhtause of Mrs.
Liveoak’'s death] and Petitioner's background for mitigating evidencg, cfinllenge the
prosecution’s case and introduce exetpy evidence, (iii) object to the medical examiner’s
testimony that Mrs. Liveoak’s death was a homicide, (iv) adequately-exassine prosecution
witness Dennis Bowen regarding Bowen’s prior statement to the police and th®lipos$ a
deal betweeprosecutors and Bowen, (v) present expert medical testimony and evidenaagshowi
the actual cause of Mrs. Liveoak’s death, (vi) object to the prosecution’sfusedisclosed
extraneous information during jury selection, (vii) object to the prosecution’s diermgsH
Petitioner’s character during opening and closing jury arguments at théngocence phase of
trial, (viii) object to the prosecution’s assertion during closing jury argtiatehe guitinnocence
phase of trial that the case against Retér was simple and uncomplicated, (ix) object to the
prosecution’s closing jury argument at the gunltocence phase of trial suggesting that portions
of Petitioner’s trial testimony were incredible, (x) object to the prosmtstclosing jury argument
at the guiltinnocence phase of trial suggesting that Dennis Bowen’s credibility wassujeri
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that of Petitioner, (xi) object to the prosecution’s closing jury argument atuitidrgnocence
phase of trial suggesting that Petitioner’'s testimony that he attempted to retuenkdvidirt
parking lot but was unable to do so because the vehicle in which he was a passenger liroke dow
was not credible because the driver of the vehicle had not appeared at trial aad testdér oath,

(xii) object to the posecution’s closing jury argument at the guiltocence phase of trial
suggesting that Dennis Bowen'’s testimony was sufficient to establish that Petiitenéonally
murdered Mrs. Liveoak, (xiii) object to the prosecution’s closing jury arguraetiie guil
innocence phase of trial suggesting that Petitioner's admissions reghisivamuntary abuse of
crack cocaine did not excuse his criminal actions or preclude a findin@eti@oner intentionally
murdered Mrs. Liveoak, (xiv) object to the peostion eliciting unspecified hearsay testimony,
(xv) call the defense’s coudppointed mitigation expert to testify at the punishment phase of trial,
(xvi) adequately investigate Petitioner's medical history, correctional hstducational history,
employment and training history, family and social history, and any religioasltural influences

in an effort to identify and develop potentially mitigating evidence, (xvii) adtdy meet with
Petitioner prior to trial, (xviii) adequately meet with potential defense witagzser to their
testimony at the punishment phase of trial, (xix) elicit further potentially mitigatiitignce from

the witnesses actually called to testify by the defense at the punishment phask atout
instances of negléc physical and emotional abuse, marital infidelities, mental instability,
alcoholism, and misbehavior by Petitioner’s parents and Petitioner’s difffeedjlected, and
undisciplined childhood, (xx) present available mitigating evidence showingoRets early
exposure to and abuse of alcohol and narcotics, (xxi) present mitigating evidenwgegs
Petitioner’s strong moral character, (xxii) interview and present tesyifinom Petitioner’s older
brother Jimmy in New York, regarding Petitioner’s difficult childhood [includingdence
showing Jimmy once physically assaulted his mother, knocking her over a couch anutedd |
contact with Petitioner after their parents divorced and Petitioner's mothiele York with the
three younger Dallas childrgn(xxiii) present additional testimony from Rhonda Chavers
regarding Petitioner’s good character and difficult childhood, (xxiv) presenteéddowing the
Dallas children were subjected to sexual abuse by babysitters, (xxv)eanteaad present the
testimony of Petitioner’'s mother Elaine regarding her physical and emoticnse alb Petitioner,

her infidelities and those of Petitioner’s biological father and-fttper, Petitioner’s truancy, the
Dallas family’s extremely poor economic standing, and the negative influehdestitioner’s
biological father and stefather upon Petitioner’'s development, (xxvi) present testimony showing
that, on crack, Petitioner was a “different man,” (xxvii) present expéri@sy showing the likely
causes of Petiti@r's emotional and physical problems [“serious psychopathology including
confused thinking, distorted perceptions, and other psychotic processes”], including the
psychological assessment done on Petitioner at the Kilby Correctional Fggiiyi) preset
evidence showing Petitioner successfully completed a drug rehabilitation privgiaxas, and
(xxix) to attend Petitioner's preentence interview, (8) the state trial court erred in admitting
Petitioner’s signed confession, which was obtained in violation of Petitiondrtdeigounsel, (9)

the prosecution engaged in misconduct, including (a) using extraneous information about a juror
as a basis for not striking the juror during jury selection, (b) presenting prejedidance lacking

in probativevalue, (c) commenting on irrelevant evidence, (d) eliciting hearstmtes/, and (e)
improperly commenting on the credibility of withesses and on the defemskeisefto present
certain witnesses, (10) the trial court erred in considering impropenviopact evidence in the
form of a letter to the trial judge from Mrs. Liveoak’s daughter urgingrtip®sition of a sentence
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brief on the merits in support of his claims for relief on June 7, ,28@ningthat

he wasentitled tode novoreview on all of his claims for religDoc. # 88). The

same date, Petitioner also filed an appendix to his merits brief accompanied by more

than two dozen new exhibits (mostly addressing his claim that his trial coulesgl fa

to adequately investigate and present {@esilable mitigating evidence) and a

motion to supplement the record (Doc. #88. Thecourt granted Petitioner’'s

motion to supplement the record in an Order issued June 8, 2007 (Doc. # 89).
Respondentied a briefon August 14, 2007esponding to the merits of some,

but not al] of Petitioner’s claims for relief (Doc. # 92Retitioner filed a response

to Respondent’s brief on September 28, 2007, arguing the ineffective assistance of

Petitioner’s statdhabeascounsel excused theetitioner'sprocedural defaudt on

some ofis claims for federal habeas corpus relied¢# 95).

of death, (11) the prosecution failed to disclose beneficial information to the defenskation
of the rule inBrady v. Maryandin the form of notes, recordings, and other information regarding
conversations between prosecution withess Dennis Bowen and law enforpemseminel after
Bowen gave his statement on July 14, 1994, (12) the state trial court erred inngdthiti
testimony of Mr. Portwood regarding Petitioner’s robbery and kidnaping of himbaéyse Mrs.
Liveoak’s murder, (13) the state trial court erred in admitting videotape and @pitagevidence
of the victim’'s body, (14) the state trial court erred innp#ing the jury to consider as an
aggravating circumstance whether Petitioner’'s capital offense was elgpleeiabus, atrocious,
and cruel, (15) Petitioner was denied his right to exercise his peremptory chalierege venire
members who furnished untruthful information during voir dire [specifically one jaitadfto
disclose his brother was a crack addict and another juror failed to reveal hestilzgebtas a
witness in a civil trial], (16) the prosecution failed to present sufficideace kowing Petitioner
intentionally murdered Mrs. Liveoak, and (17) the Alabama capital senterciiegne fails to
conform to the constitutional requirements announceimg v. Arizonaand Apprendi v. New
Jersey
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On April 1 and May 5, 2009 (Doc. # 108), Petitionefiled a pair of motions
to supplement the record along with numerous affidavits and other docoents
in support of his claims. The court will grant those motions.

In an Order issued January 12, 2012 Gburtaddressed the merits séveral
of Petitioner’s claims on which the parties agreed there was no prolcddiaalt
(Doc. # 120). More specifically, the Order of January 12, 2@pplied the
deferential standard of review mandated by the AEDPArejedted on the merits
Petitioner's claims that (1) the state trial court erred in overruling the defense’s
objections to the guHinnocence phase jury instructions (a) permitting the jury to
draw the inference that a person intends the natural consequences of an intentional
ad and (b) commenting on the impeachment and credibility of the Petitioner’s trial
testimony, (2) the state trial court erred in denying the defense’s requested jury
instructions on the lessercluded offenses of reckless murder and criminal
negligent hongide, (3) the state trial court erred in denying the defense’s motions
for continuance, (4his lead trial counsel suffered from an actual conflict of interest,
(5) the state trial court erroneously permitted the jury to consider as an aggravating
factor & the punishment phase of trial whether Petitioner’s capital offense was
especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, (6) there was insufficient evidence to show
the Petitioner intended to kill Mrs. Liveoak, (7) the state trial court erred in failing

to grant the defense’s challenge for cause to a prospective juror, (8) the state trial
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court improperly considered victimpact evidence, an(®) the prosecution used
its peremptory strikes in a racially discriminatory mariier

Petitioner filed a motion for recoigeration on May 25, 2012 (Doc. # 121),
arguing for the first time in aoberentmanner that (1) the prosecution’s stated
reasons for striking jurors 29 and 31 werefgsdual and (2) his lead trial counsel’s
simultaneousepresentation dPetitioner irhis capital murder case and the Alabama
Department of Mental Health and Mental Retardation in an unrelated civil lawsuit
constituted a conflict of interest. The same date, Petitioner fiethermotion to
supplement the recotd include a copy of the nion to withdraw filed in the state
trial court by Petitioner’s lead trial counsel in February, 1@8%. #122). Thecourt
granted this motion to supplement in an Order issued September 30, 2016 (Doc. #
135). Responderiiled abrief in opposition to reonsideration odune 6, 2012 (Doc.
# 124) Petitionerfiled a reply to Respondent’s brief in opposition to reconsideration
onJune 6, 2012 (Doc. # 125).

The Clerk reassigned this case to the undersigrogke’s docket on July 19,
2016 (Doc. # 129). In an Order issued August 9, 201&aiin¢ directed the parties

to file supplemental briefing (Doc. #130).

8 The Order of January 12, 2012 disposedeffirst four claims for federal habeas corpus
relief contained in Petitioner’s original federal habeas corpus petsowell as a portion of the
fifth claim, and claims six, fourteen, and sixteen in the order listadt@b7, supra
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On October 3, 2016, Petitioner filgd) a supplemental briehddressing
respondent’s assertions that some of Petitioner’s claims were untimely filed and
procedurally defaulted (Doc. # 136) and (2) additional pleadings accompanied by
twenty-three newexhibits(Doc. # 13-39).

On November 17, 2016, Respondent filesupaplemental brief (1) rarging
the wourt to dismiss Petitioner’s federal habeas corpus petition as untimely filed and
to deny relief on fiftythree of Petitioner’s claims as procedurally defaulted and (2)
argued Petitioner’s procedurally defaulted clawese not subject toeview on the
meritsunder the holding iMartinez v. RyartDoc. # 144).

Petitioner filed a supplemental brief on timeliness and procedural default on
December 1, 2016 (Doc. # 145).

Petitionerfiled a motion onJanuary 11, 201 7equesing leave to amentdis
original federal habeas corpysetition to include a claim that Petitioner’'s death
sentence is inconsistent with the Supreme Court’s holdikturst v. Floridg 135
S. Ct. 616 (2016(Doc. # 146)

The briefing in this cause on teabjects of procedural default and timeliness
has been extensivé. Despite rejection oRespondent’s motion to dismiasd the

passage of considerable tinkespondent has yet to address the meritsasfyraf

% See, e.ghoc. nos. 4, 5, 11, 12, 15, 17, 18, 20, 27, 29, 36, 40, 42, 43, 67, 70, 88, 92, 95,
113, 118, 121, 122, 124, 125, 136, 141, 144, 145. This cause was reassigned to the undersigned
on July 19, 2016, after all but four of the foregoing pleadings and briefs had been filed.
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Petitioner’s substantive claini®.The recorcturrently before the court is not bereft

of briefing and analysis from Respondent’s perspective on the Petitioner's multi

60 SeeDoc. # 49 & Doc. # 92. The pleadings filed in this cause are far from concise or
clear. Petitioner filed his original petition almost fifteen years ago (Bdg. As explained in
note 57, supra,Petitioneridentified ®venteenclaims for relief in his original petition. In
subsequent pleadings and briefs, however, Petitioner has referenced numevalisufiaclegal
arguments made in support of lether numbered claims as if those arguments represented
separate and independefdims for relief. See, e.gDoc. # 136, p. 132, n. 517, where Petitioner
argues a number of factual assertions made in support of Petitioner's comlauttgha denial
of his motion for continuance and other substantive claims are, in fact, sepadatkstinct
ineffective assistance claims. In the same footnote, Petitioner statasathyphat the list of
claims contained in the parties’ Joint Report “do not match the substance of theioldimas
petition.” The confusion engendered tstiRoner’s chaotic pleading practice has not been limited
to thecourt. In his brief on the merits, (Doc. # 92), Respondent identified more than fiftysclaim
for relief which Respondent believes to be procedurally defaulted by virtue of the dismissal of
Petitioner’s allegedly untimely appeal from the denial of his state habeas corpimpeiihe
parties’ pleadings are replete with arguments about allegedly incorrectlgnates or
misidentified claims. Thavo constantshroughout this litigation hae beenthe parties’ inability
to identify all of the ineffective assistance claims properly presente®easbndent’s failure to
address the merits of most of Petitioner’s midtieted ineffective assistance claims.

The fundamental problem with Petitioner’s ltinfiaceted ineffective assistance claims in
his original petition is that Petitioner failed to identify with reasonable specifidly discrete act
or omission ice., exactly what it is he alleges his trial counsel either did or failed to do) which
Pettioner argues satisfies both prongstod Stricklandstandard Instead, the fourth and seventh
major sections of Petitioner’s original petition consist of a stream of cosseéssi list of
assertions about the poor performance of Petitioner’s trial counsel, investigagoert witness,
and others at various stages of Petitioner’s trial court proceedings.

Petitioner has invoked the Supreme Court’s holdingsamtinez v.Ryan 566 U.S. 1
(2012), andTrevino v.Thaler, 133 S. Ct. 1911 (2013), gsstification for overruling the
Respondent’s assertions that Petitioner procedurally defaulted on the vastyroépPetitioner’s
claims of ineffective assistance by Petitioner’s trial counsel becauseoiratgi state post
conviction counsel failed tfile a timely notice of appeal following denial of relief in Petitioner’s
state habeas corpus proceeding. As the Eleventh Circuit has made clear, fagsartmns of
the equitable principle recognized Martinez v. Ryamecessarily requires a federurt to
examine the merits of the underlying claim of ineffective assistance by tniaéelo See Sullivan
v. Secretary, Florida Dept. o€orrections,837 F.3d 1195, 1201 (11th Cir. 2016) (“Under
Martinez postconviction counsel’s failure to raiseckaim in a state collateral proceeding can
provide cause and prejudice to excuse a procedural default if: the procedural sefausteid by
postconviction counsel’s unconstitutionally ineffective assistance; the callgtevceeding in
which postconviction counsel erred was the first opportunity the defendant had to raise the
procedurally defaulted claim; and the procedurally defaulted claim Haastit‘'some merit.”).
Thus, in order to resolve Petitioner’s assertions of the equitable principle aadonMartinez
v. Ryan,it is necessary to delve into the merits of Petitioner's underlying complaints teou
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faceted ineffectivassistancelaim. Respondent filed@air ofpleadingin response

to Petitioner'saxpansiveneffective assistare clains presented ifPetitioner’s state
habeas corpus proceeditlg.The state habeas trial court addressed the merits (or
lack thereof) of Petitioner’s ineffective assistance complamts thorough Order
containing numerous findings of fact and conclusions of law fully supported by the
record before that coutt Having considered thgarties’ extensive briefing on the
Issue of procedural defaulthe court will address the merits of Petitioner’s
ineffective assistance claimde novo regardless of whether those claims are
procedurally defaulted

[I. PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

In his motion filed May 25, 2012 Dpc. # 121), Petitioner urge
reconsideation of the court’'s denial of federal habeas corpus relief on (1)
Petiioner’'s conflict of interestclaim and (2) Petitioner's complaint that two
identified members of Petitioner’s jury ven(reumbes 29 & 31) were improperly

stricken by the prosecution during jury selection in violation of the equal protection

performance of his state trial counsel. Rather than wading through the quagmbire the

analytical approach mandated by the holdiniylartinez v. Ryanthe court will apply Ockham'’s
Razor and address the merits of all of Petitioner’s ineffective assist@ge de novo as

requested by Petitioner.

6115 SCR Tabs 33 & 34.

6213 SCR (Revised) Tab 14-
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principle announced iBatson v. Kentuckyt76 U.S. 79 (1986). Having considered
Petitioner’s motion for reconsideration and briefs in support and opposition to same,
the court will deny Petitioner’s motion for reconsideration.

In Batson v. Kentuckythe United States Supreme Court extended the equal
protection principle barring the purposeful exclusion of Blacks from criminal jury
service to the prosecution’s use of peremptory challenges during petit jury selection.
See Batson v. Kentugl476 U.S. at 89 (“the Equal Protection Clause forbids the
prosecutor to challenge potential jurors solely on account of their race or on the
assumption that black jurors as a group will be unable impartially to consider the
State's case against a black defendanbDallas is white.Batsonprovides a three
step process for a trial court to use in adjudicating a claim that a peremptory
challenge was based on raderst, the defendant must make out a prima facie case
of discriminatory jury selection by the totgliof the relevant facts concerning a
prosecutor’s conduct during the defendant’s own.tri#dcond, once the defendant
makes the prima facie showing, the burden shifts to the State to come forward with
a raceneutral explanation for challenging jurorsthin the arguably targeted class
Finally, the trial court must determine if the defendant established purposeful
discrimination by the prosecutionSnyder v. Louisianab52 U.S. 472, 47677
(2008);Miller-El v. Dretke 545 U.S. 231, 239 (2005Batsonv. Kentucky476 U.

S. at 9498.
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With regard to the first stepe., establishing a prima facie case, the Supreme
Court has described that process as follows:

[A] defendantmay establish a prima facie case of purposeful
discrimination in selection of the petit jury solely on evidence
concerning the prosecutor’s exercise of peremptory challenges at the
defendant's trial. To establish such a case, the defendant first must
shawv that he is a member of a cognizable racial group, and that the
prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the
venire members of the defendant’s race. Second, the defendant is
entitled to rely on the fact, as to which there can beispute, that
peremptory challenges constitute a jury selection practice that permits
“those to discriminate who are of a mind to discriminate.”

Batson v. Kentuckyl76 U.S. at 96 ¢itations omittegl
With regard to the second ste., the prosecution’s burden of presenting a
neutral reason for the peremptory challenge, the Supreme Court has noted that, while
there are any number of bases on which a prosecutor reasonably mighd ivédie
desirable to strike a venire member who is @atused for cause, the prosecutor
must give a clear and reasonably specific explanation of his legitimate reasons for
exercising the peremptory challengdiller-El v. Dretke 545 U.S. at 239Batson
v. Kentucky476 U.S. at 98 n.20.
It is true that peremptories are often the subjects of instinct, and it can
sometimes be hard to say what the reason is. But when illegitimate
grounds like race are in issue, a prosecutor simply has got to state his
reasons as best he can and stand or fall on the plausibility of the reasons
he gives. ABatsonchallenge does not call for a mere exercise in
thinking up any rational basis. If the stated reason does not hold up, its

pretextual significance does not fade because a trial judge, or an appeals
court, can imagine a reason that might not have been shown up as false.
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Miller-El v. Dretke 545 U.S. at 252.

In the third and final step in thBatsonprocess, the Supreme Court has
emphasized the critical role of the trial court in evaluating the prosecutor’s
credibility. Snyder v. Louisiang52 U.S. at 477.

[T]he critical question in determining whether a prisoner has proved

purposeful discrimination at step three is the persuasiveness of the

prosecutor’s justification for his peremptory strike. At this stage,

“implausible or fantastic justifications may (and probably will) be

found to be pretexts for purposeful discrimination.” In that instance the

Issue comes down to whether the trial court finds the prosecutor's race

neutral explanations to be credible. Credibility can be measured by,

among other factors, the prosecutor’'s demeanor; by how reasonable, or
how improbable, the explanations are; and by whether the proffered
rationale has some basis in accepted trial strategy.

Miller-El v. Cockrel) 537 U.S. 322, 338339 (2003).

Consideration o Batsonobjection, orthereviewof a ruling claimed to be
Batsonerror, requires thaall of the circumstances that bear upon the issue of racial
animosity be consulted and consider&hyder v. Louisiana52 U.S. at 4B. In
several recent opinionthe Supreme Court has examined a wide array of factors in
resolvingBatsonclaims.See, e.gSnyder v. Louisian&52 U.S. at 48635 (holding
a prosecutor’'s proffer of a pretextual explanation regarding thekestrvenire
member’s scheduling conflicts, which were significantly less imposing than those of
a white venire member whom the prosecutor accepted, permitted an inference of

discriminatory intent);Miller-El v. Dretke 545 U. S. at 24066 (citing the

prosecutor’s dierential questioning of black and white venire members throughout
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the entire voir dire, the prosecution’s “remarkable” use of ten of its fourteen
peremptories to strike ten of the eleven black venire members who were not removed
for cause or by agreemetite prosecutor’s failure to strike white venire members
who offered voir dire testimony similar to black venire members whom the
prosecutor did strike, and the prosecution’s selective requests for a juig simlff
when black venire members were near the front of the list as evidence warranting a
finding of purposeful discrimination).

As correctly noted by Petitioner, the state trial court implicitly determined
Petitioner satisfied the initial prong Batsonanalysis. The state trial court directed
the prosecution to furnish reasons for each of its peremptory strikes exercisgd durin
jury selection. As explained above, such a directive is necemsigrif a criminal
defendant first makea prima facie casef discriminatory jury selection by the
totality of the relevant factsThe prosecution then furnished the state trial court with
its reasons for each of its peremptory strikes. The state trial cosrtdemed these
reasons and the argument furnishedHRwstitioner’s trial counsel and ultimately
denied all of Petitioner’s challenges to the prosecution’s peremptory strikes. This
ruling constituted an implicit factual determination that the prosecution’s proffere
raceneutral reasons for all of its peretogy strikes were credibleHightower v.

Terry, 459 F.3d 1067, 1072 n.9 (11th Cir. 20G®rt. denied550 U.S. 952 (2007)
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The fundamentalanalytical problem with Petitioner'sBatson claims is
Petitioner failed to furnish the state appellate courts and has failed to fumsish t
court with copies of the juror questionnaires filled out by all the members of
Petitioner’s jury venire SeeDoc. #120, at p. 51 n.3 (noting the juror questionnaires
were not included in the state appellate recottle state postonviction record and
are not before this court for consideratiéh).This failure renders it virtually
Impossible for thigourt to secondjuess the implicit credibility findings made by
the state trial courtvhen it rejected Petitioner®atson claims. The pror
guestionnaires furnish the context within which the credibility of a prosecutor’s
proffered raceneutral reasons for exercising a peremptory challangevaluated.
See Jasper v. Thaler65 F.Supp.2d 783, 816 n.62 (W.D. Tex. 2011) (discussing
the analytical hurdles to evaluatingBatsonclaim without access to the juror
guestionnaires completed by the venire members whom the petitioner claimed had
been improperlystrickenby the prosecution)affd, 466 F. Appx 429 (5th Cir.
2012) cert. denied133 S. Ct. 788 (2012). Absent review of the juror questionnaires

executed by all members of the jury venire prior to Petitioner’s trialctiug, like

& |n an affidavit submitted to this court by Petitioner, the former Court Administoator
the 15th Judicial Circuit states that state retention rules permit destructiogorodjyeestionnaire
forms after four years unless they have been made a part of the case Adtidedit of Robert
Merrill, Doc. # 871, Exhibit 3. Unfortunately, Mr. Merrill does not claim to possess personal
knowledge regarding the actual disposition of the juror questionnaires completettiopd?res
venire members.
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the state appellate courts, is not in a proper position-examinethe implicit
credibility findings made by the state trial court on PetitionBatsonclaims.

The complete absence of any of the juror questionnaires from the state court
record in Petitioner’'s direct appeial especially problematic given the extensive
reliance on the juror questionnaire answers made on the record byldoubs¢h
parties during individual voir dire examination of Petitioner’'s potential jurors.
Counsel for both the prosecution and defense spent considerable time and effort
during indvidual voir dire asking jury venire members about their answers to the
juror questionnaires, which included at least 45 questiondhe following
discussion is hampered by the absence of the questionnaires from the réted.
prosecution accurately described a number of the jury venire members against whom
it used peremptory strikes as having demonstrated great reluctance to vote in favor
of the death penalty (or to sit in judgment of another human being). The prosecution
also accurately identified another group of the jury venire members against whom it
utilized peremptory strikes as having serious criminal records or close relatives with
serious criminal records. There was nothing objectively unreasonable with the state
trial court’s acceptance tose proffered raeeeutral reasons for the prosecution’s
peremptory strikes of jury venire members 20, 58, 73, 91, 95, 113, each of whom

expressed serious reservations albusior herability to vote in favor of the death

¢ See, e.g4 SCR152, 184, 197-98; 5 SCR 208, 232, 234, 244-45, 315-16.
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penalty®> See Garcia v. Stephg 793 F.3d 513, 527 (5th Cir. 2015) (prospective
juror's opposition to the death penalty a legitimate and racially neutral reason for
prosecution’s peremptory strike&grt. denied136 S. Ct. 897 (2016)Likewise, the
state trial court reasonably accepted as-redral the prosecution’s explanations
that jury venire members 26, 29, 45d67 had close relatives with serious criminal
convictions®®

Furthermore, Petitioner's arguments in support of his motion for
reconsideration of the denial of lBatsonclaims regarding jury venire members 29
and 31 are unpersuasive. The prosecution stated on the record that its strike of juror
31 was based upon that venire member’s disinterested demeanor throughout voir

dire, including his arms crossed across his chest and the fact he rolled his eyes at

654 SCR 15761 (voir dire examination of venire member 20); 5 SCR-234voir dire
examination of venire member 58); 5 SCR 298-305 (voir dire examination of venire member 73)
5 SCR 33239 (voirdire examination of venire member 91); 5 SCR-823voir dire examination
of 95); 6 SCR 4046 (voir dire examination of 113). Each of these venire members expressed
reluctance to vote in favor of imposing the death penalty ranging from a ggisageeement with
the death penalty to grave reservations about their ability to sit in judgmenéahoiman being.
While the reservations about imposing the death penalty expressed by these vermessnmeay
not have risen to a level sufficient to sustaichallenge for cause, the prosecution’s exercise of
peremptory challenges against these venire members was consistent witlostheutpyn’s
professional duty to seek the ultimate punishment for the ultimate crime. Vemmeem@&7 also
expressed reservans about her ability to vote to impose a death sentence. 5 SCR 286-87.

%64 SCR 18688 (venire member 26brother convicted of murder); 4 SCR 193 (venire
member 29- cousin convicted of dealing drugs); 5 SCR-&%/(venire member 45brother plea
bargained a charge of murder down to a lesser offense); 5 SCBRR28&nire member 64 two
uncles killed a person and one uncle went to prison). The state trial court’s ifaptical finding
that the prosecution’s use of peremptory strikes againstéalebse individuals was raceutral
was itself eminently reasonable.
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several point§! Petitioner criticizes the state trial court’s failure to make express
factual findings regarding the demeanor of juror 31. Significantly, however,
Pettioner’s trial counsel did not challenge the factual accuracy of those descriptions
of the venire member’'s demeanor given by the prosefiitoinstead, Petitioner's
trial counsel merely pointed out juror 31 was a teacher and the prosecution had failed
to strike other teachers on the jury vertitd he prosecution responded that it struck
venire member 31 based upon his disinterested demeanor and not because of his
occupation’® Thus, resolving th8atsonclaim surrounding the striking of juror 31
did notrequire the state trial court to evaluate conflicting descriptions of that venire
member’'s demeanor.

The prosecution stated on the record that its strike of juror 29 was based upon
the fact he had a reading disordeat prevented him from completing hjgror
questionnaire and he had a cousin who had been convicted of selling’*drugs

Petitioner’s trial counsel did not challenge the prosecution’s assertion that juror 29

676 SCR 484-85
%6 SCR 492.
e1d.

6 SCR 497.

16 SCR 487-88.
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had a reading problef. In fact, during individual voir dire, Petitioner’s trial
coursel pointed out this venire member had failed to complete a few answers on his
questionnaire and this venire member candidly admitted he had a reading problem.
Instead, Petitioner’s trial counsel pointed out that another member of the jury venire
had a r&ative who had a drugelated criminal convictio? The prosecution
responded that (1) the other venire member identified by Petitioner’'s counsel had a
wife who had been convicted of an offense while on diet pills and (2) he considered
that offense diffeent from the drugdrafficking offense committed by juror 29's
cousin’” Thus, once more, there did not appear to be any genuine issue of material
fact regarding juror 29's reading disability or the fact this venire member had a
relative with a convictiondr a drugrelated offense.

The state trial court had access to the juror questionraaittke opportunity
to examine firshand the demeanor of the jury venire members during their
individual voir dire examination. When viewed under the AEDPdeerential
standardthe state trial court’s implied credibility findings regarding the 1aeeatral

reasons proffered by the prosecution for striking venire members 29 and 31 were

26 SCR 490.
34 SCR197-98.
6 SCR 490.
56 SCR 498-99.
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objectively reasonable‘A trial court is best situated to evaluate btk words and
the demeanor of jurors who are peremptorily challenged, as well as the credibility
of the prosecutor who exercises those strikBavis v. Ayalal35 S. Ct. 2182201
(2015). Given Petitioner’s failure to present the juror joesairesto the state
appellate courtswhich reviewed and rejected PetitioneBatsonclaims on the
merits in the course of his direct appeal, the state appellate courts’ rejection on the
merits of Petitioner'sBatson claims were objectively reasonable underadie
established federal law and the evidence presented to those appmmildse This
court is not in a position toevaluate the propriety of the trial courtimplicit
credibility findingson Petitioner'sBatsonclaims under the AEDPA’s deferential
standard without access to the same information that was before the state trial court
when it made its implicit credibility findingsSee Davis v. Ayald 35 S. Ct. at 2201
(appellate judges cannot on the basis of a cold record easily sgoessl a trial
judge’s decisions aboutelikely motivation of a prosecutor). Even if reasonable
minds might disagree about the prosecutor’s credibility, on habeas review that does
not suffice to supersede the trial court’s credibility determinatitth. For the
foregang reasons, Petitioner’s motion for reconsideration of the denial Bakssn
claim is denied.

Petitioner originally presented his conflict of interest/constructive ineffective

assistance clairto the state appellate courts in his direct appeal as his seventh claim
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in his appellant’s brief® The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals denied that claim
on the meritsDallas v. State711 So2d at 1111. This Court applied the AEDPA’s
deferential stadard of review in denying Petitioner’s analogous claim inféusral
habeas corpus proceedin@oc. #120, at pp. 332). In his motion for
reconsideration, Petitioneglies upon new factual allegations, naffidavits,’” and
other newdocumentatiompurportedlysupporting his conflict of interestaimwhich
were notpresented to the Alabanstateappellate courts during Petitioner’s direct
appeal Under the Supreme Court’s holdingGullen v. Pinholster563 U.S. 170,
181-82 (2011)X“We now hold that review under § 2254(d)(1) is limited to the record
that was before the state cotlvatadjudicated the claim on the merijsthis Court
may not considePetitioner'snew evidence in the course of reviewing Petitioner’s

conflict of interest clainunderthe AEDPA. For the reasons discussed ia @rder

%610 SCR Tab 2, at pp. 51-52.

7See, e.gAffidavit of Dr. Ken Benedict executed June 7, 2007 (Doc. 42 8Zxhibit 15)
and the undated, unsworn “Affidavit” of Dr. Joseph Schumacher (Doc-2¢ BXhibit 16). Dr.
Schumacher’s unsworn statement specifically references a 2007 affidaxtdveadn the course
of preparing his own statement. Petitioner’s direct appeal concluded at treppiitate level on
March 13, 1998, when the Alabama Supreme Court denied Petitioner's petition for writ of
certiorari. Ex parte Dallas711 So. 2d 1114 (Alg.gert. denied525 U.S. 860 (1998). Obviously,
Petitioner never submitted either of these documents to the Alabama state appetiatenc
support of Petitioner’s conflict of interest claim. They are not properly b#imeourt for the
purposes ofederal habeas corpus review of Petitioner’s conflict of interest claim. Bedau
Schumacher’s “affidavit” is undated and unsworn, it may not be considered as evidémse
proceeding.
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Issued January 12, 201Rdc. #120), Petitioner’'s motion for reconsideration of the
denial of his conflict of interest claim denied

. MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND/SUPPLEMENT PETITION

Petitioner has filed a motion for leave to amend his operative pleading but
furnished as an attachment not a propasedndedederal habeas corpus petition
but, rather, what amounts tesapplementalederal habeas corpus petition adding a
single new clan to those already before thuisurt.”® The Supreme Court’s decision
in Hurst v. Floridg 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), was handed down January 12, 2016.
Petitioner's motion for leave to amend his petition to include a new claim based on
the holding inHurst, which overruled several prior Supreme Court decisions, is
timely. Petitioner’'s motion for leave to amend requests permission to present an
issue of significant constitutional gravity bearing upon the fundamental fairness of
Petitioner’s state court trial. Moreover, Petitioner’s proposed “amendment” of his
petition to include a claim premised upon the Supreme Cdwitisng inHurstdoes
little more than expand and update the same argsmefitioner raised as his final

claim for relief in his original petition. The Court will permit Petitioner to amend

8 Petitioner’s proposed amended petition does not comply with the requirements of Rule
15.1, Local Rules for the United States District Cdortthe Middle District of Alabama, in that
it does not “reproduce the entire pleading, document or other papers as amendethstead,
Petitioner’s proposed amended petition accompanying his recent motion for leaestbraerely
supplements his original petition by adding Petitioner’s Hewmst claim.
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his final claim in his original petition to includas legal argumentbased upon
Hurstand will address those arguments in the cordelis final claim for relief

IV. HURST, RING, & APPRENDI CLAIM

A. The Claim

In his seventeenth and final claim in his original petition (Doc. # 1, at pp. 77
81) and his “amended petition” submitted January 11, 2(dc. # 1461),
Petitioner arguesis sentence violates the Eighth Amendment becanser the
holdings inHurst v. Floridg 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016Ring v. Arizona536 U.S. 584
(2002),andApprendi v. New Jersey30 U.S. 466 (2000), only a jury may mdhke
factualfindings necessary to impe a sentence of death.
B. The Constitutional Standard

Until recently, the Supreme Court’s opinions addressing capital punishment
offered a wide array of ambiguous analytical approaches to resolving Eighth
Amendment claims. For instance, Tmop v. Dules 356 U.S. 86(1958), the
Supreme Court addressed the issue of a former soldier sanctioned for desertion with
loss of his citizenship. In the course of an opinion that reflected his own views on
the subject, Chief Justice Earl Warren wrote as follows:

The exact scope of the constitutional phrase ‘cruel and unusual’

has not been detailed by this Court. But the basic policy reflected in

these words is firmly established in the Anglmerican tradition of

criminal justice. The phrase in our Constitutiossvwaken directly from

the English Declaration of Rights of 1688, and the principle it
represents can be traced back to the Magna Carta. The basic concept
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underlying the Eighth Amendment is nothing less than the dignity of
man. While the State has the power to punish, the Amendment stands
to assure that this power be exercised within the limits of civilized
standards. Fines, imprisonment and even execution may be imposed
depending upon the enormity of the crime, but any technique outside
the bounds of these traditional penalties is constitutionally suspect.
This Court has had little occasion to give precise content to the Eighth
Amendment, and, in an enlightened democracy such as ours, this is not
surprising. But when the Court was confronted with aghument of

12 years in irons at hard and painful labor imposed for the crime of
falsifying public records, it did not hesitate to declare that the penalty
was cruel in its excessiveness and unusual in its charsdéems v.
United States217 U.S. 349, 3&.Ct. 544, 54 L.Ed. 79R910] The

Court recognized in that case that the words of the Amendment are not
precise, and that their scope is not static. The Amendment must draw
its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the
progress of a maturing society.

Trop v. Dulles 356 U.S. at 9901, 78 SCt. at 59798 (Footnotes omitted

Though often cited in subsequent Supreme Court opinions, Chief Judge
Warren’s “evolving standards of decenstandardproved to be difficult to apply
consistently. For example, furman v. Georgia408 U.S. 238 (1972), a bare
majority of the Supreme Court struck down capital sentencing schentiastyn
nine States but failed to reach any degree of consensus in terams asfalytical
approach to the Eighth Amendment. The result was nine separate opinions issued
from the Supreme Court ifurman each reflecting a different analytical approach
to the Eighth Amendment claims presented therein.

The situation changed little when, four years later, a series of plurality

opiniors from the Supreme Court upheld the new capgahtencingschems
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adopted byGeorgia, Texas and Florida in response td~urman SeeGregg V.
Georgig 428 U.S. 153, 18(1979 (plurality opinionissued by Justice Stewart for
himself and Justices Powell and Stevens with Chief Justice Burger and Justices
White and Rehnquist concurring separgtélige death penalty is said to serve two
principal social purposes: retribution and deterrence of capital crimes by prospective
offenders);Gregg v. Georgia428 U.S. at 195 (“Where the sentencing authority is
required to specify the factors it relied upon in reaching its decision, the further
safeguard of meaningful appellate reviewMaikable to ensure that death sentences
are not imposed capriciously or in a freakish manneiuijek v. Texas428 U.S.

262, 268 (1976}sameplurality and concurrencggholding imposition of the death
penalty does ngter seviolate the Eighth Amendmea proscription of “cruel and
unusual punishment’Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976dmeplurality

and concurrencg¢s(holding the Supreme Court “has never suggested that jury
sentencing is constitutionally required”yhe same date, tifupreme Court struck
down North Carolina’s adoption of a mandatory death penalty scheme for all persons
convicted of firstdegree murdeand Louisiana’s adoption of mandatory death
sentences for persons convicted of five categories of capital mBdewoodson

v. North Caroling428 U.S. 280301-03 (1976 ) plurality opinion by Justice Stewart

for himself and Justices Powell and Stevens with Justices Brennan and Marshall

concurring separatelyholdingNorth Carolina’s mandatory death sentence for-first
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degree murder violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments because mandatory
death sentencese inconsistent with “the evolving standards of decency that mark
the progress of a maturing socie&yid fail to “allow the particularized consideration

of relevant aspects of the character and record of each convicted defendant before
imposition of a sentence of deaijhRoberts v. Louisiana28 U.S. 325334(1976)

(same plurality and concurrences asVWWoodsoh (“The constitutional vice of
mandatory death statutes lack of focus on the circumstances of the particular offense
and the character and pengities of the offender is not resolved by Louisiana’s
limitation of firstdegree murder to varioustegories of killings.”).

A year later,m Coker v. Georgia433 U.S. 584, 592 (1977), a Supreme Court
plurality (Justice White joined by Justices Stewart, Blackmun, and Stevens, joined
separately by Justices Brennan and Marshall with Justice Powell concurring in part
and dissenting in part) held “a sentence of death is grossly disproportionate and
excessive punishment for the crime of rape and is therefore forbidden by the Eighth
Amendment as cruel and unusual punishment.”

In Godfrey v. Georgiad46 U.S. 420 (1980), Justice Stewart wrote for himself
and three otér Justices with Justices Brennan and Marstwicurringseparately
(i.e.,the same plurality and concurrences aSaker v.Georgig to strike down as
unconstitutionally vagué&eorgia’s aggravating factdhat a capital offense was

“outrageously or wantonly vile, horrible and inhuman.” Relying upon Justice
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White’s concurring opinion inFurman the Supreme Court held (1) a capital
sentencing scheme must provide a meaningful basis for distinguishing the few cases
in which the death penalty is imposed from the many cases in which it is not and (2)
the Georgia Supreme Court’s construction of the aggravating factor in question
failed to adequately channel the jury’s discretion because a person of ordinary
sensibilitycould fairly characterize almost every murder in such teiGwdfrey v.
Georgia 446 U.S. at 4229. The Supreme Court concluded state courts had not
limited the meaning of the aggravating factor in question in a manner which avoided
the “standardless and unchanneled imposition of death sentethdegld6 U.S. at
430-32.

Of great significance to Petitioner’'s case is the Supreme Court’s opinion in
Enmund v. Florida458 U.S. 782 (1982), which arose from the same jurisdiction as
Hurst In Enmund the Supreme Cou(dustice White writing for himself and three
other Justices with Justice Brennan joining but concurring separately) struck down
a sentence of death for a criminal defendant who was convicted as an accomplice to
a felony murder. The Florida trial court instructed Enmund’s jury that “the killing
of a human being while engaged in the perpetuation of or in the attempt to perpetuate
the offense of robbery is murder in the first degree even though there is no
premediated design or intent to kil Enmund v. Florida458 U.S. at 7885. The

Florida Supreme Court later determined there was no evidence Enmund (1) was
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present at the time and place of the murders, (2) killed anyone, (3) intended to Kill
anyone, or (4) anticipated that lethal force would or might be used during the
robbery. Id., 458 U.S. at 788After carefully reviewing the nation’s capital murder
statutes and the practices of juries with regard to the imposition of a death sentence
for felony murder absent a showing of intent to kill or reckless indifference to human
life, the Supreme Court concluded the Eighth Amendment forbids the imposition of
the death penalty on one such as Enmund “who aids and abets a felony in the course
of which a murder is committed by others but who does not himself kill, attempt to
kill, or intend that a killing take place or that lethal force will be employield,.458
U.S. at 7897. The Supreme Court emphasized that the two principal social
purposes for the death penaltg,, retribution and deterrence, are not furthered by
the imposition of a death penalty onobber who did not take a human life, attempt
to kill, or intend to kill. Id., 458 U.S. at 79801.

In Tison v. Arizona481 U.S. 87, 15258 (1987), a majority of the Supreme
Court clarified its holding ifEnmund holding that the sons of a convictedraerer
who smuggled marsenalof firearmsinto a state prison and actively assisted their
father in an armed prison break and the subsequent kidnaping, robbery, and murder
of a family (including a tweyearold child) could be sentenced to death because

their participation in the capital offense was major and their mental state was one of
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reckless indifference to the value of human 1#eThe Supreme Court took great
pains to distinguish its holding Bnmund pointing out Enmund had been a minor
actor inthe armed robbery, was not physically present at the time of the murders,
and did not intend to kill, attempt to kill, or killTison v. Arizona481 U.S. at 149

50. The Supreme Court held the evidence shoylgdthe Tison brothers’

participation in their capital offense was “anything but minor” and (2) the brothers

The facts inTisonset forth in the Supreme Court’s opinion [481 U.S. at43Pare so
extreme they deserve elaboratidJnlikeEnmundin which the petitioner had been spotted sitting
in a getaway vehicle along a highway while his accomplices robbed a residence fatite sho
occupants several hundred yards away, the Tison brothers were physically pnesactively
involved in both the prison break and the ensuing kidnaping and robbery of a family one of the
brothers had flagged down along a highway after the Tisons’ vehicle had aeflatMiore
specifically, the Tison brothers and their mother plotted to breakf#tlear and his cellmate, also
a convicted murderer, out of an Arizona prison where he was serving a term for havoh@ kille
guard during a prior escape attempt. The three Tison brothers obtained “a small’ axse
weapons and smuggled them into their father’s prison inside a large ice chestis@rheohs
armed their father and his cellmate. The five men brandished their weapons, lockasotine pr
guards and visitors present in a storage closet, and fled the prison grounds sotis2 (Hord)
vehide. After abandoning their initial getaway vehicle for a second (Linggtgway vehicle the
Tison sons had acquired and placed in close proximity to the prison, the five men speghtsvo ni
at an isolated house where they changed a flat tire on thelhinsing the lone spare tire. As the
group drove back roads and secondary highways through the desert, another tire blelaeout. T
group flagged down a vehicle driven by a couple traveling with theiyapold son and teenage
niece. After the group robbed and drove their captives into the desert, the stwelamd his
cellmate fatally shot all four of their captives with repeated blasts $stmtguns. The Tison sons
later claimed they were surprised by the shooting. Several days later, theagraofo ra police
roadblock resulting in a shootout. The elder Tison managed to escape into thevbdeseitie
died of exposure. One of the three Tison brothers was killed in the shootout. The elder Tison’s
cellmate and the remaining two Tison brotheese apprehended. The surviving Tison brothers
were charged with car theft, robbery, kidnaping, and capital murder under Arizdoaisrfeirder
statute, which provided at that time that a killing occurring during the perpetuatioblary or
kidnapingwas capital murder. Each Tison brother was convicted of capital murder. Zomari
judge, acting without a jury, found (1) each Tison brother’s participation in theloafiénse was
“very substantial,” (2) each could reasonably have foreseen thadrdsict would cause a grave
risk of death, and (3) there were no statutory mitigating factors applicalie trial judge
sentenced both Tison brothers to death.
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both subjectively appreciated their actions were likely to result in the taking of
innocent life.ld., 481 U.S. at 152The Supreme Court ultimately helthé reckless
disregard for human life implicit in knowihgengaging in criminal activities knaw

to carry a grave risk of death represents a highly culpable mental state, a mental stat
that may be taken into account in making a capital sentencing judgment when that
conduct causes the nedlj though also not inevitable, lethal resultd., 481 U.S.

at 15758. The Supreme Court reversed the Arizona Supreme Court’s opinion
declaring thaEnmundrequired a showing of intent to killSee Tison v. Arizona

481 U.S. at 158 (“major participation in the felony committed, combined with
reckless indifference to human life, is sufficient to satisfyEhenundculpability
requirement.”).

In Maynard v. Cartwright 486 U.S. 356 (1988), the Supreme Court
unanimoug) struck down an Oklahoma death sentence based upon a factual
determination that the capital offense was “especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.”
The Court relied upon Justice Stewart’s and Justice White’s concurring opinions in
Furman and reasonedthat “[s]ince Furman our cases have insisted that the
channeling and limiting of the sentencer’s discretion in imposing the death penalty
Is a fundamental constitutional requirement for sufficiently minimizing the risk of

wholly arbitrary and capricious actig Maynard v. Cartwright486 U.S. at 362

(citing Gregg v. Georgia428 U.S. at 189, 2087, 22022). The Supreme Court
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noted that, at the time of the petitioner’s trial, Oklahoma courts had not yet restricted
the aggravating factor in question to thasarders in which torture or serious
physical abuse were presendl., 486 U.S. at 365. The Supreme Court concluded
thatits holding inGodfreycontrolled the outcome iMaynardbecause Oklahoma’s
courts had not limited the “especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel” aggravating factor
any more effectively than had the Georgia court limited the term “outrageously or
wantonly vile, horrible or inhuman.td., 486 U.S. at 3684.

The lack of Supreme Court consensus on an analytical approach to the Eighth
Amendment continuedh a case rejecting an “as applied” challenge to the Texas
capital sentencing schem&ee Franklin v. Lynaugi#87 U.S. 164, 17Z3 (1988)
(holding there is no constitutional right to have a capital sentencing jury consider
“residual doubts” as to the defendant’s guilt in an opinion by Justice White for
himself, Chief Justice Burger, and Justices Scalia and Kennedy, with Justices
O’Connor and Blackmun concurring separately).

A degree of consensus did begin to appear within the Su@enreearly the
following decade when five Justices finally agreed on a single standard for reyiewin
the adequacy of jury instructions in a capital sentencing proceeding:

We think the proper inquiry in such a case is whether there is a

reasonable likelibod that the jury has applied the challenged

instruction in a way that prevents the consideration of constitutionally
relevant evidence. Although a defendant need not establish that the jury

was more likely than not to have been impermissibly inhibitethby
instruction, a capital sentencing proceeding is not inconsistent with the
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Eighth Amendment if there is only a possibility of such an inhibition.
This “reasonable likelihood” standard, we think, better accommodates
the concerns of finality and accuyatan does a standard which makes
the inquiry dependent on how a single hypothetical “reasonable” juror
could or might have interpreted the instruction. There is, of course, a
strong policy in favor of accurate determination of the appropriate
sentencen a capital case, but there is an equally strong policy against
retrials years after the first trial where the claimed error amounts to no
more than speculation. Jurors do not sit in solitary isolation booths
parsing instructions for subtle shades of meaning in the same way that
lawyers might.  Differences among them in interpretation of
instructions may be thrashed out in the deliberative process, with
commonsense understanding of the instructions in the light of all that
has taken place at the trial lligdo prevail over technical hairsplitting.

Boyde v. California494 U.S. 370, 38381(1990)(footnotes omittexd

This babystep forward toward analytical consensus quickly dissipated,
however, in a series of opinions addressing the constitutionaltwarafus state
aggravating factors. For exampleShell v. Mississippi498 U.S. 1 (1990), in a
terseper curiamopinion, the Supreme Court struck down as unconstitutionally
vague a Mississippi trial cotstjury instruction attempting to restrict thefuhiion
of the term “especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel” as used as an aggravating factor
in that state’s capital sentencing schen@ee Shell v. Mississipp98 U.S. at 1
(citing Maynard v. Cartwright486 U.S. 356 (1988)).

In Arave v. Creech507 U.S. 463 (1993), the Supreme Court upheld as
constitutional against a vagueness challenge Idaho’s aggravating circumstance that
the defendant “exhibited utter disregard for human life” based upon the ldaho

Supreme Court’s limiting construction of that term as referring to “acts or
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circumstances surrounding the crime which exhibit the highest, the utmostscallou
disregard for human lifa,e., the coldblooded, pitiless slayer.’Arave v. Creech

507 U.S. at 4668. “The terms ‘coléblooded’ and ‘pitiless’ describe the
defendant’s state of mind: not higens reabut his attitude toward his conduct and
his victim.” Id., 507 U.S. at 473. “The ‘utter disregard’ factor refers not to the
outrageosness of the acts constituting the murder, but to the defendant’s lack of
conscientious scruples against killing another human beilty,”507 U.S. at 478
(quoting State v. Fainl16 Idaho 82, 99, 774 P.2d 252, 26&rt. denied493 U.S.

917 (1989).

True consensus on an overarching analytical approach to Eighth Amendment
claims did nofully appear, however, until eight Supreme Court Justices agreed in
Tuilaepa v. California 512 U.S. 967 (1994), on the principle that the Eighth
Amendment addresses twidferent,but relategdaspects of capital sentencing: the
eligibility decision and the selection decisiofuilaepg 512 U.S. at 971 (Justice
Kennedy writing for himself, Chief Justice Rehnquist, and Justices O’Connor,
Scalia, Souter, and Thomas, with Justices Stevens and Ginsburg concurring
separately but not rejecting the analytical approach offered by Justice Kennedy).
The Supreme Court’s analysis of those two aspects of capital sentencing provided
the first comprehensive system for analyzing Eighth Amendment dlaate clear

majority of the Supreme Court had ever offered:
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To be eligible for the death penalty, the defendant must be
convicted of a crime for which the death penalty is a proportionate
punishment. To render a defendant eligible lier death penalty in a
homicide case, we have indicated that the trier of fact must convict the
defendant of murder and find one "aggravating circumstance" (or its
equivalent) at either the guilt or penalty phase. The aggngvat
circumstance may be contained in the definition of the crime or in a
separate sentencing factor (or both). As we have explained, the
aggravating circumstance must meet two requirements. First, the
circumstance may not apply to every defendant convicted of a murder;
it must apply only to a subclass of defendants convicted of murder.
Second, the aggravating circumstance may not be unconstitutionally
vague. ***

We have imposed a separate requirement for the selection
decision, where the sentencer determines whether a defartid#rie
for the death penalty should in fact receive that sentence. "What is
important at the selection stage is an individualized determination on
the basis of the character of the individual and the circumstances of the
crime." That requirement is methen the jury can consider relevant
mitigating evidence of the character and record of the defendant and the
circumstances of the crime.

Tuilaepa 512 U.S. at 97¥3 (citations omitted).

In Tuilaepa the Supreme Court clearly declared its view thaeStaiay adopt

capital sentencing procedures which rely upon the jury, in its sound judgment, to
exercise wide discretion.Tuilaepg 512 U.S. at 974. The Supreme Court also
concluded, at theelectionstage, States are not confined to submitting to the jur
specific propositional questions but, rather, may direct the jury to consider a wide
range of broadhdefined factors, such as “the circumstances of the crime,” “the

defendant’s prior criminal record” and “all facts and circumstances presented in

extenuéion, mitigation, and aggravation of punishmenitiilaepg 512 U.S. at 978.
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In Loving v. United State$17 U.S. 748 (1996), the Supreme Court described
the first part of th& uilaepaanalysisj.e., the eligibility decision, as follows:

The Eighth Amendment requires, among other things, that “a
capital sentencing scheme must ‘genuinely narrow the class of persons
eligible for the death penalty and must reasonably justify the imposition
of a more severe sentence on the defendant commactders found
guilty of murder.” Some schemes accomplish that narrowing by
requiring that the sentencer find at least one aggravating circumstance.
The narrowing may also be achieved, however, in the definition of the
capital offense, in which circunasice the requirement that the
sentencer “find the existence of the aggravating circumstance in
addition is no part of the constitutionally required narrowing process.”

Loving 517U.S. at 755 (citations omitted).

The Supreme Court subsequently elaksmtain the distinction between the
narrowing function or “eligibility decision” and the “selection phase” of a capital
sentencing proceeding Buchanan v. Angelon&22 U.S. 269 (1998):

Petitioner initially recognizes, as he must, that our cases have
distinguished between two different aspects of the capital sentencing
process, the eligibility phase and the selection phabailaepa v.
California, 512 U.S. 967, 971, 114 S.Ct. 2630, 2634, 129 L.Ed.2d 750
(1994). In the eligibility phase, the jury narroihe class of defendants
eligible for the death penalty, often through consideration of
aggravating circumstanceslbid. In the selection phase, the jury
determines whether to impose a death sentence on an eligible
defendant.|d., at 972, 114 S.Ct., &16342635. Petitioner concedes
that it is only the selection phase that is at stake in his ¢sargues,
however, that our decisions indicate that the jury at the selection phase
must both have discretion to make an individualized determination and
have that discretion limited and channel&kege.qg., Gregg v. Georgia,

428 U.S. 153, 20207, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 294tp41, 49 L.Ed.2d 859
(1976). He further argues that the Eighth Amendment therefore
requires the court to instruct the jury on its obligatowl authority to
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consider mitigating evidence, and on particular mitigating factors
deemed relevant by the State.

No such rule has ever been adopted by this Court. While
petitioner appropriately recognizes the distinction between the
eligibility and selection phases, he fails to distinguish the differing
constitutional treatment we have accorded those two aspects of capital
sentencing.lt is in regard to the eligibility phase that we have stressed
the need for channeling and limiting the jury’s disaetio ensure that
the death penalty is a proportionate punishment and therefore not
arbitrary or capricious in its impositionin contrast, in the selection
phase, we have emphasized the need for a broad inquiry into all relevant
mitigating evidence to allow an individualized determination.
Tuilaepa, supraat 9732973, 114 S.Ct., at 2632636; Romano V.
Oklahoma512 U.S. 1, 67, 114 S.Ct. 2004, 20e3009, 129 L.Ed.2d 1
(1994); McCleskey v. Kem@81 U.S. 279, 30806, 107 S.Ct. 1756,
17731775, 95 L.Ed.@ 262 (1987)Stephens, suprat 878879, 103
S.Ct., at 2742744,

In the selection phase, our cases have established that the
sentencer may not be precluded from considering, and may not refuse
to consider, any constitutionally relevant mitigating emicke Penry v.
Lynaugh,492 U.S. 302, 31818, 109 S.Ct. 2934, 294947, 106
L.Ed.2d 256 (1989)kEddings v. Oklahomd55 U.S. 104, 11314, 102
S.Ct. 869, 87@77, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982)pckett v. Ohio438 U.S. 586,

604, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 2962065, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978However, the
state may shape and structure the jury’s consideration of mitigation so
long as it does not preclude the jury from giving effect to any relevant
mitigating evidenceJohnson v. Texa§09 U.S. 350, 362, 113 S.Ct.
2658, 2666, 25 L.Ed.2d 290 (1993Penry, supraat 326, 109 S.Ct.,

at 2951 Franklin v. Lynaugh487 U.S. 164, 181, 108 S.Ct. 2320, 2331,
101 L.Ed.2d 155 (1988). Our consistent concern has been that
restrictions on the jury's sentencing determination not precledar

from being able to give effect to mitigating evidendéus, inBoyde

v. California,494 U.S. 370, 110 S.Ct. 1190, 108 L.Ed.2d 316 (1990),
we held that the standard for determining whether jury instructions
satisfy these principles was “whether there is a reasonable likelihood
that the jury has applied the challenged instruction in a way that
prevents the consideration of constitutionally relevant evideit.eat

380, 110 S.Ct., at 1198; see aledinson, supraat 367368, 113 S.Ct.,

at 2669.
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But we have never gone further and held that the state must
affirmatively structure in a particular way the manner in which juries
consider mitigating evidenceAnd indeed, our decisions suggest that
complete jury discretion is constitutionally permissibBeeTuilaepa,
supra,at 978979, 114 S.Ct., at 263839 (noting that at the selection
phase, the state is not confined to submitting specific propositional
guestions to the jury and may indeed allow the jury unbridled
discretion);Stephenssupra at 875, 103 S.Ct., at 2741742 (rejecting
the argument that a scheme permitting the jury to exercise “unbridled
discretion” in determining whether to impose the death penalty after it
has found the defendant eligible is unconstitutional, and noting that
accepting that argument would require the Court to ovefauégg,

supra.
Buchanan v. Angelon&22 U.S. at 27277.

C. DeNovo Review

Petitioner relies upon the Supreme Court’s opinion&pprendi v. New
Jersey 530 U.S. 4662000),Ring v. Arizona536 U.S. 5842002) andHurst v.
Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016). Petitioner misconstrues the holdidgrst, as well
as those iRingandApprendias they apply to Alabama’s capital sentencing scheme
generally and his own trial in particular

In Apprendi v. New Jerseyhe Supreme Court struck down on due process
grounds a state scheme that permitted a trial judge to make a factual finding based
on a preponderance of the evidence regarding the defendant’s motive or intent
underlying a criminal offense and, based on such a finding, increase the maximum
end of the applicable sentencing range for the offense by a factor of one hundred

percent. Apprendj 530 U.S. at 497. The Supreme Court’s opiniopprendi
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emphasized it was merely extending te state courts the same principles discussed
in Justice Stevens’ and Justice Scalia’s concurring opiniales v. United States
526 U.S. 227, 2583 (1999): other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that
increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be
submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable ddymrendj 530 U.S. at
490. Put more simply, the Supreme Court held Apprendi (1) it was
unconstitutional for a legislature to remove from the jury the assessment of facts tha
increase the prescribed range of penalties to which a criminal is exposed and (2) all
such findings must be established beyond a reasonable ddy&30 U.S. at 490.

Two years later, ifRing v. Arizonathe Supreme Court algd the holding
and its reasoning iApprendito strike down a death sentence in a case in which the
jury had declined to find the defendant guilty of-preditated murder during the
guilt-innocence phase of a capital trial (instead finding the defendant guilty only of
felony murder) but a trial judge subsequently concluded the defendant should be
sentenced to death based ugantual determinations that (1) the offense was
committed in expectation of receiving something of pecuniary vakietle fatal
shooting of an armored van guard during a robbery) and (2) the foregoing

aggravating factor ouweighed the lone mitigating factor favoring a life sentence
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(i.e., the defendant’s minimal criminal recof)Ring v. Arizona536 U.S. at 609.

The Supreme Qurt emphasized, as it hadApprend) the dispositive question “is

not one of form, but of effect”: [i]f a State makes an increase in a defendant’s
authorized punishment contingent on the finding of a fact, that fextmatter how

the State labels # must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doldht.’536

U.S. at 602. “A defendant may not be exposed to a pesaiedinghe maximum

he would receive if punished according to the facts reflected in the jury verdict
alone.”ld., 536 U.S. at 60Zquoting Apprendi 530 U.S. at 483 Because Ring

would not have been subject to the death penadtler Arizona law based solely

8 The Arizona trial judge instructed Ring’s jury on alternative theorieserheditated
murder and felony murdeRing v. Arizonab536 U.S. at 591. The jury deadlocked on premeditated
murder but convicted Ring of felony murder occurring in the course of armed roldderyhe
trial court also instructed Ring'’s jury in accordance with Arizona law (thah person commits
first-degree murder if, acting either alone or with one or more other persons, e @arsnits
or attempts to commit one of seveeaumerated felonies including robbery and, in the course of
and furtherance of the offense or immediate flight from the offense, the person or aeatbe
causes the death of any person and (2) a conviction for felony murder did not requinéica spec
mental state other than what is required for the commission of the enumeratessfétbriciting
Ariz.Rev.Stat.Ann. § 13-105(A) and (B) (West 2001)). At the guitinocence phase of Ring’s
trial, there was no evidence presented showing Ring par@dipathe planning of the robbery or
expected the killing of the armored car guardl., 536 U.S. at 5983. Between the guilt
innocence phase of trial and Ring’s sentencing hearing, however, one of his acepmquiered
into a plea agreement and aglé¢e testify at Ring’s sentencing hearing., 536 U.S. at 593. At
the sentencing hearing, the accomplice identified Ring as the primary plartherrobbery and
the person who actually shot the guaid.

The Arizona trial judge found a secondgeayating factor applied in Ring’'s cases.,
Ring’s comments after the fatal shooting in which he chastisedaisngpirators for their failure
to praise Ring’s marksmanship rendered his offense “especially heinous, cruptamede The
Arizona Sypreme Court later held there was insufficient evidence to support the trig'gudg
finding of depravity but nonetheless re-weighed the remaining aggravating fga&iastahe lone
mitigating factor and affirmed Ring’s death sentenReng v. Arizona536 U.S. at 595-96.
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upon the jury’s verdict (and but for the trial judge’s factual determination as to the
existence of an aggravating fagtothe Supreme Court declared Ring’'s death
sentence violated the right to trial by jury protected by the Sixth Amendreent,

536 U.S. at 6009.

In Blakely v. Washingtqrb42 U.S. 296, (2004), the Supreme Court struck
down as a violation of the Sixth Amendment’s right to jury trial a judg®sed
sentence of imprisonment that exceeded by more than three years the state statutory
maximum of 53 monthsBlakely v. Washingtqrb42 U.S. at 3084. In so ruling,
the Supreme Court relied upon its priordingy inApprendi,530 U.S. at 490 (“Other
than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime
beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved
beyond a reasonable doubt.”). Biakely, the Supreme Court also relied upon its
prior opinion inRing v. Arizonasuprg for the principle “the ‘statutory maximum’
for Apprendipurposes is the maximum sentence a judge may ingmsly on the
basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admittgdhe defendaritBlakely
v. Washington542 U.S. at 303.

In Hurst v. Floridg the Supreme Court struck down as a violation of the
principles announced iApprendiandRing a deathsentence imposed by a Florida
judge after the jury aihe guiltinnocene phase oHurst’s trial convicted him of

first-degree murder but failed to specify which of the two theories of murder
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submitted ((e., premeditated murder or felony murder for an unlawiilihg during
arobbery) it believedHurst, 136 S. Ct. at 61:20. The Floridaelony murder statute

at the time of Hurst's trial, as was trter Arizonds felony murder statutat the

time of Ring’s trial, did not require a jury finding of the specific intent tokill.
Consistent with Florida’s hybrid capital sentencing scheme, the sentencing court
held an evidentiary hearing before the juayd the jury recommended a sentence of
death. After the Florida Supreme Court vacated Hurfst&d sentence, the
sentencing judge conducted a newidentiaryhearing instructing the jury it could
recommend a death sentence if it found at least one aggravating circumstance
beyond a reasonable doui,, either the murder was especially heinous, atrocious,
or crue| or the murder was committed while Hurst was commitéingbbery. A

the conclusion of the second sentencing heahegury recommended death by a
vote of 7 to 5. In her sentencing order, the trial judge relied upon her independent
determination that the evidence established statutory aggravating fafafbyshe
capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel anti¢2)apital felony

was committed while the defendant was engaged, or was an accomplice, in the

8 Floridalaw provided at the time of Hurst’'s murder trial that first degree murder cahsiste
of the unlawful killing of a human being (1) when perpetuated from a premeditated desfiigTt
the death of the person killed or any hurhamg, (2) when committed by a person engaged in the
perpetuation of, or in the attempt to perpetuate any of nineteen listed feloniedifg robbery
and kidnaping), or (3) which resulted from the unlawful distribution of any cordrslibstance
identified in the statute, when such drug is proven to be the proximate cause of the death of the
user. Fla. Stat. 882.04(1) (2010).
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commission or an attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to
commit any robberyi.e., Fla. Stat.§ 921.141(6)(d) & (h) (2010).The Supreme

Court held the Sixth Amendment and Due Process Clause jointly réigatreach
element of a crime be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable ddunst, 136 S. Ct.

at 621. The Supreme Court described its prior holdidgpprendias follows: “any

fact that ‘exposes the defendant to a greater punishtimemthat authorized by the
jury’s guilty verdict’is an ‘element’ that must be submitted to a jurgl’ (emphasis
added. The SupremeCourt concluded Hurst's death sentence was invalid because
the sentencing judge, not a jury, found the aggravating circumstance necessary for
the imposition of the death penalty under Florida laav, at 624.

Alabama’s capital sentencing scheme is very similar to the hybrid sirsiém
produced Hurst's death penalty. As explained in detail in Section 1.D.3. above,
Petitioner’s capital sentencing proceeding followed the same pattern as Hurst’s: first,
the trialjudge instructed an advisory jury it could only consider specific aggravating
circumstances it determined beyond a reasonable doubt existed in Petitioner’s case;
second, the jury recommended a sentence of death; and finally, the trial judde issue
a written sentencing order containing factual findings, weighing aggravating factors
he concluded had been established beyond a reasonable doubt against mitigating
circumstances, and imposing a sentence of deéakiere the similarities between

Petitioner’s trialand those iHurst, Ring andEnmundend however
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What distinguishes Petitioner’s trial from the constitutionally defective capital
murder trials inHurst, Ring,and Enmunddiscussed above, and what distinguishes
the holding inApprendifrom the circumstances of Petitioner's gaisethe fact
Petitione’s capital sentencingiry madeall thefactual determinaticat theguilt-
innocencephase ofPetitioner’s trial(unanimoushandbeyond a reasonable dolibt
necessary to render Petitioner eligible for the death penalty under Alabagna law
finding Petitioner (1) intentionally murdered Mrs. Liveoak and (2) did so in the
course of committingperrobbery and kidnaping As the Supreme Court explained
in Hurst, its holding inApprendiwas that “any fact thaexposes the defendant to a
greater punishment than thaithorzed by the jury’s guilty verditts an‘element
of the offense that must be submitted to a juiurst, 136 S. Ct. at 621Thejury’s
factual findings at the guiihnocence phase of Petitioner’'s capital murder trial
rendered Petitionezligible for the death penalty within the meaning of the Supreme
Court’s Eighth Amendment jurisprudencBee Tuilaepa v. Californj®12 U.S. at
971-72 (“To render a defendant eligible for the death penalty in a homicide case, we
have indicated that the trier of fact must convict the defendant of murder and find
one ‘aggravating circumstance’ (or its equivalent) at either the guilt or penalty
phase.”). Btitioner's pry made gilt-innocence phase factual findings,
unanimously and beyond a reasonatbelbt thathe (1) intentionally killed Mrs.

Liveoak and (2) committeder murder in the course diferrobbing and kidnaping
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Thesefactualfindings were althat were necessangnder applicable Alabama law
and the Eighth Amendmemd render Petitioneeligible to receive a sentence of
death.

As explained at length above, the Supreme Cougtigh and Eighth
Amendment jurisprudence requires that all factual determinations necessary to
render a defendasmdigible for a sentence of death must be made unanimously and
beyond a reasonable doubt by a juryhe juries inEnmund, RingandHurst all
rendered ambiguous guilty verdicts on charges of-diesiree murde Those
chargesvere premised or potentially premised upon felony murder thebaedid
not require the prosecution to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant
acted with the specific intent to kiks required by the holdingbitnmund Likewise,
the ambiguouguilty verdicts inEnmund Ring, andHurstdid notestablishthatthe
juries in those cases had concluded unanimously and beyond a reasonable doubt the
existence of an aggravating circumstaricat both (1) did not apply to every

defendant convicted of a murder and (2) was not unconstitutionally fagbee

8 Enmund’s jury was instructed it could convict him of fidetgree murder for the killing
of a human being while engaged in the perpetuation of or in the attempt to perpetwdtertse
of robbery even though there was no premeditated design or intent t&ifiund 458 U.S. at
784-85. Ring’s jury was instructed on the dual theories of premeditated murder and feldiey; mur
it deadlocked on premeditated murder but convicted on felony murder after receiviactioss
permitting it to convict on that charge without making a finding of a specific mental staird
that necessary to convict for robberging 536 U.S. ab9192. Hurst's jury convicted him of
first-degree murder without specifying which of the two alternative thedreespremeditated
murder or felony murder for an unlawful killing during a robbery) it had concluded theneeide
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Tuilaepg 512 U.S. at 972 (the aggravating circumstance must apply only to a
subclass of defendants convicted of murder and may not be unconstitutionally
vague). In stark contrast, Petitioner’s guilty verdict on the capital murder counts
against him necessarily includddctual findings(unanimously and beyond a
reasonable doupthatPetitioner intention&} killed Mrs. Liveoak in the course of
both herkidnaping and robberyPetitioner’s guilty verdict did not suffer from any

of the ambiguits present irEnmund, Ringor Hurst For this reason, Petitioner’s
death penalty does not suffer from the same constitutional datgdbok place
during the trials ofEnmund Ring, and Hurst Likewise, the Petitioner's death
sentence doawotviolate the constitutional rule announcedprendi Petitioner’'s

trial conformed in all respects to the Sixth and Eighth Amendment requirements

applicable to theligibility determination bthe capital sentencing process.

established beyond a reasonable doubtirst, 136 S. Ct. at 6220. Thus, all of these guilty
verdicts were highly ambiguous.

Another problematic element in badtingandHurstthat is absent from Petitioner’s case
is the presence of the aggravating factor of premeditatiors far from clear whether a jury’s
finding that a murder was premeditated, standing alone, is sufficient toy séuesfEighth
Amendment requirement discussedluilaepathatan aggravating circumstance must apply to
only a subclass of defendants convicted of mur@ere Tuilaepabl2 U.S. at 97q0oting Arave
v. Creech 507 U.S. at 474 (“If the sentencer fairly could conclude that an aggravating
circumstance applies to every defendant eligible for the death penalty, thenstanoe is
constitutionaly infirm.”)). Given the Supreme Court’s holdings EBmmundand Tison which
compel a jury finding of an intentional killing (or at least reckless indifferenkartwan life joined
with major participation in the underlying crime) as a prerequisite tartpesition of the death
penalty, it is uncertain whether a jury finding of premeditation can survive coiastguscrutiny
if proffered as the sole basis for elevating a murder conviction to one which will stlpgort
imposition of a death sentence. Petitioner’s jury unanimously found beyond a reasonable doubt
that Petitioner intentionally murdered Mrs. Liveoak during the course of robbing dmabkig
her. There was no ambiguity in that finding.
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The Supreme Court has distinguished the constitutional requirements of the
eligibility decision,i.e., the narrowing function, and tlselectiondecision,i.e., the
individualized assessment of mitigating circumstances, holding the latter requires
only that the sentencing jury be given broad range to consider all relevant mitigating
evidence but leaving to the States wide discretion on how to channel the sentencing
jury’s balancing of mitigating and aggravating facto&e Kansas v. Marstb49
U.S.158,17475(2007)(holding, in connection with theelectiorphase of a capital
sentencing proceeding, the Constitution mandates only that (1) the defendant has a
right to present the sentencing authority with information relevant to the sentencing
decision and (2) the sentencing authority is obligated to consider that information in
determining the appropriate sentencB)ijlaepg 512 U.S. at 978 (holding, at the
selection stage, States are not confined to submitting to the jury specific
propositional questions but, rather, may direct the jury to consider a wide range of

broadlydefined factors, such as “the circumstances of the crime,” “the defemdant’
prior criminal record” and “all facts and circumstances presentecxtanuation,
mitigation, and aggravation of punishment”).

At theselectiorphase of a capital trial, the Supreme Court has left to the States
the decision whether to channel a sentencing jury’s weighing of mitigating evidence

or grant the jury unfettered discretion to consider all relevant mitigatingreade

and weighthat evidence in any manner the jury deems reason&8ae.Kansas v.
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Marsh, 549 U.S. at 174 (“So long as a state system satisfies these requirements, our
precedents establish that a Statpys a range of discretion in imposing the death
penalty, including the manner in which aggravating and mitigating circumstances
are to be weighed.”). Likewise, the Supreme Court has not yet imposed a particular
burden of proof requirement with regardateapital sentencing jury’s consideration
of mitigating evidence when such consideration occurs exclusively within the
selection process
In sum,“discretion to evaluate and weigh the circumstances relevant to
the particular defendant and the crime he committed” is not
Impermissible in the capital sentencing process. “Once the jury finds
that the defendant falls within the legislatively defined category of
persons eligible for the death penalty, . . . the jury then is free to
consider a myriad of factors to determine whether death is the
appropriate punishment.” Indeed, the sentencer may be given
“unbridled discretion in determining whether the death penalty should

be imposed after it has been found that the defendant is a member of
the class made eligible for that penalty.”

Tuilaepav. California 512 U.S. at 9780 (citations omitted).

“[T]here is no constitutional requirement of unfettered sentencing discretion
in the jury, and States are free to structure and shape consideration of mitigating
evidencéin an effort to achieve a more rational and equitable administration of the
death penalty.” Johnson v. Texa$09 U.S.350, 362 (1993) (quoting Boyde v.
California, 494 U.S. at 377). “We have never held that a specific method for

balancing mitigatingand aggravating factors in a capital sentencing proceeding is
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constitutionally required.”’Kansas v. Marsh549 U.S. at 175quoting Franklin v.
Lynaugh 487 U.S. at 179).

The Supreme Court has never categorically mandatgdesolution ofall
factors & theselectionphase ofa capital sentencing proces®n the contrary, the
Supreme Court’s jurisprudence addressingstiectionaspect of capital sentencing
has focused on requiring consideratimnall mitigating evidenceas well as the
circumstances of the capital offensee Tuilaepa v. Californjéb12 U.S. at 972
(“What is important at the selection stage isratividualizeddetermination on the
basis of the character of the individual and the circumstances ofrtiee"qiquoting
Zant v. Stephend62 U.S. 862, 879 (1983)). “The selection decision, on the other
hand, requires individualized sentencing and must be expansive enough to
accommodate relevant mitigating evidence so as to assure an assessment of the
defendant’s culpability.” Tuilaepa v. California512 U.S. at 973.

Petitioner received exactly the type of individualized assessment of his
culpability in the context of all the mitigating evidence presedtethg trial when
(1) the jury considered all relevant mitigating evidence presented during either phase
of trial, (2) the jury made its sentencing recommenddadter weighing only those
aggravating circumstances it determined had been established beyond a reasonable
doubt against all the mitigatingrcumstances)and (3) the trial judge issued his

findings and conclusions in his sentencing oi@érich findings were dictated, in

84



part,by the jury’s unanimous finding beyond a reasonable doubt that the Petitioner’s
capital offense took place in the cearfakidnaping and robbejy??

The jury made the determination at the guntiocence phase of trial that
Petitioner’sintentionalcapital offense took place in the course of the kidnaping and
robbery of Mrs. Liveoak. The jury made these determinations unanimously and
beyond a reasonable doubt. Petitioner admitted during his testimony at the guilt

iInnocence phase of his trial that he committed the kidnaping and robbery of Mr.

8 At the time of Petitioner’s capital murder trial, Amha law provided, and still provides,
as follows:

At the sentencing hearing the state shall have the burden of proving beyond a

reasonable doubt the existence of any aggravating circumstances. Provided,

however, any aggravating circumstance which the verdict convicting the defendant

establishes was proven beyond a reasonable doubt at trial shall be considered as

proven beyond a reasonable doubt for purposes of the sentencing hearing.

Ala. Code § 13A-545(e).
The state trial court’s sentencing order, containing findings of fact and camdwdilaw, appears
at 2 SCR 3569. Judge Reese found the state had proven beyond a reasonable doubt three
aggravating circumstancess., that (1)as found by the jurythe Petitioner’s capital offense was
committed while Petitioner was engaged in or was an accomplice in the commissiempted
commission, or during flight after committing or attempting to commit kidnaping and sgl§Ber
Petitioner was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violeageerson,
i.e., the Portwood kidnaping and robbery, and (3) Petitioner’'s capital offense was especially
heinous, atrocious, or cruel compared to other capital offenses. 2 SR.38ddge Reese found
an absence of any statutory mitigating circumstances but did find a nwhbenstatutory
mitigating circumstances, including (1) Petitioner’s remorsefulnesshé2fact Petitioner came
from a poor family and lacked adequate role models wétdlimorals into him, (3) Petitioner’s
previous good work record, (4) the fact Petitioner was a good husband to hisférahdia good
father to their children, (5) Petitioner’s prior kindnesses and good works toward of)erse (
love and care showretitioner by his family and friends, (7) the fact Petitioner appears todancti
well in penal institutions, and (8) the lack of violence shown by Petitioner sincagiial offense.
2 SCR 36768. The trial court did not give much weight to any a Betitioner's mitigating
circumstances when weighed against the aggravating circumstances andiembrbii jury’s
advisory verdict together with the aggravating circumstances outweighednitigating
circumstances and warranted imposition of a sentence of death. 2 SCR 368-69.
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Portwood just days before the kidnaping, robbery, and mofdérs. Liveoak. The
statetrial court wasconstitutionally obligated to consider the circumstances of
Petitioner’s offense when it made the selection determinatiche punishment
phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial. This necessarily included consideration of
the particularly tortured final hours Mrs. Liveoak spent without food, water, or
ventilationinside the steel trunk of her ¢avhich Petitionemarkel in an isolated
location bereft of shade on an asphalt parking lot in the middle of Jelgnimal
Alabama. After the jury unanimously made the determinations beyond a reasonable
doubt at the guiltnnocence phase of trial that Petitioner intentionally murdered Mrs.
Liveoak during the course of her kidnaping and robbegtitioner receivedrom

both the advisory jury and the trial codlnie individualizedconsideration of the
circumstances of his offense and the mitigating aspects of his character and
background at the punishment phase of his capital murder trial. This is all the Eighth
and Sixth Amendments requireith connection with the selection decision
Petitioner’s final claim for relief contained in his original petition, as supplemented
by Pettioner’s Hurst claim contained in himmendedpetition, does not warrant

federal habeas corpus relief undeleanovostandard of review.
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V. TRIAL COURT RULINGS ON CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE

A. The Claim

In his fifth claim for relief in his original petition, Petitioner complained about
boththe state trial court’s granting of the prosecution’s challenge for cause to venire
member 129 and the trial court’s refusal to grant the defense’s challenge for cause
to venire member 6dDoc. #1, at pp. 145). The court rejectedetitioner’s latter
argument on the merits under the AEDPA’s standard of review in the Ssded
January 12, 2012 (Doc. #120, at pp-223 31:32). This leaves only Petitioner’s
complairt about the state trial court's granting of the prosecution’s challenge for
cause to venire member 129 f& novareview.

The individual voir dire examination of venire member 129 included the
following exchanges:

THE COURT: This is a capital murdersea meaning you may or may

not be called upon to make a decision about capital punishment. Do
you understand that?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You may not be called upon because there are other
lesser included offenses for you to considéowever, if you are called
upon to make that decision, | need to ask you these questions, because
it would be too late at the end of the case to ask you these questions.
Capital punishment means life without parole or the death penalty. Do
you have an dpion one way or the other about capital punishment?
PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: What is that, please, ma’am?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: | don’t believe in capital punishment.

THE COURT: When you say you don'’t believe in capital punishment,

| am asuming you are talking about the death penalty; is that right?
PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: You don’t believe it serves an appropriate function in
our society?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: No, sir.

THE COURT: Let me ask you this. Let me tell you this first. In
Alabama here the State of Alabama recognizes certain criminal
offenses whereby the punishment may be the death penalty. Now, |
recognize that you may personally disagree with that. But let me ask
you this. If you are selected aguror in this case, and you are called
upon to make that decision, do you think you could entertain the
possibility of the death penalty as a sentence in this case?
PROSPECTIVE JUROR: No, sir.

THE COURT: You don't think if | give you instructions thabuld

tell you you need to consider and weigh these factors, that you could do
that in deciding whether or not the death penalty could be imposed?
PROSPECTIVE JUROR: No, sir.

THE COURT: What you are telling me then is your personal opinion
IS just so geat and you just disagree with it so much you just couldn’t
rule and you couldn’t consider that at all?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: State?

MR. MCNEIL: No questions.

THE COURT: Defense?

EXAMINATION BY MR. AGRICOLA:

Q: Ms. Foy, do you understand that the Alabama Legislature passes
the laws that we are governed by here in Alabama?

A:  Yes,sir.

Q: And do you understand that the Alabama Legislature has passed
a law that authorizes the death penalty in some cases where the
circumstances are so bddat a judgment has been made by the
Legislature that the death penalty ought to be authorized in those cases?
Do you understand that’s the law?

A: Yes, sSir.

Q: Now, you have expressed, | think, a pretty clear personal belief
against the death penalty?

A: Yes, sSir.

Q: Do you understand, 8 Foy, when you enjoy the benefits of
citizenship in this country and in this state, that it carries with it certain
obligations?

A:  Yes,sir.

Q: And one of those obligations is jury service?
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A: Yes, sir.
Q: Now do you understand that in a civilized society we have to
follow the law?
A:  Yes,sir.
Q: And that if we don't follow the law, all of us will be in serious
danger of our life and limb?
A: Yes, Sir.
Q: Ms. Foy. What happens in cases like this is that the judge will
explain to you what the law is. And as a juror, you will be required to
take an oath. Do you understand that?
A:  Yes,sir.
Q: And if you take that oath, you must abide by that oath to follow
the law?
A:  Yes,sir.
Q: If the Judge instructs you that if you make a finding as a juror
that the defendant is guilty of capital murder, do you understand that
you must follow his instructions and consider two punishments; one
being life without parole, and one being the death penalty.
A: Yes, sSir.
Q:  And he would explain to you what the law is that you must apply
to the evidence?
A: Yes, sSir.
Q: Now, regardless of your personal feelings can you follow the
law?
A:  Yes,sir.
Q: Can you swear under oath that you will listen to the Judge and
apply the law to the facts and the evidence that comes in from the
witness stand?
A:  Yes,sir.
Q: You are not saying here today, are you, that you would
automatically vote against the death penalty if thesfat andf the
jury finds that the facts satisfy the law about the death pénhatiyu
wouldn’t automatically dismiss the death penalty as an option, would
you?
A: Yes, sir.

MR. AGRICOLA: That's all.
EXAMINATION BY MR MCNEIL:
Q: Ms. Foy,l am a little confused now. On the Jutgquestions
you said that you would not consider the death penalty as a punishment,
that you would not consider it?
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A: No.

Q: Let me ask you these questions then. Maybe | misunderstood
you. Are you against the death penalty?

A:  Yes,sI.
Q: You said a strong belief?
A:  Yes,sir.

Q: Isthat belief so strong that you feel like it would really get in the
way with your ability to follow the Judge’s instructions?
A:  Yes,sir.
Q: The Judge is not going to tell you how to votes. Hoy. | warh
to make sure you understand that. When it comes to the death penalty,
that's something you have got to do on your own. Do you ever foresee
yourself being able to vote for the death penalty in any case?
A:  No,sir.

MR. MCNEIL: That's all.
THE COURT: Thank you, ma’am. You can return to the jury assembly
room on the third floor. Stae
MR. MCNEIL: Challenge Juror 129,

B. The Constitutional Standard

The standard for determining the constitutional fithess of a capital sentencing

juror is set forth in a series of Supreme Court opinions dating back several decades

In Witherspoon v. Illinois391 U.S. 510, 5223 (1968), the Supreme Court held that

prospective jurors may not be excused from sitting on a capital jury simply because
they voiced general objections to the death penalty or expressed conscientious or

religious scruples against its infliction. Rather, the Supreme Court held as follows:

The most that can be demanded of a venireman in this regard is that he
be willing to consider all of the palties provided by state law, and that
he not be irrevocably committed, before the trial has begun, to vote

86 SCR 453-61 (voir dire examination of venire member 129).
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against the penalty regardless of the facts and circumstances that might
emerge in the course of the proceedings.

Witherspoon v. Illinois391 U.Sat 522 n.21

In Adams v. Texa%l48 U.S. 38 (1980), the Supreme Court emphasized the
limitations Witherspoorimposed on the ability of the State to exclude members of
a jury venire from service on a petit capital jury:

ajuror may not be challenged for cause based on his views about capital
punishment unless those views would prevent or substantially impair
the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his
instructions and his oath. The State may insisyewver, that jurors

will consider and decide the facts impartially and conscientiously apply
the law as charged by the court.

Adams v. Texagl48 U.S. at 45.
In Adams the Supreme Court further discussed the many practical
consequences of iWitherspoa holding:

If the juror is to obey his oath and follow the law of Texas, he
must be willing not only to accept that in certain circumstances death is
an acceptable penalty but also to answer the statutory questions without
conscious distortion or bias h& State does not violate #atherspoon
doctrine when it excludes prospective jurors who are unable or
unwilling to address the penalty questions with this degree of
impartiality. * * *

[A] Texas jurotis views about the death penalty might influence
the manner in which he performs his role but without exceeding the
“guided jury discretioh permitted him under Texas law. In such
circumstances, he could not be excluded consistently with
Witherspoon

The State could, consistently witlitherspoonuse § 2.31(b)
to exclude prospective jurors whose views on capital punishment are
such as to make them unable to follow the law or obey their oaths. But
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the use of § 12.31(b) to exclude jurors on broader grounds based on
their opinions concerning the death penalty is impermissible. * * *

[N]either nervousness, emotional involvement, nor inability to
deny or confirm any effect whatsoever is equivalent to an unwillingness
or an inability on the part of the jurors to follow the court's instructions
and obey their oaths, regardless of their feelings about the death
penalty. * * * Nor in our view would the Constitution permit the
exclusion of jurors from the penalty phase of a Texas murder trial if
they aver that they will honestly find the facts and answer the questions
in the affirmative if tley are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, but
not otherwise, yet who frankly concede that the prospects of the death
penalty may affect what their honest judgment of the facts will be or
what they may deem to be a reasonable doubt. * * * [T]he State may
bar from jury service those whose beliefs about capital punishment
would lead them to ignore the law or violate their oaths.

Adams v. Texagl48 U.S. at 460 (citations omitted).

In Wainwright v. Witt 469 U.S. 412 (1985), the Supreme Court further

clanfied its holdings inWitherspoonand Adams holding that the proper inquiry

when faced with a venire member who expresses personal, conscientious, or

religious views on capital punishment‘ighether the juror's views would prevent

or substantially impaithe performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with

his instructions and his oathWainwright v. Witt469 U.S. at 424. IWVainwright

v. Witt, the Supreme Court also emphasized that considerable deference is to be
given the trial court's firshand evaluation of the potential juror's demeanor and that

no particular magical incantation or word choice need necessarily be followed in

interrogating the potential juror in this regaldl, 469 U.S. at 43@35.
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More recently, inUttecht v. Brown551 US. 1 (2007), the Supreme Court
reviewed its WitherspoorAWitt line of opinions and identified the following
“principles of relevance”:

First, a criminal defendant has the right to an impatrtial jury drawn from

a venire that has not been tilted in favor apital punishment by

selective prosecutorial challenges for cause. Second, the State has a

strong interest in having jurors who are able to apply capital punishment

within the framework state law prescribes. Third, to balance these
interests, a juror whes substantially impaired in his or her ability to
impose the death penalty under the skateframework can be excused

for cause; but if the juror is not substantially impaired, removal for

cause is impermissible. Fourth, in determining whether thevainof

a potential juror would vindicate the State’s interest without violating

the defendant’s right, the trial court makes a judgment based in part on

the demeanor of the juror, a judgment owed deference by reviewing
courts.

Uttecht v. Brown551 U.S. &9 (citations omittedl

The Supreme Couhtasemphasized the critical inquiry fYitherspoorwitt
purposes is not whether a state appellate court properly reviewed the propriety of the
exclusion but, rather, whether the trial court correctly applied the appeofaiteral
constitutional standardJttecht v. Brown551 U.S. at 147. Finally, the Spreme
Court hasadmonished reviewing courts to defer to the trial court’s resolution of
qguestions of bias arising from a potential juror’s conflicting voir dire answers
because the trial court had the opportunity to observe the demeanor of the potential
juror. Uttecht v. Brown 551 U.S. at 20 (“where, as here there is a lengthy

questioning of a prospective juror and the trial court has supervised a diligent and
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thoughtfulvoir dire, the trial court has broad discretion.”). “Courts reviewing claims
of WitherspoonWitt error, however, especially federal courts considering habeas
petitions, owe deference to the trial court, which is in a superior positiotetoniiee
the demeanor and qualifications of a potential jurdttécht v. Brown551 U.S. at
22,
C. De Novo Review

Having independently reviewed the entirety of the voir dire examination of
venire member 129, the state trial court’s implicit factual finding of disqualifying
biasis not merely objectively reasonable. It is entirely compellvMgnire member
129 was the quintessential vacillatingnire membemwho responded in widely
divergentways to questions about her ability to consider and vote in favor of a
sentence of death, depending upon the manner in which those questions were
phrased.This venire member did, however, make clear that her personal views on
the propriety of the death penalty would impede her ability to follow the trial judge’s
instructions Cf. Stewart v. DuggeB77 F.2d 851855(11th Cir. 1989) (affirming
afederal habeasourt’s deferenceo a state trial court’s implicit factual findiagn
granting a challenge for cause to a venire member who insisted it would be extremely
difficult for him to vote in favor of a death sentencegrt. denied 495 U.S. 962
(1990). In suchcircumstances, it is particularly critical that a federal habeas court

defer to the implicit credibility findings made by the state trial judge who had the
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opportunity to examinérsthandthe vacillatingvenire member'slemeanor during

voir dire examination.Uttecht v. Brown551 U.S. at 22Sumner v. Mata455 U.S.

591, 597 (1982) Petitioner's complaint about the state trial court granting the
prosecution’s challenge for cause to venire member 129 does not warrant federal

habeas reliefnder adenovostandard of review.

VI. ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF PETITIONER'S CONFESSION

A. The Claim

In his eighth claim in his original petition, Petitioner argues the state trial court
erred in admitting into evidendhe signed copgf Petitioner’'s statement to police
given shortly after his arre@Doc. #1, at pp. 685).

During a pretrial hearing held October 11, 1995, the state trial court heard
evidence on Petitioner’'s motion to suppress his videotapeehpest statement to

police® The only two witnesses who testified at the hearing were a Montgomery

8 The verbatim transcription from the pretrial hearing on Petitioner’'s motionpjoress
appears at 4 SCR Tab 1, at pp. 1-70.
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Police homicide detective and the Petitioffeln an Order issued Octobgt, 1995,

the state trial court denied Petitioner's motion to suppg¥ess.

As explained above, the state triaburt admitted without objection
Petitioner’s postarrestvideotaped statement to poli¢en question and answer
format);the jury saw and heard the videotaped recording played in opemuang

the guiltinnocence phase of Petitioner’s capital mutdeat.®® The trial court also

8 More specifically, at the pretrial heagindetective David R. Hill testified that (1) Hazel
Liveoak’s body was found at 21:13 hours on July 13, 1994, (2) Dennis Bowen furnished
information which allowed police to identify Petitioner and Carolyn Yaw as susjpediss.
Liveoak’s murder, (3) Petitioner was arrested and brawgbolice headquarters, where Petitioner
was given hisirandawarnings, (4) Petitioner signed the form waiving his rights, (5) no promises
or threats or coercion were used to induce Petitioner to make his statement, déptapad
statement was taken from Petitioner, (7) several weeks later, Petitionestedrid@tective Hill
and requested an opportunity to examine his statement, (8) Detective Hill drfangetitioner
to be transported to the Montgomery Police Department on September 1, 1994, where Petitione
reviewed a written transcription of his statement and signed same, (9) at thd&diectiveHill
was unaware counsel had been appointed for Petitioner and Petitioner informed himhtwht he
not yet been appointed counsel [both men were apparently in error on that point], (10) Petitione
appeared entirely sober throughout his j@os¢st interrogation, (11) initially, Petitioner denied
committing the offense, (12) Petitioner appeared lucid and did not appear irddxicaing his
postarrest interrogation, and (13) Petitioner never requested an attorney durpastasrest
interrogation. 4 SCR at R-3-R-42, R-666R-{testimony of David R. Hill).

Petitioner testified during the same hearing and stated (1) he was smokltherday of
his arrest, (2) he was addicted to crack cocaine, (3) he was high at the time of higxhesvas
high at the time of his posirrest interrogation, (5) he did not recall signing the waiver of rights
form admitted into evidence during the hearing, (6) he did not read any of the papaysedake
that day, (7) he was never told he had been charged with capital murder, (8) heevasidde
was facing the deatpenalty, (9) he was not given Hidiranda warnings on either July 14 or
September 1, 1994, (10) he was in his “own world” during his-@wsst interrogation, and (11)
he was promised a foyear sentence in exchange for giving police his-posist steement. 4
SCR 4266 (testimony of Donald Dallas).

872 SCR 356.

87 SCR 647-48.
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admitted into evidence without objectiortranscription of the audio portion of the
videotaped recording. The copy of the verbatim transcription of the audio portion
of the videotape recording admitted into evidence at trial as State Exhibit 41 included
Petitioner's undated and unwitnessed signature at the bottom of eacli page.
B. The Constitutional Standard

A federal court may grant habeas relief based on an erroneous state court
evidentiary ruling only if the ruling violates a specific federal constitutional right or
IS SO egregious it renders the petitioner's trial fundamentally urffayne v.
Tennesse®01 U.S. 808, 825 (1991parden v. Wainwright477 U.S. 168, 1783
(1986. The test for determining whether the admission of evidence warrants federal
habeas corpus relief is whether the allegedly erroneous admission of evidence either
(1) violated a specific federal constitutional right or (2) rendered the defendait’s tria
so fundamentally unfair that the conviction was obtained in violation of the Due
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendmidetring v. Secretary, Dept. of Coyr.
397 F.3d 1338, 1335 n.8 (11th Circgrt. denied546 U.S. 9282005); Thigpen v.

Thigpen 926 F.2d at 1012.

87 SCR 648.

3 SCR 457-69.
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Federal habeas corpus relief will not issue to correct errors of state
constitutional, statutory, or procedural law, unless a federal issue is also presented.
SeeEstelle v. McGuire502 U.S. 62, 668 (1991)(holding complaints regarding
the admission of evidence under California law did not present grounds foil federa
habeas relief absent a showing that admission of the evidence in question violated
due process),ewis v. Jeffers497 U.S. 764, 780 (199Q)ecognizing that federal
habeas relief will not issue for errors of state ldlley v. Harris 465 U.S. 37, 41
(1984) (holding a federal court may not issue the writ on the basis of a perceived
error of statedw). In the course of reviewing state criminal convictions in federal
habeas corpus proceedings, a federal court doesit as a supestate appellate
court. Estelle v. McGuire502 U.S. at 668; Lewis v. Jeffers497 U.S. at 780
Pulley v. Harris 46 U.S. at 41Thigpen v. Thigper926 F.2d 1003, 1012 (11th Cir.

1991).

When a federal district court reviews a state prisenesbeas petition
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254 it must decide whether the petitioner is
“‘in custody in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the
United States.” The court does not review a judgment, but the
lawfulness of the petitioner's custosiynpliciter.

Coleman v. ThompspB01 U.S. 722, 730 (1991).
C. De Novo Review
Petitioner argues the admission of his signed confession violated his Sixth

Amendment right to counsel because he signedséhieatimtranscription of his
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videotapeé confession after the state trial court appointed counsel to represent him.
This arguments meritless The document admitted without objection into evidence
during Petitioner’s trial as State Exhibit 41 was a transcription titid?er’'s post
arrest interrogation conducted aftdiranda warnings had been administered and
Petitioner signed a waiver of his right3he state trial court’'s Order overruling
Petitioner's motion to suppress implicitly rejected as incredible Petitioner’'s
testimony at the pretrial hearing that he was so intoxicated at the time of his post
arrest interrogatiothat hewasincapable of understanding his constitutional rights
and effectively waiving those rights. Petitioner does not allege any fadenbify
any legal authority challenging the admission at trial of the videotaped recording of
Petitioner’s posarrestinterrogation Nor does Petitioner allege any facts or identify
any legal authority showing the state trial court erred in overruling Petitioner’s
motion to suppress his videotaped pasest statement to police. Under such
circumstances, the fact teate trial court chose to admit a copy of the transcription
of the audio portion of the videotaped recordingtwas played without objection
for Petitioner’s juryandwhich bore Petitioner’s signature did not violate Petitioner’s
Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

An accused is denied the basic protections of the Sixth Amendment when
there is used against him at his trial evidence of his own incriminating words which

government agents deliberately elicited from him after he had been indicted and in
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the absence of his counsekellers v. UnitedStates 540 U.S. 519, 523 (2004)
Massiah v. UnitedStates 377 U.S. 201, 206 (1964)Jnited States v. US
Infrastructure, Inc. 576 F.3d 1195, 1216 (11th Cir. 2008¢rt. denied 559 U.S.

1009 (2010).At Petitiorer’s requestseveral weeks after Petitioner gave his actual
statement to police, the State permitted Petitioner to review the verbatim
transcription of his videotaped interrogation and sign the transcription of his earlier
statement The state trial court did not admit into evidence any statement made by
Petitioner on September 1, 19%4hich law enforcement authorities “deliberately
elicited’ from Petitioner on that datand which differed in contentfrom the
videotaped statement fR@ner gave shortly after his July 14, 1994 arrest.
Petitioner’s Sixth Amendment rights were not violated by the admissitimout

objection of his signed version of the transcription of his prior videotaped statement.

Likewise, the admission of State Exhibit 41 did not render Petitioner’s trial
fundamentally unfair. The jury saw and heard Petitioner’s videotaped statement
made just hours after his arrest. There is no argument currently before this court
showing there was any error in connection with the admission of Petitioner’s
videotaped statement. The presence of Petitioner’'s unwitnessed, undated signature
on the bottom of the transbadpagesof the exhibit admitted without objection at
trial as State Exhibit 41 did not render Petitioner’s trial fundamentally unfair. If

Petitioner hd made timely objection to the admission of the signed version of the
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transcript, the state trial court could easily have substituted a redacted version of the
same transcriptigni.e., one not bearing Petitioner's signature. The erroneous
admission of evidence renders a trial fundamentally unfair only when the
erroneously admitted evidence was mateil,the evidence was a critical, crucial,
highly significant factor to the outene of the trial.Baxter v. Thomas15 F.3d 1501,
1509 (11th Cip, cert. denied516 U.S. 956 (1995 higpen v. Thigperd26 F.2d at
1012;Dobbs v. Kemp790 F.2d 1499, 1504 (11th Cir986),modified on reh.809
F.2d 750 (11th Cir.)¢cert. denied 481 U.S. 1059 (1987). Given the admission
without objection at trial of Petitioner’s videotaped statement to police, the
admission of the verbatim transcription of the videotaped recording (with or without
Petitioner’s signature on the transcription) was aatrucial, critical, or highly
significant factor in the outcome of either phase of Petitioner’s capital murder tria
Finally, any error regarding the admission of State Exhibit 41 wamsldss
under the Supreme Court’s stand&od harmless error in fieral habeas corpus
proceedings See Brecht v. Abrahamsd@07 U.S. 619, 637 (1998)olding the test
for harmless error in a federal habeas corpus action brought by a state prisoner is
“whether the error had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining
the jurys verdict). Admission of the undated, unwitnessed, but signed verbatim
transcription of the audio portion of Petitioner’s videotaped statement did not have

a substantial or injurious effect or influence on the jury’s verdicttiaélephase of
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Petitioner’s capital murder trialPetitioner’s eighth claim does not warrant federal
habeas relief underdenovostandard of review.

VIl. ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF EXTRANEOUS OFFENSES

A. The Claim

In his twelfth claim in his originapetition, Petitioner argues the state trial
court erred in admitting the testimony of Wesley Orville Portwood concerning
Petitioner’'s kidnaping and robbery of him just days before Petitioner’s kidnaping,
robbery, and murder of Mrs. Liveo@Roc. # 1, at pp. 680). Petitioner contends
it was error for the state triaburtto admit Mr. Portwood’s testimony after the court
admittedPetitioner’s videotaped statemenbecause in that recording, Petitioner
admitted the essential facts concerning his robbery addagping of Mr.
Portwood!

At trial, Mr. Portwod testified that (1) after striking him with a knife,
Petitioner forced his way into Mr. Portwoodtar and drove him to an isolated
location near Millorook where Petitioner directed him to get out of the car and
threatened to place Mr. Portwood in the trunk of his vehicle, (2) Mr. Portwood

protested that he would “smother to death in there,” (3) Petitioner then directed him

%1 In his videotaped postrrest statement to police, Petitioner stated that he abducted an
“old man” from a parking lot in Prattville, drove him to a wooded location near la&leson in
Millbrook, “laid him face down, and drove his car probably a quarterrmafle from him and got
out and left.” 3 SCR 465-67.
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to lay down in the woods, (4) Petitioner then drove off, and (5) Mr. Portwood rose
and walked about a mile down the road where he found his abandoned car but not
the keys’?
B. The Constitutional Standard

The same legal principlessdusse@boven Section VI.B. in connection with
Petitioner’s complaint about the admission of his signed statement apply to this
claim. The Eleventh Circuit has held that evidence of an extraneous offense is
admissible under Alabama law if it shows sthmngmorethan the defendant’s bad
character and the likelihood he acted in conformity therewith by committing the
charged crimeThigpen v. Thigper®26 F.2d at 1014. The Eleventh Circuit has also
declared Alabama law permits the admission of extraneous offense evidence when
such evidence is relevant tb) show either (a) the defendant’s physical capacity,
skill, or means to commit the charged crime, (b) the res gestae of the cihime, (c
identity of person or crime, (d) scienter or guilty knowled¢®,intent, (f) plan,
design, scheme, or system, (g) motive, (h) matic@) aspects of various particular
crimes (2) rebut special defenses,(8) an aspect of the charged crime which is a

“real and open isstién the caseld.. 926 F.2d at 10145.

927 SCR 703-14 (testimony of Wesley Orville Portwood).
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C. DeNovo Review

The admission of Mr. Portwood’s trial testimony did not render Petitioner’s
capital murder trial fundamentally unfaiAdmission of Mr. Portwood’s testimony
did not show merely Petitioner's bad character. Mr. Portwooel&imony
supporedthe inference that Petitioner’s act&n placing the elderly Mrs. Liveoak
inside her car trunk only days latem the afternoon of July 12, 19%hd keeping
her there were intended to result in her death. Only days bEtrgone’s
abduction and robbery of Mrs. Liveoak, the elderly Mr. Portwood informed
Petitionerthat he would likely“smother to deathif forced to get inside his own
vehicle’s trunk®® Petitioner’s intent to kill Mrs. Liveoak was the only genuinely
“real and open issue” before the jury at the guaititocence phase of Petitioner’s

capital murder triat? Cf. Thigpen v. Thigpen926 F.2d at 10139 (holding

937 SCR at 708 (testimony of Wesley Orville Portwood).

% During Petitioner’s state habeas corpus proceeding, all three of Petitiniacounse
testified that the defense’s strategy at the gaiibcence phase of trial was to attempt to convince
the jury that Petitioner was so mentally and emotionally disturbed and intoxigetesddaidiction
to crack cocaine and his binging on that drug dytire time frame that included Mrs. Liveoak’s
abduction and robbery that Petitioner could not and did not form the intent to kill her. 12 SCR
Tab 13, at p. 37 (testimony of Jeffery C. Duffey); 12 SCR Tab 13, at pp6,78687, 98, 113
(testimony of Suga James); 13 SCR Tab 14, at pp. 159, 165, 169, 17182,8189, 2289
(deposition testimony of Algert Agricola). Attorney Agricola, in particuEanphasized that, in
light of Petitioner’'s confession to police to all elements of the offense of lcapitder except
intent and Petitioner’'s admissions during their pretrial conferences, #esdefas left with little
to argue at the guiihnocence phase of trial other than that Petitioner was so intoxicated on crack
that he could not form the intent to commit murder. 13 SCR Tab 14, at pp. 159, 165, 169, 171,
18182, 22829 (deposition testimony of Algert Agricola). Attorney Agricola testified the
defense’s punishment phase strategy was simiay,to show Petitioner was intoxicated at the
time of hiscapital offense and operating under the domination of Carolyn Yawat p. 189.
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extraneous offense evidence admissible where relevant to show the defeautint’s

a codefendant’s relativenotives). Furthermore, in light of the admission without
objection of Petitioner’s videotaped statement, in which he admitted to the essential
elements of his abduction and robbery of Mr. Portwood, admission of Mr.
Portwood’s trial testimony was harmleseog, at worst.See Brecht v. Abrahamson

507 U.Sat637(holding the test for harmless error in a federal habeas corpus action
brought by a state prisoner‘iwhether the error had substantial and injurious effect
or influence in determining the juyverdict). Petitioner’s twelfth claindoes not
warrant federal habeas corpus relief undeée aovostandardf review

VIIl. ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF PHOTOGRAPHS AND VIDEO

A. The Claim

In his thirteenth claim in his original petition, Petitioner argihesstate trial
court erred in admitting the videotape showing Mrs. Liveoak’s body inside the trunk
of her car, as well as photographs showing the same (Doc. # 1, at-pB). 71
Petitioner also complains about the admission of photographs showing Mrs.
Liveoak’s personal itemse., an earring, a day planner, and groceries found inside
the passenger compartment and the trunk of her vehicle.

The state trial court admitted without objection numerous photograjths of

interior of Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle, thaterior of her trunk, and Mrs. Liveoak’s body
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asit appeared upon itdiscovey in the trunk of her cat® The trial court also
admitted without objection a videotape recording of the same stefasally, the
state trial court admittedithout objectionseveral photographs takeuring the
course of Mrs. Liveoak’s autopsy which showed bruises and scratches on her hands
right knee, and upper right arth.
B. The Constitutional Standard

The same legal principles discussed in Section \A@Ply to this claim.
C. DeNovo Review

Petitioner argues the photographs and videoquestionare inherently
prejudicial:

Both the pictures and the video also depicted close up shots of
items completely irrelevant to the issue of guilt, engineered solely to
bring the victim to life for the jury, to make the jurors imagine the life

she would have led had she lived. The pictures showed her eyeglasses,
emphasizing for the jury her age and evoking an image of frailty; her

%6 SCR at pp. B9091. The photographs of Mrs. Liveoak’s body, marked as State
Exhibits 315, showed Mrs. Liveoak’s body lying on her back with her legs bent at tes knd
a portion of her stomach exposed. Her shoes had been removed but, otherwise, her bogy was full
clothed. These photographs show bruising on the back of her right hand and right knee and
scratches on both her hands but do not contain any graphic images of open wounds or viscera.
The photographs of Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle and its conteetsState Exhibits B, appear
at 2 SCR at pp. 388900 & 3 SCR at pp. 40@4. There are no graphic images in any of these
photographs. There was nothing even remotely inflammatory about any of the ppbsogr
admitted during Petitioner’s trial.

%6 SCR at pp. R-590-91.
977 SCR at pp. B1923. The autopsy photographs, admitted as State Exhibi8,29

appear at BCR at pp. 4387. The autopsy photographs likewise do not contain any graphic
images or depictions of wounds or viscera.
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earring, which had come out or was taken out of her ear, implying some
sort of struggle despite the testimony to the contrary; her daily planner,
emphasizing for the jury that she had a life, she had plans on which she
would now not be able to follow through, a package of brownie mix,
meant to evoke her son’s testimony that she was going to bake for a
sick friend that day; and finally, some yarn, creating the image of Mrs.
Liveoak as a kindly grandmother

(Doc. # 1, at pp. 71-72).

Contrary to Petitioner’'s assertions, howevheré wasothing the least bit
graphic, gruesome, lurid, or inflammatory about any of the photographic evidence
admitted during Petitioner’s trial.The only injuries apparent on Mrs. Liveoak’s
body in the photographs showing her lying in her automobile tonrdt autopsy
showed bruising and scratches to her hands. None of the photographs admitted
showedMrs. Liveoak’s body nude, angxposedviscera or the interior of any
portion of her body.The photographs were necessary to demonstrate to the jury the
extent d the victim’s injuriesand admissible under state evidentiary stande3ds
e.g.,.SmithvState  So3d , 2017 WL 1033665, *20 (Ala. Crim. App.
2017) (holding photographs which were not unduly gruesome or unfairly prejudicial
admissible to distinguish between victim’s injuries and postmortem animal and
insect activity; Gobble v. Statel04 So.3d 920, 963%4 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010)
(“Autopsy photographs depicting the character and location of the wounds on the
victim’'s body are admissible even if they are gruesome, cumulative, t& telan
undisputed matter.”%ert. deniedAla. Sept. 14, 2012%ert. denied133 S. Ct. 1808

(2013). Thestate trial court’s admission without objection of all the photographic
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evidence and videotape recordings showing the location and physical appearance of
Mrs. Liveoak’s bodyher injuries, her vehicleand herother possessions did not
render Petitioner’s capital murder trial fundamentally unfair.

Petitioner did not object to the admission of any of the photographic or
videotaped evidence in questioiihe photographs were admissible and relet@nt
show (1) thesolated location in which her vehicle watsandoned by PetitiongP)
the condition of her lifeless body when discovered (which contradicted some of the
more selserving aspects of Petitioner’'s p@stest statement to policee., the
medical examinetestified the bruising to her upper right arm was consistent with
someone having grabbed her right arm with considerable force, refuting Pettioner’
assertion that he never employed any force against Mrs. Liveoak), and (3) that Mrs.
Liveoak had been thaatim of a robbery and kidnaping in a manner consistent with
Petitioner’s statement that he abducted her after she exited a grocery store and took
her credit cards, bank card, and wa(let., the items found inside her vehicle and
trunk did not include ér wallet, bank card, or credit caroist did include a grocery
receipt and perishable grocejies

Contrary tothe arguments underlyiri@etitioner’s thirteenth claim, Petitioner
was not entitled to have the trial coswia spontexcludeany and allisualevidence
which eithertended to show Mrs. Liveoak had once been aiveortrayed her in a

sympathetic light. Even the admission of graphic photographic evidence rarely
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renders a proceeding fundamentally unfaBaxter v. Thomas45 F.3d at 1509
Jacobs v. Singletarp52 F.2d 1282, 1296 (11th Cir. 199Betitioner confessed to
abducting and robbing Mrs. Liveoak and locking her in the trunk of hewbah

he admitted he abandoned in an isolated unshaded location on an asphalt parking lot
in the middle of July in central Alabama. The admission of photographs and video
showing the condition in which her lifeless body was discovered the day after
Petitioner abandoned Mrs. Liveoak did not render Petitioner’s trial fundamentally
unfair. The photographic and videotaped evidence in question was not a crucial,
critical, or highly significant factor to the jury’s verdict at either phase ofiGxedit's

capital murder trial. Petitioner’sitteenthclaim does not warrant federal habeas
corpus relief nder ade novcstandard of review.

IX. VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE

A. The Claim(s)

In his tenth claim in his original petition, Petitioner argtinesstate trial judge
improperly considexd a letter from Mrs. Liveoak'slaughter in which she pleaded
with the court to impose a sentence of death (Doc. #1, at pR&gitioner’s brief
on the merits furnished no argument or legal authorities in support of this claim (Doc.
# 88). Despite that fact, the parties state in their Joint Report that ahergvo
claims before the court addressing victim impact isswesPetitioner’'s complaint

about the alleged consideration of Mrs. Liveoak’s daughter’s letter and a complaint
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about the admission at the punishment phase dfdfidhe testimony of Mrs.
Liveoak’s sonL arry Liveoak (Doc. #6, at pp. 450).
B. State Court Disposition

In his appellant’s brief, Petitioner argued the state trial cdyrerred in
admitting victim impact testimony from Mrs. Liveoak’s son g@Ql improperly
considered a letter written by Mrs. Liveoak’s daughter asking the trial court to
impose a sentence of dedth.On direct appeal, the Alabama Court of Criminal
Appeals held (1) Larry Liveoak’s victim impact testimony at the punishment phase
of Petitioner’s capital murder trial was relevant to the judesision whether to
recommend that the death penalty be imppaed (2) there was no indication the
trial court considered the letter written by Mrs. Livegsalaughter, which was
received by the trial court approximately two weeltter the court entered its
sentencing orderDallas v. State711 So2d at 1110.Petitionerfailed to present
any claims regarding victim impact evidenae his pro se state hahs corpus
petition (.e., his Rule 32 petition
C. AEDPA Standard of Review

Because petitioner filed his federal habeas corpusraafter the effective

date of the AntiTerrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (“AEDPA”),

%10 SCR Tab 2, at pp. 48-51.
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this Court’s review bthosepetitioner’s claims for federal habeas corpus raligth
were disposed of on the merits by the state courts is governed by the APBRW.
v. Johnson532 U.S. 782, 792 (2001). Under the AEDPA standard of review, this
Court cannot grant petitioner federal habeas corpus relief in this cause in connection
with any claim that was adjudicated on the merits in state court proceedings, unless
the adjudication of that claim either: (1) resulted in a decision thatevaisacy to,
or involved an unreamable application of, clearly established Federal law, as
determined by the Supreme Court of the United States, or (2) resulted in a decision
that was based on an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence
presented in the state court proceediBgpwn v. Payton544 U.S. 133, 141 (2005);
Williams v. Tayloy 529 U.S. 362, 4685 (2000); 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d).

The Supreme Court has concluded the “contrary to” and “unreasonable
application” clauses of 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d) (1) have independent meaBelYs.
Cone 535 U.S. 685, 694 (2002). Under the “contrary to” clause, a federal habeas
court may grant relief if (1) the state court arrives at a conclusion opposit to th
reached by the Supreme Court on a question of law or (2) the state court decides a
case differently than the Supreme Court on a set of materially indistinguishable facts.
Brown v. Payton544 U.S. at 141Mitchell v. Esparza540 U.S. 12, 186 (2003)
(“A state court’s decision is ‘contrary to’ our clearly established law/ajplies a

rule that contradicts the governing law set forth in our cases’ or it ‘confronts a set of
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facts that are materially indistinguishable from a decision of this Court and

nevertheless arrives at a result eliéint from our precedent.”). A state court’s
failure to cite governing Supreme Court authority doespaotse establish the state
court’s decision is “contrary to” clearly established federal law: “the state caat ne
not even be aware of our precedents, ‘so long as neither the reasoning nor the result
of the statecourt decisions contradicts them Mitchell v. Esparza540 U.S. at 16.
Under the “unreasonable application” clause, a federal habeas court may grant
relief if the state court identifiethe correct governing legal principle from the
Supreme Court’s decisions but unreasonably applies that principle to the facts of the
petitioner’s caseBrown v. Payton544 U.S. at 14MWiggins v. Smithb39 U.S. 510,
520 (2003). A federal court making the “unreasonable application” inquinydsho
ask whether the state court’'s application of clearly established federal law was
“objectively unreasonable.McDaniel v. Brown558 U.S. 120, 1333 (2010) (“A
federal habeas court can only set aside a-state decision as ‘an unreasonable
application of. . .clearly established Federal law,” § 2254(d) (1), if the state court’s
application of that law is ‘objectively unreasonable.Wiggins v. Smith539 U.S.
at 52021. The focus of this inquiry is on whether the state court’s application of
clearly established federal law was objectively unreasonable; an “unreasonable”

application is different from a merely “incorrect” on&chriro v. Landrigan550

U.S. 465, 473 (2007) (“The question under the AEDPA is not whether a federtal co
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believes the state court’s determination was incorrect but whether that determination
was unreasonabte substantially higher threshold.V)iggins v. Smith639 U.S. &
520;Price v. Vincent538 U.S. 634, 641 (2003) (“it is the habeas applicant’s burden
to show that the state court applied that case to the facts of his case in an objectively
unreasonable manner”).

As the Supreme Court has explained:

Under the Antitewrism and Effective Death Penalty Act, a state

prisoner seeking a writ of habeas corpus from a federal court “must

show that the state court’s ruling on the claim being presented in federal

court was so lacking in justification that there was an error well

understood and comprehended in existing law beyond any possibility

for fairminded disagreement.”
Bobby v. Dixon132 S. Ct. 26, 272011) (quotingHarrington v. Richter562 U.S.
86, 103 (2011)).

Legal principles are “clearly established” for purpos€sAEDPA review
when the holdings, as opposed to the dicta, of Supreme Court decisions as of the
time of the relevant statmurt decision establish those principlééarborough v.
Alvaradqg 541 U.S. 652, 6661 (2004) (“We look for ‘the governing legaiipciple
or principles set forth by the Supreme Court at the time the state court renders its
decision.”™); Lockyer v. Andrade538 U.S. 63, 7I2 (2003). Under the AEDPA,
what constitutes “clearly established federal law” is determined through review of

the decisions of the United States Supreme Court, not the precedent of the federal

Circuit Courts. See Lopez v. Smjthh35 S. Ct. 1, 2 (2014) (holding the AEDPA
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prohibits the federal courts of appeals from relying on their own precedent to

conclude a paidular constitutional principle is “clearly established”).

The AEDPA also significantly restricts the scope of federal habeas review of
state court fact findings. 28 U.S.C. $22d)2) provides federal habeas relief may
not be granted on any claim thaas adjudicated on the merits in the state courts
unless the state court’s adjudication of the claim resulted in a decised ba an
unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the state
court proceedingWood v. Allen558 U.S. 290, 301 (2010) (“[A] stat®urt factual
determination is not unreasonable merely because the federal habeas court would
have reached a different conclusion in the first instandél/iljiams v. Tayloy 529
U.S. at 410 (“[AlJnunreasonableapplication of federal law is different from an
incorrect application of federal law.”). Even if reasonable minds reviewing the
record might disagree about the factual finding in question (or the implicit credibility
determination underlying the factual finding), on habeas review, this does not suffice
to supersede the trial court’s factual determinatMfood v. Allen558 U.S. at 301,

Rice v. Collins546 U.S. 333, 3442 (2006).

In addition, § 2254(e)(1) provides a petitioner challenging state courtlfactua
findings must establish by clear and convincing evidence that the state court’s
findings were erroneousSchriro v. Landrigan550 U.S. at 4734 (“AEDPA also
requires federal habeas courts to presume the correctness of state cdudbs’ fac
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findings urness applicants rebut this presumption with ‘clear and convincing
evidence.”); Rice v. Colling 546 U.S. at 3389 (“Statecourt factual findings,
moreover, are presumed correct; the petitioner has the burden of rebutting the
presumption by ‘clear and convincing evidence.Myjler-El v. Dretke,545 U.S.

231, 240 (2005) (“[W]e presume the Texas court’s factual findings to be sound
unless MillerEl rebuts the ‘presumption of correctness by clear and convincing
evidence.™); 28 U.S.C. 82254(e)(1). It remains unclear at this juncture whether 8
2254(e)(1) applies in every case presenting a challenge to a state cotugs fac
findings under § 2254(d)(2)See Wood v. Allerb58 U.S. at 300 (choosing not to
resolve the issue of § 2254(e)(1)’s possible appiinab all challenges to a state
court’s factual findings)Rice v. Colling 546 U.S. at 339 (likewise refusing to

resolve the Circuit split regarding the application of § 2254(e)(1)).

However, the deference to which stataurt factual findings are entitled under
the AEDPA does not imply an abandonment or abdication of federal judicial review.
See MillerEl v. Dretke 545 U.S. at 240 (the standard is “demanding but not
insatiable”);Miller-El v. Cockrel) 537 U.S. 322, 340 (2003) (“Even in the context
of federal habeas, deference does not imply abandonment or abdication of judicial

review. Deference does not by definition preclude ré)ief
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D. Clearly Established Federal Law

In Payne v. Tennesses01 U.S. 808, 8236 (1991) the Suprem€ourt held
that (1) the admission of evidencetbé impact of a capital murder on the victim
and his or her survivorand (2) prosecutorial jury argument regarding same, are
both constitutionally permissible at the punishment phase of a capital murdler tria
E. AEDPA Review

The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals’ rejections on the merits during
Petitioner’s direct appeal of Petitioner’'s complaints about (1) the admission of Larry
Liveoak’s victim impact testimony at the punishment phase of petitioner’'s capital
murder trial and (2) the state trial court’s alleged consideration of the letter written
by Mrs. Liveoak’s daughter were neither contrerynor involved an unreasonable
applicationof, clearly established Federal law, as determined by the Supreme Court
of the United Statesior based upomn unreasonable determination of the facts in
light of the evidence presented in the state court proceeding.

Larry Liveoak’s testimony at the punishment phase of Petitioner’s capital
murder trial consisted of statements focused on the impact of Mrs. Liveoak’s death
upon himself and his family. As such, the state appellate court reasonably concluded
Larry Liveoak’s punishment phase trial testimony was constitutionally permissible

under the Supreme Court’s holdingHayne v. Tennessee
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The state appellate court foyrad a matter of facthat the state trial court did
not receive theobjectionable letter from Mrs. Liveoak’s daughter until
approximaely two weeks after it issued its sentencing order. Petitioner has alleged
no specificfacts, much less furnished clear and convin@wiglence, showing the
state trial court received the letter from Mrs. Liveoak’s daughter fwitive date it
Issued its sentencing ordednder such circumstances, this court must defer to the
state appellate court’'s factual findingchriro v. Landrigan550 U.S. at 4734;
Rice v. Collins546 U.S. at 3339. Petitioner has failed to rebut the correctness of
the state appellate court’s factual findinBetitioner’stenth claim does not warrant
federal habeas corpus relief when viewed under the deferential standard of the
AEDPA.
F. De Novo Review

Additionally, thiscourt has conducted an independent review tfi®®er's
complaints about the admission of Larry Liveoak’s punishment phase trial testimony
and the state trial court’s alleged consideration of the letter written by Mrs. Liveoak’s
daughter It concludes that neither complaint warrants federal halwepsrelief
relief under ade novostandard of review.Mr. Liveoak’s punishment phase trial
testimony was admissible under the standard announdealyime The almission
of his punishment phase testimodigl not render Petitioner’s trial fundamentally

unfair. There is no faetpecific allegation before the court, much less any clear and
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convincing evidence, showing the state trial court ever received the letter fiam M
Liveoak’s daughter prior to the date it issued its sentencing order.

X. ALLEGEDLY FALSE TESTIMONY BY VENIRE MEMBERS

A. The Claim

In his fifteenth claim in his original petition, Petitioner argues he was denied
his right to exercise his peremptory challenges in an intelligent manner when
“several jurors failed to disclose crucial evade despite direct and unambiguous
questioning by the court” (Doc. # 1, at pp-78) >

Petitioner included a similar set of complaints ingrs sestate habeas corpus
petition §.e., his Rule 32 petition}?° The state habeas trial court summarily

dismissed this claim® Petitioner's brief in support of his federal habeas corpus

% More specifically, Petitioner alleges that (1) a venire member identifigdasrilA.B.”
“failed to reveal during voir dire examination that his brother had a severe crackaddad
(2) another venire member identified only as “J.C.” “failed to reveal that he hi#dkdeas a
witness in more than one civil trial prior to being called for ggyice” (Doc. # 1, at p. 75).

1012 SCR (Revised) Tab 48, at pp. 99102. Petitioner cited to only state law authorities
in support of his analogous claim in his state habeas corpus proceeding.

101 The state trial court’'s Order issued September 25, ,28@tes that thedrial court
dismissed Petitioner’s claim identified in Petitiongate sestate habeas corpus petition as ctaim
“Il.B. through II.K.” because those claims were procedurally defaulted from review under Rule
32. 13 SCR (Revised) Tab Pg-at p. 45. Petitioner’s complaint about allegedly false testimony
by jury venire members was labeled claim “K” in pi® sestate habeas corpus petition. 12 SCR
(Revised) Tab 13\, at pp. 99102. The state trial court's Order issued October 25, 1999,
sunmarily dismissed several of Petitioner’s pro se claims without prejudies lmasinadequate
pleading and explained that Petitioner's assertions of jury misconduct failddge ahy newly
discovered evidence sufficient to satisfy Rule 32. 15 SCR Tab 35, at p. 13. Theexidemce
before this court establishing that Petitioner ever amendguidhgeRule 32 petition or otherwise
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petition repeats the same conclusory assertions about thenientified venire
members included in Petitionepso sestate habeas corpus petition and Petitioner’s
original federal habeas corpus petition (Doc. # 88, at pp-08)5°2
B. The Constitutional Standard

The only legal authorities presented by Petitioner in support of his analogous
claim for state habeas corpus relief were state court authorities interpreting state
law.19® Federal habeas corpus relief will not issue to correct errors of state
constitutional, statutory, or procedural law, unless a federal issue is also presented.
Estelle v. McGuire502 U.Sat 67-68; Lewis v. Jeffers497 U.S.at 780; Pulley v.
Harris, 465 U.Sat41.

The only federal authorities germane to Petitioner’s fifteenth claim cited in

Petitioner’s original petition or brief on the merits are the Sup@omet’s holdings

furnished the state habeas court with any specific facts or evidence ingliaay member of
Petitioner’s jury venire testified falsely during voir dire examination.

1020nly one member of the jury venire who reached the group and individual voir dire stage
had the initials “A.B.”,i.e., venire member 25. Two members of the jury venire had the initials
“J.C.7, i.e., venire members 84 and 88. Petitioner does not offer any information from which this
court can identify which of these two venire members Petitioner claims failetséchia or her
hand when the state trial judge asked the assembled jury venire membellswWirgauestion:
“Have any of you ever testified in a criminal trial or a civil trial or beftwe Grand Jury? Have
you ever testified as any kind of witness before a jury in a criminal ciVibiria the Grand Jury?”
4 SCR at p. RL02. In response to the trial judge’s questions about service as a trial witness or
Grand Jury witness, venire members 16, 129, 10, 55, 13, 58, 120, and 35 all indicated on the record
they had testified in various judicial proceedings. 4 SCR at d@22®04. None of thoseenire
members had the initial “J.C.”

10312 SCR (Revised) Tab 13-A. at pp. 99-02.
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in McDonough PoweEgquipment, Inc. v. Greenwopd64 U.S.548 (198), and
Williams v. Tayloy 529 U.S. 420 (2000).The holdings in both cases will be
examined in detail.

In McDonough the federal trial court asked potential jurors in a products
liability lawsuit whether any of them or their family had sustainedsawgre injury
in an accident that resulted in any disability or prolonged pain and suff&tiGme
venire member who eventually became a juror did not respond to this question,
which was addressed to the panel as a whole. After the trial concludec qung th
returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs, the defendant manufacturer filed a motion
for permission to approach members of the jury, alleging “upon information and
belief” that this juror's son may have been injured at one time, a fact whiahowvas
revealed during voir dire. After the District Court denied its initial motion, the
defendant manufacturer filed a second motion and attached an affidavit from the

father of the primary plaintiff who stated that, in the course of his dasiesNavy

4More specifically, the federal District Court asked the jury venire the follpguestion:

“Now, how many of you have yourself or any members of your immediate family

sustaned any severe injury, not necessarily as severe as Billy, but sustained any

injuries whether it was an accident at home, or on the farm or at work that resulted

in any disability or prolonged pain and suffering, that is you or any members of

your immediae family?”
McDonough 464 U.S. at 550.

The Supreme Court assumed the venire member in question had not considered his son’s
broken leg to have been sufficiently serious to require an affirmative answias tquestion.
McDonough 464 U.S. at 555.
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recruiter, he had reviewed the enlistment application of the juror'srgbthat the
applicant stated he had been injured in the explosion of a truck tire. The District
Court granted the motion for permission to approach the juror to inquire about the
injuries allegedly sustained by his son. The defendant moved for a new trial, citing,
among other reasons, the District Court’s initial denial of its motion to approach the
juror. The District Court denied the motion for new trial. On appeal, the Tenth
Circuit held the issue of the juror’s good faith was irrelevant and reveltsadered

a new trial. The Supreme Court noted that “jurors are not necessarily experts in
English usage” and held “[t]o invalidate the result of a thveek trial because of a
juror’'s mistaken though honest response to a question, is to insist on something
closer to perfection than our judicglstem can be expected to givéfcDonough

464 U.S. at 555. The Supreme Court concluded it was error for the Tenth Circuit to
reverse without first permitting an inquiry by the District Court into harmless err
and set forth the following standard fastaining a new trial premised upon a venire
member’s failure to reveal information: “We hold that to ob&imew trial in such

a situation, a party must first demonstrate that a juror failed to answer honestly a
material question on voir dire, atitenfurther show that a correct response would
have provided a valid basis for a challenge for causécDonough 464 U.S. at

556 (Emphasis added)
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In Williams v. Taylor a state prisoner convicted of capital murder and
sentenced to death challenged his conviction based, in part, on allegations of jury
bias and prosecutorial misconduct, arising from a venire member’s failure to respond
to questions asking whether the venire members were related to peoplélikely
called to testify at trial or had ever baepresented by any of the attorneys involved
in the case More specifically, the petitioner alleged, apcesented the federal
District Court withaffidavitsestablishing the venire member who eventually served
as the jury foreperson was thegpouse othe prosecution’s leadff withess and a

former client of one of thprosecutos.!® The Supreme Court held the petitioner

105The Supreme Court’s opinion describes the operative facts as follows:

Petitioner’s claims are based on two of the questions posed to jurors by the
trial judge atvoir dire. First, the judge asked prospective jurors, “Are any of you
related to the followig people who may be called as withesses? Then he read the
jurors a list of names, one of which was “Deputy Sheriff Claude Meinhard.”
Bonnie Stinnett, who would later become the jury foreperson, had divorced
Meinhard in 1979, after a year marriage wittiour children. Stinnett remained
silent, indicating the answer was “no.” Meinhard, as the officer who investigated
the crime scene and interrogated Cruse, would later become the prosecutien’s lead
off witness at trial.

After reading the names of theatteys involved in the case, including one
of the prosecutors, Robert Woodson, Jr., the judge asked, “Have you or any member
of your immediate family ever been represented by any of the aforementioned
attorneys?” Stinnett again said nothing despite the fact Woodson had represented
her during her divorce from Meinhard. App. 483, 485.

In an affidavit she provided in the federal habeas proceedings, Stinnett
claimed ‘[she] did not respond to the judge’s [first] question because [she] did not
consider [herse]frelated’ to Claude Meinhard in 1994 [abir dire] . . . . Once
our marriage ended in 1979, | was no longer related to hich,’at 627. As for
Woodson'’s earlier representation of her, Stinnett explained as follows:

“When Clawde and | divorced in 1979, the divorce was
uncontested and Mr. Woodson drew up the papers so that the
divorce could be completed. Since neither Claude nor | was
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had presented sufficient evidence to warrant an evidentiary hearing in the District
Court on the issues of whether the juror in goestvas biased and whether the
prosecution’s silence “so infected the trial as to deny due proc&ddliams v.
Taylor, 529 U.S. at 44%2. The Supreme Court emphasized the remedy for
allegations of juror partiality is a hearing in which the defendastle opportunity
to prove actual biasld., 529 U.S. at 444.
C. DeNovo Review

Unlike the party seeking a new trial MicDonoughand the federal habeas
petition inWilliams v. Tayloy Petitioner did not support his conclusory assertions
before thestate habeas court with any fagtecific allegationsaffidavits or other
evidenceshowing any of the members of his jury venire actually testified falsely
during individual voir dire examination Petitioner likewise fails to allege any
specific factdefore this court, much less furnish any affidavits based upon personal

knowledge or other evidence, showing any of the jury venire members whom he

contesting anything, | didn’t think Mr. Woodson ‘represented’ either

one of us.”1d., at 628.

Woodson provided an fidavit in which he admitted “[he] was aware that
Juror Bonnie Stinnett was the-axfe of then Deputy Sheriff Meinhard and [he]
was aware that they had been divorced for some tifde.at 629. Woodson stated,
however, “[t]o [his] mind, people who arelated only by marriage are no longer
‘related’ once marriage ends in divorcabiid. Woodson also ‘had no recollection
of having been involved as a private attorney in the divorce proceedings between
Claude Meinhard and Bonnie Stinnett.Id., at 629630. He explained that
“[w]hatever [his] involvement was in the 1979 divorce, by the time of trial in 1994
[he] had completely forgotten about itld., at 630.

Williams v. Tayloy529 U.S. at 440-41.
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alleges failed to accurately respond to the trial judge’s questions directed to the
assembled venire membexstually failed to raise their hand when asked pertinent
guestions.Instead, with regard to the first of these venire members, Petitioner points
to a series of questions the state trial court directed to the jury venire as a group and
alleges, without angxplanation, that venire member “A.B.” failed to disclose he
had a brother with erack addiction Petitioner offers no explanation for how he or
his federal habeas counsel acquired personal knowledge of ththdagenire
member A.B.’s brother was aidted to crack cocainas of the date of Petitioner’s
1995 capital murder trial. Nor does Petitioner or his federal habeas counsel allege
any specific facts showing either of thens baer possessed personal knowledge of
any facts showing either (1) veeaimember “A.B.” was personally aware at the time
of Petitioner’s 1995 trial that venire “A.B.” had a brother with a crack addiction, (2)
venire member “A.B.” understood the judge’s series of ambiguous questions during
group voir dire as asking whether hadha relative who had experienced a drug
problem, or (3) the factual or evidentiary basis for Petitioner’'s assertion that venire
member “A.B.” had a brother who was addicted to crack co@aih895

The partiesn McDonoughand Williams v. Tayloy who sought new trials
based upon allegatiotisatvenire members failed to respoindthfully to questions
during voir dire furnished the responsible reviewing courts with affidavits from the

venire members in questiorPetitioner did not present the stai@eas couraind
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does not present thesurt, with any affidavits from individuals possessing personal
knowledge of relevant facts showing that either (1) venire member “Addually

had a brother who was addicted to crack cocaine at the time of feti#id 995
capital murder trial o2) venire member “J.C.testified as a withess in multiple

civil trials prior to being called to serve on Petitioner’s jury. Moreover, Petitioner’s
conclusory assertions of concealed information by these poorly igentiénire
members fail to satisfy the standard set forttMictDonoughfor obtaining a new

trial, i.e., a showing not only that a juror failed to answer a material question on voir
dire but that a correct response would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for
cause.McDonough 464 U.S. at 556. Neither the fact that a venire member had a
relative with a crack addiction nor the fact that a venire member had previously
testified in multiple civil proceedings would, standing alone, have justifiedié val
challenge for cause.Because Petitioner has failed to furnish any-fpecific
allegations or any affidavits supporting his conclusory assertions of juror bias, he is
not entitled to an evidentiary hearing under the standard set fovthlliams v.

Taylor.106

106 Moreover, Petitioner's conclusory assertion thifahis trial counsel had known that
venire member “J.C.” had previously testified multiple times in judicial procgedPetitioner’'s
defense team would have questioned “J.C.” about same is not supported by this court’s
independent review of the record from the voir dire examination of Petitioner’s veamdbers.

As explained above in note 102)prg eight members of Petitioner’'s jury venire responded
affirmatively when asked by the trial judge whether they had ever testifeedidicial proceeding.

4 SCR at pp. R-102-04. Petitioner did not ask seven of those eight venire members amysquesti
about their prior service as witnesses in judicial proceedings. See 4 $PRRi128-36 (voir
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Petitioneralso complains that he was not able to intelligently exercise his
peremptory challenges because of the failure of the poorly identified venire members
to answer the questions at issue in the manner Petitioner now claims they should.
There is, however, no federal constitutional right to the exercise of peremptory
challenges.See Georgia v. McColluns05 U.S. 42, 57 (1992) (holding peremptory
challenges are not constitutionally protected rights but, rather, one means to achieve
a constititionally required impartial jury and a prohibition on the use of peremptory
challenges does not impair the constitutional guararitaa onpartial jury and fair
trial). Petitioner’s fifteenth claim does not warrant federal habeas corpus relief under

ade novostandard of review.

dire examination of venire member 10); 4 S CR at pp3&42(voir dire examination of venire
member B); 4 S CR at pp. R42-48(voir dire examination of venire member 16); 5 SCR at pp.
212-18(voir dire examination of venire member 35); 5 SCR at pp4R-49(voir dire examination

of venire membeb5); 5 SCR atp. R-249-55(voir dire examination of venire member 58); 6 SCR
at pp. R452-62 (voir dire examination of venire member 13). The trial court sustained the
prosecution’s challenge for cause to venire member 129. 6 SCR adpp82. The only venire
memkber whom Petitioner’s trial counsel did ask any questions regarding his or her price

a witness in a judicial proceeding was venire member $2@6 SCR at pp. RI35-36(voir dire
examination of venire memb@r20). Petitioner’s trial counsel escised a peremptory strike
against venire member 120. 6 SCR at pt6R. While Petitioner has alleged all manner of
complaints about the performance of his trial counsel in bottrbisestate habeas corpus petition
and his federal habeas corpus jpatit at no point has Petitioner complained about the failure of
his trial counsel to question any of the members of his jury venire about their servitieesses

in prior judicial proceedings. Nor does Petitioner claim that his trial cbsheeld hae exercised

a peremptory strike against any other members of the jury venire who haddgsgviously in

a judicial proceeding. Nor does Petitioner allege any specific facts shdwingyior service as a
witness in a judicial proceeding by veniremiger “J.C.” furnished a legitimate basis for a viable
challenge for cause.
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Xl. BRADY CLAIMS

A. The Claims

In his eleventh claim in his original petition, Petitioaeguegshe prosecution
failed to disclose to the defense in conformity with the requirements of the Supreme
Court’s holding inBrady v. Maryland (1) “the records of any conversations or
interviews that occurred between state witness Tony Bowen and either the police,
the prosecution or his probation officer after his initial statement given on July 14,
1994, (2) “any information regamdg Mr. Bowen’s probation status or prior
convictions,” and3) information showing that during his pastest interrogation,
Petitioner initially denied placing Mrs. Liveoak in the tryi}oc. # 1, at pp. 669;
Doc. # 88, at pp. 1926).

Petitioner presented the same basic complaints in his state habeas corpus
petition, i.e., his Rule 32 petitiod?” The state habeas trial court summarily

dismissed this claim, along with several others, as procedurally def&lted.

10712 SCR (Revised) Tab 13-A, at pp. 79-84.

10813 SCR (Revised), Tab 14-A, at p. 45. PetitionBradyclaim was labeled claim “D”
in his pro sestate habeas corpus petition. SR (Revised) Tab 1A, at pp. 7984. The state
trial court’s Order issued October 25, 1999 summarily dismissed several adrRestpro se
claims without prejudice based on inadequate pleading and explained thah&esiiradyclaim
had been rejected in part on direct appeal and the remainder of this claim “is sutchathiabdt
constitute ‘newly discovered evidence and, therefore, was barred from stases habew under
Rule 32.2(a)(5) of the Alabama Rules of Criminal Procedure. 15 SCR Tab 35, at p. 9.
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B. The Constitutional Standard

“[T]he suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused
upon request violates due process where the evidence is materraiceghit or to
punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecutanks v
Dretke 540 U.S. 668, 691 (2004) (quotiyady v. Maryland 373 U.S. 83, 87
(1963)). The Supreme Court has consistently held the prosecution’s duty to disclose
evidence material to either guilt or punishmeset, the rule announced Brady v.
Maryland, applies even when there has been no request by the adBas&d.v.
Dretke 540 U.S. at 69®trickler v. Greenegs27 U.S. 263, 280 (1999)nited States
v. Agurs427 U.S. 97,107 (1976).This duty also applies to impeachment evidence.
Strickler v.Greene 527 U.S. at 28Q)nited States v. Bagle®73 U.S. 667, 676 &
685, (1985).

The rule inBrady encompasses evidence known only to police investigators
and not personally known by the prosecut8trickler v. Greengs27 U.S. at 280
81; Kyles v. Whiey, 514 U.S. 419, 438 (1995) “[T]he individual prosecutor has
a duty to learn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on the
government’s behalf in this case, including the poli&ickler v. Greenes27 U.S.

at 281;Kyles v. Whitley514 U.S. at 437.

Under clearly established Supreme Court precetlesite are three elements

to aBradyclaim: (1) the evidence must be favorable to the accused, either decaus
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it is exculpatory or because it is impeaching; (2) the evidence must have been
suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and (3) the evidence must
be “material,”i.e., prejudice must have ensued from its 1distlosure.Banks v.
Dretke 540 U.S. at 691Strickler v. Greene527 U.S. at 2882. Evidence is
“materid” under Brady where there exists a “reasonable probability” that the
evidence been disclosdte result at trial would have been differédmith v. Cain

565 U.S. 73, 7%2012);Cone v. Bell556 U.S. 449, 4690 (2009)Banks v. Dretke

540 U.S. 869899. A reasonable probability does not mean that the defendant
would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence, only
that the likelihood of a different result is great enough to undermine confidence
the outcome of ttrial. Smith v. Cain565 U.S. at 75Kyles v. Whitley514 U.S. at

434.

The Supreme Court has emphasized four aspects @rtuy materiality
inquiry. First, a showing of materiality doe®t require demonstration by a
preponderance that discloswfehe suppressed evidence would have resulted in the
defendant’s acquittalSee United States v. Bagle473 U.S. at 682 (expressly
adopting the “prejudice” prong of th&trickland v. Washingtor466 U.S. 668
(1984), analysis of ineffective assistance claims as the appropriate standard for
determining “materiality” undeBrady). Second, the materiality standarchat a

sufficiency of the evidence tesKyles v. Whitley514 U.S. at 4385. Third, once
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materiality is established, harmless error analysis no applicationKyles v.
Whitley, 514 U.S. at 43836. Finally, materiality must be assessed collectively, not

item by item. Kyles v. Whitley514 U.S. at 43@7.

C. DeNovo Review

The burden to establish Brady violation lies with the defendant, not the
government.United States v. Stei846 F.3d 1134, 1145 (11th Cir. 201@nited
States v. Esquenazi52 F.3d 912, 933 (11t@ir.), cert. denied 135 S. Ct. 293
(2014). “A prosecutor has no duty to undertake a fishing expedition in other
jurisdictions in an effort to find potentially impeaching evidence every time a
criminal defendant makesBradyrequest for information regarding a government
witness.” United States v. Naranj@34 F.3d 1198, 1212 (11th Cir. 2011).

1. Petitioner’s Oral, Unrecorded, Po5trest Statements to Police

Insofar as Petitioner complains that the prosecution failed to disclose
information to the defense team which Petitioner himself disclosed to police during
his postarrest interrogationi.g., the fact Petitioner initially asserted that he had
nothing to do with Mrs. Liveoak’s murder befdne ultimately cave his detailed
videotaped confession to placing her in the trunk of her vehicle and then abandoning

her vehiclein the K-Mart parking lot with her still locked in the trunk on a July
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afternoon), his claim borders on sophistfy/A criminal defendant who deliberately
conceals from his own defense counsel informatiempreviouslydisclosed to law
enforcement officerduring a posarrest interrogationannotlatercomplain that the
prosecution failed to disclose the same information to defense cqumseant to

the prosecution’sbligations undeBrady. See Wright v. S8g Fla. Dept. of Corr,

761 F.3d 1256, 1278 (11th Cir. 2014) (holding a defendant cannot meet the second
prong ofthe Bradyanalysisj.e.,the suppression requirement, when prior to trial he
had within his knowledge the information by which he could have ascertained the
allegedBrady material),cert. denied 135 S. Ct. 2380 (2015)yaharaj v. Sey for

the Dept. of Cor;.432 F.3d 1292, 1315 & n.4 (11th Cir. 2005) (holding the same),
cert. denied sub nom. Maharaj v. McDonou@49 U.S. 819 (2006). By definition,
facud informationthatis personfly known to the defendant cannot‘tseippressed

or “withheld’ by the prosecution from the defensgee Wright v. S8c Fla. Dept.

of Corr,, 761 F.3d at 1280 (holding defendant cannot prevail orBsady claim
when he had “equal access” to the information forming the basis of the clkm).

defendant is as much a part of the defense team afiotriBrady purposesaslaw

109 At the guiltinnocence phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial, a Montgomery Police
detective testified that, during Petitioner’s interview, Petitioner (1) initially cldithat he found
a red car in a parking lot in Prattville with tkeys and food inside and that he drove it to the K
Mart in Montgomery before he opened the trunk and discovered Mrs. Liveoak’s body biei(2) |
told a very different story, admitting he grabbed an old woman in a parking lot as gkee &ete
car and dree her to Greenville as she kicked and hollered at him. 7 SCR at pp. R-641, R-645-47
(testimony of Steve Saint).
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enforcement officers are part of the prosecution efférlere is no allegation that
Pditioner was mentally incompetent at the time of trial or at any point prior thereto
or that Petitioner was unable to communicate to his defense team the same
information he communicated to law enforcement officers during hisgpaestt
interrogation.

2. Bowen’s Postluly 14, 1994 Communicationgth Police and Others

Despite the passage of more than two decades since his conviction,
Petitioner has never presented any cewtiate or federal with evidence showing
that any transcript, recording, notes, or other document existed at the time of his
1995 capital murder trial memorializing appstJuly 14, 1994communication
between prosecution witness Dennis Anthony Bowen and any law enforcement
officer or prosecutothat was not made available for inspection by Petitioner’s

defense tearh® Petitioner’s rank speculation that such documentation may have

1ot is undisputed that Bowen’s formal statement to police regarding Petitionert&emu
of Mrs. Liveoak was made available to Petitionerial ttounsel. Petitioner’s trial counsel cross
examined Bowen specifically on several discrepancies between Bowen’s bradstatement to
police and Bowen’s testimony on direct examination, including the fact thatrBos@atement
did not include a recitation of Petitioner’s statement that he wished or hoped “theyolblad
die.” See7 SCR at pp. 7598 (crossexamination of Dennis Anthony Bowen). A copy of
Bowen’s unsigned statement to police appears at Doc.-#,1&8pp. 3247. Bowen’s “steement”
is actually a verbatim transcription of the questions by Detectives&ariBaldwin and Bowen’s
answers during his interview on July 14, 1994,

The practical problem with Petitioner’s trial counsel’s efforts to employ thisnstateto
impeach Bown’s testimony on direct examination is that neither detective ever directly aske
Bowen any question that would rationally have elicited a response from Boweringpea
Petitioner’s alleged statement that he hoped or wished “the old lady died.” SimpBopten
was not asked anything during his July 14, 1994 interview which, in hindsight, might regsonabl
have compelled Bowen to restate Petitioner’s alleged comment about hopirshiolg “the old
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existed is unsubstantiated by any fgpécific allegations, much less an affidavit
based upon personal knowledgePetitioner's naked conjecture that some
documentation existed at the time of his 1995 capital murder trial describing
communications between Bowen and prosecutors or law enforcement officials is
unsupported in the federal habeas recordihe prosecution could hchave
suppressed documeritsat did not exist at the time of Petitioner’s capital murder
trial. Petitioner’'s conjecturéhat records or other documentation of Bowgrog-

July 14, 1994o0mmunications with law enforcement personnel existed at the time
of Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trial is not a substitute for evideBe® Zen
Magnets, LLC, v. Consumer Product Safety Com®4i F.3d 1141, 1152 (10th
Cir. 2016) (“Conjecture is not a substitute for substantial evidengpectiog Vera
Villegas v. IN.S, 330 F.3d 1222, 1231 (9th Cir. 2003)¢f. Melton v. Abstqr841

F.3d 1207, 129 (11th Cir. 2016)(“Inferences based on speculation and a ‘mere
scintilla of evidence in support of the nomoving party will not suffice to overcome
a motion for summarjpdgment.™); United States v. Sanfoi8rown, Ltd, 840 F.3d

445, 447(7th Cir. 2016) (“Speculation is no substitute for evidence at the summary
judgment stage.”"quotingBass v. Joliet Pub. Sch. Dist. No., §@6 F.3d 835, 841

(7th Cir. 2014); Aerotednt’l, Inc. v. Honeywell Inik, Inc., 836 F.3d 1171, 1175 (9th

lady died.” In fact, Bowen'’s statement to police suggests that moss @bhversation on the
evening in question about the woman who had been locked in her trunk were with Chester Foley
and Carolyn Yaw, as opposed to Petitioner.
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Cir. 2016) (“anecdotal speculation and supposition are not a substdut
evidence”); Tyson v. Sterling Rental, Inc836 F.3d 571, 583 (6th Cir. 2016)
(“Conclusory allegations, speculatiomnd unsubstantiated assertions are not
evidence. . . 7); Graces v. U.S. Atty. Ger611 F.3d 1337, 1348 n.10 (11th Cir.
2010) (speculation about why a defendant entered into a plea agreement is not
reasonable, substantial, and probative evideriRedtriguez v. Farrell 280 F.3d

1341, 1352 n.20 (11th Cir. 2002) (“An inference is not reasonfliilés ‘only a

guess or a possibility,” for such an inference is not based on the evidence but is pure
conjecture and speculation.§ert. denied 538 U.S. 9062003). Petitioner has
presented this court with no fagpecific allegations, much less any evidence,
showing any undisclosed documentation of Bowen’'s peduly 14, 1994
communications with poliggrosecutorsor other law enforcement officers existed

as of Petitioner’s 1995 capital murder tridlhus, thisconclusory complaint fails to
satisfy the materiality prong &@radyanalysis.

3. Bowen'’s Probation and Conviction Records

Petitioner and his trial counsel were well aware at the time of Petisoner’
capital murder trial that Bowen had been arrested along with Petitioner and Yaw in

connection with an attempted robbery at the-Watlt in Prattville which took place
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a day or tw after Mrs. Liveoak’s abductiofi! Petitioner’s trial counsel cross
examined Bowen on this very point, as well as the rest of Bowen'’s criminatli recor
and the fact Bowen had not disclosed Petitioner’s statement that he hoped or wished
“the old lady died” & anyone prior to Petitioner’s triél> Even a cursory review of

the record from Bowen’s crogxamination at Petitioner’'s capital murder trial
refutes Petitioner's assertion in his federal habeas corpus petition that the
prosecution withheld from the defense information regarding Bowen'’s probation
status and prior convictiort$® Petitioner’s trial counsel obtained admissions on

crossexamination that Bowen (1) had been convicted of theft in October, 1994

111 Petitioner was physically present at thet®Rie Wal-Mart at the time of the incident
which later gave rise to Bowen'’s arrest and conviction for theft. In fact postarrest statement
to police, Petitioner discussed the incident in which he attempted to steal adeléam the
Wal-Mart and placed the stolen television in the back of a pickup truck driven by Bowen. 3 SCR
at pp. 46768. Insofar as Petitioner claims his defense team was not furnished with tlealetai
that incident, hisBrady claim fails for the same reason his compabout the alleged nen
disclosure of his own, unrecorded, pastest assertions of innocence to police fail to satisfy the
suppression prong @rady analysis. The prosecution cannot suppress or withhold information
already in the personal knowledgetloé defendant himself which the defendant communicated to
law enforcement officials.

127 SCR at pp. B9398. More specifically, Bowen admitted on cr@ssamination that
(1) he pleaded guilty on October 25, 1994, to a charge of theft in the second degree in Autauga
County, (2) he had initially been charged with the higher offense of robbery in the secae] degr
(3) he had engaged in other criminal activity prior to that offense, (4) he weailtitoNovember,
1994 because he wanted to get off drugs and to get into a drug program, (5) he then had a pending
charge against him for violating his probation, (6) a warrant for his arrest based siposbiaition
violation had been issued in September of 1995, and (7) Petitioner’s trial was ttiaérsé had
ever told anyone in Montgomery about Petitioner saying that he hoped or wished tdg diddia
Id.

113|d_
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arising from an incident at the Prattville \AMhrt, (2) had gone to jail in November,
1994, (3) had engaged in other criminal activity prior to his theft conviction, and (4)
was then facing the possibly imminent revocation of his probated seAténce.
Petitioner does not explain how any additional documentationabaitable
concerning Bowen'’s probation status or prior criminal record could have been used
to impeach Bowen further when he testified at Petitioner’s capital murdentaal
manner reasa@bly likely to have resulted in a different outcome for either phase of
Petitioner’s capital murder trial. Petitioner admitted during his trial testimony he (1)
locked Mrs. Liveoak an elderly women with a known heart conditian the trunk
of her caron a July afternoon in Alabama, (2) drove her vehicle back to south
Montgomery, (3) abandoned her vehicle with her still locked in the trunk on a
parking lot in a locatiorthatthe undisputed evidence showed was bereft of shade
and at least fifty yards from any other structure, (4) repeatedly informed Mrs.
Liveoak he would contact someone to come and rescue her, but (5) made no effort
to call anyone to rescue her. When asked by his own trial counsel why he failed to
notify someoneof Mrs. Liveoak’s locatia, Petitioner gave a rambling, largely
unresponsive answexhich included no rational explanation for his failure to send

help to Mrs. Liveoak!® When asked repeatedly by the prosecutor on <€ross

114|d_

1158 SCR at pp. RB01-03 (testimony of Donald Dallas). In another rambling answer to
one of his trial counsel’s questions, Petitioner stated that he made an unsucttesgbtita return
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examination why he failed to send help to Mrs. Liveoak tiBa@ragainfurnished

no rational explanatioft® Under such circumstances, there is no reasonable
probability that, but for the provision of additional documents to defense counsel
regarding prosecution witness Bowen’s probation status or criminal reberd,
outcome of either phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial would have been any
different. Thus, this complaint fails to satisfy the materiality prond@@dy
analysis. Petitioner’'s multifaceted eleventh claim does not warrant federal habeas
corpus relief under de novcstandard of review.

Xll. CONCLUSORY CLAIMS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

A. The Claims

In his ninth claim in his original petition, Petitioner argues in cryptic fashion
thatthe prosecution engaged in the following acts of misconduct during trial: “using
extraneous information about a juror as a basis for selection of that juror, presenting
prejudicial evidence lacking in probative value, improperly commenting on
irrelevant evidence, eliciting inadmissible hearsay from witnesses, and improperly

commenting on the credibility of witnesses and on the defendant’s failure to present

to the KMart parking lot where he abandoned Mrs. Liveoak and her ledigecause he wanted to
make sure she was gone., at p. R801. Just moments before he made that statement, Petitioner
testified he just assumed Mrs. Liveoak had somehow gotten out of her vehicle without his
assistanceld.

1168 SCR at pp. R-818-26edtimony of Donald Dallas). Petitioner did admit that he cut
his hair after he learned of Mrs. Liveoak’s dedith, at p. R-825.
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certain witnesses.” (Doc. # 1, at p. 65; Doc. # 88, at pp. 18000 point in either
his originalpetition or brief on the merits, however, does Petitioner identtfyany
reasonable degree of specificeyther (1) the “prejudicial evidence lacking in
probative valuethathe claims the prosecution improperly presented at trialh€2)
“irrelevant evidence”on which he claims the prosecution improperly commented,
(3) the “inadmissible hearsay” which he claims the prosecution elicited from
unidentified witnesses, (4) the withesses upon whose credibility he claims the
prosecution improperly commenteat, (5) the potential withesses whom he claims
the prosecution improperly pointed out the defense had failed to prédeniise,
at no point in the portion of his original petition or brief on therita discussing
alleged prosecutorial misconduct does Petitioner clearly and unambiguously
incorporate by reference any other portion of his rambling pleadings in this case.

In hispro sestate habeas petitioire., his Rule 32 petition, Petitioner included
an even more cryptic version of the same set wipdaints!!’ The state habeas trial
court summarily dismissed those complaints along with several others, for failure to

comply with state procedural rulé&$,

11713 SCR (Revised) Tab 13-A, at pp. 78-79

18 A copy of the state trial court’'s Order October 25, 1999, dismissing pocedurally
defaulted Petitioner’s cryptic complaints of prosecutorial misconduct, apgeEssSSCR Tab 35,
at pp. 89. The state habeas trial court reaffirmed its summary dismissal of these ctsnplam
Order issued September 25, 2001, a copy of which appears at 13 SCR (revisedATab 1.3
45.
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Petitioner’s first complaint in this group may be a cryptic reference to an
exchange which occurred during jury selection. After the prosecutor proffered to
the state trial court the prosecution’s reasons for each of its peremptory ‘$trikes,
the defense argued the prosecution had attempted to justify its strike of venire
member 29 by stating that black venire member had a relative with a criminal
conviction but the prosecution had mised a peremptory strike agaiagher venire
members 108 or 84, who were white and also had relatives with a criminal
conviction!?? The prosecution responded that (1) the defense struck venire member
108 withaperemptory strikg(2) venire member 8dad a wife with a conviction for
an unspecified offense when she was “on diet pills” and he believed there was a “big
difference” between that situation and the venire members who had family members
with murder convictions, (3) venire member 84 worked at the Department of
Revenue where the prosecutor’s wife also worked, and (4) he personally checked on
the background of venire member 84 and, based upon the information he received,

concluded venire member 84 would be a good jtffor.

1196 SCR at pp. R-479-89.
1206 SCR at p. R-490.

1216 SCR at pp. R-497-98.
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B. De Novo Review

Conclusory assertions such as those made by Petitioner against his
prosecutors his ninth claindo not furnish a basis for an evidentiary hearing, much
lessfederal habeas corpus reliesee Jones v. SgcFla. Dept. of Corr,. 834 F.3d
1299, 1319 (11tiCir. 2016) (holding conclusory allegations are not enough to
warrantan evidentiary hearing in a federal habeas corpus procee@hgyez v.
Sedy, Fla, Dept. of Corr. 647 F.3d 1057, 1061 (11th Cir. 2011) (holding the same),
cert. denied 565 U.S. 1120(2012). Petitionets conclusory assertions of
prosecutorial misconduct do not warrant federal habeas relief.

Insofar as Petitioner argues his prosecutors engaged in attaingolated
state procedural or substantive law (such as Petitioner's comphanhstate
prosecutors improperly relied upon extraneous evidence in making decisions on
exercising the prosecution’s peremptory challengeshich Petitioner argues
violatedthe Alabama Cart of Criminal Appeals’ holding irKynard v. State631
S0.2d257 (Ala. Crim. App. 1993)those assertiom® not furnish a basis for federal

habeas corpus reliéf? Federal habeas corpus relief lies only for violations of

122 Kynard addressed #8atsonchallenge to a capital murder conviction in which the
prosecution used eleven of its thirteen peremptory challenges to strike blablera@ithe jury
venire. The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals carefully reviewed alhefprosecution’s
proffered reasons for striking various black venire members and concluded they stfikine
black venire membeawras “improper” and three other prosecution strikes were “highly suspect.”
Kynard v. State631 So. 2d at 270. In reaching its conclusion, the Alabama Court of Criminal
Appeals pointed to (1) several instances in which the prosecution failed to stitkevesire
members who expressed the same views as, or shared characteristics with, [ackamabers
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federal constitutional rights, not for violations of state procedwials unless a
federalissue is also presente&eeEstelle v. McGuire502 U.Sat67-68 (holding
complaints regarding the admission of evidence under California law did not present
grounds for federal habeas relief absent a showing that admission of the evidence in
guestionviolated due processlhewis v. Jeffers497 U.S.at 780 (recognizing that
federal habeas relief will not issue for errors of state |IBwlley v. Harris 465 U.S.

at41 (holding a federal court may not issue the writ on the basis of a perceived error

of state law). Petitioner's complaint about the prosecution’s reliance upon

whom the prosecution did strike, (2) the prosecution struck black venire members fromaacross
wide variety of age groups, occupations, and positinnsociety, (3) there were many factual
errors in the prosecution’s proffered reasons for striking black venire membelsding
numerous references to a “Mr. Howard” whom the state appellate court concludechi@yppate

not exist and the prosecution’s misidentification of one black venire member's gend¢4) the
prosecution’s failure to engage in direct questioning of many black venire membersvenythe
issue the prosecution cited for striking that venire memlaker631 So. 2d at 269-70.

While the prosecution did explain its use of a peremptory strike against one venirermembe
was based, in part, upon an NCIC report that was not made available to the defense amd the sta
appellate court concluded the person named in the report was likellgeneénire member in
guestion, the state appellate court did not conclude this particular venire member had bee
improperly stricken.Id., 631 So. 2d at 266. The prosecution also offered as reasons for striking
two other venire members information the prosecution had obtained from local law emforcem
authorities.ld., 631 So. 2d at 261. The state appellate court did not conclude the prosecution had
improperly stricken either of these two venire membeds, 631 So. 2d at 270. Thusynard
does not stand for the proposition Petitioner urges, Kynard does not erect a blanket state
procedural rule barring prosecutors from considering extraneous information about venire
members when exercising peremptory strikes during jury selectiba.state habeas trial court
reached the same conclusion in its Order issued September 25, 2001: “This Cowti® wia
any rule that forbids either party in a criminal prosecution from asking fang@tpbers or friends
about prospective jurors they midtmtow and giving a recommendation.” 13 SCR (Revised), Tab
14-A, at p. 28.
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extraneous information during jury selection does not furnish a basis for habeas
corpus relief. Petitioner’s ninth claim does not warrant federal habeas corpus relief.

XII. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BY TRIAL COUNSEL

A. The Claims

In his third and seventh claims in his original petition, petitioner argues that
his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance through a plethora ofndcts a
omissiongDoc. # 1, at pp8-10 & 17-63; Doc. # 88, at pfh9-128 & 15484).

As explained in Section I.F. above, Petitioner presented a rambling series of
complaints about the performance of his state trial counsel in his state habeas corpus
petition, i.e., his Rule 32 petition, consisgnof a cornucopia of conclusory
complaints about alleged acts and omissafiss trial counset?® After conducting
an evidentiary hearing, the state habeas trial court rejected &ktdfoner’s
complaints about the performance of Petitioner’s trial counsel in its Order issued
September 25, 2004
B. The Constitutional Standard

The Sixth Amendment entitles criminal defendants to “the effective assistance
of counsel,”i.e., legal representation that does not (1) fall below an objective

standard of reasmableness in light of prevailing professional norms and the

12312 SCR (Revised) Tab 13-A, at pp. 2-77.

12413 SCR (Revised) Tab 14-
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circumstances of the defendant’'s ca¥éoiig v. Belmonte$58 U.S. 15, 147
(2009);Bobby v. Van Hoqls58 U.S. 4, 7 (2009)); and (2) give rise to a reasonable
probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding
would have been differenP¢rter v. McCollum558 U.S. 30, 380 (2009);Wong

v. Belmontes558 U.S. at 120).

The constitutional standard for determining whether a criminal defendant has
been denied the effective assistancdrial counsel, as guaranteed by the Sixth
Amendment, was announced by the Supreme CoS8ttickland v. Washingtod66
U.S. 668, 687 (198:

A convicted defendant’'s claim that counsel’'s assistance was so

defective as to require reversal of a conviction or death sentence has

two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's
performance was deficient. This requires showing ¢bahsel made

errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the “counsel”

guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the

defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the

defense. This requires showing that counsel’s errors were so serious as
to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.

To satisfy the first prong oStrickland i.e., establish that his counsel’'s
performance was constitutionally deficient, a convicted defendant musttshbow
counsel’'s representation “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.”
Wiggins v. Smith639 U.S. 510, 521 (2003)illiams v. Tayloy 529 U.S. 362, 390
91 (2000). In so doing, a convicted defendant must carry the burden of proof and
overcone a strong presumption that the conduct of his trial counsel falls within a
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wide range of reasonable professional assista&tackland v. Washingtom66

U.S. at 681. Courts are extremely deferential in scrutinizing the performance of
counsel and make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsigiat.
Wiggins v. Smithb39 U.S. at 523 (holding the proper analysis under the first prong
of Stricklandis an objective review of the reasonableness of counsel’s performance
under prevailing professional norms which includes a comnéependent
consideration of the challenged conduct as seen from the perspective of saitl counse
at the time). “No particular set of detailed rules for counsel’'s conductt ca
satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel
or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal
defendant.”Bobby v. Van Hoqlb58 U.S. at 7Strickland v. Washingtosl66 U.S.

at 68889. It is strongly presumed counsel rendered adequate assistance and made
all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.

Strickland v. Washingtod66 U.S. at 690.

To satisfy the “prejudice” prong, a convicted defendant must establish a
reasonable probabilityhat, but for the objectively unreasonable misconduct of his
counsel, the result of the proceeding would have been diffeveiglgins v. Smith
539 U.S. at 5345trickland v. Washingtod66 U.S. at 694. A reasonable probability
Is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the proceeding.

Strickland v. Washingtod66 U.S. at 694.
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In those instances in which the state courts failed to adjudicate either prong of
the Stricklandtest (such as those complaints the state courts sulypmiamissed
under the Texas wrdibuse statute or which petitioner failed to fairly present to the
state courts), this Court’s review of the-aijudicated prong ide novo See Porter
v. McCollum 558 U.S. at 39 (holdinge novoreview of the allegedlyleficient
performance of petitioner’s trial counsel was necessary because the state courts had
failed to address this prong $fricklandanalysis)Rompilla v. Beard545 U.S374,
390 (2005) (holdingde novoreview of the prejudice prong &tricklandrequired
where the state courts rested their rejection of an ineffective assistance claim on the
deficient performance prong and never addressed the issue of prejddgmns v.
Smith 539 U.S. at 534 (holding the same).

A habeas petitioner has the burden to prove both prongs 8tribkland
ineffective assistance standard by a preponderance of the evid®ace.v. Hall
592 F.3d 1144, 1163 (11th Cirgert. denied 562 U.S. 1082 (2010Mills v.
Singletary 63 F.3d999, 1020 (11th Cir. 1995ert. denied517U.S.1214 (1996)
Wiley v. Wainwright709 F.2d 1412, 1413 (11th Cir. 1983%ee also Chandler v.
United States218 F.3d 1305, 1314 n.15 (11th Cir.0Q) (“Petitioner continually
bears the burden of persuasion on the constitutional issue of competence and further
(adding the prejudice element) on the issue of ineffective assistance of ¢gunsel

cert. denied531 U.S. 1204 (2001)Under the welsettledStricklandstandard, the
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Supreme Court recognizes a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate
assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable
professional judgment.Bell v. Cone 535 U.S. 685, 698 (2002%trickland v.
Washington466 U.S. at 690.

C. De Novo Review

1. The Absence of “Prejudice” at Either Phase of Petitioner’s Trial

The Supreme Court andleventh Circuit hee both recognized it is
unnecessary to address the performance prorfgtradklandif a federal habeas
petitioner has failed to make an adequate showing of preju@eeStrickland v.
Washington 466 U.S. at 697 [T]here is no reason for a court deciding an
ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same orderrotoeve
address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient
showing on one.”)Borden v. Allen646 F.3d 785, 818 (11th Cir. 2011)W]e may
decline to reach the performance prong of the ineffective assistance tesintedn
thatthe prejudice prong cannot be satisfiedc8rt. denied132 S. Ct. 1910 (2012).

After a detailed examination of the record from Petitioner’s trial, the evidence
presented to the state habeas court during Petitioner’s Rule 32 proceeding, and all of
the new affidavits and other evidence presented by Petitioner during this federal
habeas corpus proceeding, the court finds there is no reasonable probability that, but

for any of the acts or omissions of Petitioner’s trial counsel identifideetiyioner
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In his rambling federal habeas corpus pleaslizngd briefs, the outcome of either
phase of Petitioner’s 1995 capital murder trial would have been any different.

a. No Prejudice at Gudtnnocence Phase

The evidence supporting the jury’s finding éfetitioner's guilt was
overwhelming Petitioner has presented this court with no new or additional
exculpatory evidenceof any substance. The jury had before it Petitioner’s
videotapéd statement to police in which he candidly admittest(1) helocked Mrs.
Liveoak inside the trunk of her car on a July afternanddrove her vehicle back
to Montgomery(2) he abandoned her vehicle with Mrs. Liveoak still inside in an
isolated location of a #Mart parking lot, and3) despite his repeated assertions to
Mrs. Liveoak that he would contact police to let them know where shéhefsled

to contact thenmor alert anyone else to Mrs. Liveoak’s perilous predicantént

1253 SCR 45769. There was also no evidengeesented at trial suggesting Petitioner gave
Mrs. Liveoakfood or water before or after he locked her in the trunk of her vefocléhat
Petitioner even briefly raised the lid or released her from her steel cofibire bee abandoned her
vehicle) Likewise, the uncontradicted trial testimony of Detective Bnastablished Mrs.
Liveoak’s vehicle was discovered in an isolated location on thaK parking lot parked more
than fifty yards (166 feet) from East South Boulevard, more than sixty yards (2pgdeethe
AmSouth Bank, and more than one hundred fifteen yards (350 feet) frorAMiagtistore. 6 SCR
585-86 (testimony of S.Z. Smith). Even a cursory examination of the photographs admitted into
evidence at Petitioner’s trial established the location where Mrs. Liigeogikicle was discovered
was berefof shade. 2 SCR 389-400; 3 SCR 401-04.

Petitioner also complains about his trial counsel’s failure to locate and call Towrminy E
Pilgrim to testify at the time of Petitioner’s 1995 capital murder trial. Petitioner hastad an
affidavit dated Octole27, 2008 from Mr. Pilgrim in which he recounts that (1) he is a relative of
Chester Foley, (2 day or two before July 14, 1994fter the elderly woman was kidnapped and
left in her trunk,” Petitioner and Carolyn “Polly” Yaw asked him for a ride ¢oGbliseum Motel,

(3) before he took them to the motel, they asked him to drive them to-Martkon South
Boulevard but did not tell him why they wanted to go there, (4) he drove them part way there but
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During his testimony at the guilhinocence phase of trial, Petitioner repeated those
same admissits, as well as his assertion that he did not interkal Mrs. Liveoak.
Thus, there was no material faat issuewith regard to ay of the elements of
Petitioner’s capital offense except the issue of whether Petitioner intentionally
murdered Mrs. Liveak.

The problems with Petitionerselfservingassertios that he did not intend
to kill his victim include (1) Petitioner admitted on cressamination he failed to
leave the key to her vehicle inside the car when he left thdéaK parking lot
(despiteclaiming in his videotaped statement that he had don&S@) Petitioner
admitted he knew Mrs. Liveoak had a heart conditfdig3) Petitionerestifiedon
direct that he made an attempt to return to thda¢t parking lot to"make suré

Mrs. Liveoak “was gonel?® (4) he testified he was well aware that he was likely

his car overheated and he turned around and went back, dropping Petitioner and Yaw off at the
Coliseum Motel, (5) at that time he did not know about Mrs. Liveoak’s kidnaping or the
involvement of his passengers in her abduction, and (6) he did not provide information at the time
of Petitioner’s trial becae no one contacted him or asked him about it (Doc. #.187pp. 11

12). At no point in his 2008 affidavit does Mr. Pilgrim state that he was availatastify at the

time of Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trial or that he would have done so if requested or
subpoenaed. Furthermore, at best, Mr. Pilgrim’s testimony would have corrobor#iedd?s

account of their aborted effort to return to the K-Mary parking lot to, in Petitfowerds “make

sure she was gone.” Mr. Pilgrim’s testimony,uasg it coincided with his 2008 affidavit, would

have done nothing to counter the prosecution’s contention that Petitioner passed up innumerable
opportunities to contact police or notify anyone else of Mrs. Liveoak’s perilaaioit.

1268 SCR 820 (cross-examination of Donald Dallas).
1278 SCR 815-16 (cross-examination of Donald Dallas).

128*This is when Chester first came back with the drugs, because at the tiamteldvwo
make sure she was gone.” 8 SCR 801 (testimony of Donald Dallas). The juineevés infer
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then being pursued by police in connection with both his abduction and yaifber
Mrs. Liveoak as well as his prior abduction and robbery of Mr. Portwi3d(¢g) he
admitted he wanted to avoid being captuf€@) when asked on direexamination
why he failed to call the police oform anyone elsaboutMrs. Liveoak’s situation,
Petitioner offered no rational explanation for his failure to db’sand (7) Rtitioner
admitted on crosexamination he had a plethora of opportunities to telephone
authorities to notify them of Mrs. Liveoak’s situation but failed to dé*%o0.

In addition, Mr. Portwood testified he informed Petitioner only days before
Petitioner’s abduction of Mrs. Liveoak that he (Mr. Portwood) would likely

“smother to deathif placed inside his vehicletrunk 133

rationally from this testimony (contrary to Petitioner’'s assertion that henassirs. Liveoak
“was okay,”ld.) that Petitioner’'s rambling neresponse to his trial counsel’s question about why
Petitioner did not “make the phone call’ revealed Petitioner wanted to make cersainiwtoak
was dead.

129 ¥l had assumed she had gotten out and | was wanted by now for kidnapping and
robbery.” 8 SCR 801 (testimony of Donald Dallas). Petitioner also admitted oregasation
that he was worrgabout getting caught. 8 SCR 825 (cross-examination of Donald Dallas).

Bo“But | didn’t want to call a cab, because | didn’t want to get caught, becaasetddk
a cab away from there. | knew if | called the Yellow Cab Company or any cab cprigrihey
would be looking out for me.” 8 SCR 8@P- (testimony of Donald Dallas).

1318 SCR 801-03 (testimony of Donald Dallas).
1328 SCR 816-26 (cross-examination of Donald Dallas).

1337 SCR 708 (testimony of Wesley Orville Portwood).
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Finally, Dennis Bowen testified that when he confronted Petitioner and
Carolyn Yaw about Chester’s Foley’s assertion that Petitione¥ anchadrobbed
andlocked an old woman in the trunk of her car, Petitioner sarcastically responded
that he hoped or wished the old lady would'dfePetitioner argues his trial counsel
should have obtained additional documentation relating to Bowen’atpyolstatus
from Autauga County and further cressamined Bowen about the possibility
Bowen received some benefit in exchange for his testimony against Petitioner
Petitioner has presented this court with no additional documenéstadiable at the
time of Petitioner’s capital murddrial thatwould have furnished any additional
bases for impeaching Bowét?. As explained above, Petitioner’s trial counsel
elicited a great deal ahpeachmeninformation from Bowen on crossxamination,
includingadmissions byBowenthat he(1) had been convicted of thefR) was then
on probation, an{B) wasthe subject o&n activearrestwarrantrelating tohisfailure

to comply with the conditions of his probatibfi. Furthermore, despite the passage

1347 SCR 671-73 (testimony of Dennis Anthony Bowen).

135 Petitioner presented a 2016 report from Autauga County which describes Bigvesn
having (1) been charged with robbery, (2) been convicted pursuant to a guilty Nieeember,
1994 of theft, (3) servka 24month term of probation, and (4) been the subject of a probation
arrest warrant issued September 5, 1995 (Doc. #1139 pp. 7680). The same report states,
however, the warrant for Bowen’s arrest was recalled October 19, I@9bhe reason this report
fails to satisfy the prejudice prong Stricklandis thatBowen candidly admitted to all of the
foregoing facts during his crogxamination at Petitioner’s capital murder trial. Thus, the report
furnishes nadditionalbases for impeaching Bowen.

1367 SCR 67508 (crossexamination of Dennis Anthony Bowen). Petitioner’s trial counsel
also elicited testimony from Bowen on crassamination establishing that (1) he had abused crack
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of more han two decades since Petitioner’s capital murder trial, Petitioner has failed
to present this court with an affidavit from any person possessing personal
knowledge establishing that Bowen received anything from anyone in exchange for
his testimony at Pdioner’s trial’*’ In fact, Petitionerfails to allege any specific
facts suggesting the existence ofgaid pro quofor Bowen’'s testimony at
Petitioner’s trial.

Petitioner also complaine conclusory fashiothat his trial counsel failed to
Investigate he “actual cause” of Mrs. Liveoak’s death and failed to present expert
medical testimony or other evidence establislieigerthat (1) Mrs. Liveoak would
have died of a heart attack even if Petitioner had not placad tres trunk of her
car, (2) the case of her death was anything other than homicide, (3) the exact time
of Mrs. Liveoak’s deathyr (4) Mrs. Liveoak was alive at the time law enforcement

officials discovered her vehicle on the evening of July 13, 18%d diedthereafter

cocaine, (2) he failed to tell police during his July, 1994ty that Petitioner made a statement
about wishing or hoping the old lady would die, (3) he was high on crack at the timénfedcla
to have heard Petitioner make that statement, and (4) Petitioner’s trial wastthienérhe had
ever told anyone in Magomery about Petitioner’s alleged statemédat.

137 Petitioner has not furnished any affidavits from Bowowen'’s trial judge, Bowen’s
prosecutor, or the criminal defense attorney who represented Bowen in conmdthidhe
Autauga County robbery/theft charge suggesting anyone in that jurisdictiondoBengen
anything in exchange for his testimony against Petitioner. Nor has Petititamified any
Montgomery County official whom Petitioner alleges made any promise to ifdhwen’s trial
testimony against Petitioner. Simply put, Petitioner has neither alleged anfycsfaets nor
presented any evidence establishing Bowen was offered anything by anyoobkangexfor his
testimony against Petitioner.

151



because policéiled to immediately open the trunk of her car upon its discovery.
The fundamental problem with these complaints is Petitioneallegged naspecific
factsandpresented this couwith no evidence establishing there was any medical
testimony or otheevidence available at the time of his 1995 capital murder trial
establishing any of these matters

As explained at length above in Section I.C.2., Petitioner was the Ihesssvi
the prosecution haavailable His refusal to offer any rational explanatifmr his
failure to call police or anyone else to rescue Mrs. Liveoak after he left her inside
her car trunk in an isolated, unshaded, location on an Alabama parking lot on a July
afternoon permitted only oneasonable inferend€ Once Petitioner's cross
examination was complete, the outcome of the-guiibcence phase of Petitioner’s
trial was not ingenuinedoubt. The thrust of Petitioner’s trial testimony was

essentially that he abducted, robbed, and locked an elderly woman with a heart

18 Pettioner admitted during his cregxamination that (1) he was aware of Mrs. Liveoak’s
heart condition, (2) his own father had died of a heart attack, (3) he was awarenhatrbbbing
Mrs. Liveoak and he would spend a lot of time in jail if he got caughthe and Carolyn Yaw
spent a long time in the-Klart parking lot before they left the scene, (5) he did not leave the keys
to Mrs. Liveoak’s car inside the vehicle, (6) he passed “a bunch” of pay phones orytfierwa
the K-Mart parking lot to the crack house but never asked the cab driver to stop, (7) he passed a
number of pay phones when he and Carolyn Yaw left the crack house and went to theneraetel w
they spent the night, (8) he never used the phone at the motel, (9) he did not take a calhdack to
K-Mart because he did not want to call attention to himself, (10) he intended to abduct and rob
Mrs. Liveoak, (11) he intended to place her inside the trunk of her car, (12) he intépieibal
Mrs. Liveoak inside the trunk of her car when he led K-Mart, (13) he was worried about being
caught, and (14) when he learned of Mrs. Liveoak’s death, he cut his hair. 8 SCR @i6ss
examination of Donald Dallas).
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condition inthe trunk of her car and then abandonedwiénout ever notifying
anyone of her perilous conditidrecause he could not think about anything other
than his owmeed toget high on crack cocain®? Yet Petitioner also testified he

had sufficient mental acuity not to call a cab to return to thdak parking lot
because he might be traced back to Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle and he did not want to
get caught®® Petitioner testified he assumed the day after his abduction of Mrs.
Liveoak that she had somehow managed to escape because he had ramyheard
news reportaibout the discovery of her boldybut he offered no rational basis for

such a belief in view of the fa¢ivhich he admitted on crogxamination) thahe

139 Petitioner admitted on direct examination thati{&é)used a wide variety of narcotics,
(2) he began abusing crack cocaine in 1992, (3) he pawned everything he had to buy crack, (4) he
stole cigarettes and meat to pay for drugs, which he bought from Chdster(6phe robbed Mr.
Portwood to get money to buy crack, (6) he had been doing crack consistently for two weseks bef
he encountered Mrs. Liveoak, (7) he traded a stolen bicycle for crack the efigiet be abducted
Mrs. Liveoak, (8) he told Mrs. Liveoak he had a crack problem and she prayeawhf¢®hhe left
Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of her car at the K-Mart, and (10) he did not “have a reason fortdoing i
other than a dope addict7 SCR 786-91, 793, 795; 8 SCR 801-03 (testimony of Donald Dallas).
On crossexamination, Petitioner repeatediiamed his drug addiction for his criminal
behavior: “It was my way of life.” 8 SCR 807; “I was thinking about getting the mb8e$CR
815; “Like | say, | wasn’t thinking about too many things but one thing. | am robbing somebody,
and | am going to benibig trouble. | am going to spend a lot of time in jail if | get caught doing
this.” 8 SCR 816; “l wasn’t even thinking. | just wanted to get the money andegdbpe and
getin my own world.” 8 SCR 817; “Sooner or later, everybody knows when thdgiagea crime
they are going to get caught. With the drugs, you don’t comprehend it.” 8 SCR'Ba¥s crack
addiction.” 8 SCR 825. When asked why he failed to park Mrs. Liveoak’s car in a positia wher
someone might happen upon it, Petitioner answered “I wasn’t thinking about that.” 8 SCR 820.

1408 SCR 801-02 (testimony of Donald Dallas).

1418 SCR 801 (testimony of Donald Dallas).
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did not leave her car keys inside her vehicle when he left #hiai parking lott42
Petitionerstated to police during his pestrest interrogation, however, that when
he awoke the morning after Mrs. Liveoak’s abduction, he assumed it was too late to
help her!*® He alsotestifiedon direct examination that reade an unsuccessful
attempt toreturn to the KMart to check on Mrs. Liveoakecause héwantedto
make sure she was goné? Even ignoring the highly inculpatory testimony of
Dennis Bowen, Petitioner’s jury could reasonably and rationally infer from the
totality of Petitioner’s posarrest statement to police and Petitioner’s trial testimony
that he intended to “make sure” Mrs. Liveoak did not live to identify him as her
assailant oto testify against him. In faciy view of Petitioner’s rafsal to offer any
rational explanation for his failure to notify thmolice or anyone elsef dMrs.

Liveoak’s perilous situation, no other reasonable inferencationally possible.

1428 SCR 820 (cross-examination of Donald Dallas).

143\When asked during his peatrest interrogatiomhy he didn’t call the policePetitioner
stated:
| went straight to a crack house and got a bunch of dope and did it and I tried to go
over there one time and, ended back at the dope house, and then | went back to the
motel where | had rent, rented the room and just Od’d down there and then it was
too late the next day when | got up.
3 SCR 463.

1448 SCR 801 (testimony of Donald Dallas).
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Petitioner did insistluring his trial testimonghat hedid not intentionally kill
Mrs. Liveoak!*® By choosing to testify on his own behalf, Petitioner ran the risk
that the jury might conclude the opposite of his testimony was Rhede v. Hall
582 F.3d 1273, 1287 (11th Cir. 2008¢rt. denied560 U.S. 9582010); Atkins v.
Singletary 965 F.2d 952, 961 n.7 (11th Cir. 1992¢rt. denied 515 U.S. 1165
(1995). This is precisely what happenetdhe juryhad the opportunity to examine
Petitioner's demeanofirsthand twice - first when it watched the videotagpe
recording of his posarrest police interrogation and then again when Petitioner
testified at trial. Petitioner’s jury had ample opportunity to evaluate his crighbi
and comparat to that of Dennis Bowenwhom Petitioner’s trial counsel cress
examired extensively Petitioner’'sjury returned its guilty verdict on afleventeen
countsin twenty minutesincluding itsimplicit finding that Petitionemtentionally
murdered Mrs. Liveoak

There is no reasonable probability that anything Petitioner’s daahsel
could have done within the limits of applicable law would h@dy&ept any of the
overwhelming, highly inculpatory evidenceoutlined above from reaching

Petitioner’s jury (2) resilted in the presentation of any additional exculpatory

1454 didn’t intend to kill nobody.” 8 SCR 803 (examination of Donald Dallas); “Never in
my mind have | ever thought about killing anybody.” 8 SCR 818 (exgamination of Donald
Dallas).
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evidenceX*® or (3) otherwise resulted in a verdict different frahe guilty verdict

Petitioner’s jury actually rendered at the ginlhocence phase of his capital murder

146 Petitioner presents this court with the affidavit of neuropsychologist Dr. Keadi
(Exhibit 15 in Doc. #8%2) in which Dr. Benedict opines that (1) two prior mental health
evaluations performed on Petitioner in April, 1995 [by Dr. Renfro] and in June, 1995 [atliie Ki
Correctional Facility] were invalid, in part, because they relied upaittewrtesting and
Petitioner’s reading level [below the fifth grade] is insufficient to permit ateuestig based
upon written test instruments, (2) Petitioner is of average intellectual al@)ityeitioner suffers
from severe impairments in the areas of reading, spelling, written languagereading
comprehension, (4) Petitioner suffers from Attenticefi€it Hyperactivity Disorder (“ADHD”)
with a history of polysubstance abuse and dependence that was in remissiotina¢ thieDr.
Benedict’s evaluation [presumably near the time Dr. Benedict executeditigs/afin 2007], (5)
Petitioner has a strong family history of substance abuse and preadolescent drmsstance
abusing role models, (6) Petitioner exhibits reading problems similar to siygbegia along with
attention spectrum disorder, which cause him difficulties with impulse controplkameing
functions, (7) Petitioner suffers from several comorbid developmental disordensdimggl
learning and attention disorders, which are amenable to remediation and accommag)ation, (
Petitioner experienced psychosocial problems as a child andegiaievhich led to Petitioner’s
polysubstance abuse and dropping out of school, (9) Petitioner shows depressive and anxiety
symptoms, including depression, anxiety, low-gsiieem, shame, and cognitive difficulties in the
form of inattention, disorganization, and confusion in the face of stress, (10pritidisplays
deficient executive brain functions, (11) Petitioner is a “follower” andahasrsonality which
does not fit the profile of someone who would act solely or take the lead in a crime 8tich as
Liveoak’s abduction and murder, (12) Petitioner’s cognitive disorders are such thed thaild
have been engaged in drsgeking behavior with the intent to steal to obtain money for drugs
without intending to hurt another individual or even considering the potential for harm to another
individual, (13) Petitioner likely did not desire or plan the death of the victim, and (14idunalis
such as Petitioner are highly likely to become disorganized and forgetful in th&inthand are
prone to mscommunication with their peers.

Petitioner also presentsmned butinsworn statement of Dr. Joseph Schumacher (Exhibit
16 in Doc. # 872), a researcher in the field of chemical dependency, who opined that (1) people
who abuse crack cocaine experieneamory problems, (2) when used in small amounts, cocaine
results in feelings of welbbeing, euphoria, decreased appetite, and relief from fatigue, (3) cocaine
can be extremely addictive, (4) prolonged cocaine abuse can cause severe persindiaydes
inability to sleep, appetite loss, and paranoid psychoses, (5) persons on a drug bindye dgpical
not sleep, do not eat, and can stay up for several days, (6) persons on a drug biegeargied
with obtaining the drug he or she needs in largentjigs to maintain the same high, (7) crack
cocaine use would not cause a person to forget a horrific act that may have beenech {8t
person using crack cocaine may know right from wrong but when crack is not availatriahlee
will be preoccuped by the “withdrawal syndrome,” which includes (a) being hygbert, awake
for extended periods of time, and tense, (b) having an elevated pulse rate, andnfr)aha
elevated heart rate, similar to a person withdrawing from nicotine or calffieime.ch more severe
and magnified, (9) withdrawal has a negative impact on judgment and behavioratlthestame
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trial. Petitioner's myriadmulti-faceted complaints about the performance of his
trial counsel do not satisfy the prejudice prongStdickland with regard to the

outcome of the guHinnocence phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial.

intensity as the actual high from using the drug, (10) based upon his review of Do'R&aé5
evaluation and Dr. Benedict’'s 2007 evaluation, he believed Petitioner’s drug addiatiola ‘tve
clinically described as severe and significant,” and (11) while binging on coaelne, Petitioner
would have been preoccupied with getting more cocaine to get high and avoid withdraatel, a st
which would most certainly would have interfered with his judgment and behavior cmcer
other events. Because this document is unsworn, this court may not consider it aseviden
The fundamental problems with the efforts of Dr. Benedict to explain awayoRetis
horrific crime are that (1) despite his alleged binging on crack cocaine, Ratitestified that he
understood the criminal nature of his behavior and took steps to avoid being captured, (2) the
expert opinionexpressed by Dr. Benedisimply parot the trial testimony of Petitioner, who
insisted he never intended to kill Mrs. Liveoak but simply did not care about anyttdapgte
getting high, yet (3) Petitioner candidly admitted he made an attemptvéoldick to the KMart
parking lot but offered no rational explanation for his failure to call anyonedoeddrs. Liveoak
once the vehicle in which he was riding overheated. Thus, Petitioner's own timabtesrefutes
the speculation offered by Dr. Benedict that Petitioner simply “forgot” ablvsit Liveoak after
he got more crack. Furthermore, the opinions expressed by Dr. Bendusatenv affidavit offer
very little of substance beyond those to which Dr. Renfro testified atithargnocence phase of
Petitioner’s capital murder trialMore specifically, Dr. Renfro testified that (1) Petitioner was
likely functioning at an intellectual level below average at the time of his efféas while not
physically addictive, crack cocaine abuse leads to a very intense psychlotogiwing fo more
and more of the drug, (3) Petitioner had been binging on crack for twelve darytopmeeting
Mrs. Liveoak, and (4) nonetheless Petitioner still knew the differencesbetuight and wrong (a
point Petitioner himself admitted during his cresamnation).
There is no reasonable probability that, but for the failure of Petitionelsduasel to
call experts to testify at Petitioner’s trial in the manner Dr. Benedict spinkisnew affidavit,
the outcome of either phase of Petitioner’s trial would have been any wliffekdr. Benedict
simply repeain a slightly more eloquent and detailed manner the same contentions Dr. Renfro
and Petitioner voiced at triale., the argument that Petitioner was so fixated on getting money to
get high on crack that he ignored the clear danger to Mrs. Liveoak of stuffing hertiestdenk
of her car and abandoning her vehicle on a July afternoon in an unshaded location In centra
Alabama where she was unlikely to be discovered or rescued. Had Dr. Benedlicalbesd to
testify at Petitioner’s capital murder trial he would have likely faced @»amination which
included questions asking (1) whether the Petitioner “forgot” about Mrs. Liveoak vhe
sarcastically told Dennis Bowen that he hoped or wished the old lady died, (2) wthether
Petitioner was still completely focused on binging on crack when he agtérapteturn to the K-
Mart parking lot to make sure Mrs. Liveoak “was gone,” and (3) whether Petiti@secompletely
focused on getting high on crack when he decided against calling a cab to return {bldine K
parking lot because he wanted to avoid being captured.
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b. No Prejudice at Punishment Phase

In evduating prejudice in the context of the punishment phase of a capital
trial, a federal habeas court mustveigh all the evidence in aggravation against the
totality of available mitigating evidence (had the petitioner’s trial counsel claosen
different course) Wong v. BelImonte$58 U.S. at 20\Viggins v. Smith639 U.S. at
534. Stricklanddoes not require the State to “rule out” or negate a sentence of life
in prison to prevail; rather, it places the burden on the defendant to show a
“reasonable probability” that the result of the punishment phase of a trial would have
been differentWongv. Belmontes558 U.S. at 27. Within the context$itirickland
analysis, “prejudice” means a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding
would have been differentlinton v. Alabamal34 S. Ct. 1081, 1089 (2014).0
satisfy the prejudice prong, the likelihood of a different result must be substantial,
not just conceivableHarrington v. Richter562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011$trickland v.
Washington466 U.S. at 693.

In the context of penalty phase mitigation in capital cases, the Supreme Court
has held that it is unreasonable not to investigate further when counsel has
information available to him that suggests additional mitigating evidesgeh as
mental illness or a history of childhood abusmay be available.See Porter v.
McCollum 558 U.S 30, 3940 (2009) (trial counsel failed to interview any witnesses

or to request any of the defendant’s schoo@dical, or military records and ignored
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information in a report on the defendant's competency evaluation suggesting
possible mitigating evide® - including evidence of mental illnesscould be
gleaned from investigation into the defendant’s family background and military
service); Wiggins v. Smith539, U.S. 510, 5226 (2003) (counsel failed to
investigate the defendant’'s background beyomieve of summary records from
competency evaluation, presentence report, and records from the state foster care
system, failed to compile a social history of the defendant, and presented no
mitigating evidence concerning the defendant’s backgroiWdliams v. Taylor
529 U.S. 362, 3996 (2000) (counsel failed to conduct even a cursory investigation
into the defendant’s background which would have shown the defendant’s parents
had been imprisoned for the criminal neglect of the defendant and his sitiimgs,
defendant had been severely beaten by his father, and had been returned to his
parents’ custody after they were released from prison).

With regard to the prejudice prong®irickland the Supreme Court held the
petitioners inWiggins Porter, andWilliams v. Taylomwere prejudiced by the failure
of their trial counsel to fully investigate, develop and present available mitigating
evidence. More specifically, the Supreme Court foundlVigginsthat his trial
counsel failed to discover, develop, and present available mitigating evidence
showing

Wiggins experienced severe privation and abuse in the first six years of
his life while in the custody of his alcoholic, absentee mother. He
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suffered physical torment, sexual molestation, and repeatedudpg

his subsequent years in foster care. The time Wiggins spent homeless,
along with his diminished mental capacities, further augment his
mitigation case. Petitioner thus has the kind of troubled history we have
declared relevant to assessing a defendant’s moral culpability.

Wiggins v. Smith(39 U.S. at 253.

In Porter v. McCollum the new mitigating evidencendiscovered and
undeveloped byrial counsel includeday and expert testimony showing @rter
routinely witnessed his father beat his mother, one time so severely that she had to
go to the hospital and lost a chil@) Porter’s father was violent every weekend and
Porter was his father’s favorite target, particularly when Porter tried to pragect h
mother (3) an one occasion, Porter’s father shot at him for coming home late but
missed and beat Porter inste@t) Porter attended classes for slow learners until he
left school at age 12 or 18) o escape his horrible family life, Porter enlisted in
the Army at age 17 and fought in tKerean Wary (6) Porter suffered a gunshot
wound to the leg yet fought heroically through two batt{@s dter the war, Porter
suffered dreadful nightmares and would attempt to climb his bedroom walls at night
with knives (8) Porter developed a seriousrking problem and began drinking so
heavily that he would get into fights and not remember them & pRorter suffered
from brain damage that could manifest in impulsive, violent behavi6y,at the
time of the capital offense, Porter was substantially impaired in his ability to conform

his conduct to the law and suffered from an extreme mental or emotional

160



disturbance, andl() Porter had substantial difficulties with reading, writing, and
memory. Porter v McCollum558 U.S. at 44%1.

Prejudicewas establisheth Williams v. Taylorthrough testimony showing
trial counsel failed to discover and develop available mitigating evidence showing
(1) Williams experienced a nightmarish childheda) Williams’ parents had been
imprisoned for criminal neglect of Williams and his siblin@ Williams had been
severely beaten by his father, committed to the custody of the social services bureau
for two years during his parents’ incarceration, and then returned to his parents after
they were releaskefrom prison (4) Williams was borderline mentally retarded and
did not advance beyond the sixth grade in sch@d) Williams received
commendations for helping to crack a prison drug ring and for returning a guard’s
missing wallet (6) Williams was among the inmates least likely to act in a violent,
dangerous or provocative way) Williams seemed to thrive in a more regimented
and structured environment, and @)lliams earned a carpentry degree while in
prison. Williams v. Taylor529 U.S. at 3986.

Unlike defense counsel in the capital murder trials the Supreme Court
described inWiggins Porter, and Williams v. Tayloy Petitioner’s trial counsel
presented a substantial case in mitigation during Petitioner’s capital murder trial.
Petitioner, Dr. Rnfro, and attorney James all testified during the -guilbcence

phase of triatoncerning Petitioner’s addiction to crack cocaine and its impact upon
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him. Petitioner testifiedat the guillinnocence phase of his capital murder trial
regarding (1) his chaotic childhood, during which he moved around the country, was
left to fend for himself much of the time, and had no positive parental role models
or adult supervision, (2) his long term alcohol and drug abuse, (3) his long history
of criminal behavior to fuel his drug addiction, and (4) the circumstances of his
abductions of Mr. Portwood and Mrs. Liveoak addition as explained above in
Sectionl.D.2., Petitioner’s trial counsel presented testimony from Petitioner’s older
sister Cimly andolder brotherJames concerning the many difficulties they and
Petitioner faced growing up in a household with a pair of alcoholic paardtthe
additional difficulties they faced after their parents divorced and they and Petitione
began living wih their alcoholi¢ physically abusive, mentally unstalmtether in
Florida and then Alabama

Petitioner’s trial counsel also presengegbair ofcharacter witnessest the
punishment phase of trial who testified to Petitioner's good qualities and thg lovi
relationship he had with his daughters and friaagdaell as thearasitic pernicious
influence Carolyn “Polly” Yaw had on his lifd?etitioner had the opportunity at his
trial to testify regarding the role Polly Yaw played in Mrs. Liveoak’s abdngti
robbery, and murder but offered no testimony suggestingwasthe mastermind

or moving influence behind those crimes.
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Petitioner has presented the court with a significant number of new affidavits
and documentary evidence in support of\Migjginsclaim, i.e., his complaintthat
his trial counsel could have done a better job more thoroughly investigating
Petitioner’s background and presenting the trial court thghravailable mitigating
evidencet*” The problem with Petitioner'sVigginsclaim is that after carefully
reviewing all of Petitioner's new mitigating evidence, the court findsttieatase
for mitigation now before this court is, in some respedsbstantially less
compelling than the case for mitigation Petitioner’s trial counsel actodented
during Petitiongs 1995 trial. For example, Petitioner’s sist€mdytestified at trial
that their mother had been sent“@n insane asyluimon two occasions and
described her and Petitioner’s dysfunctional childhood in nightmarish teems (
their alcoholicparents often chased each other around the house with kiees
was often no food in the home, and their parents beat the childréhg medical
records of Petitioner’'s mother, presented for the first time to this court, dbavot s

any diagnosi®r treatmenof long-term mental illness, howevét Likewise, &

147 See, e.gthe affidavits and documents containedPetitioner's Appendix to his Merits
Brief (Doc. # 87); the affidavit and documents accompanying Petitioner' ©MtiiSupplement
the Record filed April 1, 2009 (Doc. #108); the documents accompanying Petitioneits Mot
Supplement the Record filed May 25, 2012 (Doc. # 122); and the affidavits, depositiorigtansc
of Chester Foley, and other documents filed separately but designated as atfsictome
Petitioner’s Brief/Memorandum filed October 3, 2016 (Doc. # 137;11338, 1381, 139, 139
1).

148 The medical records of Elaine Dallas appear as exhibifs @8l 28B in the Appendix
to Petitioner's Merits brief (Doc. # 87) at Doc. #807 and Doc. # 841. Those records reveal
that Mrs. Dallas (1) was hospitalized from May 26, 1969, to June 5, (B68as treated during
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explained above, the affidavit of Dr. Benedict offittle of substance in terms of
mitigating evidence beyond theameinformation Dr. Renfro, Petitioner, and
Petitioneis family and friends offered during thdi®95trial testimony. There is no
reasonable probability the jury’s verdiat the trial court’s factual findings at the
punishment phase of trial would have been any different hagutheneard (1)
testimony from Dr. Benedict similar to the information contained in his 2007

affidavit,}4® (2) testimony from Petitioner's mother similar toetlinformation

that time for anxiety and depression (specifically situational adjustmemtldisvith anxiety and
depressive features), (3) responded well to medication (Thorazine), and (4) waaggidc
(Exhibit 28A to Doc. # 8710). There isothing in the medical records now before this court
showing Mrs. Dallas was ever again hospitalized, diagnosed, or treated for depressi

A year later, Mrs. Dallas was (1) hospitalized from September 6 throughn®ept&,
1970, (2) admitted in a stadé acute alcoholic intoxication and hysterical agitation, (3) diagnosed
with alcoholic intoxication after she became hysterical and drank excedsagzlyise her husband
went out with another woman, (4) responded satisfactorily to a sedative, and @sotrasged
with a recommendation that she return for folop/ counseling (Exhibit 28 to Doc. # 8711).
Once again, there is no evidence now before the court suggesting Petitioner's wastleyer
again diagnosed, treated, or hospitalized for acute intoxication or ever treatiedHotism.

The medical records of Petitioner's mother do record the foregoing haztitadis, as well
as a lengthier hospitalization from June 24 to July 4, 1972 for treatment of a torn ledt medi
meniscus (Exhibit 28 to Doc. # 8711). Significantly, however, while Petitioner’'s mother claims
in her 2007 affidavit that she was diagnosed with chronic depression, theceraeglical records
before this court showing Petitioner’'s mother has ever been diagnosethvattic alcoholism,
chronicdepression, or any other serious mental illness. Thus, the information gupedote the
court is far less compelling than the trial testimony of Petitioner’s sister, whd statply that
her mother had been sent to “an insane asylum” on two occasions and suggested her siother wa
mentally unstable. Petitioner’s sister's assertion that their motliebé@an sent to an insane
asylum bordered on the deceptive. That assertion grossly overstated tlieoeker mother’s
documentedistory of mental illness. More significantly, there is no evidence beforectin
showing Petitioner inherited anything in terms of mental illness from his pareptnd a
propensity for substance abusa propensity Dr. Benedict noted was in renussat the time of
Petitioner’'s 2007 evaluation.

149 Dr, Benedict’'s diagnoses of Petitioner's ADHD and learning disabilities @nly
genuinely new mental health evidence offered in this case) simply pale in ceonptrithe
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contained in heR007 affidavit!®® (3) testimony from Petitioner’s eldest brother

James(Jmmy) Dallas, Jr. similar to the information contained in his 2007

evidence of serious mental illness, mental retardation, and other powerfultingtigaidence
which trial counsel failed to present\iviggins Porter, andWilliams v. Taylor.

150The 2007 affidavit of Elaine Dallas appears as Exhibit 14 in Doc:2# 8 her affidavit,
she avers thdfl) Petitioner’s father was an abusive man who consumed a lot of alcohol, ran around
with other women, and once had an affair with a/&8rold babysitter, (2) Petitioner’s father beat
and kicked her and was physically abusive toward their children, (3) during all of beapcees,
she smoked tobacco and consumed alcohol, up to four or five screwdrivers a day, (4) the children
frequently ate soup because of a lack of money, (5) many times her mother brought fbed for t
children, (6) she could not afford clothing for her children, (7) other children eveet to the
Dallas children because they were poor, (8) Petitioner was treated by a fiwcgmvere
pneumonia at age one, (9) she was first diagnosed with chronic depression when iPe@aone
two years old, (10) around that time, she began consuming larger amounts of alcohol toltope wit
her depression, (11) at times she hallucinated and screamed at her children, (12)dfdeause
alcoholism and depression, she was unable to work, (13) Petivasarnce bitten by a rat inside
their home, (14) she spanked her children with a paddle, (15) she left Petitioner'stféthst a
three times prior to their divorce, (16) after leaving Petitioner’s fatherbecame involved with
a musician named Chegl (Chick) Collier who was also an alcoholic, (17) she lived with Collier
in Florida and they moved to Prattville, Alabama when Petitioner was nine, (18) sheelsagare
that Petitioner and Paul were using alcohol and abusing marijuana when Petitisage wvelve,
(19) Petitioner quit school in the seventh grade, (20) she lived in Hope Hull, Alabama veith a m
named Wayne Cripple for about four years, (21) she later moved to Texas and cam@adhoshe
met there named Marty Martinez, (22) Petitiorred his children moved in with her in Texas while
Polly Yaw was in prison, (23) Polly beat her when she got the children up to go to s2hptl, (
put my children through hell when they were growing up,” (25) “I exposed therodloahlabuse
by their fatler and by me,” (26) “They witnessed their father beating me on many, many
occasions,” (27) “They were around me when | was out of my head and | am tegiamust
have been afraid of my behavior,” and (28) “My children were also forced to live in pawnert
as a result they had very little security when they were growing up.”

Other than furnishing some additional details, Mrs. Dallas’ 2007 affidavit offeydittk
new information that was not furnished to the jury and trial judge by Petitiondes Giady and
brother Paul through their punishment phase testimony at Petitioner's 1995 roajpdar trial.
Additionally, had she testified at Petitioner’s 1995 trial in the same manher 2907 affidavit,
Elaine Dallas would have been subject tossexamination and impeachment based upon her
admissions that she neglected her children, failed to furnish them with adequate foadamg, cl
abandoned her children emotionally as well as physically, permitted her husbandgitalphy
abuse them, drk to excess, failed to seek adequate medical and dental care for her children, and
failed to furnish Petitioner and his siblings a suitable home in which to grow ancem&inally,
while her affidavit states that, had she been contacted by Petitibrartounsel she would have
furnished them with the same information contained in her 2007 affidavit, at no point in her 2007
affidavit does she unequivocally state that she would have been willing to traviabin#a in
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1995 and testify at Petitionertapital murder trial. Federal habeas corpus petitioners asserting
claims of ineffective assistance based on counsel’s failure to call a witnass &iy withess or

an expert witness) satisfy the prejudice prongStrfickland only by naming the witrss,
demonstrating the witness was available to testify and would have dsedts out the content

of the witness’ proposed testimony, and showing the testimony would have been favmeable t
particular defenseWoodfox v. Cain609 F.3d 774, 808 (5th Cir. 201May v. Quarterman566
F.3d 527, 538 (5th Cir. 20095ee also Reed v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep’t of Cor67 F.3d 1252, 1262
(11th Cir. 2014) (holding federal habeas petitioner who failed to show an uncéthedswvas
available to testify at the time of trial failed to satisfy prejudice prorgfri¢kland, cert. denied

135 S. Ct. 1563 (2015).

166



affidavit,*>! (4) additional testimony from Petitioner’s sister Cindy and other brother

Paul similar to the information contained in their 2007 affidavtsand 6)

51 The affidavit of James (Jimmy) Dallas, Jr. is Exhibit 4 in Doc-#8Petitioner’s eldest
brother averred that (1) his father was an alcoholic wkontaltiple adulterous relationships and
was often not at home, (2) his mother was “very unstable throughout most of Donaldt éife”
heavily with their father, and “had several nervous breakdowns,” (3) his mother wastwdrig
and depressed, sometimes would scream and become violent, broke things in the house, and once
got a butcher knife and threatened to kill all her children, (4) his mother used fvashig of
prescriptions drugs every day,” including Valium, (5) his mother was taken to a imasyital at
least twice, (6) his mother did not take good care of their home and allowedrstra)s to live
in the house, resulting in a stench, (7) it was “torture living with my motherdfi@) his parents
divorced, his mother hooked up with a man named Chick who was also a drunk, (9) in high school
James was a good athlete and had good role models, (10) Petitioner lacked good role models, (11)
after high school, James entered the military and developed problems with alcohaigmdid)
at age29, James entered Alcoholics Anonymous, (13) James subsequently became a counselor
(14) during his childhood, James and his siblings were not taught right from wrong or e to ¢
for themselves, (15) James was forced to undergo a tooth extraction when he was nine without
anesthetic, (16) as a child James was once hospitalized for an extended period betaties hi
refused to take him to the hospital until after James’ appendix reached amceatgtage of
disease, (17) the Dallas children were not furnished any dental camarpettents, (18) there was
frequently a lack of food in the house, (19) the Dallas children did not have proper ¢latidng
(20) all of the Dallas children suffered because of the neglect of their par&ihdy became
pregnant at a young age and has struggled with drinking and eating disorders;sPstuligngled
with drinking; and Donald has had problems with alcohol and drugs.

Analysis of proffered new testimony from uncalled witnesses like Jamesyy Dallas,
Jr. under the prejudice prong Stricklandrequires consideration of (1) the credibility of all
witnesses, including the likely impeachment of the uncalled defense witn@3ghbs,ifiterplay of
the uncalled witnesses with the actual defense witnesses catld®) éhe strength of the evidence
actually presented by the prosecutiohrmstrong v. Kemnab90 F.3d 592, 596 (8th Cirgert.
denied 560 U.S. 945 (2010McCauleyBey v. BowersgXd7 F.3d 1102, 1106 (8th Cir. 1996),
cert. denied520 U.S. 1178 (1997 Insofar as James (Jimmy) Dallas, Jr.’s affidavit addresses his
childhood, his affidavit reiterates much of the trial testimony of Petitionerter Siindy and
brother Paul, albeit with some additional details, concerning the neglect andtiabu3alhs
children suffered from their alcoholic parents. Moreover, the swarsestate habeas corpus
petition Petitioner filed September 23, 1999, states that Jimmy Dallas onckeasdeeir mother,
knocking her over a couch. 12 SCR (Revised) Tal\ 18t pp. 6061. The 2007 affidavits of
Petitioner’s sister Cindy, brother Paul, and mother Elaine presented ¢oudhigor the first time
and the Petitioner’s sworpro sestate habeas corpus petition establish that Petitioner’s older
brother Jimmy only s& Petitioner once (at a family funeral) after Petitioner's mother divorced
Petitioner’s father and moved (with Cindy, Paul, and Donald) away from New York. Thuas, ther
is ample basis in the record now before this court for impeaching the profferetbgstif Jimmy
Dallas through evidence showing (1) Jimmy had very little contact with Petitadter Petitioner
left the State of New York with their mother around age six or seven, (2) Jimmyesxeel the
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same type of neglected, abused, childhood as Petitioner but has never been conkitiieg of
anyone, (3) Jimmy was able to get help for his substance abuse and bleeomaad sober, while
Petitioner gave into the urge to binge on crack cocaine no matter the consequanges¢ else,

and (4) Jimmy’s own propensity for violence even before he joined the militdrigegan having
problems with alcohol and drugs. While Petitioner argues that Jimmy Dallas coult$idfed

as an expert “counselor” on the negative effects of abuse upon children, nothing in the 2007
affidavit of James (Jimmy) Dallas, Jr. establishes that he was qualified, itheaining or
through experience, at the time of Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trialtify #s an expert
witness on any subject.

152The 2007 affidavit of Cindy Dallas appears as Exhibit 6 in Doc. #8Citady Dallas’
2007 affidavit states that (1) her father was a very violent man who was a drunk aed aresind
with other women, (2) she and her siblings were often left alone while themtparvere out
drinking, (3) many times their parents returned home and there was adpitioicf, (4) their father
beat their mother in front of them and chased their mother around the house wishakrtvguns,
(5) her father threatened to kill her mother and sometimes the childrerceréain he would do
S0, (6) the bartenders at the bars where their father took them gave the Dallas éhildrso they
would not go hungry, (7) sometimes their father made the Dallas childrem inéaauck because
he was dunk, (8) other drivers would give the Dallas children food from their trucks sovihiayg
have something to eat, (9) her father spent all of his money on alcohol, (10) her father took the
Dallas children to the homes of women with whom he had affairs, (11) during sohig of
infidelities, their father would leave the Dallas children outside in the cold cler lwehwent inside
and engaged in extramarital relations, (12) their mother once caught their faiViag
extramarital relations with a woman ircar and chased their father through their yard naked, (13)
twice people came to their home and took their mother away in a stjagbt, (14) her mother
beat the Dallas children many times while their parents were together, (e times the
Dallas family did not have enough food to eat and their maternal grandmother brouglit&od,
her mother occasionally had hallucinations, (17) her mother had been molested byra(i®jthe
the home in which they lived was infested by rats, one of whicRdtitioner, (19) their mother
took Petitioner to the hospital after the rat bit him, (20) the Dallas family dranceind a lot, (21)
Petitioner was always a follower, (22) after their parents’ divorce, her matrg with a man
named Chesley (Chick) GQar who drank a lot, ignored her, but was good to her brothers, (23)
Petitioner began playing the drums when he was very young, (24) PetitionemamdePahen
Petitioner was fourteen and have two daughters, (25) Petitioner workedlystdaah he was i
Pam, (26) her brother Paul introduced Petitioner to Polly and Petitioner lefofaenwith Polly,
(27) she observed a big change in Petitioner after he took up with Polly, (28) Pollyigohé&tet
into drugs, (29) Petitioner tried to maintain a relationship with the daughters dgth&am but
conflict between Pam and Polly interfered, (30) Petitioner and Polly have ftinechi(31) Polly
is physically violent with Petitioner and very manipulative, often threatening ¢oataky their
childrenfrom him, and (32) while she testified at Petitioner’s trial, she only aes\ke questions
his attorney asked her.

Cindy Dallas’ 2007 affidavit adds some new details regarding the dysfuncbatiak
household but does not offer any truly new sub&hmntitigating evidence beyond that contained
in (1) her 1995 trial testimony in which she described life in her alcoholic mothers &okfhell,”
(2) the 1995 trial testimony of Paul Dallas, and (3) Petitioner's own 1995 triahtest] in which
he alsadescribed his rebellious behavior as an adolescent
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testimony from any of Petitioner’s the family membansl friends who furnished

affidavits in 2007 similar to that contained in their affidavis

The 2007 affidavit of Paul Dallas appears as Exhibit 6 in Doc-¥ 8 his 2007 affidavit,
which mirrors many aspects of Cindy Dallas’ 2007 affidavit, Paul Dallasdteaé (1) his father
was a vey abusive, mean man who consumed a lot of alcohol, ran around with other women, and
once threw Paul against a wall when Paul was in kindergarten, (2) their pEtentabandoned
the Dallas children to go drinking, (3) their mother beat the Dallas chitdeny times, (4) their
father routinely spent all of his money on alcohol, leaving the family nothing to p&yofir(5)
their mother worked, sometimes two jobs, to furnish food for the family, (6) they seepoor
they had to wear clothes with patclaesl shoes with cardboard covering holes in the sole, (7) their
mother often hallucinated, (8) his mother was molested by her brother, (9) thetheynkeged in
were full of rats, one of which bit Petitioner (10) their mother took Petitioner toastal, (11)
the Dallas family moved around a lot, (12) when Petitioner was about fourteen he began cutt
school, drinking alcohol, smoking cigarettes, and using marijuana, (13) Petiticharfallower,
(14) Chick Collier drank a lot but also taught Petitioner to play the drums, (15) whiléubey
with Chick Collier, Paul Dallas and Petitioner were sexually assaulted atfdeadimes,i.e.,
anally raped and forced to perform fellatio upon a male friend of Patridi@mde(16) Paul has
had problems with alcohol throughout his life and is an alcoholic, (17) he testifietitiahBegs
trial and would have helped in any way necessary during his brother’s trial, and {ifl) ot
furnish all of the information in his 2007 affidavit to Petitionerialtcounsel because he was not
asked to do so.

Other than allegations of multiple sexual assaults by a family acquainRaugeDallas’
2007 affidavit offers very little that was not contained in the trial testimonytaidper, the trial
testimony of Petitioner’s sister Cindy, or the trial testimony of Paul Dallas. DR#las does not
aver in his 2007 affidavit that he ever told anyone about the alleged sexual assaultsngetin hi
and Petitioner at or near the time they took place. Nor does Pdas$ Btdte with any degree of
clarity exactly when or where the sexual assaults took place or the exady ioithe perpetrator.
Had Paul Dallas offered this new assertion at Petitioner’s trial, he wouldbeavesubject to
crossexamination and possible impeachment based upon his failure to make a timglyaondtcr
the absence of any record of a criminal prosecution of the alleged perpetratorvévidteoclose
personal relationship between Petitioner and his older brother Paul and the serieqeamres
of an unfavorable jury verdict at the punishment phase of Petitioner’s capital nriaiderish
“a potential bias and a motive to provide false informatiddée Armstrong v. Kemna90 F.3d
at 60203 (holding that the credibility of a crimahdefendant’s brother as an uncalled trial witness
must be evaluated for purposesSoficklandprejudice with full awareness of their close personal
relationship and the inherent bias which flows therefrom).

1s3petitioner’s federal habeas counsel hasisiired a number of affidavits from Petitioner’s
relatives and acquaintances. Brandi Ray, who identified herself as a chiloyhC&olly” Yaw
and who was fourteen at the time of Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial, stdtedaffidavit
that (1)her biological father died before she was born and she considers Petitioner to theeher fa
(2) she loves Petitioner very much, (3) Petitioner worked to earn money for thigyr, faever hit
the children, spent time with her and her siblings, taugim tim@nners, and was the more stable

169



parent in her family, (4) she believes her mother is an alcoholic and drug addict wh@dkdg w
as a stripper, (5) her mother took her and her siblings to crack houses to buy crack and hold drugs
for her, (6) her mother argued with Petitioner until he started using crack wiffT hieer mother
constantly demanded money from Petitioner and became physically iassawniil she got it, (8)
her mother stabbed a man seventeen times behind a bar and went to prison, (9) Petikidreer
and her siblings to Texas while her mother was in prison, (10) Petitioner warexhred for her
and her siblings, (11) she has suffered mental illness (Bipolar disorder), nenakdolanes, and
has made two suicide attempts, (12) she imaintained contact with Petitioner, who has been a
positive influence on her life, and (13) if she had been contacted at the time of Petiti®8&”
trial she would have furnished the same information as in her 2007 affidavit (EximbDoc. #
87-1). The efficacy of calling Petitioner’s fourteen yedd stepdaughter to testify in 1995 in the
same manner as her 2007 affidavit is dubious given the fact that Petitiorter €sigly and friend
Rhonda Chavers offered essentially the same type bintesy at the punishment phase of
Petitioner’s capital murder trial,e., testimony that (1) Petitioner was a good father and a
responsible parent and (2) contrasted Petitioner’s stabilityyiobent nature, and good parenting
skills with those of Carolyn “Polly” Yaw. Ms. Ray does not state in her affidattshe would
have been willing to testify at Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial had sheabked to do so.

Marge DeBottis states in her affidavit that (1) she was a neighbor of the f2atldg in
Cato, New York, (2) she did not spend a lot of time with the Dallas familya(8g9 Dallas, Sr,
drove a truck and Elaine stayed home, (4) the Dallas house was filthy, (5) numerous anima
goats, cats, and dogsvandered in and out of the Dallas home, (6) Elaine was a sloppy and lazy
person, and (7) had she been contacted at the time of Petitioner’s trial, she wouldrsiedur
the same information as in her affidavit (Exhibit 8 to Doc.-#87 In her 2007 affidavit, Mrs.
DeBottis did not rention Petitioner or any of the other Dallas children specifically or by name and
did not claim to have any contact with the Dallas children after they left Newwtoek Petitioner
was six or seven years old. Mrs. DeBottis also does not state that she woubddravelling to
testify at Petitioner’'s 1995 trial had she been asked to do so.

Gary Fellows stated in his 2007 affidavit that (1) he was acquainted wiatltas family
and lived in the same area of New York state as them, (2) he knew Petitioner’s aaderdsernal
grandparents, (3) Petitioner’s father worked as a truck driver who was not homefthe time,
(4) until about 1958, he and Petitioner’s father drank together regularly, (Spiratgi father
continued to drink and stay out away from home even after his children were béretiiioher’s
mother had some affairs, (7) there were questions about whether the two youtageciiddren
were the children of James Dallas, Sr., (8) Petitioner’s paternal gramdfahea fequent drinker,
(9) Petitioner’s paternal grandmother was “a hypochondriac” whom the Daftaly heeded to
wait on hand and foot, (10) Petitioner's mother was “an oddball,” a frequent drinker, and “had a
few marbles missing,” and (11) had he been coethat the time of Petitioner’s trial, he would
have been willing to testify on Petitioner’s behalf (Exhibit 9 to Doc.-#)37 Other than making
cryptic accusations of “frequent drinking” by Petitioner’s parents and gramdpaned asserting
that Petitoner’s father was not home often, Mr. Fellows’ affidavit offers very litésHrinsight
into Petitioner's family life. Mr. Fellows does not mention or reference Raditior any of
Petitioner’s siblings in his affidavit.

Kenneth Paul Lee states in 123807 affidavit that (1) he knew Petitioner’s parents when
they lived in Cato, New York, (2) Petitioner’s father was an alcoholic whose nigihéd to his
death, (2) petitioner's mother was also a drinker, (3) both of Petitionegatparvere wild, (4)
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Petitioner’s parents created an environment for their children that wamealbhy or typical, (5)

the Dallas children had no supervision or guidance in the home, (6) the Dallas children “wer
basically left to care for themselves in the best way they kwsw’ and (7) had he been contacted

at the time of Petitioner’s trial, he would have furnished the same informatiorhasaffidavit
(Exhibit 10 to Doc. # 84). Mr. Lee does not state that he would have been willing to testify at
Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial had he been asked to do so.

Robert McCadden stated in his 2007 affidavit that (1) he was in the same high school
graduating class as Petitioner’s father and served as a volunteer witicah€ife and Rescue
Department in Cato, New York, (2) Petitioner’s father was a truck driver andheaxy drinker,

(3) Petitioner’'s mother frequently drank with her husband, (4) on one occasion, Petitiather's f
passed out at a bar and Petitioner's mother physically carried Petgifet@er out of the bar, (5)

he witnessed similar incidents on other occasions, (6) Petitioner's mothaotastable person

and “definitely had some mental issues,” (7) local Fire and Rescue persanaaligpatched to

the Dallas home on at least three occasibasause Petitioner's mother had a “nervous
breakdown” and the squad was sent to attempt to gain control of her, (8) on one of those occasions,
Petitioner's mother ran into a field and it took more than an hour to locate her, () dacim
incident in whch Fire and Rescue personnel arrived at the Dallas home, Petitioner's mother was
“hitting, screaming, belligerent, irrational and uncontrollable,” (10) sndminion “the situation

and homdife for the Dallas children could not have been very goodheis tather was always
drunk or away from home driving a truck and their mother suffered from mental illr{@$$,”
many times “the Dallas children were left at home alone to fend for them&elndg12) had he

been contacted at the time of Petitionérial, he would have been willing to provide the same
information as that contained in his affidavit (Exhibit 11 in Doc.-287Nothing in the affidavit

of Mr. McFadden establishes that he possessed the expertise in 1995, through tmainin
experienceto render an expert opinion regarding Petitioner's mother’s mental condition. Mr
McFadden also does not state that he would have been willing to testify aineestiL995 capital
murder trial.

Rosemund Myers states in her 2007 affidavit that (1wskseacquainted with the Dallas
family, (2) at the request of his parents, she cared for Paul Dallas from abduteatp seven
months until age ten to twelve months, (3) it was her understanding that, at th&eiimener’s
parents were separated) @uring the months she cared for Paul Dallas, his father came to visit
him at her home and gave her a small amount of money but Paul’s mother did not visit)'€5) P
father directed her to contact Paul’'s mother if she needed help, (6) she did cantaanBther
on one occasion but she said she was not feeling well, (7) Paul's mother came todenbom
day without warning and took Paul away, (8) Paul's father was a heavy drinkbadrsgveral
D.U.I. convictions but nonetheless managed to keep driving, (9) Paul's mother also #@ank, (
Paul’s parents were “party people,” and (11) had she been contacted aetbERetitioner’s trial
she would have been willing to furnish the same information as in her affidavit (ExhiioitDoc.
#87-2). Ms. Myers does not mention Petitioner in her affidavit and does not state she weuld ha
been willing to testify at Petitioner’s capital murder trial had she been askedto d

Shirley J. Pollay states in her 2007 affidavit that (1) she went to high schtiol wi
Petitioner's mother and her estranged husband worked with Petitioner’'s fathertiti@ghétes
mother’s parents kicked her out of their home when she was pregnant witlsthehifd, (3) she
lived in the same apartment building as Petitioner's mp{Agrthe more people helped her the
more she expected from people and the less she did for herself,” (5) on one occasimmePetit
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Weighed against the new mitigating evidence Petitioner presented to his state
habeas court anthe additional mitigating evidencRetitioner’s federal habeas
counsel has presented are the aggravating circumstances of Petitioner's capital
offense. Itis undisputed that Petitioigyput an elderly woman with a known heart
condition into the trunk of her car on a July afternoon intre¢ Alabamawith
promises he would release her once he obtained money from her bamktg@)o
drove her vehicle to a parking lot in south Montgomé8y,induced her to reveal

the procedure for utilizing her bank card to get money from a teller neadblyin

mother called her and asked her to come to the Dallas home because she wasealil@mdelp
putting her children to bed, (6) the Dallas children slept on a mattress with nq plilests, or
blankets, (7) she later learned Petitioner’'s mother had been out drinking and dan@hgwiregf
evening, (8) the Dallas children were allowed to go to bed whenever they veamtet one
watched over them, (9) Petitioner’s sister Cindy failed first grade becauadults made sure she
did what the school needed her to do, (10) she and her estranged husband frequentidsocializ
with Petitioner’s parents when they were firstrrea, (11) Petitioner's mother continued to party
and stay out drinking even after her children were born, (12) Petitioner’s paternabtgrandfas
known as an alcoholic and Petitioner’s father “followed in his footsteps,” (13) had she bee
contacted athe time of Petitioner’s trial she would have furnished the same information as in he
affidavit (Exhibit 13 in Doc. #82). Ms. Pollay does not state in her affidavit that she would have
been willing to testify at Petitioner’s capital murder trial hiad been asked to do so.

Significantly, all but one of these affiants fail to aver that they woule baen willing to
testify at Petitioner’s 1995 capital murder trial had they been asked ¢o déost of these affiants
do not purport to possess anytalled information concerning Petitioner’s actual upbringing.
None of them other than Brandi Ray claim to have any knowledge of Petitiofeegaftdir he left
New York State with his mother, sister Cindy, and brother Paul when Peativasesix or seven
years old. Other than confirming the testimony of Petitioner’s sister and bRl at the
punishment phase of Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trial regarding the dysfahoature of
the Dallas household in New York, these affidavits offer vitig lin terms of genuinely new
mitigating evidence. Petitioner’s jury was well aware from the punishmesepiestimony of
Petitioner’s sister Cindy and brother Paul that Petitioner's parents batihealcoholics who
neglected their children, were prote acts of violence, and furnished their children no adult
supervision. The affidavits do, however, furnish a great deal of information that could have bee
used to impeach Petitioner's mother had she testified at Petitioner’s capitat tnatde
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promising to call police to notify them of her location once he obtained money from
her bank account4j thereafter abandonduls victim inside the trunk of her vehicle
which he parked in an unshaded, isolated, location of the parking lot, Jama/ €5
called anyone to alert them to his victim’s perilous predicament despite having
multiple opportunities to do so, including an opportunity when his attempted trip
back to the parking lot to “make sure she was gone” prematurely ended due to car
problems. In addition, viewed in the light most favorable to the jury’s guilt
innocence phase verdict, the evidence at trial showswihan askedby Dennis
Bowen about Chester Foley’s statement that Petitioner and Yaw locked an old lady
in the trunk of her car after robbing her, Petitioner sarcasticallyBteen that he
hoped or wished the old lady would die.

Petitioner locked Mrs. Liveoak insidehat was essentially steel coffiron a
July afternoon in central Alabama and then parked heruimshaded loci&in where
she was unlikely to bdiscovered Setting aside the horrific physical tortuee
elderly Mrs. Liveoak endured while locked inside the trunk of her car on a July
afternoon in central Alabama, the state trial judge accurately notedrthdtiveoak
died waiting for the rescue Petitioner repeatedly promised her would come but which
Petitioner knew would never come. A more psychologicsdlgistic (heinous,

atrociousandcruel)method of murder is difficult to imagine.
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When determining whethg@rejudice existsvithin the context oftrickland
it is necessary to consider all of the relevant evidence that the jury wadldhad
before it if Petitioner's counsel had pursued the different patbt justthe new or
additional mitigation evidence Petitioner’s counsel could have presented, but also
the aggravating evidence that almost certainly would have come in wiloitig v.
Belmontes558 U.Sat 20; Strickland v. Washingtod66 U.Sat 700.

In 1995, Petitioner’'sury and trial judge heareéstimony from (1) Dr. Renfro
and Petitioner himself concerning Petitioner’s addiction to crack coeaitig¢he
deleterious effects of crack cocai(2) Petitioner, hisiblings,andanacquaintance
regarding(a) the difficult childhood Petitioner endured growing up in a household
with an alcoholic,abusive,absentee, father and an alcohopbysically abusive,
mentally unstable, mother and (thle negativechange in Petitioner’'s behavior
which accompanied Petitioner’s decision to abandon his commonifewand their
daughters and begin using cracicainewith Polly Yaw, and (3) Petitioner’s
siblings and acquaintance regarding Petitioner’'s good chateaiter There is no
reasonable probability the jurygivisoryverdict or the trial judge’s findingst the
punishment phase of trial would have been any different had Petitioner’s trial
counsel presented all of the new potentially mitigating evidence which Petitioner
presented in his state habeas corpus proceeding and Petitioner’s federal habeas

counselpresented to this couymnost of which simply reiterates or elaborates upon
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the information furnished through the testimonyPefitioner, Dr. Renfro, and other
defense witnesses at Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial.

2. Specific Complaints oiheffective Assistance

Petitioner’s original federal habeas corpus petition includespmgé stream
of consciousnessomplaintabout the performance of his trial counsel (Doc. #1, at
pp. 1763). Out of an abundance ofutian, the court will addresslaif Petitioner’s
complaints inroughlythe same order in which they appear in his original petition.

a. Pretrial Matters

Petitioner complains in his seventh claim in his original petition that he was
“denied effective legal representation prior to tmenmencement of his trial” by
virtue of (1) the state trial court appointingnd then permitting to withdraw, a series
of defense counsdR) low funding for pretrial representation his defense counsel
from the State of Alabama, (3) the dismissal of one of his counsel over Petitioner’s
objection,and (4)delay in any of his coudppointed counsel meeting wiktim,
which he contends resulted in the involuntariness of his confession (Doc. # 1, at pp.
17-26,111 42-63). For the reasons discussed below, as well as the reasons discussed
at length above in Section XIIl.C.1a]l of these complaints fail to satisfy the

prejudice prong o$trickland
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(1) Deficiencies in the Performance of Former Counsel

Insofar as Petitioner complains about the performance of several attorneys
appointed to represent him who were subsequently permitted to withdraw from
Petitioner’s representation, those complaints do not satisfy the prejudice prong of
Strickland None ofthe attorneyswho withdrew or were dismissed prior to trial
actually represented Petitioner at trial. Petitioner alleges no facts, and presents no
evidence, showing any act or omission by any of these attorneys caused any
exculpatory, impeachment, or mitigation evidence to become unavailable to
Petitioner's eventual trial counséf. Thus, any deficiencies in the performance of
Petitioner’s former counsel did not “prejudice” Petitioner within the meaning of
Strickland Thestate trial court appointed Petitioner’s lead trial counsel in February
1995, almost eight months before the start of Petitioner’s trial. The state trial court
appointed cecounsel for Petitioner about a month prior to the start of trial. The trial

court appointed a third attorney to serve as Petitioner’s mitigation specialist on the

154 Petitioner does not allege that any documentary evidence available betwe&892ul
and October 1995 became unavailable due to any act or omission of any of his former court
appointed counsel. Petitioner does not allege that any of his former counsel lostved at
disappear any irreplaceable documents or other tangible evidence which megpitdween helpful
to Petitioner’s trial counsel. Nor does Petitioner identify any potentially ioaiefitness whose
testimony became unavailable at trial do¢he misfeasance or nonfeasance of any of his former
court-appointed counsel. For example, petitioner does not allege that any witnesses died or
otherwise became unavailable (without having been deposed or having had thewntestim
otherwise preservead admissible form) during the timeframe between his arrest in July 1994 and
the start of his trial in October 1995 because of the actions or inactions of his foumselc
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eve of trial,i.e.,, October 11, 1995lt is the performance of these three attorneys
which must be the focus of any ineffective assistance claims asserted by Petitioner.

(2) Low Pay for Defense Counsel

Petitioner complains that, at the time of his trial, Alabama law allowed his
trial counsel to receive not more than one thousand dollars in compensation for out
of-court work for each phase of his capital murder trial, based upon a twenty dollar
hourly rate. This complaint ison sequitur The same constitutional standard of
effectivenesg,e., theStricklandstandard, applies to the performance of Petitioner’s
trial counsel regardless of whether they appeared pro bono or represented their client
pursuant to a contract or cow@ppointment entiting them to considerable
compensation. The allegedly low level of pay an attorney received for representing
a criminal defendant does nuér sesatisfy either prong of th8tricklandanalysis.

(3) Denial ofPetitioner'sCounsel of Choice

In hisseventhclaim in his original petitiorand his brief in support (Doé&l,
at pp.19-21, (111 49-53), Petitioner argues that he was denied his constitutional right
to the counsel of his choice when the state trial court dismissed an attorney who had
been appointed to represent Petitioner over Petitioner's objec#onindigent
criminal defendant does not have a constitutional right to have a particular lawyer
represent him nor to demand a different appointed lawyer except for good cause.

United States v. Gare$40 F.3d 1253, 1263 (11th Cir. 20089rt. denieg555 U.S.
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1144 (2009);Thomas v. Wainwrigh?67 F.2d 738, 742 (11th Cir. 198%)etitioner
did not possess a constitutional right to the court appadattunsel of his choice.

(4) Motions for Continuanddnnouncements of “Not Ready”

In his third claim in his original petition and his briefs on the merits, Petitioner
points to the motions for continuance filed on the eve of trial by his counsel and their
announcements in open court that they werepmeparedto proceed to trial as
evidencing their ineffective assistand@oc. # 1, at pp.-40; Doc. #88, at pp. 59
128). The deficient performance prong $ftfricklandis an objective standard,
however. For that reason, admissions by trial counsel that their performance was
deficient mater little. Chandler v. United State218 F.3d at 1315 n.1@arver v.
Hopper, 169 F.3d 710, 716 (11th Cir. 1998)kins v. Singletary965 F.2d 952, 960
(11th Cir. 1992).The announcement by Petitioner’s trial counsel that they were not
ready for trialand the state trial court’s denial of their motions for continuance do
not establish Petitioner’s trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance at R&itione
ensuing trial.

(5) Involuntary Confession

Petitioner waived his right to legal represeotatand gave a videotaped
statement on the day of his arrést July14, 1994)in which he admitted to all the
elements of his capital offense save for intending to kill Mrs. Liveoak. As explained

above at length in Section VI., the admission at trisd sfgned, undated, written
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copy of the verbatim transcript of Petitioner’s videotaped statement was, at most,
harmless error. Petitioner's complaint that he was not visited by-appainted
counsel untiafter he signed the verbatim transcription of kideotaped statement
does not satisfy the prejudice prondgstfickland It is undisputed tha®etitioner(1)
initiated contact with law enforcement officens or about September 1, 1994, (2)
was transported to Montgomepglice headquarters, and (3) was permitted to review
and sign the transcription of the videotaped statement he had given July 14, 1994.
Petitioner’s trial counsel filed a motion to suppress all of Petitioner’'s statements,
both the videotaped and transcribed versions, and fully litigated that motion at a
pretrial hearing held October 11, 1995, including presenting Petitioner's
testimony!°°

Petitioner offered the state habeas court and offers this court no affidavit or
other evidence showing that, but for the failure ofduisrtappointedrial counsel
to contact Petitioner prior to September 1, 1994, the outcome of the pretrial hearing
on Petitioner's motion to suppress would have been any diffetédwise, even
if Petitioner’s trial counsel had managed to convince the state trial court to exclude
the verbatim transcription of Petitioner’s July 14, 1994 videotaped statement at trial,

such an effort would not have materially assisted Petitioner at trial. Petitioner has

1554 SCR 372 (transcription of all proceedings October 11, 1995 on motiorpjaress).
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presented no evidence showing there was any legitimate legalftiaexcluding

the videotaped statement recorded July 14, 1994. Once Petitioner's videotape
statement was admitted into evidence at trial, the prosecution could have sought, and
would in all likelihood have been permitted to introducgerbatim trangiption of

the Petitioner’s July 14, 1994 videotaped statenvemtch did not bear Petitioner’s
signature. There is no reasonable probability that anything Petitioner’s trial counsel
could have done after the date the state trial court first appoirniedeldo represent
Petitioner (e., on July 18, 1994) would have resulted in the exclusion at trial of
Petitioner’s videotaped statementluly 14, 1994r otherwise changed the outcome

of either phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial.

b. Guilt-lInnocence Phase Matters

In his seventh claim in his original petition, Petitioner argnesonclusory
fashion thahe was denied effective assistance during the-gunticence phase of
trial by virtue of(1) the failures of his trial counsel t¢a) adequtely investigatdhe
case againsPetitioner, ) adequately meet with Petitioner prior to triat) (
adequately prepare for trialg)(meet with and intervievprosecution witnesses
including Detective Hill, Detective Cleghorn, Detective Smith, Detedfiuber,
Danny Smith, and Dr. Stillwel(g)discover and present evidence showing Petitioner
was high on crack cocaine at the time of his offense, (f) call Dale Blake, Carlton

Morrison, Chester Foley, and Carolyn Yaw to testify to Petitioner’s-ohagced
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intoxication at the time of his capital effise {0 negag¢ the intent to kill), (g)
adequately crossxamine unidentified prosecution witnesses, (h) challenge the
testimony of state experts, (i) object to unidentified irrelevant and prejudicial
evidence, (j) adequately investigate the cause of Mrgeoak’s death, (k)
investigateMrs. Liveoak’s overall health and the possibility Mrs. Liveoak died as a
result of the failure of law enforcement officers to force open the trunk of hasca
soon as it was discovered, rather than waiting two hours to get the key, (I) present a
medical experto challenge the prosecution’s theory that Petitioner’s actions alone
caused Mrs. Liveoak’s death or establish the exact time of her death, (m) object to
the medical examiner’'s opinion that the cause of Mrs. Liveoak’s death was
“homicide,” (n) adequately crossxamine the medical examiner regarding (i)
whetherit was possible Mrs. Liveoak would have died of a heart attack regardless
of whether she had been placed in the trunk, (ii)) how many patients who had
undergoe heart bypass and opkeart surgery survive in the lomgn and what the
chances are they will suffer another heart attack, and (iii) whether there was any
basis for the medical examiner’s trial testimony that Mrs. Liveoak was getting along
quite well in her everyday activity, (0) adequately cr@s®mine prosecution
witness Dennis Bowen regarding the variation between his trial testimony and his
original statement to police, his criminal record, and the possibility of a deal between

Bowen and Petitiones’ prosecutors, (pbject toimproper jury selection methods
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utilized by the prosecutiomg., the prosecutidis use of extraneous information to
help the prosecutors select which venire members to strike peremptorily, (q) object
to improper jury argument by the prosecution during both opening and closing
argumen, i.e., the prosecutioffi) characteriang of Petitioner as a heartless animal

as contrasted tats description of Mrs. Liveoak as a good Christian woma, (
arguingthe evidence to convict was very strong and it would not be hard to convict
Petitioner, (i) commening on the credibility of withessesjv] expressing a
personal opinioms toPetitioner’s guilt, (v) commenting upon the defense’s failure

to present as a witness the person Petitioner testified had tried to give Petitioner a
ride back to the KMart parking lot,(vi) arguing Petitioner’s statemetd Dennis
Bowen (about hoping or wishing the old lady died) was sufficient to prove
Petitioner’s intent to killand (vii) arguingPetitioner’s choice to use crack cocaine
did not mitigate what he didind (r) object to the prosecution eliciting hearsay
testimony an@2) conceding in opening argument that Petitioner was responsible for
Mrs. Liveoak’s deatliDoc. #1, at pp. 288, [11] 6499). For the reasondiscussed
below, as well the reasons discussédve in SectioXIll.C.1.a., none of these
complaints(whether viewed separately or collectively) satisfy the prejudice prong

of Strickland
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(1) Failure tolnvestigate th&€aseAgainstPetitioner

Petitioner’'s complaint that his trial counsel failed to adequately investigate
case againg®etitionerignores the fadhatthe prosecution’s case against Petitioner
consisted primarily of Petitionerisdeotaped statement to police. Both Petitioner’s
lead trial counsel and emunsel testifiedvithout contradictiorduring Petitioner’s
state habeas corpus proceeding that {igyreviewed Petitioner's statement to
policeand (2) concluded the best dede they could present at the ginihocence
phase of trial was one which focused on attempting to convince the jury Petitioner
had not intended to kill Mrs. Liveoak but, rather, had beantegicatedand intent

on getting high on crack that he could farm the intent to kilf>®

156 Petitioner’s cecounsel at trial testified at length during Petitioner’s state habeas corpus
proceeding. More specifically, attorney Jeffery C. Duffey testifiad (1) he was able to consult
with Petitioner, obtain discovery, and developedfedsive strategy prior to trial, (2) the defense
strategy was to present evidence, primarily through Dr. Renfro, showingRatitiould not form
the intent to kill because he was intoxicated at the time of his offense, (3) disimpretrial
conversatins with Petitioner, the Petitioner expressed great remorse for his e)rhe,drepared
the defense’s requested jury instructions for both phases of trial while attasey #ames served
as the defense’s investigator, @gtitioner specifically askeldim not to speak with Petitioner’s
mother (6) the defense team knew Petitioner came from a dysfunctional family andt@desen
evidence of same at the punishment phase of trial, (7) he did not sit in during P&ipoeer
sentence interview, (8) the @efse team was surprised at trial by the testimony of Dennis Bowen
when he testified the Petitioner said he hoped Mrs. Liveoak died, and (9) the ddfelstiategy
at the guiltinnocence phase of trial was to try to get a conviction for a lgsseded offense. 11
SCR 668 (testimony of Jeffery C. Duffey).

Petitioner's courappointed investigator, attorney Susan James, testified that (1) she
learned Petitioner had recently served a prison sentence in Texas and hazhfeatticisome sort
of drug treatment program, (2) Lorilee Mills did most of the actual interviews of potential
witnesses, (3) Petitioner gave a full confession to police long before shizeeaene involved in
the case, (4) she contacted Dr. Renfro several times in preparatioal f¢b) the guiltinnocence
phase of trial was preparation for the punishment phase of trial as there was no dowkdt@s
had done it, (6) she spoke with Carolyn Yaw’s attorneys, (7) the defense tearstsyatien
focused on Petitioner’s drug addiction and on finding proof Petitioner was high on crack at the
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time of his offense, (8) she spoke with Petitioner’'s family members befeyddhtified at trial,

(9) she did not have adequate time to subpoena Petitioner's correctional, medical, or school
records, (10) Petitioner reported his father was dead, (11) she would have liledimeto
investigate Petitioner’'s mother's mental illness, (12) Petitioner consistentiyted the offense
conduct so the only issue before the jury was whether Petitioner had the intent tdlcause
Liveoak’s death, (13) the most significant mitigating evidence the defenséleds develop was

that Petitioner was addicted to crack cocaine and had a habit of over eight hundregbdptay,

(14) while the focus ohe defense’s case in mitigation was on Petitioner’s crack cocaine addiction,
the defense also presented evidence Petitioner had a terrible family life, § ftpraited
childhood,” and fathered his first child when he was only fourteen, (15)dPetitvas smoking,
drinking, and doing dope when he was ten or eleven years old, (16) she went to Chester Foley’
house to look for people who had been present when Petitioner learned of Mrs. Liveodk’s deat
(17) the defense team was unable to locate Petitof@mrer employer Bo Stevens but did learn
Petitioner had a reputation for stealing from his employers and getting i@ dtitioner played
down his connections with his family, (19) Petitioner told her he had a sixth grad¢@dacal

had worked om GED while in Texas, (20) Petitioner confessed to everything except intdigtiona
causing Mrs. Liveoak’s death, (21) she did not speak with anyone who was present when Mr
Liveoak’s trunk was opened, (22) she tried to locate Chester Foley and othdradubeen with
Petitioner at or near the time of his offense, (23) she has an undergraduateiregaal
rehabilitation and a masters in criminology and a great deal of experience deglinthe
difference between crack and powder cocaine, and (@4)edied upon the information furnished

by Lorilee Mills regarding her interviews of potential withesses. 11 SCRL8gtestimony of
Susan James).

Petitioner’s lead trial counsel testified through a deposition which the state tigal jud
considered in making his factual findings during Petitioner's state habeas coogegding.
Petitioner’s lead trial counsel testified that (1) he was appointed to repRet@ioner on February
1, 1995, (2) he saw Petitioner on February 28, 1995, (3) he did ntdhangpare for Petitioner’s
trial during May through July 1995, (4) he reviewed the Montgomery Police Depagment
evidence file in Petitioner's case on August 31, 1995, (5) Petitioner's caskisvarst capital
murder case, (6) he recalled Petitionad & very unhappy childhood, began drinking heavily from
a very young age, began using drugs from an early age, and was on his own in termdioédisc
his entire life, (7) his punishment phase preparation consisted of hiring DroRenéstify for
the defense, (8) he met with Petitioner prior to trial both out of court and in conjunction with cour
appearances, specifically on February 28, March 7, July 26, August 24, Septemberd&phed O
11, 1995, (9) he cros=xamined Dennis Bowen extensivelyti@gl regarding Bowen’s assertion
that Petitioner said he hoped or wished the old lady died, (10) the trial codrthratehe could
use a 1985 DUI conviction to further impeach Bowen, (11) he felt certain the defanmsspgoke
with Petitioner regardingpis background and family life, (12) Petitioner admitted he put Mrs.
Liveoak in the car trunk, (13) Petitioner discussed with him the circumstances umdéar w
Petitioner gave his statement to the Montgomery Police Department, (14vittence of
Petitioner’s guilt was overwhelming, leaving the only issue for the defense an atteavpid the
death penalty, (15) the defense’s strategy at the-iguidicence phase of trial was to show
Petitioner was so high on crack cocaine that he could not have ftrenedent to commit murder,

(16) he had no problems communicating with Petitioner, (17) Petitioner wasoogrgrative with
the defense, (18) the defense’s strategy at the punishment phase of trialheasPestioner was
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Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to investigate, develop, and
presentexpert medical testimony and othexculpatoryevidenceat the guilt
innocence phase of trishowing(1) the exact time of Mrs. Liveoakteath(2) Mrs.
Liveoak was alive at the time police discovered her vehicle, (3) Mrs. Liveoak died
as a result of the failure of law enforcement officers to force open her trunk
immediately once they discovered her vehicle, (4) Petitioner’s actions atbnetd
cause Mrs. Liveoak’s death, (5) Mrs. Liveoak would have died of a hitack a
regardless of whether she was placed in the trunk of her car, (6) the medical examiner
erroneously opined that the cause of Mrs. Liveoak’s death was “homicifi@sw
many patients who have undergone heart bypass andh@aensurgery survive in
the long run, §) what the chances are such patients will suffer another heart attack,
and Q) the medical examiner erroneously testified Mrs. Liveoak was getting alon

quite wdl in her everyday activities.

These complaints do not satisfy the prejudice pron§totklandbecause
Petitionerdoes notallege any specific fagtanuch lesspresentany evidence,

showingthat any evidencdavorable to the defense addressing these sulj@ads

intoxicated at the time of fioffense and Carolyn Yaw dominated him, (19) evidence showing
Petitioner had successfully completed a drug rehabilitation prograexasWwould not have been
helpful to the defense at trial, (20) he believed Petitioner’s desire for money todak coaine

was the most important thing to Petitioner at the time Petitioner met Mrs. Liveoake (24dl)é¢ved
Petitioner got high and forgot to call the police to let them know about Mrs. Livébak making
Petitioner responsible for her death. 13 SCR $&el) 4230 (deposition testimony of Algert
Algricola).
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available at the time of his 1995 capital murder tridkank speculation and
conjecture thaéxculpatory or favorable evidence might have been discovered had
trial counsel undertaken a more thorough or searching investigation is not a
substitute for hard evidence that such evideactially existed at the time of
Petitioner’s trial.See Sullivan v. DeLoach59 F.3d 1097, 1109 (11th Cir. 2006)
(the prejudice burden erected Byricklandis heavy wherghe petitioner alleges
ineffective assistance in failing to call a witness because “often allegatfovhat

a witness would have testified to are largely speculatioei}t, denied549 U.S.

1286 (2007).

As discussed in more detail below, Petitiones Identified a number of
individuals (including several of the police detectives and the medical examiner who
testifiedfor the prosecutioat Petitioner’s 1995 trial) he complains his trial counsel
failed to interview prior to trial. Petitioner does radkege any facts, much less
furnish any evidence, showing any of these individuals could have furnished
testimonyor information favorable to the defense had his trial counsel conducted
such pretrial interviews.Moreover, Petitioner alleges no facts aneésents no
evidence showing any of these witnesses would have been willing to submit to a

pretrial interview by Petitioner’s defense tedh.See United States v. Man®36

157 Specifically, Petitioner furnishes no fact specific allegations, much lgssvasence in
the form of an affidavit or a sworn statement from either Dr. Stillwell, Detective, Batective
Hill, Detective Cleghorn, Detective Smith, Detective Fuller, Danny Smith, Serykamt, Dale
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Blake, Carlton Morrison, Chester Foley, or Carolyn Yaw stating eithe(Ih#hey were willing
to submit to a pretrial interview by Petitioner's defense team orh@) possessed personal
knowledge of any facts or information favorable or beneficial to the defenseegdidrto the
issues before the jury at the guilthocence phase of petitioner’s trial.

Montgomery Police Lieutenant John Mann testified during Petitioner’s sta¢asiaorpus
proceeding that (1) in July 1994, he was temporarily assigned to the FBI Task idoich
investigated Mrs. Liveoak’s death, (2) he arrived at thdatt parking in south Montgomery after
the trunk was opened, (3) he subsequently interviewed Carolyn Polly Yaw, (4) Yaw informed hi
that she and Petitioner stayed with the Foleys on July 13, 1994, (5) Yaw informed him she and
Petitioner stole property on the morning of July 14 to get money, (6) Yaw said sheitindd?e
stole property to pay for their crack habits, (7) inexplicably he allowed Yaw arttrirat to
confer while they were being interviewed by police (because Yaw did not deleitioner had
confessed to Mrs. Liveoak’s murder), and (8) it was his understanding that theolnnga Ifrit of
crack lasts only about three minutes. 12 SCR (Revised) at pp. 120-29 (testimony of John Mann).

Lieutenant Mann, then a Sergeant, also testified during a preliminaryndneaeid
September 2, 1994 in Petitioner’'s capital murdexecthat (1) heMlirandizedand interviewed
Carolyn Yaw following her arrest with Petitioner, (2) Yaw stated to him teatiéher grabbed
her arm and forced her to go with him when he abducted Mrs. Liveoak, (3) during the interview
he observed bruises on Yaw’s arm which Yaw attributed to Petitioner grabbin@hataw
informed him Petitioner held Mrs. Liveoak at knifepoint as they drove to Hope Hull, where
Petitioner put Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of the car, (5) Yaw said they returned to dfoety
wherethey obtained information from Mrs. Liveoak about her account number and got about eight
hundred dollars using Mrs. Liveoak’s bank card, (6) Yaw said they left the parkimgdatab
after disposing of Mrs. Liveoak’s property in a trash can, (7) Yaw tbaig bought drugs and
bragged to Chester about what they had done, (8) Yaw said Chester got somebodytherdrive
to a motel, (9) Yaw said Petitioner and a friend went to aMé&at in Wetumpka and stole an air
compressor, brought it back to Montgomery, and sold it, (10) initially, Yaw denyekhamwledge
of Mrs. Liveoak, (11) Yaw said “Tony” picked them up and they went to theN¢al in Prattville,
where Petitioner stole a television set, (12) Yaw said Petitioner got into alstwitiga security
guard and they left the scene, (13) when he informed Yaw that Petitioner had admitied to t
abduction of Mrs. Liveoak, Yaw said she didn’t believe it, (14) he arranged for Yaeetowith
Petitioner, who told her he had informed police what had happened, (15) Yaw told Petitiorter “wha
have you gotten me into, that woman begged for her life and you held that knife and ddratche
-- or cut her in the neck,” (16) at that point he and other officers ended the ctiondbsdween
Yaw and Petitioner, (17) he did not know the exact time of Mrs. Liveoak’s death, (18) he was
unaware of anyone who did have that knowledge, (19) Yaw said Mrs. Liveoak begged IPetitione
to take her money and let her go, (20) Yaw changed her story only after she mettiwthePe
andhe told her what he had told police, and (21) Yaw said she was under duress throughout their
encounter with Mrs. Liveoak. 9 SCR Tab 1, at pp. 72-102 (testimony of John Mann).

Chester Foley did submit a deposition taken July 3, 2001, which was presethiedtate
trial court during Petitioner’s state habeas corpus proceeding and whichsajppiee record at
Doc. # 1381. In his deposition, Mr. Foley specifically denied any personal knowledge of any
facts relating to Petitioner’s capital offense,iiag that (1) he was “on dope” at the time of
Petitioner’s offense and (2) everything he knew about Petitioner’'s offentsarimed from his
spouse, Rhonda Chavers. Doc. -113&t pp. 1720 (crossexamination of Chester Foley). Mr.
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Foley’'s testimony tha(1l) Petitioner once saved Foley from a kmfelding assailant, (2)
Petitioner was a gentle person, kind to children, and would never hurt anyone, ardsé3) h
Petitioner upset and crying “because that woman done died,” might arguably have had some
relevance to the issues before the jury at the punishment phase of trial but verywékédyhave

little value at the guittnnocence phase of Petitioner’s trial. Mr. Foley’s deposition testimony on
that latter subject was ambiguous at best. Doc. #113a8pp. 910 (deposition of Chester Foley).

Mr. Foley never stated in his deposition whether he could tell that Petitionegrieeasg Mrs.
Liveoak’s demise or merely fearful for his own fate because the policedwyered her lifeless

body in the place where Petitioner left her. Mr. Foley did state in his depositidrethaver told
Dennis Bowen that Petitioner had robbed and left an old lady in the trunk of hé&amar# 138-

1, at pp. 9, 11, 13 (deposition of Chester Foley). Given the Petitioner's admissions in-his post
arrest statement to police and his trial testimony, Foley's denial that he told Boaen ab
Petitioner’s offense would have had little value in terms of impeaching Boweittsnnocence
phase testimony at Petitioner’s tridkegardless of who told Bowen about Petitioner’s offense, it
was undisputed at trial that, as early as July 14, 1994, Bowen knew exactly whamhétdtiad

done. ltis also significant that, despite the length and breadth of Petitiam#rigigocence phase

trial testimony, Petitioner never contradicted Bowen'’s testimony that Bowé&mocted Petitioner

and Yaw about their robbery of an old woman whom they locked in the trunk of her car. In fact,
strikingly absent from Petitioner’s trial testimony isyamention of Dennis BowerRetitioner’'s

trial counsel never asked Petitioner to refute the most damaging aspectesf 8tial testimony,

i.e., Bowen’s assertion that Petitioner said he hoped or wished the old lady would die. While
Petitioner has iddified dozens, if not hundreds, of alleged deficiencies in the performance of his
trial counsel, Petitioner has not complained in his state habeas corpus prooeéstiegal habeas
corpus proceeding that his trial counsel should have asked Petitioaédress this aspect of
Bowen'’s trial testimony during the course of Petitioner's own subsequétitrmocence phase

trial testimony. Petitioner’s silence on this point, both in his trial testimony ancasitederal
habeas pleadings, speaks volumes.

Moreover, had he testified at Petitioner’s trial, Chester Foley would heare dubject to
crossexamination, and likely devastating impeachment, based upon his admitted draod bise a
close personal relationship with the Petitioner. Petitioner etifithout contradiction at the
guilt-innocence phase of his trial that (1) he obtained crack from Foley, (2) he smoked crack at
Foley’s residence, (3) he and Foley stole items together which they sold to paygerand (4)
Foley fenced property Petitioner had stolen to pay for crack. 7 SCR8/&R1 (testimony of
Donald Dallas).

Viewed in the context of all the evidence now before the court, there is no abkson
probability the outcome of the guiltnocence phase of Petitioner’s trial would hémeen any
different had (1) Lieutenant Mann testified at Petitioner’s trial in theesaanner as he did during
Petitioner’s state habeas corpus proceeding and preliminary hearing and (2)dyiteBofied at
Petitioner’s trial that he saw Petitioner apand crying “because that woman done died.” In fact,
Lieutenant Mann’s testimony about the short duration of the high from a hit of crack weald ha
greatly undermined the efforts of Petitioner’s trial counsel to convincédpetis jury that
Petitiorer was so high on crack Petitioner could not form the intent to commit murder. Ligutena
Mann’s testimony during Petitioner’s preliminary hearing would have undedntiveeefforts of
Petitioner’s trial counsel to show (at both phases of trial) thaidhetitwas under the domination
of Yaw at the time of Mrs. Liveoak’s abduction and robbery. “Counsel are not requireséntr
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F.2d 1238, 1242 (11th Cir. 1991) (“If a defendant wishes to speak with a
Governmentwitness prior to trial he is free to do pooviding the Government
witness agrees to the meetin@emphasis added))Jnited States v. Fischeb86

F.2d 1082, 1092 (5th Cir. 1982) (“no witness is obligated to honor a defendant’s
request for an interview.’ Prosecution witnesses are under no legal obligation to
talk with the defense prior to trialUnited States v. Brow55 F.2d407, 425 (5th

Cir. 1977) (holding a criminal defendant’s right of access to any prospective
prosecution witness is countealanced by the witnesstight to refuse to be
interviewed or to dictate the circumstances under which he will submit to an
interview), cert. denied435 U.S. 904 (1978Wnited States v. Ri¢&50 F.2d 1364,
1374 (5th Cin. (“All that a defendant is entitled to is access to agaas/e witness.

This right, however, exists esqually with the witnesses’ right to refuse to say
anything.”), cert. denied434 U.S. 954 (1977 Jnited States v. Bensp#95 F.2d

475, 479 (5th Cir.) (“[A] government witness who does not wish to speak to or be
interviewed by the defense prior to trial may not be required to do sext)denied

419 U.S. 1035 (1974F®

cumulative evidence or evidence incompatible with the defense stratiggde v. Hall582 F.3d
1273, 1287 (11th Cir. 2009ert. denied560 U.S. 958 (2010).

1s8“Pyrsuant t@onner v. City oPrichard 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (en banc),
opinions of the Fifth Circuit issued prior to October 1, 1981 are binding precedent in the Eleventh
Circuit.” United States v. Spark806 F.3d 1323, 1342 n.16 (11th Cir. 20X®)t. denied136 S.
Ct. 2009 (2016).
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Federal habeas corpus petitioners asserting claims of ineffective assistanc
based on counsel’s failure to call a witness (either a lay withess or an expert witness)
satisfy the prejudice prong 8tricklandonly by naming the withesdemonstrating
the withess was available to testify and would have dongetiing out the content
of the witnesss proposed testimony, and showing the testimony would have been
favorable to a particular defense/Noodfox v. Cain609 F3d at 808; Day v.
Quarteman, 566 F.3cat538. See also Reed v. Sgd-la. Dep't of Corr, 767 F.3d
at 1262 (federal habeas petitioner who failed to show an uncalled witness was
available to testify at the time of trial failed to satisfy prejudice pror&rickland.
Petitioner has neither identified, nor furnished an affidavit from, a medicatt@xpe
anyone else wh(l) was available to testify at the time of Petitioner’s capital murder
trial and(2) could have furnished any testimony at the guiftocence phase tial
which would have supported Petitioner’'s exculpatory thesegarding the cause
of Mrs. Liveoak’s death“[T]he Sixth Amendment does not require that counsel do
what is impossible or unethicalUnited States v. Croniel66 U.S.648,656 n.19
(1984). Counsel is not required to present every possible theory that might be helpful
to his client. Butts v. GDCP Warder850 F.3d 1201 120408 (11th Cir. 2017).
Petitioner’s conclusory assertions of inadequate investigation by his dédanse
vis-a-vis the prosecution’s guidihnocence case against Petitioner do not satisfy the

prejudice prong o$trickland
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Petitioner's conclusory assert®that his trial counsel failed to adequately
investigate the case against Petitioner aghare for the guHinnocence phase of
trial also fail to satisfy the deficient performance pron@wickland. Petitioner’s
sworn pro sestate habeas corpus petitiare( his Rule 32 petition) contains a
numberof potential withesses whom Petitioner identifies as possessing personal
knowledge of facts relating to his capital offen¥et Petitioner does not allege any
specific facts, nor furnish any evidence, showing that he ever informed his trial
counsel or mitigation specialist of either (1) themes of the potential witnesses
identified in his state habeas petition or &2y information which might have
proven helpful in gathering exculpatory or impeachment evidence for use at the
guilt-innocence phase of trialn sum, Petitioner fails to allege any specific facts, or
furnish any evidence, showing exactly what information he claims he conveyed to
his defense team which would reasonably have led his defense team to conduct
further investigation into particular defensive theoriesSee Stricklad v.
Washington466 U.S. at 691.:

The reasonableness or counsel's actions may be determined or

substantially influenced by the defendant’s own statements or actions.

Counsel’'s actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed

strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied

by the defendant. In particular, what investigation decisions are

reasonable depends critically on such information. For example, when

the facts that support a certain potential line of defense are generally

known to counsel because of what the defendant has said, the need for

further investigation may be considerably diminished or eliminated
altogether. And when a defendant has given counsel reason to believe
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that pursuing certain investigations would be fruitless or even harmful,
counsel's failure to pursue those investigations may not later be
challenged as unreasonable. In shoriguiry into counsel’s
conversations with the defendandy be critical to a proper assessment
of counsel’s investigation decisions, just as it may be critical to a proper
assessment of counsel’s other litigation decisions.

Petitioner’s trial counsel cannot reasonably be faulted for failing to pursue
exculpatory or impeachment evidence relevant to the-igmiticence phase of ttia
when the Petitioner had personal knowledge of the existence of such evidence but
failed to either(1) inform his trial counsel that such evidence existed or (2) furnish
information suggesting that inquiry into specific areas might produce exculpatory or
Impeachment evidencdetitioner does not allege any specific facts or present any
evidence showing he was unable to communicate any specific information to his
trial counsel relevant to the guifinocence phase of his trial. Petitioner’s trial
counselcannot reasonably be faulted for failing to discover information which was
within the personal knowledge of Petitioner but which Petitioner failed to disclose
to his trial counsel. Petitioner does not identify any information available prior to
Petitioneis trial which would have suggested that further inquiry into the cause of
Mrs. Liveoak's death would likely have produced exculpatory or impeachment
evidence.To be effectivea lawyer is not required to pursue every path until it bears
fruit or until all hope withers. Ledford v. Warden, Georgia Diagnostic and

Classification Prison818 F.3d 600, 649 (11th Cir. 2016grt. filedOct. 18, 2016
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(No. 166444) Puiatti v. Sely, Fla. Dep’t of Corr, 732 F.3d 1255, 1280 (11th Cir.
2013),cert. denied135 SCt. 68 (2014).

Petitioner does not allege any facts or present any evidence showing it was
objectively unreasonable for his trial counsalt to pursue medical evidence
showing Mrs. Liveoak died as a result of some proximate cause other than
Petitioner'sactions. No such evidence was presented at his 1995 trial. In his
pleadings before this court Petitioner identifies no such evidence that was available
at the time of his capital murdeial.>>° In conclusionat no point in his state habeas
corpus proceeding or in this federal habeas corpus proceeding has Petitioner
identified any medical expert or other person who could have offered testimony at
Petitioner’s 1995 capital murder trial which would has@ntradicted the trial

testimony of the medical exaner or supported any of Petitioner'speculative

159 For example, Petitioner argues in conclusory fashion that “If the defense had put on
evidence showing that the average pemsounld not have died in the time Mrs. Liveoak spent in
the trunk, the state’s theory would have been seriously called into question and thieefur
would have found Mr. Dallas guilty only of manslaughter.” Doc. # 1, at p. 3B, Yet Petitioner
has not alleged any specific facts or presented any evidence showing therey veaglance
available at the time of Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trial to support Petsia@ogiciusory
assertion that “the average person” would not have died if left without food, water, catiamtil
in thetrunk of a car parked in an unshaded Alabama parking lot for more than twenty four hours
in July. Absent a showing that a witness or some scientific data existediateltd Petitioner’'s
1995 trial to support this bizarre contention, Petitioner’s lemacy complaint fails to satisfy the
prejudice prong oftrikcland Counsel is not required to do the impossiblénited States v.
Cronic, 466 U.S.at 656 n.19. Furthermore, even if Petitioner's 1995 trial counsel could have
presented evidence showing that “the average person” could have survived such an esdeal, M
Liveoak was not an “average person.” Petitioner was well aware of the factehaaskelderly
and had a bad heart. He admitted during his trial testimony that (1) Mrs. Liveoaluoaded
the fact she had a heart condition and (2) his own father, whom Petitioner describeaag a st
man, had died suddenly of a heart condition. 8 SCR181Brossexamination of Donald Dallas).
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exculpatory teories regarding the cause of Mrs. Liveoak’'s deathikewise,
Petitioner identifies nothermedicalor scientificevidence available at the time of
his capital trial which would hawehallerged the medical examiner’s trial testimony
or supportedany of Petitioner’'sspeculativedefensive theories regarding the cause
of Mrs. Liveoak’s death.

Moreover, the state trial court noted in its findings in the course of Petitioner’s
state habeas corpuysoceeding that Alabama law does not require a criminal
defendant’s unlawful act or omission be the sole cautieeofictim’sdeath!®® See
Cardenv. Stateb21 S0.2842, 349 (Ala. Crim. App. 1992) (“The wound or wounds
inflicted by a defendant need not be the sole cause of death, only a partial cause, or
a contributing factor that accelerated death. The fact thataneiother contributing
causes of death does moevent the wound or wounds inflicted by the defendant
from being the legal cause of deatithe other contributing causes of death may
precede, be synchronous with, or follow the commission of the offense charged.”),
cert. deniedMay 28, 1993). UndeAlabama law, whatever may have been the

physical condition of Mrs. Liveoak at the time Petitioner abducted her, Petitioner

16013 SCR (Revised) Tab 14-A, at pp. 23-24:

Even if thedefendant’'s act was only a partial cause accelerating death, the
defendant is responsible. Therefore, even if other contributing causes did exist,
such as the time it took to open the trunk or agxisting disease, they are
irrelevant. The reason these alleged contributing causes are irrelevecausd,

even if true, they would be a direct result of Dallas locking Liveoak in the trunk of
her car. (Citations omitted).
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cannot benefit therefrom; an accused must take his victim as he findsGlaeden

v. State621 So.2d at 34Reynolds v. Statd84 So.2d 1171, 1173 (Ala. Crim. App.
1985) Petitioner’s speculative defensive theories fail to take into consideragion t
Alabama law of criminal responsibiligpplicable to his capital offens& person

is criminally liable if the result would not have occurred but for his conduct,
operating either alone or concurrently with another cause, unless the concurrent
cause was sufficient to produce the result and the conduct of the actor clearly
insufficient.” Ala. Code8 13A-2-5(a) (1975). Thus, even if Btitioner could have
presented evidence showing Mrs. Liveoak’s@xesting heart condition contributed

to her demise, such evidence would not have exonerated Petitiorfact,it was
undisputel at trialthat Mrs. Liveoak’s prexisting medical condidin did contribute

to her demise Dr. Stillwell testified without contradiction that Mrs. Liveoak’s heart
was failing, her cause of death was cardiac failure, laatbsked the cardiac reserve

to be able to handle the extremely stressful confines in vitettioner admitted he
placed heri.e, a hot, dark, unventilated, confinsgace'®! Petitioner’'s complaint

that his trial counsel failed to pursue, develop, and present Petitioner’'s speculative
defensive theories about other contributing causes todathdbesnot satisfy the

prejudice prong o$trickland.

1617 SCR 61518 (testimony of Allan Stillwell).
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(2) Failure toMeetAdequately with PetitionéPrior to Trial

Insofar as Petitioner alleges that his trial counsel failed to adequately meet
with him prior to trial, Petitioner’s naked assertion that he met only once with his
lead trial counsel prior to October 1995 was refuted byicentoverteddeposition
testmony of his lead defense counsel during Petitioner's state habeas corpus
proceeding. Petitionerigadtrial counsel identified no less than five specific dates
on which he consulted with Petitiongnor to the October 11, 1995pretrial
meeting identifd in Petitioner’s original petitiotf? Petitioner's cecounsel at trial
and investigatomnitigation specialist both testified without contradiction during
petitioner’s state habeas corpus proceeding that they met with and conferred with

petitioner priorto trial %3 Petitioner offered the state habeas court and offers this

12 Attorney Agricola testified during his deposition taken June 26, 2001, in the course of
Petitioner’'s state habeas corpus proceeding that (1) he met and conferred itvghePeain
February 28, March 7, July 26, August 24, September 5, and October 11, 1995, (2) his meetings
and confereces with Petitioner on each of those dates were reflected in his time shesttesub
to the trial court, (3) his time sheets did not reflect all of the work he did prepariRgtiboner’s
trial, (4) he and Petitioner discussed the circumstances wigr Petitioner gave his statement
to the Montgomery Police Department, (5) Petitioner admitted that he put Mreakive the
trunk, (6) the evidence of Petitioner’s guilt was overwhelming, and (7) the only deteatsgy
available was to argue Petitier could not have formed the intent to commit murder because he
was high on crack. 13 SCR (Revised Tab 14, at pp. 155, 159, 165, 162, IR1t82 (Deposition
of Algert Agricola).

183 Attorney Duffey testified without contradiction that (1) he was dbleonsult with
Petitioner, get discovery, and develop a trial strategy, (2) Susan Jamapps@ged to serve as
the defense team’s investigator, (3) attorney Algricola was heavily involvatbthea case but
did consult with the defense team, (4) teéetise team chose Dr. Renfro to serve as their testifying
mental health expert, (5) Petitioner expressed “great remorse” foiirhis, ¢6) the only surprise
the defense experienced at trial was Dennis Bowen'’s testimony thatitrenPehad told Bowen
he hoped Mrs. Liveoak died or didn't care if she died, (7) the defenseectassned Bowen on
the discrepancy between his trial testimony and prior statement to p@icehe absence of a
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court no specific facts or evidence showing Petitioner was unable to communicate
to his defense team any of the information contained in Petitioner’s lengthy, sworn,
pro sestate habeasorpus petition Nor does Petitioner allege any specific facts, or
present any evidence, showing that, but for the failure of his defense teantto mee
with him more ofter{or at greater lengjlprior to trial either (1) new or additional
exculpatory or impeachment evideramild have been developed and presented at
trial or (2) new defensive strategies could have been developed and implemented at
trial. See Roberts v. Commn’r. Ala. Dep’t of €p677 F.3d 1086, 10924 (11th

Cir. 2012) (trial counsel’s failure to investigate and present an insar#gssedid

recitation of Petitioner’s alleged statement anywhere in Bana&atement to police, (8) Petitioner
specifically asked Duffy not to contact Petitioner's mother, and (9i¢tfense still learned that
Petitioner came from a dysfunctional family and presented evidence of same amidgfer@nt
phase of trial. 12 SCR Tab 13, at pp-1141, 2728, 30, 4647, 55, 5859, 6566 (testimony of
Jeffery C. Duffey).

Susan James, Petitioner’s ceappointed investigator, testified without contradiction that
(1) the defense team'’s investigation focused on Petitioner’s drug addiction acohtbation
Petitioner was high on crack at the time of his offense, (2) she consultedl| $enes with Dr.
Renfro with regard to that subject, (3) she spoke with Carolyn Yaw’s attorneysét) ba Yaw's
statement to police, the defense &edfid Carolyn Yaw would be a very damaging prosecution
witness if called to testify at trial, (5) during her consultations with petitidregonsistently
admitted the offense conduct but denied intending to cause Mrs. Liveoak’s death,|¢6hehi
focusof the defense was on Petitioner’s drug addiction, the defense team also beceasrtbawa
Petitioner had a terrible family life and fathered his first child atfagdeen, and (7) because of
time constraint she was unable to obtain any documentation on Petitioner’'s backgroutal prior
trial. 12 SCR 731, 84, 8690, 95, 97 (testimony of Susan James).

Petitioner presented the state habeas court with no affidavit alleging spactfciri
support of his conclusory ineffective assistance claims. Instead, Petipi@sented only his
sworn, pro sestate habeas corpus petition, in which he made wholly conclusory assertions of
ineffective assistance but offered no specific facts or evidence showing hveas lpgejudiced by
his trial counsel’s alleged failure to adequately meet with him prior to trial. Petipoesents
this court with no affidavit establishing that he was unable to communicate any atitorm
relevant to the guHinnocence phase of trial to his defense team prior to trial due to ireidequ
meetings and pretrial conferences.
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not prejudice petitioner within the meaningStficklandwherethe only evidence
presented to federal habeas court supporting Petiteoimsanity defense consisted

of a report stating (1) the petitioner did not have a major and debilitating mental
iliness and (2) despite the petitioner’s history of substance abuse, suicide attempts,
and auditory hallucinationhjs personality disordeind past substance abuse would

not substantially interfere with his understanding of right from wraregj, denied

133 S. Ct. 949 (2013)Petitioner’s conclusory complaint about his trial counsels’
alleged failure to meet sufficiently withm prior to trial fails to satisfy the prejudice
prong ofStrickland.

(3) Failure to InterviewProsecutiotwWitnesseg°rior to Trial

Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to intervi@sious law
enforcement officers prior to trialncluding Detectve Hill, Detective Cleghorn,
Detective Smith, Detective Fuller, Sergeant Mann, Danny Smith, and Dr. Stillwell.
Petitioner does npthowever,allege any specific facter present any evidence
showing what potentially helpful information his defense team could have gleaned
through pretrial interviews of these individuals. This complaint is especially
problematic in view of the fact Sergeant Mabetective Hill and Degctive Fuller
did not testify at Petitioner’s capital murder tiagd Petitioner’s trial counsel cress
examined Dr. Stillwell and Detective Saitiut not Detective Cleghorn or Danny

Smith,when they did testify for the prosecutioRetitioner has presented the court
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with no affidavits from Detective HillDetective Fuller Detective Saint, or Dr.
Stillwell stating (1) they would have submitted to a pretrial interview by Petitioner’s
defense team if requested to do so or (2) what information helpfué tdetlense

they could have furnished if they had been interviewed prior to ttildewise,
Petitioner offers no specific factual allegations or evidence suggesting what
information helpful to the defense Lieutenant (then Sergeant) Mann could have
furnishel if he had submitted to a pretrial interview. While Petitioner’s trial counsel
did not crossexamine either Detective Cleghorn or Danny Smith following their
direct trial testimony, Petitioner has not furnished an affidavit from either of these
persons stating (1) he would have submitted to a pretrial interview by Petitioner’s
defense team if requested to do so or (2) what he could have tastifieccross
examination that would have proven helpful to the defense if he had submitted to
such a pretrialnterview.

Complaints of uncalled witnesses are not favored because the presentation of
testimonial evidence is a matter of trial strategy and because allegations of what a
witness would have testified are largely speculatBeckelew v. United States’5
F.2d 1226, 1227 (5th Cir. 1977).To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim
based upon uncalled witnesses, an applicant must name the witness, demonstrate
that the witness would have testified, set out the content of the witness’s proposed

testimory, and show that the testimony would have been favoraliBgggory v.
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Thaler, 601 F.3d 347, 352 (5th Cir.pert. denied 562 U.S. 911 (2010). “An
applicant ‘who alleges a failure to investigate on the part of his counsel must allege
with specificity wha the investigation would have revealed and how it would have
altered the outcome of the trial.Td. Petitioner’'s conclusory complaints about his
trial counsels’ failure to interview these individual prior to trial fail to satsfiger

of these requirements and do not satisfy the prejudice prdsigicikland.

(4) Failure to Call ay Witnesses

Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to Balle Blake, Carlton
Morrison, Chester Foley, and Carolyn Yaw to testify at trial. Petitiones dot,
however, furnish an affidavit from any of these individuals establishing (1) they
were available and willing to testify at the time of Petitioner’'s 1995 capitatler
trial or (2) they possessed personal knowledge of anyfeaaisable to the dehse

relevant to the issues before the jury at the gruilbcence phase of trifl? For the

164|n his June 26, 2001 deposition, Chester Foley did state that he would have been willing
to testify at the time of petitioner’s trial had he been subpoenaed. Doc.l# 438 16 (deposition
testimony of Chestdfoley). In the same deposition, however, Mr. Foley repeatedly denied that
he possessed any personal knowledge of the facts or circumstancesafd?atitiapital offense,
claiming (1) he was “hung over” or “in jail” during the relevant time period and (2ytameg he
knew about Petitioner’s abduction and robbery of Mrs. Liveoak he learned from hiRhvaifela
Chavers. Doc. # 138, at pp. 911, 1314, 1721. Petitioner has not furnished any affidavits from
Blake, Morrison, or Yaw stating they would have been willing to testify had they bked ta
do so at Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trial or establishing they could hash&d any
testimony helpful to the defense. As explained in note di5&3 the testimony of Montgomery
Police Sergea John Mann during the preliminary hearing in Petitioner’s capital murder trial
establishes that if Carolyn Yaw had testified in a manner similar to the statemeatshmlice
following her arrest, she would have furnished testimony with the potential/astate the defense
at both phases of Petitioner's capital murder trial. Petitioner’s -epmainted investigator
testified without contradiction during Petitioner’s state habeas corpus griogéleat she believed
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same reasons discussed above in Section XIlI.C.2.b. in connection with Pestioner’
complaints abouhe failures of his trial counsels interview prosecution witnesses
prior to trial, Petitioner’'s conclusory complaints about his trial counsels’ failures to
call any of theséay witnesses alstail to satisfy the prejudice prong 8trickland
Petitioner has failed to allege any specific facts, much less furnish any affidavits or
other evidence, showing any of these individuals could have furnished any testimony
helpful to the defense had they been called to testifyeaquiltinnocence phase of
Petitioner'scapital murdetrial.1®> Therefore, theseonclusorycomplaints fail to

satisfy the prejudice prong 8ftrickland

Carolyn Yaw “would be the most daging witness in all regards, because Mr. Dallas had initially
taken responsibility for this, exculpating Ms. Yaw.” 12 SCR Tab 13, at p. 77 (testimoogani S
James).

165 Furthermore, based upon the testimony of Lieutenant (then Sergeant) Mann at the
preliminary hearing in Petitioner’s capital murder case, there is everynreabelieve Carolyn
“Polly” Yaw would have devastated the defense had she testified at Petgitmar’ Seenote
158 supra. Likewise, also as explained in note 18&pra the deposition of Chester Foley in June
2001 did not furnish any (1) new exculpatory or impeachment evidence or (2) other new
information which showed a reasonable probabilityt, but for the failure of Petitioner’s trial
counsel to call Mr. Foley to testify at trial, the outcome of the-guiibcence phase of Petitioner’s
capital murder trial would have been any different. To reiterate, during his June 200fiatepos
Mr. Foley repeatedly disavowed any personal knowledge of the facts or circursstaince
Petitioner’s capital offense. Doc. # 138at pp. 911, 1314, 1721. Thus, contrary to Petitioner’s
conclusory assertion, there is no evidence currently before this estafilishing that Chester
Foley could have testified Petitioner was high on crack cocaine at the tiretitoddner’s capital
offense.
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(5) Failure to Show Petitioner wasligh” at the Time of His
Capital Offense

Petitioner argues his trial counsel should have discovered and presented
evidence showing Petitioner wasigh” on crack cocaine at the time of his capital
offense. The fundamental problem with this argument is that this is precisely what
Petitioner’s tral counsel attempted to do when they called Dr. Renfro and Petitioner
himself to testify at the guihnocence phase of Petitioner's 1995 capital murder
trial. While Petitioner has produced the affidavit of Dr. Benedict, this expert does
notclaim to have any personal knowledge of Petitioner’s condition at the time of his
capital offense. Moreover, in relevant part Dr. Benedict merely gahettrial
testimony of Dr. Renfro insofar as he suggé®stitioner was motivated by a very
intense’ craving' to get high on crack at the time of his offense, as opposed to being
directly under the influence @ crack*high’ throughout the entire time frame in
which the Petitioner abducted Mrs. Liveoak from a Prattville parking lot, drove her
to Hope Hull, locked Mrs. Liveoak in the trunk of her car, drove her back to
Montgomery, convinced her to divulge information on how to access her bank
account electronically, and then abandoned her vehicle in an unshaded isolated
portion ofa central Alabamaarking lot on a Jy afternoon. Petitioner offers no
evidence showing it was possible for him to remain “high” on crack throughout that
entire time frame, rather than to be suffering fr@ficraving' for more crack. As

intense as thdtcraving may have beenlir. Renfroand Dr.Benedicteachsuggest
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it was quite strong), neither they nor any other withess whfuha@shed an affidavit
In this case suggesy Petitioner was actually “highf.e., experiencing the euphoric
effects of crack cocaindghroughout the entirduly afternoon during which he
abducted, robbed, and abandoned Mrs. Liveoak to die in the trunk of R& car.
Petitioner’s own trial testimony furnished the most devastating evidence

undermining his assertion that he was “Kigte., experiencing the euphareffects
of crack,throughout his capital offense. g his trial testimony Petitioner did his
best to assert that he was “high” on crack at the time of his offgeisee admitted
that (1) he had genuine concern over being captifé€@) he was awaref the
wrongful nature of his action'§? (3) he was able to drive Mrs. Liveoak’s vehicle
from Prattville to Hope Hull and then back to Montgom&#y(4) he was able to

negotiate with Mrs. Liveoak to convince her to get into the trunk of her car and to

166 On crossexaminationprosecution witness Dennis Bowen, an admitted-kimg crack
abuser, testified without contradiction that the high from crack cocaine is veryeittenwears
off very fast and leaves a user with a “craving.” 7 SCR 676 (@xasiination of Dennis Bowen).

w7 «Like | say, | wasn’t thinking about too many things but one thing. | am robbing
somebog, and | am going to be in big trouble. | am going to spend a lot of time in jaikeif |
caught doing this. And wasn’t reallyif | had been thinking, it would never have happened.” 8
SCR 816 (crosexamination of Donald Dallas). Petitioner alsonétted he was worried about
getting caught and cut his hair when he learned of Mrs. Liveoak’s death. 8 SCR@&2b (c
examination of Donald Dallas).

1%8]d. In addition, Dr. Renfro testified without contradiction at the gaittocence phase
of Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial that Petitioner, despite his cramirgyeck, still knew it
was wrong to abduct and rob Mrs. Liveoak and leave her in the trunk of her car. 7 SEBR 762
(crossexamination of Dr. Guy Renfro).

1697 SCR 79499 (testimony of Doald Dallas).

203



divulge the information necessary to access her bank account electrorifc@)y,

he took steps to avoid being captureel, avoiding using the phone and arranging
with Chester Foley to have someone (not a cab driver) take him back to the parking
lot “to make sure she was goné’* and @) his primaryfocus throughout his
abduction of Mrs. Liveoak was the desire to get money so he could get high gn crack
i.e.,12“ just wanted to get the money and get the dope and get in my own world.”
Petitioner has failed to present any evidence to this court showing there was any
admissible evidence (other than his ownsffam-convincing, testimonyavailable

at the time of his trial showing Petitioner was actually “high” on crack cocaine at the
time of his offense.For these reasons, Petitioner's complaint fails to satisfy the
prejudice prong o$trickland

(6) Failure to Adequately Crodsxamine Dennis Bowen

Petitioner argues his trial counsel failed to adequately -@xasine Dennis
Bowen Even a cursory review of the record from Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder
trial refutes this assertion. Petitioner’s trial courtsessexamined Dennis Bowen

extensively, eliciting admissions that @9wenbegan using crack cocaine in 1992,

1707 SCR 796-99 (testimony of Donald Dallas).
1118 SCR 801-03 (testimony of Donald Dallas).
1728 SCR 80103 (testimony of Donald Dallas); 8 SCR 818 (crossexamination of

Donald Dallas).
1738 SCR 817 (cross-examination of Donald Dallas).
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(2) Bowendid not tell police about Petitioner’s statement that he wanted the old lady
to die when interviewed in July 1994, (3) he pleaded quilty to theft on October 25,
1994 in Autauga County, (4) he was initially charged with robbery in ts#, ¢5)

an arrest waant was then outstanding against him for failing to comply with the
terms of his probation, (6) he was high on crack at the time he confronted Petitioner
and allegedly heard Petitioner say he hoped or wished the old lady would die, and
(7) the first timeBowenever told anyone in Montgomery County about Petitioner’'s
statement (that he hoped or wished the old lady would die) was when he testified at
Petitioner's trial’® Petitioner does not allege with any reasonable degree of
specificity exactly what additional questions his trial counsel should have asked
Dennis Bowen on crossxamination or present any evidence showing that
additional crosexamination of Bowen would have furnished any additional
Impeachment evidence or any exculpatory eviderfsee Huntv. Commn’r, Ala.

Dep'’t of Corr, 666 F.3d 708, 725 (11th Cir. 2012) (holding petitioner’s complaint
about the scope of his trial counsel’s cregamination of a prosecution witness
failed to satisfy prejudice prong 8tricklandwhere the petitioner failed to present
evidence showing either (1) an agreement between the witness and the state or (2)

that further probing the witnesstriminal history would have revealed anything

1747 SCR 675-98 (cross-examination of Dennis Bowen).
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significantly more damaging to the witnesstedibility than the informationligeady
known to the jury)cert. denied133 S. Ct. 611 (2012)This conclusory complaint
fails to satisfy either prong &trickland!”

(7) Failure toObject toProsecution’sImpropef Jury Selection

Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to objethiégrosecution’s
use of extraneous information during jury selecti@n, the prosecutor placing a call
to his spouse at the Department of Revenue to get background information on a
venire member who also worked ther&s explained at length above in Section
XII.B., however, there was no legitimate legal basis for an objection by Petitioner’'s

defense counsel to the prosecutor’s actidhsThe Alabama Court of Criminal

75 Insofar as Petitioner complains generically about his trial counsdistefdo cross
examine prosecution witnesses adequately, his complaints are whollysmgcl Other than
Bowen and Dr. Stillwell, Petitioner does not identify with reasonable spégiéiny prosecution
witnesses whom he claims his trial counsel should have asked additional questions-on cross
examination. As explained above and below, Petitioner does not allege any faetsedrany
evidenceshowing that additional crosxamination of either Bowen or Dr. Stillwell would have
produced any additional impeachment evidence or exculpatory testimony. Thtiené&ti
complaints about his trial counsels’ failure to cregamine Bowen and Dr. Stillwell adequately
fail to satisfy the prejudice prong 8trickland Hunt v. Commn’r, Ala. Dep’t of Corr666 F.3d
at 725 As explained above in Section XIII.C.1.a., Petitioner has presented no evidence showing
Bowen ever made a deal wiletitioner’s prosecutors (or anyone else) for anything in exchange
for his testimony at Petitioner’s capital murder trial.

176 As explained aboven Section XII.B., duringPetitioner's Batson hearing the
prosecution explained that it struck several mesbéthe jury venire because they had relatives
with criminal convictions. 6 SCR 4780. In response, Petitioner’s trial counsel protested that the
prosecution had not stricken white venire members 108 or 84 even though they both had relatives
with drug problems and specifically pointed out that the wife of venire member 84omasted
of “a drug problem.” 6 SCR 490. In point of fact, the defense struck venire membenth®& wi
second peremptory strike; Petitioner’s trial counsel explained the defehse Hecause venire
member 108 had a close relative who had drug problems in the past. 6 SCR 468, 500. In response
to the observations of Petitioner’s trial counsel, the prosecutor explained it didiketehire
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Appeals’ opinion irkKynard cited by Petitioner in his state and federal habeas corpus
pleadingssimply does not stand for the legal principle for which Petitiaissertst
does!’” The failure of Petioner’s trial counsel to raisgucha futile or meritless
objectiondid not constitute deficient performance ahd not prejudice Petitioner
within the meaning oStrickland See Hittson v. GDCP Warden59 F. 3d 1210,
1262 (11th Cir. 2014) (failure of collateral counsel to raise a meritless claim does

not prejudice petioner), cert. deniegd 135 S. Ct. 2126 (2015Brown v. United

member 84 because it had obtaim&@rmation which convinced him venire member 84 would
be favorable to the prosecution:

Judge, in regards to [venire member 84], who | did leave on the jury and made a

conscious decision to leave on the jury, | checked into the background of [venire

membe 84]. He works at the Department of Revenue. My wife works at the

Department of Revenue, so | found out some information on [venire member 84],

whether he would be a good juror or not. | got a good recommendation, so | left

him on my jury for that reason. | knew something on him. There is a big difference
from striking someone who has got [sic] people in their family with murder
convictions and someone whose wife was on diet pills. There is a big difference
between that.

6 SCR 497-98.

Thestate tridjudge specifically found during Petitioner’s state habeas corpus proceeding
as follows: “This Court is unaware of any rule of law that forbids eitlagtygn a criminal
prosecution from asking family members or friends about prospective juronsiletyknow and
giving a recommendation.” 13 SCR (Revised) TabAl4&t p. 28. Petitioner alleges no facts
showing that (1) counsel in his capital murder case were precluded by court tatdéz, sr rule
from revealing the identities of jury venire membgrgersons outside of officers of the court,
i.e., Petitioner does not allege that he was tried by an anonymous jury, or (2) grordeq rule,
or statute precluded counsel for either party from conducting a background iniestig® the
memberof Petitioner’s jury venire. Thus, Petitioner does not allege that his trsat@reducted
under any special procedures mandating anonymity for members of the jury vénder such
circumstances, Petitioner’s allegations that one of the prosecutors callegobise to seek
background information about venire member 84 do not allege a violation of any staterak fed
constitutional or statutory right.

177 Seenote 122supra
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States 720 F.3d 1316, 1335 (11th Cir. 2013} (s also crystal clear that there can
be no showing of actual prejudice from an appellate attorney’s failure to raise a
meritless claim.”)cert denied 135 S. Ct. 48 (2014Freeman v. Atty. Gerb36
F.3d 1225, 1233 (11th Cir. 2008) (“A lawyer cannot be deficient for failing to raise
a meritless claim”)¢ert. denied555 U.S. 1110 (2009Bolender v. Singletaryl6
F.3d 1547, 1573 (11th Cir.) (“it is axnatic that the failure to raise nonmeritorious
Issues does not constituteeffective assistance”gert. denied 513 U.S. 1022
(1994); United States v. Winfiel®d60 F.2d 970, 974 (11th Cir. 1992) (“a lawyer’s
failure to preserve a meritlessig plainly cannot prejudice a client”).

(8) Failure to Object to the Medical Examiner’s Opinion that

Mrs. Liveoak’s Death was a “Homicid& Failure to
Adequately Cros&xaminethe Medical Examiner

Petitioner complaing conclusory fashion thdtis trial counsel failed t¢l)
object to the medical examiner's opinion that Mrs. Liveoak's death was a
“homicide€ and(2) adequately crosexamine Dr. Stillwell.

Petitioner does not, however, offer any legal basis for sucbbgction
beyond the conclusory assertion in his original petition that the medical examiner’s
testimony addressed “a legal determination he was, of course, not permitted to
make.” (Doc. #1, at p. 30} 77). Petitioner’s original petition and subsequerits
brief are bereft of any legal authority supporting Petitioner’'s conclusory asserti

that Dr. Stillwell’s opinion of “homicide” was inadmissible or otherwise subject to
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legitimate objection. The state trial judge noted in his findings in Petitsostate
habeas corpus proceeding that (1) under Alabama evidentiary rulegjlliixellS

was qualified to give his opinion concerning the cause and manner of Mrs. Liveoak’s
death, (2) Petitioner’s trial counsel did not object to Dr. Stillwell’'s opiregarding
“homicide,” but (3) Petitioner’s trial counsel did vigorously cregamine Dr.
Stillwell and elicited a concession that the term “homicide” included instances i
which the perpetrator did not intentionally cause a victim’'s d€&tfhis Court’s
independent review of the record from Petitioner's eessnination of Dr.
Stillwell confirms the accuracy of the state trial judge’s findil§<Petitioner’s trial
counsel alsmobtained anotherelevantconcession from Dr. Stillwell on cross
examination an admission that Dr. Stillwell coultbt testify as to the Petitioner’s
intent!® Petitioner does not allege any facts or cite any legal authority showing the
state habeas trial court’s finding regarding Dr. Stillwell's qualifications to express
the opinion that Mrs. Liveoak’s death was a “homicide” was in any manner
Inaccurate under applicable state law and state evidentiary Ruésgsby the state
courtson matters of state law, such as the propriety of a state trial court’s evidentiary

rulings, male during the course of a state habeas corpus proceeding are binding upon

17813 SCR (Revised) Tab 14-A. at p. 22.
1797 SCR 622-24 (crossxamination of Allan Stillwell).

1807 SCR 623 (crosexamination of Allan Stillwell).
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federal habeas court§ee Bradshaw v. Richeéy46 U.S. 74, 76 (200%)We have
repeatedly held that a state court’s interpretation of state law, including one
announced on direeppeal of the challenged conviction, binds a federal court sitting
in habeas corpus.”f,oggins v. Thomass54 F.3d 1204, 1228 (11th Cir. 2011)
(“Alabama law is what the Alabama courts hold that it js¥e also Garza v.
Stephens 738 F.3d 669, 677 (6tlCir. 2013) (“The Texas habeas court’s
interpretation of Texas evidentiary rules is therefore binding in this case. We will
not disturb the state habeas court’s conclusion that trial counsel’s failure to attempt
to introduce inadmissible evidence did nimtcaunt to deficient performance.Qert.

denied 134 S. Ct. 2876 (2014).

Because Petitioner has failed to identify a legal basis for objetdifgr
excluding) Dr. Stillwell's opinion testimony that Mrs. Liveoak's death was a
“homicide’ Petitioner'sconplaint about his trial counsel’s failure to do so fails to
satisfy either prong dbtrickland See Hittson v. GDCP Wardens9 F. 3cat 1262
(failure of collateral counsel to raise a meritless claim does not prejudice pefjtioner
Brown v. United Stateg20 F.3dat 1335 (It is also crystal clear that there can be
no showing of actual prejudice from an appellate attorney’s failure to raise a
meritless claim.”);Freeman v. Atty. Gerb36 F.3dat 1233 (“A lawyer cannot be

deficient for failing to raise a meritless clafin
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While Petitioner does identify a number of additioteglics or subjectshe
believes his trial counsel should have explored wvih Stillwell on cross
examination(Doc. # 1, at pp. 3@1, (] 77), Petitioner does not present an affidavit
from Dr. Stillwell or any other evidence establishing how Dr. Stillweluid have
addressedthose additionalsubjectshad he been asked about themm cross
examination. Thus, Petitioner has failed to show additional -excasination of
Dr. Stillwell in these or other topics would have produced any testimony helpful to
the defense.For this reason, Petitioner's complam@tboutthe scope of his trial
counsel's crosgxamination of Dr. Stillwell fail to satisfy the prejudice prong of
Strickland Hunt v.Commn’r, Ala. Dep’t of Corr.666 F.3d at 725.

(9) Failure to Object t®’rosecutorialury Arguments

Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to object to allegedly
improper jury arguments.e.. the prosecution (1) characterizing of Petitioner as a
heartless animal as contrasted to its description of Mrs. Liveoak as a good Christian
woman, (2) arguing the evidence to convict was very strong and it would not be hard
to convict Petitioner, (3) comméng on the credibility of witnesses, (4) expressing
a personal opinion as to Petitioner’s guilt, (5) commenting upon the defense’s failure
to present as a witness the person Petitioner testified had tried to give Petitioner a
ride back to the KMart parkng lot, (6) arguing Petitioner’s statement to Dennis

Bowen (abouPetitionerhoping or wishing the old lady died) was sufficient to prove
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Petitioner’s intent to kill, and (7) arguing Petitioner’s choice to use crack cocaine
did not mitigate what he did (Doc. # 1, at pp-34 11 86-96).
Generally speaking, the four proper areas for prosecutorial jury argument are

summation of the evidence, reasonable inference from the evidence, answers to
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opposing counsel’s argument, and pleas for law enforcetfleAtabama law is not

to the contrary®?

81See, e.g., Norris v. Dayi826 F.3d 821, 832 n.10 (5th Cir. 2016) (recognizing these four
areas as permissible subjects for jury argument under Texaséaw)lenied2017 WL 737858
(Feb. 27, 2017)nited States v. Flounp$42 524, 528 (7th Cir. 2016) (holding it was appropriate
for prosecutor to respond to defense counsel’'s argument about the government’sdailll a
witness by pointing at the defendant had the power to subpoena witneddedgd States v.
Miller, 799 F.3d 1097, 11667 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (holding the prosecutor’s closing arguments about
a witnesss testimony amounted to a proper summary of that testimony and the pro'secuto
references to the defendant as a “con man” or “con artist” were permissibly tiedifacsmnduct
charged in the indictment charging conspiracy to defraeet}, denied 137 S. Ct. 47 (2016);
United States v. Alcantrar@astillo, 788 F.3d 1186, 1195 (9th Cir. 2015) (prosecutor’s argument
that the testimony of a particular prosecution withess was “consisédielydble, and logical,” a
proper instance of the prosecutor drawing an inference from the evidemeethain offering an
impermissible pexmal opinion on the witness’ credibility)nited States v. Vazquearrauri,
778 F.3d 276, 2884 (1st Cir. 2015) (while it is improper for the prosecutor to personally vouch
for the credibility of a witness or to assert a personal belief in tleadef’s guilt, it is permissible
for the prosecution to offer specific reasons why a witness ought to be acceptkfalshy the
jury - such as fact cooperating witness’s testimony put him and his family ieidangitness
plea bargain agreement requin@itness to testify truthfully)Jnited States v. Johnspn67 F.3d
815, 82425 (9th Cir. 2014) (prosecution may not comment on the defendant’s failure to testify
but may properly call attention to the defendant’s failure to present excylgaidence- such
as expert testimony rebutting prosecution’s DNA evideraag}, denied 136 S. Ct. 688 (2015);
United States v. Woods64 F.3d 1342, 1247 (10th Cir. 2014) (holding it was proper for prosecutor
to argue the fact prosecution witnesses had pleadéity go conspiring to distribute
methamphetamine rendered their trial testimony more credible in meth conspirbcyceria
denied 135 S. Ct. 1866 (2019)nited States v. Garcj&@58 F.3d 714, 724 (6th Cir.) (prosecutor’'s
argument that prosecution witness accused by defense of testifyirig fiadséd have spun a more
persuasive yarn had the witness decided to lie was proper responsive juryrdargodaot an
improper personal comment on witnesstedibility), cert. denied 135 S. Ct. 498 (2014);
Insignares v. Ség, Fla. Dep’t of Corr, 755 F.3d 1273, 1284 (11th Cir. 2014) (prosecutor’s jury
argument which quoted trial testimony of victim (iderititythe defendant as the assailant) and
then asserted the defendant “did it” not an improper assertion of prosecutosisabersnion as
to defendant’'s guilt)United States v. Adking43 F.3d 176, 187 (7th Cir.) (prosecutor may
comment on veracity of a witness if that comment is immediately preceded bys$eseyior's
argument that corroborating eviderghowed the witnesstestimony to be truthfulert. denied
134 S. Ct. 2864 (2014Ynited States v. Pogl&35 F.3d 269, 277 (5th Cir. 2013) (as long as a
prosecutor’s characterization of the testifying defendant “as a lia€asonably seen as diagy
conclusions from, and is actually supported by, the evidence, the prosecutor does nibt comm
error); United States v. Runypri07 F.3d 475, 5234 (4th Cir. 2013) (prosecutor’s opening and
closing jury arguments contrasting the criminal justice systdéreatment of criminal defendant
with the defendant’s treatment of his murder victim was proper; the prosecugoirsent that the
jury should not grant the defendant mercy because the defendant showed no mercy tonhis victi
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or the victim’s family was mper; “It is, of course, perfectly permissible for the prosecution to
urge the jury not to show a capital defendant mercy.”; and prosecutor's argumerdtisggge
kidnaping, robbery, and murder victim suffered “mental torture” while being hgjdngtoint ly

the defendant prior to victim’s death a proper inference from the evidence presmrtedgnied

135 S. Ct. 46 (2014)Jnited States v. Phillips704 F.3d 754, 7667 (9th Cir. 2012) (holding is
neither unusual nor improper for a prosecutor to voice doubts about the veracity of a defendant
who has taken the stand and it is proper for the prosecutor to refer to a defendaittseliss
commenting on the evidence and asking the jury to draw reasonable infereextedgnied 133

S. Ct. 2796 (2013)United States v. Jone$74 F.3d 88, 93 (1st Cir.) (prosecutor’s closing
argument that the “defendant chose the witnesses” and “We don’t need drugs; waderenk g
were proper responses to defense counsel's closing arguments discreditiagtithiegt co
conspirators motives and asking “why are there no drugs, why is there no gen?tenied133

S. Ct. 363 92012Bryant v. Caldwell484 F.2d65, 66 (5th Cir. 1973) (prosecutor’s reference to
the defendant’s character and his appeal to the jury to convict for the sake of thefstfet
community were well within the permissible scope of jury argument for agizeprosecutor),
cert. denied415 U.S. 981 (1984).

®2See Henderson v. State  So3d __ ,  , 2017 WL 543134, *34 (Ala. Crim. App.
Feb. 10, 2017) (there is no impropriety in a prosecutor appealing to the jury foe jast to
properly perform its duty such comments are nothingore than proper pleas for justice);
Bohannonv. State  So.3d ___, , 2015 WL 6443170, *36 (Ala. Crim. App. Oct. 23, 2015)
(holding (1) “The test of a prosecutor’s legitimate argument is that whiaselvased on facts and
evidence is within the scope of proper comment and argument.” and (2) a prosecuboeseay
his impressions from the evidence, argue every legitimate inference froevittence, and
examine, collate, sift, and treat the evidence in his own wa#f{d, Ex parte Bohanngn __ 9.
3d __ , 2016 WL 5817692 (Ala. Sept. 30, 201@)t. denied137 S. Ct. 831 (2017Bohannon
v. State_ So.3d at ___, 2015 WL 6443170, *8%5 (holding prosecutor may properly (1)
argue to the jury that a death sentence is appropriate and (2) respond in @lthetaryjuments
of defense counselghanklin v. Statel87 So.3d 734, 793 (Ala. Crim. App. 2014) (prosecutor
properly argued that, based upon other evidence presented at trial, a withessmes Incsome
of the details of her trial testimony but correct about other detailsh argument was a reasonable
inference from the totality of the evidence presenteel). denied (Ala. Aug. 28, 2015)cert.
denied 136 S. Ct. 1467 (2016Brown v. State74 So0.3d 984, 1017 (Ala Crim. App.(0)
(“While it is never proper for the prosecutor to express his personal opinion as to tloé tnalt
accused during closing argument, reversible error does not occur whenuimetrgomplained
of constitutes mere expression of opinion concerning inferences, deductions and conclusions
drawn from the evidence.g@oting Allen v. State659 So2d 135, 139 Ala. Crim. App. 1994)),
aff'd, 74 So.3d 1039 (Ala. 2011)ert. denied565 U.S. 1111 (2012%30bble v. Statel04 So3d
at 970 (prosecutor’s opening statement that defendant did not want her child back and that the
child’s injuries occurred one of two waysthrough abuse or an automobile accidentere
supported by evidence showing the defendant relinquished her parental rights ancbaxjeelic
opined at trial the child’s injuries could have been caused either in an automoliénaocifrom
child abuse)Minor v. State914 So2d 372, 421 (Ala. Crim. App. 2004) (holding pleas for justice
appropriate)cert. denied914 So. 2d 372 (Ala. 20D4&ert. denied548 U.S. 925 (2006).
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(a) Opening Statement

Petitioner complains that during opening statement at the-igndtence
phase of trial, the prosecutiangued as follows (Doc. # 1, at p. 3487):.

Because, ladies and gentlemen, there was [sic] some other people out
there shopping that day in that parking lot at Food World, but they
weren’t shopping for groceries or running errands. They were out
shopping for victims, elderly people to prey upon to feed their crack
habit. There sits one tiiem right there, Donald Dallas.

What Donald Dallas did, ladies and gentlemen, he sees Mrs.
Liveoak carefully putting the groceries in her car, about to get into her
car, which was a Chrysler New Yorker. She is carefully getting in. He
comes rushing upo her with his cadefendant, Carolyn Yaw, pushes
her on into her own car, forces her to lay down into [sic] the floorboard
of the car with her face dow#?

* k% k%

While this defendant and Mrs. Liveoalere together and he was
trying to get the money and trying so he could get his crack and go on,
the evidence is going to show that Mrs. Liveoads not yelling at him,
swearing at him, trying to do anything. She prayed for him, prayed for
him, prayed for him so that the Lord would free him from his addiction.
That was the thanks she déft.

Petitioner's complaint that these arguments improperly contrasted Petitioner’'s
predatory behavior with the Christian behavior of Mrs. Livelagks any arguable
merit. The comments quoted above accurately sumndawzedrew reasonable

inferences fromthe contents of Petitioner’'s peatrest videotaped statement to

1836 SCR 931.

1846 SCR 536-37.
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police®> which the prosecution could reasonably have anticipated would be
admited into evidenceespecially after the trial court denied Petitioner’'s motion to
suppress. The argumerstin question vere unobjectionable.See, e.g.Gobble v.

State 104 So0.3d at 970 (prosecutor’s opening statembith merely summarized

or drew reaonable inferences from the evidence the prosecution reasonably
expected to be admitted at trial was wholly proper). There is not even a remote
possibility, much less a reasonable probability, a timely defense objection to either
of these prosecutorial guments would have been sustaineBetitioner’s trial
counsel cannot reasonably be faulted for failing to make such a futile, nseritles
objection. This complaint fails to satisfy either prong $frickland SeeBultts v.
GDCP Warden__ F.3d at ___, 20 WL 929749, *2*5 (appellate counsel not
ineffective for failing to urge point of error on appeal suggesting trial coundel ha
been ineffective where trial counsel wast ineffective);Brown v. United States

720 F.3dat 1335 (“It is also crystal clear that there can be no showing of actual

185 n its findings made during Petitioner’s state habeas corpus procetdingiate trial
court found as follows:This Court has reviewed the cited portion of the State’s opstatgment
and concludes the State was simply explaining to the jury what it expecteddéecevio reveal
at trial.” 13 SCR (Revised) Tab 14-A, at p. 28.

In his videotaped statement, Petitioner admitted that (1) he had abducted and robbed Mr.
Portwoodjust days before he abducted and robbed Mrs. Liveoak from a grocery storg jatrkin
(2) he approached Mrs. Liveoak from behind, pushed her into her car, grabbed hendkeégtsl a
her that he was robbing her, (3) he drove her to Greenville, where he put her into the trunk, (4) he
repeatedly told her that he would call someone to free her, and (5) Mesakiprayed for him
that God would help him with his problem and he would go take care of his family. 3 SER 458
61, 463-67.
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prejudice from an appellate attorney’s failure to raise a meritless clakmregman
v. Atty. Gen536 F.3d at 1233 (“A lawyer cannot be deficient for failing to raise a
meritlessclaim.”).

(b) Allegedly InflammatoryClosing Arguments

Petitioner complains about several specific instances in the prosecution’s
closing guiltinnocence phase jury argument in which the prosecution allegedly
made improper statements designed to inflame the jury against Petitioner (Doc. # 1,
at p. 34,1 88), including the following

But before | do that, | want to talk a little bit about the testimony
from yesterday. Mr. McNeill is probably going to talk to you about this
more, but | want to pointut a piece of testimony from the defendant
that | thought was patrticularly unbelievable. Most of it waslot if it
was unbelievable, but this one piece want [sic] incredible to me.

He wants you to believe that he took Mrs. Liveoak down to
Greenvilleand told her, you can leave, you can go out in the woods, but
she was so enthralled with this defendant, that she wanted to stay with
him. You know, if you are a severtlyree year old womas if you
are a twentyseven year old man, let me get to that first. Why does he
rob and kidnap elderly people? Why doesn’'t he do it to twyedy
olds, thirtyyearolds, fortyyearolds, and fiftyyearolds? I'll tell you
why, because he is a coward. That's exactly what he is. He preys on
the most vulnerable mdyars of our society, elderly people.

If you are a seventthree year old woman minding your own
business getting your groceries, and this animal comes up to your car
and pushes your head down into the floorboard and drives with you,
and he gives you a chance to get away, are you going to want to stay?
No. You are going to say, thank you very much, goodbye; I'll take my
chances in the woods.

Mr. Portwood did. Mr. Portwood had that option. Mr. Portwood
had the option between the trunk and the woodstoble the woods.

Mrs. Liveoak hd one option, and it was death.
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Mr. Walker, Richard Walker, testified where that car was parked,
and every police officer testified that's where that car was parked. This
IS going to intent. That is a piece of eviden¥®u might say, well, it
is a fact that he put a sevetityee year old woman in the trunk of a car
who had a heart condition. Is that enough? You darn rightitis. That's
absolutely enough.

When he took Mrs. Liveoak and put her in the trunk of that ca
and closed that trunk, that was it. He knew she had a heart condition.
He absolutely knew it, and he says he knew it. You intend the natural
consequences of your act if tlztis intentional.

What are the natural consequences of putting a setenety
year old woman with a heart condition in a trunk, driving around having
a good time with his thieving, robbing wife and parking her in the K
Mart parking lot in an isolated place on a hot summer day on hot asphalt
and leaving her? What is the natuwahsequence of that? The natural
consequences [sic] is that that lady was bound to die.

Did he take any steps whatsoever? Does he show you any
evidence that he intended for her to live? Did he give-otid he care
at all about that?

| want you to look at a photo of him that day they picked him up
and put him in jail and took his statement. Is that the same man that got
up here and blubbered yesterday, got up here and cried big crocodile
tears? No, itis not. It is absolutely not, because, yeutsat day he
kidnapped and robbed and murdered Hazel Liveoak, he was a different
man altogether. He was a man that day, because he was doing what he
does best, preying on elderly people. That's this man’s modus
operandi. That's what he does. He had already left one witness three
days before, and by God, he was not going to leave another one.

He told you yesterday he was trying to get away. He cut his hair
the next morning. And if he cried at all, it was only because he knew
he got caught. He wasited, and he knew it, and he knows it today.
He is crying because he knows he has victimized the last person he is
going to victimize.

Intent, that all goes to intent. How many pay phones did the man
pass? Mrs. Liveoaiave him her son’s telephone nben. That
woman was- can you imagine the terror she was going through? But
| didn’t write it down. He didn’'t write it down, because he had
absolutely no intention of calling anybody. When you put somebody
into the trunk of a car and don't lift a pinkey [sic] to help them, it is
over. Y’all know it is over; | know it is over; and he knows it is over.
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More intent, he drives all over town. He is in a cab. His friend
gives him a ride. They go to the motel. There is a phone in the motel.
There are pones everywhere. There are friends everywhere who he
has a good time telling things to.

You know, the reason y’all sit right there and the reason the
witness stand is right here is so you can evaluate the credibility of
witnesses. Itis up to you to determine whether they are telling you the
truth. We do that every day when we talk to people on the street. We
determine if they are telling us the truth.

Now, Tony Bowen came in here yesterday, and he told you
everything he told the police when he went to them the next day. He
told told you everything. But he told you one other thing he didn't tell
the police. Well, | am sorry. This is not a perfect world, and | don’t
pick my witnesses. | wish he had. But what he did tell the police was
this defendant was talking about putting a woman in the trunk, and he
was being sarcastic about it. That's what he told the police. Is that
enough intent? Well, | think so. But let me tell you something. If you
listen to him, and you determine that he is teliing the truth, this case
Is over. You don’t even have to add up all the intent | am telling you
about. If you believe that this defendant said, | hope she dies, it is over.
That is capital murder. Was Tony Bowen being forthright? Absolutely,
he was bing forthright. Did Tony Bowen try to evade any questions?
No. Did Tony Bowen tell you that he had been in trouble before? Yes.
Did you believe him when he said has straightening up his life?
That’syour call. You are the fact finder. You know, what Tony Bowen
said to you, did it ring true? Did it sound right? | submit to you it
absolutely sounded right. It goes right along with a defendant being
sarcastic about putting a woman in a trunk, &aént thatouldcare
less about anybody but himsetfdhhis filthy crack habit.

Who deserves more credibility, Tony Bowen who went to the
police the next morning, or him? Who put a woman in a truhéy
Bowen was on crack. He said it sickened hinewhe found out about
it. It made him sick, and it makes me sick.

More, Wesley Portwood. | can’'t say much about him. His
testimony spoke for itself. The defendant told him to get in the woods.
He says, you mean you want me to go out there? Eitber tn in the
trunk. Mr.Patwood got a choice. Mrs. Liveoak didn’'t. Well, | can’t
go in the trunk; | would smother to death in there. Ladies and
gentlemen, this defendant, when he said that, is on notice that an elderly
person will die in that trunkWhat more do we need?
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This is not a hard case. You intend the natural consequences of
your act if that act is intentional. Did he intentionally put her in the
trunk? Did he intentionally drive back to Montgomery and drive
around the parking lot? Loak those ATM photos. It will make you
sick, too.

Did he intentionally leave that lady in that trunk scratching and
clawing to get out? Absolutely.

That defense may put up about crack use, that is a smoke screen.
The Judge will tell you the law. | anot going to tell you the law on
that. The Judge will tell you the law.

Let me tell you something. If smoking crack is a defeiose
capital murder, there is no evidence he was on crack the day he did this
to her. There was no evidence thahad nothing but a clear mind the
day he did that to that lady, none.

You know, Dr. Renfro is going to have to come in here and testify
every time we have a lawn mower stolen in this county, because people
do steal for crack cocainébsolutely, it is an addicte horrible drug,
absolutely; and they get addicted, arfdel sorry for them when they
try to help themselves. But they don’t put elderly women in trohks
cars, and they don't take eighty year old men out to the woods and
terrorize them. And that’s valt he does. That's what he does best. He
Is an animal.

Today you are the conscience of this commutity.

* k k k% %

You know, he came up here yesterday. He started crying when
he said, | haven’t seen my kids in a year. Well, | am sbtryDallas
at least you had the opportunity to see your kids. Mrs. Liveoak does
not, because you didn’t want to get caught.

When he said those words, what Tony Bowen said rings true.
Yes, he hoped she died. When he placed her in that trunk and left her
in that trunk, he hoped that Hazel Liveoak would die. That's capital
murder, ladies and gentlemen. That's an intent to kill. He intended the
natural consequences of his act. He leaves a woman he knows has a
heart condition in a stale, stuffy, hot trunk, aneréhhe goes and takes
off. Time after time after time if he wanted Mrs. Liveoak to live, he
had the chance. Every pay phone that he passed, he had that chance,
and he didn’t take it, because he didn’'t want to get caught. For every

168 SCR 848-57.
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friend that he braggembout what he did, he had that choice. He could
have said, go back there and help that woman, but he didn’t, because
he didn’t want to get caught.

The only testimony we have heard that he had any hopes or plans
to rescue Hazel Liveoak came out of his own mouth. Where is this boy
that he was trying to get the ride from to go back there? | didn’t see
him testify. He didn't because he doesn't exist. Where is Chester
Foley? Where are all these people? They didn’t come in here, because
they are not gopto say that he wanted to help that helpless woman.

He intended to kill her. It is that plain, and it is that simple. Mr.
Agricola talks what drove him, what is the motivation behind what he
did. Well, let's see. He didn’t have a good upbringing. did&’t go
to church. It was crack cocaine. lItis his drug usage. It is this and that,
excuse after excuse after excuse. Well, ladies and gentleroealdD
Dallas sits here accused of a heinous crime because of his choices. He
is a free, rational thking being with a soul who knows right from
wrong. Dr. Renfro said that. He knows right from wrohte knows
exactly what he was doing. | don’t see any of his family members, his
brothers or sisters ir [sic] stepfather or anybody else sitting alorg the
with him, and they led the same type of life he led. He is there because
of the choices he made. And the choice that he made in July of last year
was to be a predator. The choice that he made was to put his own selfish
needs above everybody else. afflwas his choice. And now he is
paying for this choice.

You know, ladies and gentlemehDonald Dallas had abducted
Hazel Liveoak and taken her out to Lake Martin and threw her
overboard, knowing that she couldn’t swim, we would all be saying,
hey folks, that's murder, plain and simple. What is the difference?
What is the difference from that scenario and what he did, by placing a
woman that he knows has a heart condition into a trunk of an
automobile? You know, God had mercy on Hazel Liveoak tieatised
the way she died. At least she had a heart attack and didn’'t have to
suffocate in that trunk.

He made choices and his choices is [sic] what is going to convict
him.

The only tragedy in this entire case is not the life of Donald
Dallas; it is what happened to Hazel Liveoak. That is the tragedy in
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this case. No one deserves to die in that manner. He made his choice.
He had the intent’

Insofar as Petitioner complains that the prosecution’s closingigndtence
phase arguments quoted above improperly inflamed the jury by characterizing
Petitioner as an unfeeling animal or predator and charitably commenting on the
guality of Mrs. Liveoak’s life, Petitioner's complaints do not furnish a basis for a
legitimate objection to the prosecution’s jury argumenhere was no legitimate
basis for any objection to most of the foregoing jury argumednflattering
characterizations of a defendawli not provoke a reversal where such descriptions
are supported by the evidenc8eeUnited States v. Tisdgl&17 F.2d 1552, 1555
(11th Cir.) (prosecutor’s argumethatidentified both a prosecution witness and the
petitioner as “a dirty, lowife criminal” did not warrant reversal where teeidence
showed the petitioner artde witnessn questionhad known each other fonany
years and had joined together to commit armed robjsext) denied484 U.S. 868
(1987). The prosecutor’s characterizatioh Petitioneis conduct i.e., selecting
elderly victims to abduct and rob at knjfeint, as akin to that of a predateas a
reasonable inferenarawn from the evidence before the jury at the goitbcence
phase of trial. There was no legitimate bador an objection to the prosecutor’s

characterization of Petitioner&siminal conduct as predatory.

1878 SCR g5-79.
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As explained above, appeals for justieee a legitimate subject of
prosecutorialclosing argument. Likewise, appeals to the jury to act as the
“conscience of the community” are not per se impermissible and do not constitute a
direct suggestion that the jury has a personal stake in the outcome of tHdrotese.
States v. McGarity669 F.3d 1218, 1246 n.38 (11th Cir. 2012). Prosecutorial
appeals for the jury to act as the “conscience of the community” are not
impermissible when they are not intended to inflardaited States v. Smitl918
F.2d 1551, 15683 (11th Cir. 1990).Thereis nothing inherently prejudicial in an
appeal to the jury to act as the conscience of the communitiact, the Supreme
Court hadescribedhe role of the jury in a capital triaksening as “the conscience
of the community.”SeeMcCleskey v. Kem@81 U.S. 279, 310 (1987) (“Thus, it is
the jury that is a criminal defendant’s fundamental ‘protection of life and liberty
against race and color prejudice.’” Specifically, a capital sentencing jury
representative of a criminal defendant’s community assures a ‘diffused impartiality,’
in the jury’s task of ‘expressing the conscience of the community on the ultimate
guestion of life or death.” (citations omitted)) The prosecutor’s lone reference
during closing argument to the jury’s role as “the conscience of this community”
was not objected to by Petitioner’s trial counsel. Thus, the trial court never had the
opportunity to give a corrective instruction. Petitioner did not raise any complaint

on direct appeal about this aspect of the prosecution’'sggyment. Having
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reviewed the entire trial record, this court finds the prosecutor’s refererfdeet
conscience of this community” was not so inflammatory as to render Petitioner’ trial
fundamentally unfair.

More problemati@rethe prosecutor'smflammatoryreference to Petitioner
as “an animal.” Even when a prosecutor makesnpropercommentduring jury
argument, howevethe Constitution is not violated unledge improper comment
“so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of
due process.” SeeDarden v. Wainwright477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986) (holding
prosecutor’s reference to the defendant as “an anmwia’should be on the end of
“a leash,”while improper, did not warrant reversal of criminal conviction, even
when combined with prosecutorial comments that the defendant was okendee
furlough at the time of the offense, the death penalty was the only guarantee against
a future similar actand the prosecutor wished someone had “blown away” the
defendant with a shotgun$pencer v. Sec'y, Dep’'t of Cqr609 F.3d 1170, 1182
(11th Cir. 2010) (“we consider ‘the degree to which the challengedkerhave a
tendency to mislead the jury and to prejudice the accused,” and ‘the stretiggh of
competent proof to establish the guilt of the accuseddi}. denied562 U.S. 1203
(2011);Land v. Allen 573 F.3d 1211, 12920 (11th Cir. 2009) (“In determining
whether arguments are sufficiently egregido result in the denial of due process,

we have considered the statements in the context of the entire proceeding, including
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factors such as : (1) whether the remarks were isolated, ambiguous, or unintentional;
(2) whether there was a contemporaneous objection by defense counsel; (3) the tria
court’s irstructions; and (4) the weight of aggravating and mitigating facjocert.
denied 559 U.S. 1072 (2010)Where the evidence of guilt is overwhelming, an
improper comment by a prosecutor usually doasrender the trial fundamentally
unfair in violation of the ConstitutionSpencer v. Sec’y, Dep’t of Cqr609 F.3d at
1182;Land v. Allen573 F.3d at 1220.

As explained above, the evidence of Petitioner’'s guilt was overwhelming,
even disregaidg the testimony ofDennis Anthony Bowen. Even if Petitioner’s
trial counsel had made a timely objection to the pros&suinflammatory
references to Petitioner as “an animah,"all reasonable likelihoothe trial court
would have sustained the objection and minded the jury as it did in the formal jury
instructions that the comments of counsel are not evidence. Such an instruction
would not have altered the overwhelming weight of the evidesto@wing
Petitioner's knowledge of the obvious danger of locking an elderly individual inside
an unventilated automobile trunk and leaving her in an isolated location in the heat
of a July afternoon in central Alabama. Had his trial counsel made a timely
objection, Petitioner’s inability to justify his conduct imaional manner during his
guilt-innocence phase testimony (in which he repeatedly acknowledged that he

falsely promised his elderly victim he would send help) would still have remained
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before the jury as a glaring sign of Petitioner’'s wanton disregaidrfarLiveoak’s
life.

Petitioner admitted he intentionally kidnaped and robbed Mrs. Liveoak,
intentionally locked her in the trunk of her car, and then intentionally abandoned her
vehicle (without furnishing Mrs. Liveoak food, water, or ventilatjon anisolated
location on an asphalt parking lot on a Summer afternoon in central Alabama. The
state trialcourt accurately instructed the jury that it is permissible to infer a criminal
defendant intended the natural consequencekiofown intentional act. See
Humphrey v. Boney785 F.2d 1495, 1497 n.2 (11th Cir. 1986pHolding as
constitutionak state court jury chargestructing thata person of sound mind and
discretion intends to accomplish the natural and probable consequences of his
intentional acts” in the context of an instruction on the intent to killhe
prosecutor’s inappropriate references to Petitioner as “an armamalto the jury as
“the conscience of this communitgid not render Petitioner’s trial fundamentally
unfair. “[T]he Supreme Court has never held that a prosecutor’s closing arguments
were so unfair as to violate the right of a defendant to due prodessse v. Sec'y,

Fla. Dep’t of Corr, 675 F.3d 1277, 1287 (11th Cir. 201€¢rt. denied133 S. Cit.
322 (2012).There isno reasonable probability that, but for the failure of Petitioner’s
trial counsel to object to any of the foregoing prosecutorial jury arguments as

improper or inflammatory, the outcome of the ginlhocence phase of Petitioner’s
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capital murder trial would have been any differefhis complaint fails to satisfy
the prejudice prong dirickland.

(c) Comments on the Strength of the Evidence

Petitioner next complains that the prosecutor suggekiadg closing jury
arguments at the guilhnocence phase of trial thite evidence against Petitioner
was strong and that it would not be difficult for the jury to convict Petitioner. More
specifically, Petitioner complains the prosecutor made the following comments:

* * * Each time that ATM card was used, a crime was committed. |
want to point you specifically when you go back to the jury room to
deliberate to State’s Exhibits 26, 27, and 28. State’s Exhibit 27 you
didn’t get to see during the courskthe trial, but it is the ATM bank
record, and they will show you how many times that card was used.
You are not going to have much problem with any of this, because the
defendant freely admits that that happened, that haetendant used
that card and stole that money.

State’s Exhibit Number 28 is an affidavit from AARP, and that's
the corporation that’s out the money in this case. It was their credit card
that was used. That affidavit will just prove as our proof that that
money was taken. And the defense attorneys have stipulated to that
evidence. You will have a chance to look at that. It is going to take
you about ten seconds to convict on those charges, maybe less.

It is not going to take you very long to convict on capital murder
either,because the key in this case has been intent. And, ladies and
gentlemen, this case is loaded with intent. Everywhere you look there
is intent from this defendant. Every witness you heard from, almost,
except for the police officers that were out thérat investigated the
crime, told you about intent. | want to talk to you a little bit about
that188

188 8 SCR 84648. This language quoted in the text above immediately preceded the
language quoted at length in the text accompanying notespig
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The prosecutor’'s argument that the evidence of intent underlying Petitioner’s
capital murder was prevalent throughout the testimony before the jury was a
reasonable inference drawn from the evidence before the Augrosecutor may
express a personal opinion during closing argument on the merits of the case or the
credibility of witnesses if the opinions are based upon the evidence in theSesse.
United States vTisdale 817 F.2d at 1556 (prosecutor's comment that he believed
government had “proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt” was a mere attempt to
argue the weight of the evidencéited States v. Wayma®l0 F.2d 1020, 1028
(5th Cir.) (proseatorial argument that the evidence showing the defendant’s guilt
“was overwhelming” not a basis for reversal where based solely on evidence
adduced at trial)gert. denied423 U.S. 846 (1975)Cf. United States v. Ceballos
789 F.3d 607, 624 (5@@ir. 2015) (prosecutor may express opinions on the merits of
the case or credibility of witnessesly to the extent the prosecutor bases any
opinion on the evidence in the case). This court’s independent review of the entirety
of the prosecution’s clasg guiltinnocence phase jury argument establishes that the
prosecution’s arguments and comments concerning the weight of the evidence
showing Petitioner’s intent to kill were accompanied by the prosecuiscsissions

of the facts in evidengavhich supprted just such an inferené®. Insofar as the

189 Seenotes 187 & 18%uprg and accompanying text.
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prosecution argued the evidence (including Petitioner’s statement to Dennis Bowen)
showed Petitioner intentionally left Mrs. Liveoak to die in the trunk of her car, that
argument was a reasonable inferencmftioe evidence before the jury atidcussed

by the prosecution in its closinguilt-innocence phasargument. Thereis no
legitimate legal bas for an objection tahis aspect of the prosecution’s closing
argument at the guilhnocence phase of triallhis complaint fails to satisfy either
prong ofStrickland SeeParedes v. Quartermab74 F.3d at 291 & n.1@3ailure to

make a futile or meritless objection satisfies neither pror®&jrafklang.

(d) Comments on the Credibility of Witnesses

Petitioner complains that the prosecution commented favorably on the
credibility of prosecution witness Dennis Bowen'’s trial testimony while suggesting
portions of Petitioner’s trial testimony were incredible. As even a cursory review of
the jury argumenguoted at length above reveals, the prosecution’s comments on
the relative credibility of Bowen and Petitioner were tied to discussions of the
evidence properly before the jury. The prosecutors’ comments consisted of wholly
appropriate suggestions that the jury should (1) reject portions of Petitioner's
testimony as inconsistent with the other evidence in the record and common sense
and (2) accept Bowen’s testimony concerning Petitioner’s allegedly inculpatory
statement (that Petitioner hoped or wished the old lady died) as credible because the

evidence showed Bowen came forward to police the day after Petitioner Blleged
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made the statement, Bowen candidly admitted his history of drug abuse and legal
problems, and Bowen’s demeanor while testifying at trial was anything but evasive.
This was appropriate prosecutorial comment on the credibility of the
witnessedased upon the evidence in the rec8fdSee United States v. River80
F.3d 1084, 110910 (11th Cir. 2015) (holding (1) “An attorney’s statements that
indicate his opinion or knowledge of the case as theretofore presented before the
court and jury are permissible if the attorney makes it clear that the conclasions
IS urging ae conclusions to be drawn from the evidence.” andp(@secutor
properly pointed out inconsistencies in the defendant’s trial testimony, contrasted
same with the internally consistent testimony of a prosecution witness, and urged
the jury to draw conclusions from the evidenddijted States v. Sos#&77 F.3d

1279, 1297 (11th Cir. 2015) (holding (1) “the prosecutor may suggest what the jury

190 The state trial court found in the coursePetitioner’s state habeas corpus proceeding
that “the credibility of witnesses is a legitimate subject of criticism and discusswithky party
during closing arguments.” 13 SCR (Revised) TalA14t p. 33. The state trial court cit8dith
v. Stag, 756 So. 2d 892, 930 Ala. Crim. App. 1997), &wlens v. Staté86 So. 2d 958, 960 Ala.
Crim. App. 1990), in support of this conclusidd. Alabama law has not changed on this subject.
See Johnson v. State20 So. 3d 1130, 1168 (Ala. Crim. App.2009) (holding prosecutor’s
argument that a prosecution witness, while a murderer, had testified truthfodysee“the
evidence showed he did” was appropriate jury argumeett),quashedAla. Feb. 22, 2013§ert.
denied 134 S. Ct. 192 (2013BSmithv. State 838 So. 2d 413, 456 (Ala. Crim. App.) (“the
credibility of a witness is a legitimate subject of comment during closing argumeutsing
Price v. State725 So. 2d 1003, 1030 (Ala. Crim. App. 19%4jd, 725 So. 2d 1063 (Ala. 1998),
cert. denied 526 U.S. 1133 (1999))kert. denied(Ala. Jun. 28, 200R cert. denied537 U.S.
1090 (2002). Thus, under Alabama law, there was no legitimate basis for an objection to the
prosecutor’'s comments on the relative credibility of Petitioner’s testymersus that of Bowen.
Viewed in proper context, the prosecutor's comments were plainly directeck tevitience
properly before the jury and did not constitute an expression of the prosecutasisapegsnion.
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should find from the evidence before it” and (2) the prosecutor properlg juge

to consider prosecution witnesgredibility in light of the witness willingness to

admit to his own wrongdoing, drug use, and use of aliase#ed States v. Adkins

743 F.3dat 187 (prosecutor may comment on veracity of a witness if that comment
is immediately preceded by the prosecutor’'s argument that corroborating evidence
showed the witnesstestimony to be truthful)Jnited States v. Pogl&35 F.3dat

277 (as long as a prosecutor’s characterization of the testifying defendant “as a liar
Is reasonably seen as drawing conclusions from, and is actually supported by, the
evidence, the prosecutor does not commit error).

Petitioner’s prosecutors did not engagenmproper vouching, as Petitioner
implicitly suggests.SeeUnited States v. Gonzale&34 F.3d1206, 1226 (11th Cir.
2016) (“A prosecutor commits improper vouching by ‘arguing credibility based
evidence not before the jury,” or by placing ‘the prestige of the governmentbeh
the witness, by making explicit personal assurances of the withessCity."”
(Citations omitted))United States v. Lope390 F.3d 1238, 1256 (11th Cir. 2009)
(holding (1) a prosecutor's remarks are improper if they attempt to bolster the
credibility of a witness based on the government’s reputation or through altading
evidence not admitted at trial and (2) the prohibition against vouching does not

forbid prosecutors from arguing credibilifgert. denied562 U.S. 981 (2010).
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There was no legitimate legal basis for objection to the prosecution’s
comments on Petitioner's and Bowen’s credibilifijhis complaint fails to satisfy
either prong ofStrickland See Paredes v. Quartermasi’r4 F.3d at 291 & n.13

(failure to make a futile or meritless objection satisfies neither pro8gyickland.

(e) Comment a Fallure of Defensdo Present a Witness

Petitioner complains the prosecution improperly pointed out the failure of the
defense to call any witnesses other than Petitioner who could testify about
Petitioner’'s aborted attempt to return to thlidrt parking bt and suggests this was
the equivalent of an improper comment on a defendant’s failure to testify (Doc. # 1,
at pp. 3637, [1[] 94-95). Because Petitioner testified at the guilhocence phase
of his capital murder trial, nothing the Prosecution shidng closing argument
could rationally have been construed by the jury as a comment on the defendant’s
failure to testify. There was nothing improper with the prosecution’s argument that
no witness other than the Petitioner himself had testified at regarding
Petitioner’s aborted attempt to return to theéMidrt parking lot. This argument
accurately summarized the evidence then before the jdrye prosecution’s
suggestion that the missing witness did not exés reasonable inference based on

thetrial evidence®!

1 As explained above in note 1Zprg the 2008 affidavit of Tommy Earl Pilgrim does
not include a statement establishing Mr. Pilgrim’s availability and willingness to/tastife time
of Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial. Even if Mr. Pilgrim had testified irséime manner as
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A prosecutor may properigomment on the failure of the defense to present
evidence supporting a defensive thed®ee Gaddy v. Staté98 So.2d 1100, 1124
(Ala. Crim. App. 1995) ("Moreover, while the appellant is under no obligabon
present witnesses, the prosecutor could properly comment on evidence that would
presumably have been presented by a defendant to substantiate his defense, if the
defendant testifies in his own behalf.gff'd, 698 So.2d 1150 (Ala. 1997ert.
denied522 U.S. 1032 (1997)The failure of the defense (rather than the defendant)
to support its defensive theory with witnesses is a proper matter for juryemgum
Lavernia v. Lynaugh845 F.2d 493, 4998 (5th Cir. 1988);United States v.
Dearden 546 F2d 622, 625 (5th Cir.) (A comment on the failure of tlefenseas
opposed to the defendant, to counter or explain the testimony presented or evidence
introduced is not an infringement of the defendant’s fifth amendment privilege.”),
cert. deniedsub nom Goldstein v. United State434 U.S. 902 (1977)‘Counsel

cannot err for failing to object to a correct statement of the evidddoeh v.

hisaffidavit, his testimony would not have explained Petitioner's admitted failumntaat police

or anyone else after their aborted effort to return to tidakt parking lot failed. At best, Mr.
Pilgrim’s trial testimony, had it tracked his 2008 affidawould have removed two sentences
from the prosecution’s lengthy closing argument. It would have done nothing te teéut
prosecution’s primary argument., that Petitioner’s failure to contact anyone to notify them of
Mrs. Liveoak’s perilous pligt permitted the inference that Petitioner intended to leave her to die
in the trunk of her car. Nor would Mr. Pilgrim’s testimony have refutedribktestimony of
Dennis Bowen that Petitioner told Bowen he hoped or wished the old lady died. Thass tie
reasonable probability that, but for the failure of Petitioner’s trial coun$mtate and call Tommy
Earl Pilgrim to testify, the outcome of the gtiihocence phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial
would have been any different.
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Puckett 907 F.2d 524, 526 (5th Cir. 1990) (“counsel is not required to make futile
motions or objections”).

The state trial court instructed tRetitioner’'sjury at the conclusion of the
guilt-innocence phase of trial that (1) the State bore the burden of proving the
Petitioner’s guilt beyond a reasonable dotib{2) the comments and arguments of
the lawyers we not evidencé® (3) the jurors were the sole and exclusive judges
of the credibility of the witnesses who had come into court and testifi¢d) in
assessing the Petitioner’s trial testimony, the jurors could consider the fact the
Petitioner was the dehdant and, as such, had an interest in the outcome of the
case'® (5) if the jury found from the evidence that any witness had been impeached

by a prior inconsistent statement or by giving contradictory testimony in court, the

1928 SCR887.
1938 SCR 888.

1948 SCR 890. In making their credibility findings, the state trial court insttubi jury
it could consider a wide variety of factors:
* * * |n passing upon the credibility of a witness in this case, you have the right to
consider any bias, interest, prejudice that might have been exhibited to you while
the witness testified. You have the right to consider the demeanor of the witness;
that is, their appearance. How did they appear to you? How did they testify? You
also have theight to consider what basis they had for their testimony. In other
words. Did they have an opportunity to discern the facts about which they testified?
These things you may look into in passing upon the credibility of the witnesses.
You have one final tool, ladies and gentlemen, and that is your common
sense. You have the right to utilize that in passing upon all of the testimony in this
case.
8 SCR 890-91.

158 SCR 891-92.
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jury could, in its discretion, consider that in evaluating and weighing that winess’
testimony!% (6) the defendant should not be convicted unless the evidence excludes
every reasonable hypothesis but that of the defendant’s'Yuihd (7) the burden

is never upon the defendant to establish his innoc€hcéuries are presumed to
follow their instructions.Zafiro v. United State$06 U.S. 534, 54@1 (1993).

In view of the state trial court’s jury instructions, Petitioner’'s complaint about
the failure of his trial counsel to object to the prosecution’s suggestion that Petitione
never really made an effort to return to théAart parking lot satisfies neithprong
of Strickland See Paredes v. Quartermav4 F.3d at 291 & n.13 (failure to make
a futile or meritless objection satisfies neither pron§tatkland.

() Voluntary Intoxication NotMitigating”

Petitioner argues his trial counsel should have objected when the prosecution
argued Petitioner'abuseof crack cocainshould not mitigate Petitioner’s actions
More specifically, Petitioner argues the prosecution improperly instructed the jury
on the provisions of Alabama law when the prosecartgued as follows:

Don’t minimize this case and call it something less than what it is.

Don’t you let crack cocaine, a choice that he made when he put that
crack pot to his mouth, don't let that be some way to mitigate what he

1968 SCR 892.
197 | .

198|d_
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did, because under the latwd not. He intended it, and you should find
him guilty.1%®

The prosecutor's comment was a correct statement of Alabamaraer which
voluntary intoxication is not a defense to a criminal charge unless the degree of
intoxication amounts to insanity anehders the defendant incapable of forming an
intent to injure:

In an assault and battery case, voluntary intoxication is no defense,
unless the degree of intoxication amounts to insanity and renders the
accused incapable of forming an intent to injufée same standard is
applicable in homicide cases. Although intoxication in itself does not
constitute a mental disease or defect within the meani8d.8A-3-1,

Code of Alabama 1975ntoxication does include a disturbance of
mental or physicatapacities resulting from the introduction of any
substance into the body. The degree of intoxication required to
establish that a defendant was incapable of forming an intent to kill is a
degree so extreme as to render it impossible for the defendaninto

the intent to kill.

Ex parte Bankheadb85 So2d 112, 121 (Ala. 1991 Citations omitted)

Viewed in proper context, the prosecutor’'s arguneprdted abovevas a
proper response to defense counsel’'s suggestions during closing argument that
Petitioner was so intoxicateor under the influence of withdrawal from crack
cocaine that he could not form the intent to ¥ll. There was no legitimate basis for

an objetion to this portion of the prosecution’s closing ginihocence phase jury

1998 SCR 880 (prosecution’s rebuttal argument at close of guilt-innocence phase).

2008 SCR 86466 (defense counsel’s guitinocence phase closing argument).
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argument. Thus, this complaint fails to satisfy either pron&tatkland See
Paredes v. Quartermah74 F.3d at 291 & n.13 (failure to make a futile or meritless
objection satisfies neither prong $frickland.

(10) Failure to Object to Hearsay Testimony

Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to object to the prosecution
eliciting “back door” hearsay testimony (Doc. # 1, at pp387.1] 97-98). The
only allegedly hearsay testimony specifically identified by Petitioner in his pleadings
in state or federal court consists of testimonyablylontgomery Police Detective
concerning what police did after they met with and obtained information from
Dennis Bowenij.e., police identified Petitioner and Carolyn Yaw as suspects and
began searching for them, as well as for a subject named “Ch&@&t€h& state trial
court noted in its findings in Petitioner's state habeas corpus proceeding that
Petitioner himself testifid to essentially the same facts during his direct testimony
as those offered by the DetectRPé.This court’s independent review of the record
reveals Petitioner also admitted the same information during his videotaped post
arrest statement to police. The fact law enforcement officers received information
from Dennis Bowen shortly after Mrs. Liveoak’s abduction was not in genuine

dispute nor was the content of Bowen’s statement to police. Bowen testified at

2007 SCR 63234 (testimony of Steve Saint).

20213 SCR (Revised) Tab 14-A, at p. 35.
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length about his conversations with law enforcement officers and his identification
of Petitioner and Yaw as the people responsible for Mredak’s abduction and
robbery. There was no genuine dispute at trial that Petitioner and Yaw abducted and
robbed Mrs. Liveoalocked her in the trunk of her gaand then abandoned her
Petitioner has not identified any testimony furnished by the De¢eoti
direct examination which might have been excluded had Petitioner’s trial counsel
raised a timely hearsay objectioNor has Petitioner alleged any facts showing that,
but for the failure of his trial counsel to raise a timely hearsay objectioreto th
Detective’'s testimony about the manner in which the investigation by law
enforcement officers into Mrs. Liveoak’s abduction, robbery, and murder proceeded,
the outcome of the guilhnocence phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial would
have been any different. Under such circumstantes conclusory ineffective
assistance complaint fails to satisfy either pron§tatkland

(11) Conceding that Petitioner Caused Mrs. Liveoak’s Death

Petitioner complains that is trial counsel conceded inpesing statement at
the guiltinnocence phase of trial that Petitioner was responsible for the death of Mrs.
Liveoak(Doc. # 1, at p. 29,] 74). There was nothing objectively unreasonable with
Petitioner’s trial counsel admittingp front that Petitiones actions caused Mrs.
Liveoak’s demise. As explaineat lengthabovein Sectiors XlII.C.2.b.(1) & (8)

Petitioner has failed to present any medical evidence showing Petitioner’s actions
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were not a cause of her death or that there was any supervenindoewehich
Petitioner bore no responsibility which effected Mrs. Liveoak's deaifhe
Petitioner’s videotaped poatrest statement to police and trial testimony established
beyond any doubt that Petitioner (1) intentionally abducted and robbed Mrs.
Liveoak, (2) intentionally placed her in the trunk of her car despite knowing she was
elderly and had a heart condition, (3) intentionally drove her vehicle back to
Montgomery, (4) intentionally abandoned her vehicle in an isolated, unshaded,
location on an asphalt parking lot on a July afternoon in central Alabama with Mrs.
Liveoak still inside the trunk, and (5) to garner her cooperation, Petitiqresatezlly
promised Mrs. Liveoak he would call police or someone else to notify them of her
location Petitioner’s trial counsel requested atmtained jury instructions on the
lesserincluded offenses of felony murder and manslaugiiter.

Petitioner's entire defense team testified without contradiction during
Petitioner's state habeas corpus proceednag they developed a trial strategy
designed to attempt to convince the jury that, while Petitioner’s actions may have

caused Mrs. Liveoak’s death, Petitioner was so intoxicated or otherwise under the

238 SCR 885, 9042. The guiktinnocence phase verdict form also reflects these two
lessefincluded offenses. 2 SCR 350.
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influence of crack cocaine that he could not devel@psiecific intent to kilP%*
This court independently concludes this strategy was objectively reasoGaime.
the uncontroverted evidence contained in Petitioner’s videotaped statement to police
(which trial counsel reasonably assumed would be admitted into evidence at trial)
the decision by Petitioner’s trial counsel to admit up front that Petitioner’s actions
caused Mrs. Liveoak’s death, while asserting Petitioner had not intendedwakill,
objectively reasonable.SeeSaunders v. State  So.3d _ , , 2016 WL
7322336, *9 (Ala. Crim. App. Dec. 16, 2016) (trial counsel does not render
ineffective assistance by conceding the defendant committed the act that resulted in
the victim’'s death where (1) trial counsel did not concede defendant haatemty
to kill, (2) defendant made a detailed confession to police which was admitied int
evidence, (3) prosecution’s evidence connecting defendant to the murder was
overwhelming, and (4) trial counsel presented evidence and argued (a) defendant
was undethe influence of crack cocaine at the time of the murder and, thus, unable
to form a specific intent, and (b) defendant was guilty, at most, of manslajughter.
The use of suchoncessions as a trial strategy is eminently reasonable:
Any competent trialawyer understands that in order to mount a
successful case before a jury, credibility must never be sacrificed. To

retain credibility, defense counsel must often make concessions that,
viewed narrowly, may appear detrimental to the client’'s case. aBut,

20412 SCR Tab 13, at pp. 37,4656 (testimony of Jeffery C. Duffey); 12 SCR Tab 13, at
pp. 7576, 7980, 8687, 98, 113 (testimony of Susan James)SCR (Revised) Tab 14, at pp.
159, 165, 169, 171, 181-82, 228-(deposition testimony of Algert Agricola).
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the Supreme Court has acknowledged, “by candidly acknowledging
defense counsel’s client’s shortcomings, counsel might build credibility
with the jury and persuade it to focus on the relevant issues in the case.”
Yarborough v. Gentry540 U.S. 1, 6, 12&. Ct. 1, 157 L. Ed. 2d 1
(2002) (citing J. Stein, Closing Argume®t204, p. 10 (199201996)
(“[1]f you make certain concessions showing that you are earnestly in
search of the truth, then your comments on matters that are in dispute
will be received without the usual apprehension surrounding remarks
of an advocate.”)).

This triedandtrue strategy applies not only to capital cases to
preserve credibility with the jury during the penalty phase, but also
where, as here, defendant faces an unwinnable bgtiast one set of
charges brought against him. Defense counsel would reasonably find
it strategically advantageous to concede guilt on those charges to
preserve credibility in defending against others. This classic tactic
dates back to the likes of Atbtle (“a speech should indicate to the
audience that the speaker shares the attitudes of the listener, so that, in
turn, the listener will respond positively to the views of the speaker”),
Peter C. Lagarias, Effective Closing Argum@&st2.052.06, pp. 9-

101 (1989), and Clarence darrow, who famously conceded his clients’
guilt during closing argument in a capital case to save their lives at
sentencingseeClarence S. Darrow;losing Argument for the Defense

in the LeopoleLoeb Murder Tria) FAMOUS AMERICAN JURY
SPEECHES 1086 (Frederick C. Hicks ed., Legal Classics Library
(1989) (1925).

Darden v. United Stateg08 F.3d 1225, 12280 (11th Cir)cert. denied133 S.
Ct. 2871 (2013).

Furthermore, Petitioner has alleged no facts and presented no evidence
showing there is a reasonable probability that, but for his trial counsel’s decision to
concede up front that Petitioner’s actions caused Mrs. Liveoak’s death, the outcome
of the guiltinnocence phase of Petitioner’s capital murder trial would have been any

different. This complaint fails to satisfy either prongstdfickland
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c. Punishment Phase Matters

Petitioner argues that, had his defense team done a better job irnwvegtiga
Petitioner’s background, they would have discovered a wealth of additional
mitigating evidence which could have been presented during the punishment phase
of trial (Doc. # 1, at pp. 383, [1[] 100-65). For the reasons discussed above at
length in SectiorXIIl.C.1.b., Petitioner's complaints abouhcalled witnesses and
undeveloped mitigating evidence do not satisfy the prejudice prdaiickland

A defense attorney preparing for the sentencing phase of a capital hioal is
required “to scour the globe on the off chance something will turn Rpripilla v.
Beard 545 U.S. 374, 3883 (2005);Everett v. Seyg, Fla. Dep't of Cirr, 779 F.3d
1212, P50 (11th Cir. 2015)ert. denied136 S. Ct. 795 (2016). Rather, diligent
counsel may draw the line when they have good reason to think that further
investigation would be a wastBompilla v. Beard545 U.S. at 38Everett v. Seg,

Fla. Dep’t of Cor., 779 F.3d at 1250.

(1) Documentary Evidence

Moreover, insofar as Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to obtain
documents addressing Petitioner's educational background, medical history,
institutional history, and employment history, Petitioner’s ineffective assistance
claim fails because Petitioner has failed to either furnish this court with any of the

missing documents in question or show how they could have impacted the outcome
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of the punishment phase of hesmpital murder trial. For instance, Petitioner
complains that his defense team failed to obtain unidentified records relakiisg to
employment and training but fails to present copies of any such records that were
available through a reasonably diligantestigation at the time of Petitioner’'s 1995
capital murder trial. Petitioner's cotappointed investigator testified without
contradiction during Petitioner's state habeas corpus proceeding that Petitioner’'s
defense team was aware tlingt had serveda prison sentence in Texas (where
Petitioner participated in some sort of drug treatment program) and Petitioner had a
reputation for stealing from his employers and getting fifedPetitioner has not
presented this court with any documents available ctolazr 1995 relating to
Petitioner’s prison stay in Texas, drug treatment program participatioication,
medical history, correctional history, or employment/training history which could

have furnished Petitioner's trial counsel any additiomitigating evidence®®

20512 SCR Tab 13, at pp. 71, 89 (testimony of Susan James).

206 For instance, Petitioner makes reference to a report on a psychological iemaluat
performed on him in June 1995 at the Kilby Correctional Facility but has not furnisheg afcop
that report. Moreover, Dr. Benedict's June 2007 affidavit (Doc.-2,8xhbit 15, affidavit of
Dr. Ken Benedict, at p. 21 6, 8) states that (1) “there is no evidence as to how the results were
interpreted or integrated to form a diagnostic opinion given that the only record ¢ewipaiter
generated report” and (2) “the report contains a statement that reads ‘interpypotheses based
on clinical scale scores in the remainder of this report have a very high probabbigng
inaccurate.” Thus, Petitioner has failed to show that his trial counselsefadwbtaima copy of
the report on Petitioner's June 1995 Kilby Correctional Facility evaluatiejgiced Petitioner
within the meaning oStrickland. Based on the testimony of Dr. Renfro at trial, Petitioner’s trial
counsel apparently did have access to records relating the April 1995 psych&wgication Dr.
Renfro performed on Petitioner also mentioned in Dr. Benedict’'s 2007 affidavit.

243



Petitioner’s lead trial counsel testified without contradiction during Petitioner’s state
habeas corpus proceeding that evidence showing Petitioner had successfully
completed a drug treatment program would have undermined the defensajy strate
at both phases of trial (which was to show Petitioner was overwhelmed by his
addiction to crack cocaine at the time of his offed%e)Because he has failed to
show how further investigation by his defense team into documentary evidence
would have prodeed additional mitigating evidence, this complaint fails to satisfy
the prejudice prong dtrickland

Insofar as he complains that his defense team failed to obtain and present
unidentified evidence showing Petitioner was incarcerated iaslaxd successfully
completed a drug treatment program, Petitioner's complaint also fails to satisfy the
deficient performance prong 8trickland “[CJounselis not required to present all
mitigating evidence, even if the additional mitigating evidence would not have be
incompatible with counsel’'s strategy. Counsel must be permitted to weed out some
arguments to stress others and advocate effectivalgrizi v. Sety, Fla. Dep’t of
Corr., 772 F.3d 644. 659 (11th Cir. 2014u6ting Halliburton v. Sec’y for Dep’t of
Corr., 342 F.3d 1233, 12424 (11th Cir. 2003)ert. deniegd541 U.S. 1087 (2004)),

cert. denied 136 S. Ct. 155 (2015)Accord Debruce v. Comn’r, Ala. Dep’t of

20713 SCR (Revised) Tab 14, at pp. 171,-B2] 189, 191, 22829 (testimony of Algert
Algricola).
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Corr., 758 F.3d 1263, 1299 (11th Cir. 2014) (“Counsel is not required to present
every nonfrivolous defense, nor is counsel required to present all mitigation
evidence, even if the additional mitigation evidence would not have been
incompatible with counsel’s strategy.dert. denied 135 S. Ct. 2854 (2015)8

(2) Uncalled Witnesses

Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to €ehise Williams,
Patricia Medforgd and Vicky Medford to testify at the punishment phasériaf
(Doc. # 1, at pp57-58, (111 150, 15254). Petitioner does not present an affidavit
from any of these uncalled witnesses attesting to either (1) their availability and
willingness to testify at the time of Petitioner's 5&&pital murder triglor (2) facts
showing they possessed any personal knowledge of admissible evidence relevant to
the issues before the jury and trial court at the punishment phase of Petitioner’s trial.
Furthermore, had Patricia Medford been called to testify at Petitioner’s tial, sh

would have been subject to cremssamination and possible impeachment based

208 Nothing in this opinion should be construed as approving in any manner the failure of
Petitioner’s trial counsel to secure the service of a mitigation specialist/intestigatil
practically the eve of Petitioner’s trial. An investigation into mitiga#wvidence is adequate if it
comprises efforts to discover all reasonably available mitigating eviderntevidence to rebut
any aggravating evidence that may be introduced by the prose®Miggins v. Smith539 U.S.

510, 514 (2003);.edford v. WarderGeorgia Diagnostic and Classification Prisdi.8 F.3d 600,

649 (11th Cir. 2016)cert. filed Oct. 18, 2016 (No. 1144). Nonetheless, for the reasons
discussed at great length in Sections XIII.C.1.b. & XIIl.C.2.c., none of the allegectdeiss in

the performance of Petitioner’'s trial counsel in connection with the punishment phase of
Petitioner’s 1995 capital murder trial satisfy the prejudice prorgjratkland
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upon the new information contained in Paul Dallakine 2007 affidavit,.e, his
allegation that a malgiend of Patricia Medford sexually assaulted both Petitioner
and Paul Dallas at least four tin7é%,.

Petitioner also complains his trial counsel failed to properly interview Rhonda
Chavers prior to trial and failed to elicit from Ms. Chavers testimony relabing t
Petitioner’'s relationship with his family and other matters that went beyond the
scope of MsChavers’ 1995 punishment phase trial testimony. Petitioner does not
furnish an affidavit from Ms. Chavers attesting to her pelsknawledge of any
facts beyad those to which she testified at the punishment phase of Petitioner’s
1995 capital murder trial.Furthermore, in light of the new evidence before this
Court, including the deposition testimony of Ms. Chavers’ former spouse Chester
Foley, Ms. Chavers isow subject to crosexamination and possible impeachment
based upon Mr. Foley’s attestations that it was Ms. Chavers who infdrimeaf
Petitioner’s and Carolyn Yaw’s abduction and robbery of an elderly woman they

locked in the trunk of a c&t°

29 Doc. # 87-1, Exhibit 6, affidavit of Paul Dallas, at p[1320.

210 Doc. 1381, deposition of Chester Foley, at pp-2@ Mr. Foley’s insistence that he
had no personal knowledge of the facts or circumstances of Petitioner's and Fducsi@n and
robbery of an elderly woman and he learned those facts solely through hisigéfe gestions
the prosecution could ask Rhonda Chavers, specifically why she failed (unlikes Benven) to
report the Petitioner’s crime to law enforcement authorities. With the infornatroently before
the court, an aggressive prosecutor might also megered on crosgxamination as to whether
Ms. Chavers received anything of value from the Petitioner or Yaw in excliangemaining
silent about their crimes. In sum, the evidence now before this court furniskaklaat potential
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Petitiorer complains that his trial counsel failed to contact his mother Elaine
Dallas and thereby failed to learn a wealth of information regarding Petit®oner’
abusive childhoodbut Petitioner offers no evidence to refute the uncontroverted
testimony of Petitbner’s cecounsel at trial given during Petitioner’s state habeas
corpus proceeding that Petitioner specifically asked said counsel not to contact his
mother?!? Furthermore, while Mrs. Dallas does furnish an affidavit dated June 4,
2007, nowhere in that affidavit does she state she was willing to travel from Texas
to Alabama in 1995 to testify at Petitioner’s capital murder #tfal. More
significantly, as explained above in Section XIIl.C.1.b., had she testified at
Petitioner’s capital murder trial, Mrs. D@s would have been subject to cross
examination, and possible impeachment, based upon all of the assertions of child
abuse and neglect contained in Petitioner’s swoorsestate habeas corpus petition.
Finally, as discussed above, the testimony wbakk been cumulative.

Petitioner’s eldest brother James (Jimmy) Dallas, Jr. does attest in his affidavi

that, had he been contacted at the time of Petitioner’s trial, he “was willing to help

impeachment eviehce with regard to Rhonda Chavers that was not available at the time of
Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial.

2112 SCR Tab 13, at p. 55 (testimony of Jeffery C. Duffey).

22Mrs. Dallas’ affidavit states only that, had she been contactetiwvsiuéd hawe provided
the same information that is contained in this affidaidbt. # 872, Exhibit 14, affidavit of Elaine
Dallas, at p. 4,1 34. This statement is not an unequivocal indication she would have been willing
to travel from Texas and testify, subjéztcrossexamination, at Petitioner's 1995 capital murder
trial.
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in any way that | could®® As explained above in Section X.1.b., however,
James Dallas, Jr. would have been subject to -exmsination, and possible
impeachment, had he testified at Petition@B95trial, based upon the fact that, at
that time, he had not seen Petitioner since their father’s funeral in 1976 (Daat. #
p. 52,01 138)2* Furthermore, had he testified at trial (as he states in his affidavit)
that he was able to get clean and sober aftperiencing drug and alcohol problems,
JamegqJimmy)Dallas, Jr.’s testimony would likely have implicitly undermined the
efficacy of the defense team'’s trial strategy at Petitioner’s capital murdewtriah
was to show Petitioner was a slave todrsck addiction. Moreover, like Elaine
Dallas, James Dallas’s testimony would have been cumulative.
Petitioneralsocomplains that his trial counsel failed to call Chester Foley to
testify as a character witness at the punishment phase of Petitioner's 1995 capita
murder trial, specifically to testify about the incident in which Petitioner allgged
took a knife to the chest to protect Foley from an assailant. Had Mr. Foley testified

at Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trial in the same manner as més 2001

23Doc. 8*1, Exhibit 4, affidavit of James Dallas, Jr., at p[1320. James Dallas, Jr.’s
affidavit does not contain an unequivocal assertion that he was available and wiltanget fom
New York to testify in Alabama at Petitioner’'s 1995 capital murder trial.

2141n his swornpro sestate habeas corpus petition, Petitioner states “Jimmy had limited
contact with the family after they moved. Sometimes he did not even know wheredhe
because Mrs. Dallas rarely called to find out how he was doing.” 12 SCR (Revibetl3Aaat
p. 61.
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deposition, he would have been subject to cecesssnination and possible
impeachment based upon (1) Petitionérial testimony®® that Foley(a) supplied
Petitioner with druggb) furnished Petitioner with a place to smoke crgckstole
propery with Petitioner,and(d) fenced property Petitioner stole to buy crack, (2)
Petitioner’s trialtestimony that Foley arranged for someone to drive Petitioner back
to the KMart parking lot, and (3) the fact Foley admitted during his deposition that
he leaned from his wife about Petitioner’'s abduction and robbery of an old lady
whom Petitioner and Yaw locked in the trunk of her, gair Foley never contacted
law enforcement authorities to notify them to Mrs. Liveoaidsereabouts oalert
them toher perilous predicamentnder such circumstances, there is no reasonable
probability Mr. Foley would have made angpellingcharacter witness.

(3) Failure to Prepare a PsycBocial History

Insofar as Petitioner complains that his trial counsel failed to prepare a
psychesocial history of Petitioner, there is no evidence currently before this court
showing Petitioner was unable to communicate all of the potentially mitigating
information contained in Petitioner’'s swquro sestate habeas corpus petitiom (
his Rule 32 petition) to his defense team prior to trithe reasonableness of the

scope of an attorney’s investigation for mitigating evidence depends, at least

257 SCR 787-88, 791 (testimony of Donald Dallas).
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partially, on the information furnished by the defendant hims&iée Burger v.
Kemp 483 U.S. 776, 795 (1987) (“The reasonableness of counsel’s actions may be
determined or substantially influenced by the defendant’s own statements or actions.
Counsel’s actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices
made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. In particular,
what investigation decisions are reasonable depends critically on such information.”
(quotingStrickland v. Washingtod66 U.S. at 691)). Petitioner does not allege any
specific facts showing that he ever communicated any information to his defense
team suggesting that further investigation ihte background or family history
would disclose mitigating evidence showiRgtitioner had repeatedly been sexually
assaulted as a child.

While Petitioner’s brother Paul states in his 2007 affidavit that he “would have
helped in any way necessary during my brother’s tff&lPaul Dallas’s ambiguous
affidavit does not unequivocglktate that he was willing to testify in 1995 that he
and Petitioner had been sexually assaulted on unspecified dates, at unspecified
locations, by an unidentified “male friend” of Patricia MedfoFdirthermore, when
asked during his trial testimony whether “you have any differences in what she said

about your upbringing, your background” than his sister Cinatl/given during her

28Doc. # 87-1, Exhibit 6, affidavit of Paul Dallas, at p. 3.
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trial testimony Paul Dallas responded “No, s#” Thus, when given the
opportunity at Petitioner's 1995 capital murder trtal volunteer additional
information about his or the Petitioner’s upbringing, Paul Dallas did not testify that
he and his younger brother had each been sexually assaulted “at least four times” by
an unidentified male friend of Patricia Medford.

An attorrey does not render ineffective assistance by failing to discover and
develop mitigating evidence of childhood abuse that his client does not mention to
him. Puiatti v. Sety, Fla. Dep’t of Corr, 732 F.3d 1255, 1281 (11th Cir. 2013),
cert. denied135 SCt. 68 (2014)Williams v. Head185 F.3d 1223, 1237 (11th Cir.
1999),cert. denied530 U.S. 1246 (2000Rorter v. Singletaryl14 F.3d 554, 560
(11th Cir. 1994)cert. denied513 U.S. 1104 (1995). Petitioner alleges no specific
facts, and furnishes revidence, showing that he ever informed his trial counsel or
mitigating specialist that he had been sexually assaulted in the manner alleged in his
brother Paul’'s 2007 affidavit.

As explained above, had Paul Dallas testified in 1995 in the same manner as
his 2007 affidavit, his allegation of his and Petitioner’s repeated sexual assaults on
unspecified dates, in unspecified locations, by adefined male acquaintance of

Patricia Medford would have been subject to cesamination and possible

278 SCR 967 (testimony of Paul Dallas).
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Impeachmat, based upoRaul’'sadmissions of alcohand marijuanabuse and the
absence of any evidengethe record now before this costiowing either (1Paul
or Petitioner ever made any outcry about the alleged repeated sexual assaults
guestionor (2) there was ever any investigatiato the alleg@d sexual assaults by
law enforcement or child welfare authoritid2etitioner alleges no specific facts and
furnishes no affidavit in which he states he was unable, despite the exercise of due
diligence on his part, to communicate all of the information contained in his sworn
pro sestate habeas corpus petition to his defense team. Petitioner’s trial counsel
cannot reasonably be faulted for failing to discover information about Petitioner’s
social andamily background which Petitioner possessed but failed to communicate
to his defense team.
3. Conclusiors

The most compelling piece of new mitigating evidence presented by
Petitioner to this court is the assertion by Petitioner’s brother Paul DaliasJune
2007 affidavit that both he and Petitioner were sexually assaultespecified
dates, at unidentified locations, at least fiomnesby an unidentifiedmale friend of
Patricia Medford. Viewed within the context of all the new mitigatingidence
now available to this court and weighed against the totality of the aggravating
evidence now before the court, especially the egregiously heinous nature of

Petitioner's capital offensePaul Dallass affidavit alleging repeatedly sexual
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assaults upo himself and Petitioner by an unidentified male friend of Patricia
Medford, Chester Foley’'s good character testimaanyd the other new mitigating
evidence now before the court still does not satisfy the prejudice pr&goddand

Based on th&estimony and other evidence presented his 1995 capital murder
trial, Petitioner’s jury and sentencing court were well aware thatPétitioner
endured a chaotic childhood as the youngest child of a pair of alcoholics, (2) his
parents divorced when he wgeung, (3) he thereafter lived with hmentally
unstable and physically abusin®therand one older brother and one older sister
New York, Florida, and eventually Alabama in a househbét was frequently
bereft of food totally lacking inadult sugrvision and which his older sister
described succinctly as “hell,” (4) he had a long histotyu@Encyandtheft, as well
as alcohol and drug abuse, (5) he dropped out of school in the sixth(Gydmgan
spending time and playing drums in bars aearly age(7) Petitioner was binging
on crack cocaine during the two weeks leading up to his abduction of Mrs. Liveoak,
(8) he had a record of working regularly as an electrician and supporting his common
law wife and their children9j he abandoned hife and children to begin using
crack cocaine with a vicious psychopath named Carolyn “Polly” Yaw, and (10) he
nonetheless still attempted to maintain a relationship with his daughters by Pam

Cripple Thus, the case in mitigation presented by Petitioner’s trial counsel was
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vastly different from the bare bones or even-p&istent mitigation cases presented
at the original trials iWiggins Porter, andWilliams v. Taylor.

The evidence before the court at present includes affidavits and testimony
from Pditioner’s mitigation specialist/investigator and others, including Petitioner’s
own family members, establishing that (1) Petitioner had a long history of petty theft
to support his drug habit arfdthered a child at age fourte€fi(2) he abandoned
his common law wife Pam Cripple and their two daughters about fourteen years
before his capital offense to use crack cocaine with Polly #ay8) Petitioner
subsequently was convicted of a criminal offense in Té¥a@}) during his
incarceration in Texas, Pettierparticipated ina drug treatment prograff (5)
Petitioner stole from his employers to pay for his drug F&b{) while Petitioner
did have a learning disability as a chifdhe improved his ability to read and write
to the point he was able to furnish the state habeas court W @age, swormpro

sestate habeas corpus petitiogtailingthe history of abuse and neglect he suffered

21812 SCR Tab 13, at pp. 86-87 (testimony of Susan James).

29Doc. # 871, Exhibit 5, affidavit of Cindy Dallas, at p. 3; Doc. #8/Exhibit 7. Affidavit
of Brandie Ray, at p. 2.

22012 SCR Tab 13, at p. 71 (testimony of Susan James).
22112 SCR Tab 13, at p. 71 (testimony of Susan James).
2212 SCR Tab 13, at p. 89 (testimony of Susan James).

223Doc. #87-2, Exhibit 15, affidavit of Dr. Ken Benedict, at pp. 2-5.

254



as a chil??* and (7) Petitioner demonstrates average intellectual abfffy As
explained at length above, Petitioner’s jury and the state trial court were aware of
the thrust of most of the purportedly new mitigating evidence presented by
Petitioner, even if not all the details. Despite Reidr's conclusory arguments, the
new evidence does not establish Petitioner was intoxicated on crack cocaine,

substantially impaired, or otherwise unable to conform his conduct within the

224712 SCR (Revised) Tab 48. Perhaps the most damning aggravating evidence currently
before the court (and any subsequent court) consists of Petitioner’s grnoose state habeas
corpus petion, which reflects (1) a complete and total refusal by Petitioner toptcoey
responsibility for his own criminal conduct, (2) an unwillingness to express siogatrition for
his capital offense, and (3) a lack of empathy for any other human beshgling the members
of his own family,i.e., Petitioner's pro se pleading demonstrates a clear willingness to throw
practically every member of his family under the bus in a last gasp attempt tohésdate.
Petitioner accuses (1) his mother of lgeam alcoholic, mentally unstable, and physically abusive,
as well as criminally neglectful, (2) his older brother Jimmy or being violent launglva toward
both their mother and Petitioner, and (3) his older sister Cindy and older brother Paul ofrgpth be
alcoholics. Even more harsh than the substance of his ranpitirggstate habeas petition is its
tone, which is permeated by vitriolic and vituperative invective toward his owiyfammbers,
as well as his defense team. Petitioner's sypomsedate habeas petition is little more than a
108page rant against Petitioner’'s family and everyone who participatediiioi®’s defense
during his 1995 capital murder trial. Nowhere in Petitioner's syoonsestate habeas corpus
petition is there anyndication Petitioner hagenuinelyaccepted responsibility for his capital
offense

Moreover, the highly offensive tenor of Petitioner's swpro sestate habeas corpus
petition is fully consistent with (1) Petitioner’s pretrial testimony at the hearirigsomotion to
suppressife., that he was high at the time of his pastest interview, did not read any of the
documents he signed, was never informed of the charge against him, walslinendizedprior
to giving his videotaped statement, and was promised gy&arrsentence if he gave a statement)[4
SCR 4350, 56, 62], which the state trial court implicitly rejected when it denied his motion to
suppress, (2) Petitioner’s trial testimony that he did not intend to kill Mveobhk [8 SCR 803,
818], which the jury implicitly yet emphatically rejected when it deieed unanimously and
beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner intentionally murdered Mrs. Livedak ¢ourse of
kidnaping and robbing her, and (3) Petitioner’s allocution at his sentencing hearing,vduigh
he asserted on the record that after Mrs. Liveoak prayed for him, he stopmpgpdrask [9 SCR
1050].

225Doc. #87-2, Exhibit 15, affidavit of Dr. Ken Benedict, at p. 3.
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parameters of the distinction between “right and wrong,” which botRenfro and
Dr. Benedict admitted Petitioner did comprehend at the time of his capital offense.
On the contrary, Petitioner's own trial testimony established beyond any doubt that
he fully recognized the wrongful nature of his actions against Mrsoak/dut
chose, instead, to seek illicit gdnacause he wanted to baryd consummore crack.
Viewed in the lighimostfavorable to the jury’s gudinnocence phase verdict,
the evidence at trial established tRatitioner (1)kidnaped, robbed, aridcked an
elderly heart patient in the trunk of her car on a July afternoon tnaté&tabama,
(2) drove Mrs. Liveoaka considerable distance back to Montgontéty(3)
convinced Mrs. Liveoak (with promises to cpllice or otherdo rescue her) to
furnish information allowing him and Yaw to obtain money from Mrs. Liveoak’s
bank account using her bank cards, (4) intentionally left Mrs. Liveoak to die in what
amounted to a steel coffin parked in an isolated, unshaded, locatemmasphalt
parking lot and (5) onlydays before abandoning Mrs. Liveoak to suffer her horrific
demisewas informed by Mr. Portwood that locking him in the trunk of his car would
likely result in Mr. Portwood smothering to death. Perhaps only the naofator

Edgar Allan Poe’sThe Premature Buriakould fully appreciate the torturous

226 Regardless of whether one chooses to believe Petitioner’'s account that he pkaced M
Liveoak in the trunk of her car in Greenville or Carolyn Yaw’s account, in which Mreohk/
was placed in the trunk of her car in Hope Hull, Petitioner drove a substantial distgetdack
to Montgomery.
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sufferingMrs. Liveoak endured as she waited for the rescue she hagiosaised
repeatediypy Petitioner(a person with whom she had cooperated and for whom she
had prayeflwould come but which Petitioner knew would never arrive.

The court has reweighed the totality of the new mitigating evidexioeg
with all the mitigating evidence presented at Petitioner’s capital murder, trial
against the aggravating factors, includi{ty Petitioner’s admissions during his trial
testimony that he kidnaped and robbed Mrs. Liveoak during the same criminal
episode which culminated in her horrific deaiid (2) Petitioner’s prior criminal
offenses (including those committed against Mr. Portwood only days before Mrs.
Liveoak’s abduction and robbgryThere is no reasonable probability that, but for
the failure of Petitioner’s trial counsel to more fully investigate Petitioner’s
background and present evidence showing Petitioae(1)beensexually assaulted
as a child(2) beerconvicted of a crime in Texa) participated ira drug treatment
program while incarcerated in Texas, and (4) sufferedinhamerableother
privationsand abuses detailedeitherPetitioner’s sworpro sestate habeas corpus
petitionor his federal habeas corpus petititimee outcome of the punishment phase
of Petitioner’s capital murder trial would have been any differéot.the foregoing
reasons, as well as those discussed above in Section Xlljgided under ae

novostandard of reviewRetitioner'scomplaints about the performance of his trial
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counseln connection with the punishment phase of Petitioner’s 1995 capital murder
trial do not satisfy the prejudice prongSiirickland
XIV. REQUEST FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Petitioner requests an evidentiary hearing. Insofar as Petitioner’s claims in
this federal habeas corpus proceeding were disposed of on the merits during the
course of Petitioner’s direct appeal, Petitioner is not entitled to a federal evigentiar
hearingto develop new evidence attacking the state appellate court’s resolution of
Petitioner’s claims on direct appealUnder the AEDPA, the proper place for
development of the facts supporting a claim is the state c@ae Hernandez v.
Johnson 108 F.3d 58, 558 n.4 (5th Cir.) (holding the AEDPA clearly places the
burden on a petitioner to raise and litigate as fully as possible his federal claims in
state court)cert. denied522 U.S. 984 (1997). Furthermore, where a petitioner’'s
claims have been rejected on the merits, further factual development in federal court
is effectively precluded by virtue of the Supreme Court’'s holdin@utien v.
Pinholster 563 U.S. 170 1882 (2011):

We now hold that review under 8 2254(d)(1) is limited to the record

that was before the state court that adjudicated the claim on the merits.

Section 2254(d)(1) refers, in the past tense, to actatd adjudication

that “resulted in” a decision that was contrary to, or “involved” an

unreasonable application of, established law. This backleakihg

language requires an examination of the statet decision at the time

it was made. It follows that the record under review is limited to the

record in existence at that same tinge, the record before the state
court.

258



Thus, petitioner is not entitled to a federal evidentiary hearing on any of hissclaim
herein which were rejected on the merits by the state courts, either on direct appeal
or during Petitioner’s state habeas corpus proceeding.

With regard to the many claims for which this court has undertd&eonvo
review, Petitioner is likewise not entitled to an evidentiary heaidimghe course of
conductingde novoreview, this court has assumed the factual accuracy of all the
specific facts alleged by Petitioner in support of his claims for relief, including the
factual accuracy of all the new potentially mitigating information contained in the
affidavits and other documents submitted by Petitioner in support of his multi
faceted ineffective assistance clains light of these assumptions, Petitioner is not
entitled to an evidentiary hearing in this couBee Jones v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep’t of
Corr., 834 F.3d 1299, 13189 (11th Cir. 2016) (“the burden is on the petitioner in
a habeas corpus proceeding to allege sufficiacts to support the grant of an
evidentiary hearing and that a federal court will not blindly accept speculative and
inconcrete claims as the basis upon which a hearing will be ordered) (quoting
Dickson v. Wainwright683 F.2d 348, 351 (11th Cir. 1982phavez v. Sec'y, Fla.
Dep’t of Corr, 647 F.3d 1057, 1060 (11th Cir. 2011) (the burden is on the petitioner
to establish the need for an evidentiary hearicgy), denied565 U.S. 1120 (2012).

If a habeas petition does not allege enough specific faatsif they were true,

would warrant relief, the petitioner is not entitled to an evidentiary headoges
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v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep’'t of Cory834 F.3d at 131%havez v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep'’t of Catr.
647 F.3d at 1060For the reasons discussed at lendpibva,Petitioner has failed to
satisfy this standardWhere a petitioner fails to allege sufficient facts to satisfy the
prejudice prong oftrickland it is unnecessary to hold an evidentiary hearing to
resolve disputed facts relating to the allegedfiyctEnt performance of trial counsel.
Bester v. Warder836 F.3d 1331, 13320 (11th Cir. 2016)ert. denied137 S. Ct.
819 (2017).
XV. CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY

Under the AEDPA, before a petitioner may appeal the denial of a habeas
corpus petitiorfiled under Section 2254, the petitioner must obtain a Certificate of
Appealability (“CoA”). Miller-El v. Johnson537 U.S. 322, 3386 (2003); 28
U.S.C. 82253(c) (2). A CoA is granted or denied on an ibgtissue basisJones
v. Sec'y, Fla. Dep’'t o€orr., 607 F.3d 1346, 1354 (11th Cir.) (no court may issue a
CoA unless the applicant has made a substantial showing of the denial of a
constitutional right and the CoA itself “shall indicate which specific isgsussues

satisfy” that standardgert. cenied 562 U.S. 1012 (2010); 28 U.S.C. 82253(c) (3).

A CoA will not be granted unless the petitioner makes a substantial showing
of the denial of a constitutional right.ennard v. Dretkeb42 U.S. 274, 282 (2004);
Miller-El v. Johnson537 U.S. at 33@&lack v. McDaniel529 U.S. 473, 483 (2000);

Barefoot v. Estelle463 U.S. 880, 893 (1983). To make such a showing, the
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petitioner neeahot show he will prevail on the merits but, rather, must demonstrate
that reasonable jurists could debate whether (or, for that matter, agrpejitioa

should have been resolved in a different manner or that the issues presented are
adequate to deserveaauragement to proceed furth@rennard v. Dretkeb42 U.S.

at 282;Miller-El v. Johnson537 U.S. at 336. Thiourt is required to issue or deny

a CoA when it enters a final Order such as this one adverse to a federal habeas
petitioner. Rule 11(a), Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases in the United States

District Courts

The showing necessary to obtain a CoA on a particular claim is dependent
upon the manner in which the District Court has disposed of a claim. “[W]here a
district court has rejected the constitutional claims on the merits, the showing
required to satisfy §2253(c) is straightforward: The petitioner must demonstrate that
reasonable jurists would find the district court’'s assessment of the constitutional
claims debatable or wrongMiller-El v. Johnson537 U.S. at 33&juotingSlack v.
McDaniel 529 U.S. at 484). In a case in which the petitioner wishes to challenge
on appeal this Court’s dismissal of a claim for a reason not of constitutional
dimension, such as procedural default, limitations, or lack of exhaustion, the
petitioner must show jurists of reason would find it debatable whether the petition
states a valid claim of the denial of a constitutional regtttwhether this Court was

correct in its procedural rulingSee Slack v. Mzaniel, 529 U.S. at 484 (holding
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when a district court denies a habeas claim on procedural grounds, without reaching
the underlying constitutional claim, a CoA may issue only when the petitioner shows
that reasonable jurists would find it debatable whethgrthe claim is a valid
assertion of the denial of a constitutional right and (2) the district court’s prated

ruling was correct).

Reasonable minds could not disagree with this Court’s conclusions that (1) all
of petitioner’'sconclusorycomplaints about the performance of his trial counsel falil
to satisfy the prejudice prong 8frickland (2) Petitioner'swigginsclaim also fails
to satisfy the prejudice prong 8frickland (3) the state appellate courts reasonably
rejected Petitioner8atsonclam on the merits, 4) Petitioner'sBrady claim is
frivolous, 6) Petitioner's Hurst claim is without arguable merit6) the state
appellate courts reasonably rejected Petitioner’s insufficient evidence ahaif) a
all of Petitioner's remaining complaints (about either the state trial court’s
evidentiary or procedural rulings, the prosecution’s alleged misconduct, or the
allegedly inaccurate voir dire testimonf two venire members) fail to furnish an
arguable basis for federal habeas corpus rdllafler such circumstances, Petitioner
Is not entitled to a CoA on any of his claims for relief in his original or supplemental

federal habeas corpus petitions.
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XVI. ORDER

Accordingly, it is hereb@RDERED that

1. Petitioner's motiors to supplement the record, filed April 1, 2009 (Doc.
#s5108& 109), areGRANTED.

2. Petitioner’'s motion for reconsideration, filed May 25, 20D2¢. #121),
isin all respect©ENIED.

3. Petitioner’s motion for leave to amend, filed January 11, Z0b¢. #
146), isGRANTED; the Clerk shalfile Petitioner's First Amended Petitiong.,
Doc. #146-1, as a separafgeading

4. All relief requested in Petitioner’s original federal habeas corpus petition
(Doc. # 1), as supplemented or amenbdgdPetitioner's “amended petition”i€.,
Doc # 1461), isDENIED.

5. Respondent’'s motions to dismiss (Doc. #s 4, 49, 92, 113) are
DISMISSED AS MOOT.

6. All other pending motions aEBASMISSED AS MOOT.

7. Petitioner IDENIED a Certificate oAppealability on all of his claims.

DONE this 14trday ofJuly, 2017.

/s/ W. Keith Watkins
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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